

The impact of cultural differences towards product innovation in smartphone industry: A cross cultural study on consumers from Saudi Arabia and United Kingdom

By: Mohammed Tajwar Raees Malik

Supervised by: Dr. Daba Chowdhury and Dr. Rexon Nting

Submitted in partial fulfilment for the award of the degree of Doctor of Business Administration

University of Wales Trinity Saint David

Abstract

Smartphone penetration is growing across the globe and people from all over the world are increasingly using this device. However, the average replacement cycle length of smartphone is increasing. The consumers are taking longer now to replace their smartphone. This presents the problem for the smartphone corporations to better understand the challenges currently present for consumers regarding adopting new smartphones and how the latest technology is perceived across cultures. Previous literature confirms the link of culture and uptake of technology. However, there are lack of technology acceptance models which takes culture into account and there is scarcity of frameworks which compares European and Middle Eastern culture in context of innovation. The purpose of our study is to explore the impact of culture within smartphone industry by developing a framework which compares adoption behaviour.

This study aims to fill this gap by developing and testing a conceptual framework based on Technology Acceptance Model, Theory of Reasoned Action, Sheth Model and Hofstede's Cultural Dimension Theory. Researcher attempts to validate the moderating effect of Hofstede's cultural dimensions on behavioural intention to use new smartphone technology.

This exploratory study uses interpretivist approach and gathers qualitative data by conducting 28 in depth semi-structured interviews to evaluate the psychological behaviour of the consumers in UK and Saudi Arabia aged 18-34.

Our study concluded that both adoption and resistance towards innovation within smartphone usage are driven to a varying extent by Individualism, Uncertainty avoidance, and Power distance dimensions. The research also showed that smartphone users across both cultures believed that there has not been a meaningful innovation within smartphone industry in last 5 years.

This study contributes by enlightening Policy makers, Smartphone corporations, and Software developers on factors relevant in adoption of latest smartphone features (Voice Assistants, Digital Payments). It also contributes to body of knowledge by confirming the impact and relevance of culture in technological industry. The study provides an in-depth analysis in the area which is underdeveloped theoretically and encourage future researchers to apply our model in different regions and industries.

Keywords: Smartphone, Cross cultural, Innovation, Adoption, Resistance, UK, Saudi Arabia.

Dedication

I dedicate my Doctoral Research to My Parents *Raees Malik and Lubbna Malik*. I would like to thank my parents for their incredible emotional support, unconditional love, and prayers throughout my life.

Secondly, I am dedicating my research to my lovely siblings who have always pushed me to improve myself and advised me in every walk of life through their experience.

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to shed some light on one of the most important issue especially in current day and age which remains unspoken, stigmatized, or neglected: *Mental Health.*

Mental Health is unquestionably the most crucial component during the journey of Doctoral Research and even at other aspects of life. For this reason, I would also like to dedicate my Doctoral Research to every individual who at some point has suffered through mental health issues in their life.

Acknowledgement

The journey towards completion of Doctoral research is not an individual experience, rather it takes in a social context and includes several people, whom I would like to thank sincerely.

Firstly, I would like to thank *Dr. Daba Chowdhury* and *Dr. Rexon Nting* (Supervisor team) for their valuable experience and continuous support throughout this journey. Their understanding, knowledge, and guidance have kept me motivated and positive during completion. The critical discussions with supervisors have not only improved my skill level as a researcher, but also improved me as a human being. The brainstorming sessions drove me into the avenues of the research which could not have been possible.

I would also like to thank all the research colleagues, lecturers, and professors who have educated me, shared their valuable experience, and enhanced my research skills. Without their contribution, I would not have acquired critical thinking skills and understand things from different perspectives.

Secondly, I wish to express my gratitude to my parents and family who have been nothing, but supportive in challenging times. My Parents (*Raees Malik* and *Lubbna Malik*) have always believed in me and be on my side when I needed them the most. I would also like to thank to my friends who directly or indirectly had a positive impact on me especially during tough times of COVID-19. I would also like to thank to my nephews *Moosa*, *Mustafa*, *Yusuf*, *and* my niece *Eshaal who* kept me occupied and made me smile.

Above all, I would like to thank God, for providing me the opportunity to fulfil my dream and open the doors, which at times appeared to be shut.

DECLARATION

This work has not previously been accepted in substance for any degree and is not being concurrently submitted in candidature for any degree.

Signed: Mohammad Tajwar Raees Malik

Date: 29th Oct 2021

STATEMENT 1

This thesis is the result of my own investigations, except where otherwise stated. Where correction services have been used the extent and nature of the correction is clearly marked in a footnote(s). Other sources are acknowledged by footnotes giving explicit references. A bibliography is appended.

Signed: Mohammad Tajwar Raees Malik

Date: 29th Oct 2021

STATEMENT 2

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available for deposit in the University's digital repository.

Signed: Mohammad Tajwar Raees Malik

Date: 29th Oct 2021

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Dedication	3
Acknowledgement	4
DECLARATION	5
List of abbreviations	12
List of Figures	14
List of Tables	16
Chapter 1: Introduction	17
1.1 Overview	
1.2 Background to research area	
1.2.1 Culture and Innovation	
1.2.2 Smartphones in UK	
1.2.3 Smartphones in Saudi Arabia	
1.3 Problem Statement	21
1.4 Gap in Research	23
1.5 Research contribution by addressing the gaps	24
1.6 Research Aim and Objectives	25
1.7 Research Questions	26
1.8 Theis Outline	26
1.9 Summary of the chapter 1	
Chapter 2: Literature review	29
2.1 Introduction	29
2.2 Smartphones (Part1)	29
2.2.1 History and evolution of smartphone	29
2.2.2 Smartphone features	
2.2.3 M-shopping	
2.2.4 Digital Payment (E-wallets)	
2.2.5 Intelligent personal assistant	41
2.2.6 Purchase intention of smartphones	43
2.2.7 Social influence	
2.2.8 Brand	
2.2.9 Price	
2.2.10 Features	
2.2.11 Summary- 1 st part of the Literature review	
2.3 Understanding Innovation (Part2).	51

2.3.1 Innovation definition	51
2.3.2 Innovation and competitive advantage	57
2.3.3 Innovation important for businesses	59
2.3.4 Classification of innovation	60
2.3.5 Sustaining innovation vs Disruptive innovation	64
2.3.6 Continuous innovation vs Discontinuous innovation	65
2.3.7 Factors affecting innovation within business	66
2.3.8 Organisational structure and corporate strategy	67
2.3.9 Industry Maturity	67
2.3.10 Customer needs and expectations	68
2.3.11 Technological opportunity	69
2.3.12 Summary- 2 nd part of the Literature review	70
2.4 Consumer and Innovation (Part3)	72
2.4.1 Consumer perception towards newness	72
2.4.2 Perception of meaningfulness of innovation and Perceived feasibility of innovation	73
2.4.3 Berlyne theory – newness psychological behaviour	75
2.4.4 Newness concept	76
2.4.5 Consequence of newness	77
2.4.6 Arousal and stimulus evaluation	79
2.4.7 Arousal modifying behaviours: diversive and specific exploration	80
2.4.8 Newness processing: The cognitive end	81
2.4.9 Categorization	81
2.4.10 Insight into psychological processes engaged in categorization	83
2.4.11 Initial categorization	84
2.4.12 Assimilation	84
2.4.13 Accommodation	85
2.4.14 Conclusion on Categorization model	86
2.4.15 Learning by analogy	86
2.4.16 Newness perception in various countries	88
2.4.17 Resistance to innovation	90
2.4.18 Sheth Model	95
2.4.19 Ram Model	96
2.4.20 Theory of reasoned action (TRA)	97
2.4.21 Theory of Planned behaviour (TPB)	98
2.4.22 Technological Acceptance Model (TAM)	100
2.4.23 Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of technology (UTAUT)	104

2.4.24 Diffusion of Innovation theory (DOI)	
2.4.25 Risk to innovation	111
2.4.26 Summary- 3 rd part of the literature review	111
2.5 Culture (Part4)	112
2.5.1 Culture and innovation	112
2.5.2 Culture and consumer behaviour	113
2.5.3 Criticism on Hofstede's cultural dimensions theory	119
2.5.4 Kano Model	
2.5.5 Sharing and using mobile devices across cultures	124
2.5.6 Smartphones as fashion symbol across cultures	126
2.5.7 Attachment with mobile devices	126
2.5.8 Smartphones addiction	
2.5.9 Psychological and physical problems with smartphone addiction	129
2.5.10 Smartphone usage pattern	
2.5.11 Gender and Cultural Smartphone addiction	131
2.5.12 Summary- 4 th part of the literature review	132
2.6 Summary of Literature review	132
Chapter 3: Proposed Conceptual Framework	134
3.1 Introduction	134
3.2 Theoretical development	134
3.3 Proposed conceptual Framework (SAM)	141
3.3.1 Perceived usefulness (PU)	142
3.3.2 Perceived Ease of Use (PEOU)	143
3.3.3 Subjective norm (SN)	143
3.3.4 Perceived Risk	144
3.3.5 Behavioural intention to use new smartphone (BI)	145
3.3.6 Moderating variables in our model (Hofstede's cultural dimension)	145
3.3.7 Individualism	146
3.3.8 Power distance	147
3.3.9 Uncertainty avoidance	148
3.3.10 SAM Hypothesis Summary	148
3.4 SAM conceptual framework (Smartphone adoption model)	151
3.5 Summary of Chapter 3	152
Chapter 4: Methodology	153
4.1 Introduction	153
4.2 Selecting an Appropriate Research Approach	153

4.2.1 Underlying Philosophical assumptions	156
4.2.2 Selecting Interpretive Research Approach	159
4.3 Justifying the Use of Qualitative Research Method	160
4.4 Selecting an Appropriate Research Strategy	163
4.4.1 Justifying the use of Case Study Research	164
4.4.1.1 Multiple Case Study Research	166
4.5 Empirical Research Methodology	167
4.5.1 Research design	168
4.5.2 Data Collection	172
4.5.2.1 Sampling Techniques	174
4.5.2.2 Semi structured Interviews	178
4.5.2.3 Semi structured interview guide	
4.5.2.4 Transcription	
4.5.3 Data analysis	
4.5.3.1 Thematic analysis	
4.6 Data triangulation	
4.7 Case Study Protocol: An Operational Action Plan	
4.7.1 Case study overview	
4.7.2 Fieldwork Research Procedures	191
4.7.3 Issues addressed by the Research	193
4.7.4 The Research Output Format	195
4.8 Summary methodology	200
Chapter 5: Research Findings	201
5.1 Introduction	201
5.2 Screen time of British and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34	201
5.3 Motivation behind using smartphone by British and Saudi smartphone users	203
5.4 Most used apps by Saudi and British smartphone users	207
5.5 Most important electronical device according to British and Saudi consumers	208
5.6 Mobile shopping adoption by British and Saudi smartphone users	212
5.7 Attitude towards social media by Saudi and British smartphone users	217
5.8 Attachment towards smartphone according to British and Saudi smartphone use	ers219
5.9 Overusing and Dependency on smartphones	222
5.10 Psychological mind map of British and Saudi consumers towards the word "inn	ovation"226
5.11 Saud and British smartphone users' feelings towards new smartphones	231
5.12 Voice Assistant adoption by British and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34	234
5.13 Digital payment adoption by British and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34	237

	5.14 Perception of risk attached to innovation in smartphone	240
	5.15 Attitude towards smartphone corporations launching smartphones every year	242
	5.16 Sharing smartphone devices	245
	5.17 British and Saudi attitudes towards large screen smartphones (Phablets)	246
	5.18 Main motivational factors behind upgrading	249
	5.19 Main source of recommendation when purchasing a new smartphone	250
	5.20 Influential factors affecting decision making process	251
	5.21 Perception of "early adopter" within smartphone industry	252
	5.22 Perception towards the scale of innovation in last 5 years within smartphone industry	254
	5.23 Ease of use perception by British and Saudi smartphone users	257
	5.24 Factors behind rejecting new smartphone by British and Saudi smartphone users	258
	5.25 Smartphone Adoption Model (SAM) Hypothesis validation	260
	5.26 Summary of findings	280
(Chapter 6: Discussion	286
	6.1 Introduction	286
	6.2 Motivation	287
	6.3 Cultural dimensions impact	290
	6.3.1 M-shopping discussion	290
	6.3.2 Voice assistant and Digital payment discussion	291
	6.3.3 Risk attached to innovations	293
	6.4 British and Saudi views towards innovation in smartphone industry within last 5 years	294
	6.5 Upgrading to new smartphones	295
	6.5.1 Preference towards large screen smartphone	295
	6.5.2 Sharing of device	296
	6.5.3 Online reviews	297
	6.6 Early adopters	298
	6.7 Final Verdict SAM	298
	6.8 Summary Chapter 6	301
C	Chapter 7 Conclusion and Further research	307
	7.1 Research overview	307
	7.2 Meeting the aim and objectives of thesis	308
	7.3 Key findings of thesis	311
	7.4 Research contribution and novelty	313
	7.5 Research implications	317
	7.5.1 Implications to Theory	317
	7.5.2 Implications to Practice/Managers	321

7.6 Research Limitations	
7.7 Future research recommendations	
References	
Appendix A: Problem Statement	
Appendix B: Gap in research	
Appendix C: Thesis outline	
Appendix D: Summary of Theories which underpins our research	
Appendix E: Qualitative research hypothesis formulation	
Appendix F: Research Onion	
Appendix G: Semi Structured Interview Guide	
Appendix H: British Respondent (B1) transcript	451
Appendix I: Saudi Respondent (S1) transcript	458
Appendix J: Semi structured interview guide- Arabic translation	
Appendix K: Consent form for participating in interview	
Appendix L: Email Invitation letter	
Appendix M: SAM (H1)	
Appendix N: SAM (H2)	
Appendix O: SAM (H3)	
Appendix P: SAM (H4)	
Appendix Q: SAM (H5)	
Appendix R.1: SAM (H6a)	
Appendix R.2: SAM (H6b)	
Appendix S: SAM (H7)	
Appendix T: Author's claim on Hofstede's Dimensions	

List of abbreviations

Apps **Applications** • BI **Behavioural Intention** DOI **Diffusion of Innovation Theory** • GPS **Global Positioning System** • **GSMA Group Special Mobile Association** • H2M Human-to-Machine • HDI **Human-Device Interaction** • Individualism-Collectivism IND iOS iPhone Operating System • IPA **Intelligent Personal Assistant** • **M-shopping** Mobile shopping • MAS Masculinity-Femininity • MMS Multimedia Message Service • NLUI Natural Language User Interface • NFC **Near Field Communication** • R&D **Research and Development** • PBC Perceived Behavioural Control • PEOU Perceived Ease of Use • PD **Power Distance** • PHS Personal Handy-Phone System • PR Perceived Risk PU **Perceived Usefulness** • RFID Radio Frequency identification • Smartphone Adoption Model SAM • SMS Short Message Service • SN Subjective Norm • TAM **Technology Acceptance Model** • TBP Theory of Planned Behaviour • TRA Theory of Reasoned Action • UTUAT Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology • UA **Uncertainty Avoidance**

- UK United Kingdom
- WIFI Wireless connection technology
- 2g Second Generation of cellular network
- **3g** Third generation of cellular network
- 4g Fourth generation of cellular network
- 5g Fifth generation of cellular network

List of Figures

Figure 2.1: Machine learning apps usage and awareness (Deloitte, 2017)	
Figure 2.2 Video consumption on smartphones by format type (Deloitte, 2017)	35
Figure 2.3 Mobile payments in UK by age groups (UK finance, 2019)	41
Figure 2.4: Reasons that prompt to change main mobile phone (Deloitte, 2019)	49
Figure 2.5: Purchasing Cycle in Saudi Arabia (Deloitte, 2019)	50
Figure 2.6: Innovation spider (Author's own)	55
Figure 2.7: Smartphone Innovation (Author's own).	56
Figure 2.8: Technological capability and product capability (Veryzer, 1998)	66
Figure 2.9: Technology push vs Market-pull (Martin, 1994)	70
Figure 2.10: Berlyne theory (1960)	78
Figure 2.11: Hedonic value (Michaut, 2004)	79
Figure 2.12: Categorization (Michaut, 2004)	83
Figure 2.13: Analogy (Gentner and Markman, 1997)	87
Figure 2.14: Successful products journey (Stevens and Burke,1997).	91
Figure 2.15: Modelling psychology of innovation resistance (Sheth, 1981)	95
Figure 2.16: Model of Innovation Resistance (Ram, 1987)	97
Figure 2.17: TRA (Fishbein and Ajzen, 1975)	98
Figure 2.18: TPB (Ajzen, 2006)	99
Figure 2.19: Technology acceptance model (TAM) (Davis, 1989)	101
Figure 2.20: UTUAT Model (Venkatesh et al. 2003)	105
Figure 2.21: Adopter categorisation on the basis of innovation (Rogers, 2003)	108
Figure 2.22: Hofstede cultural dimensions: UK and Saudi Arabia (Hofstede, 2010)	113
Figure 2.23: Theory of attractive quality (Kano et al ., 1984)	122
Figure 3.1: Proposed Conceptual Framework- Smartphone Acceptance Model (SAM)	151
Figure 4.1: Inductive approach (Author's own)	156
Figure 4.2: Research design (Author's own)	171
Figure 4.3 Demographic characteristics and profile of British interviewees (Author's own)	172
Figure 4.4: Demographic characteristics and profile of Saudi interviewees (Author's own)	173
Figure 4.5: Smartphone users by age in UK (Statista, 2019)	176
Figure 4.6: 5 step approach (Author's own)	182
Figure 4.7: Space Triangulation (Author's own)	186
Figure 4.8: Case study overview (Author's own)	190
Figure 5.1: Average smartphone screen time minutes per day	203

Figure 5.2: Motivation behind using smartphone by British users
Figure 5.3: Motivation behind using smartphone by Saudi users
Figure 5.4: Most used apps by British respondents208
Figure 5.5: Most used apps by Saudi respondents
Figure 5.6: M-shopping adoption by British and Saudi respondents212
Figure 5.7: Psychological Mind Map of British consumer towards the word "innovation" (NVivo)227
Figure 5.8: Psychological Mind Map of Saudi consumers towards the word "innovation" (NVivo)227
Figure 5.9: Resentment towards smartphone companies upgrading models every year243
Figure 5.10: Preference towards large screen smartphones
Figure 5.11: Main motivation behind upgrading smartphone by British respondents249
Figure 5.12: Main motivation behind upgrading smartphone by Saudi respondents250
Figure 5.13: Most influential factor when you purchase new smartphone by British respondents251
Figure 5.14: Most influential factor when you purchase new smartphone by Saudi respondents 252
Figure 5.15: Strongest reason to reject a new smartphone by British respondents
Figure 5.16: Strongest reason to reject a new smartphone by Saudi respondents
Figure 7.1: Research contributions (Author's own)316
Figure 7.2: Age and Social media effect on Cultural dimensions (Author's own)
Figure 7.3: Author's question on Hofstede's dimensions (Author's own)
Figure 7.4: iPhone revenue as a percentage of Apple's total revenue since 2007 (Kim, 2017)323

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Taxonomy of definition of Innovation by renowned authors from 1953-2020	54
Table 2.2: Types of Innovation	64
Table 2.3: Review of the literature using TAM model in smartphone related studies	104
Table 2.4: Review of the literature using UTUAT model in smartphone related studies	107
Table 3.1: Studies which integrated Technology acceptance models with Hofstede's dimensions	5138
Table 3.2: Variables of conceptual framework	140
Table 3.3: UK and Saudi cultural dimensions (Hofstede)	146
Table 3.4: Summary of SAM Hypothesis	150
Table 4.1: Summary of Research Philosophies (Saunders et al., 2009)	158
Table 4.2: Summary of Research Strategies (Adapted from Yin, 2003)	166
Table 4.3: Narrative Analysis (Riessman, 2005)	183
Table 4.4: Reliability and validity in our study (Adapted from Yin, 2003)	187
Table 4.5: Case study protocol	188
Table 4.6: Research issues (Author's own)	195
Table 4.7: Target audience for our Case study	197
Table 4.8: Six structures of composition (Yin, 2003)	198
Table 4.9: Hofstede's cultural dimensions – UK and Saudi Arabia	199
Table 4.10: Case study Description (Author's own)	199
Table 5.1: Screen time (Minutes per day)	202
Table 5.2: Apps Categories	204
Table 5.3: Hypothesis validation- British context (Author's own)	269
Table 5.4: Hypothesis validation- Saudi context (Author's own)	279
Table 5.5: Summary of Findings (Author's own)	285
Table 6.1: Final Verdict on SAM (Author's own)	300
Table 6.2: Summary Discussion (Author's own)	306
Table 7.1: SAM Constructs, Effect, and Relevance to smartphone industry (Author's own)	311
Table 7.2: Key findings (Author's own)	313

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Overview

The smartphone technology has transformed the way mobile phones are perceived and used daily by humans. Mobile phones now go beyond traditional text messaging and phone calls functions (Barkhuus & Polichar, 2011; Chen, Yen, & Chen, 2009; Lee, 2014). According to Shiraishi et al. (2011) smartphones can be defined as a mobile phone or PHS that incorporates a public general-purpose operating system, to which users can freely add applications, customize, or extend functionality. The mobile phone industry experienced revolution when phones started incorporating features such as access to wireless connection, taking high guality pictures, listen to music, e-commerce etc. This development meant that users could multitask with the single device and continually mobile industry is finding new ways to make phones more relevant (Okazaki & Mendez, 2013). Mobile phones have become one of the most important devices in everyone's life and this trend is expected to increase worldwide. The number of mobile phone users by 2020 is expected to reach approximately 5 billion users across the globe, which makes 62.9% of the world an owner of mobile phone (Statista, 2016). In addition, the current number of smartphones in the world today are around 3.5 billion, which makes 45% of the population own a smartphone. Penetration of smartphones have increased from 2016-2020, up by 40 % increase in the number of smartphone users (Statista, 2020). According to GSMA, 72.6 % of internet users will be accessing internet through their smartphones only by 2025, which makes up nearly to 3.7 billion people (McDonald, 2019). To put it in the perspective, the WARC estimates that around 2 billion people currently access their internet through their smartphone (Handley, 2019). The smartphone culture has also drastically impacted the lives of people psychologically. To some people, smartphone is just a functional device for making phone calls, while to others, it is the world in their palm. Smartphone is merely a decade old, and with every year it is becoming an integral part of people's lives. Every year it is becoming more versatile and innovative (Deloitte, 2017). No technology has impacted the world the way mobile devices have, and it can be termed as the fastest man-made phenomenon ever. Gadgets like smartphones and tablets are growing five times faster than the human population, which is about 1.2% annually (Boren, 2014). People have embraced the smartphone technology with unprecedented passion, and

it has transformed its' status from technological device to essential device. According to Ted Talk lecture in 2011, "*We are all Cyborgs*", Case (2011) argues that smartphones have become more than just a device in our pockets, and it is transforming something closer to digital extension of ourselves. This can be reflected by looking at the overall market, where smartphone has been a global success and currently dominates the consumer device sales, with annually 1.5 billion sales or over 4 million units per day (Deloitte, 2017). The penetration of smartphones has been growing enormously, however not equally across the world. It is evident that not every person is likely to own smartphone and it varies from region to region. One of the recent studies by Pew (2019) focused on emerging economies which showed that for example in countries like India, Kenya, Tunisia, and Venezuela, there were sizeable segments which owned mobile phones rather than smartphones. On the other hand, the countries which have the most smartphone penetration per population are United Kingdom, United States, Germany, and China (Newzoo, 2019)

1.2 Background to research area

The following section introduces the relationship between culture and innovation. In addition, it understands the consumer behaviour towards smartphones in context of Saudi Arabia and UK specifically.

1.2.1 Culture and Innovation

Innovation can be defined as successful implementation of creative ideas (Amabile, 1996) or the process of translating an idea or invention into a good or service that creates value or customers to be paid for it (Mamasioulas, 2020). Innovation is not just limited to the growth of the businesses, but also for their survival especially if the business is operating in competitive industry (Westwood and Low, 2003). Nations cannot simply increase the level of innovation within their countries by increasing the expenditure on research and development or industrial infrastructure. To encourage the innovation activity, countries need to change the values of their citizens (Shane, 1993). There have been several studies which concludes that there is a strong relationship between nation's culture and innovativeness (Barnett, 1953; Shane, 1992; Hayton and Zahra, 2002; Hussler, 2004; Lundvall, 2009; Kaasa and Vadi, 2010; Ofori-Dankwa, 2013; Kaasa, 2013; Khan and Cox, 2017). The influence of culture on innovation has been recognised as significant factor in international

management and has contributed to the areas of economic development (Rohlfer and Zhang, 2016). Hofstede (1984) identified that culture influences the values consumers hold and the way they perceive their environment (Nisbett et al., 2001). There have been several studies in last thirty years which has shown a relationship between culture and the acceptance of technology (Hofstede 1980; Del Galdo & Nielsen 1996; Trompenaars & Hampden-Turner 1997; Barton 2010, Alshare et al., 2011; Tarhini et al., 2017; Masimba, Appiah & Zuva, 2019; Oyibo & Vassileva, 2020). These studies confirm that individual's cultural background play crucial role in how they perceive technology.

1.2.2 Smartphones in UK

In the UK, the smartphone culture is at its peak, with 81 % of the people gaining access to the smartphone (CBR, 2016). By end of 2018, the number of smartphone users is expected to reach 48.52 million in the UK and this trend is expected to increase up to 53.9 million users by end of 2022 (Statista, 2017). A third (33%) of aged 18-24 use smartphone while even with friends, shopping, and watching television. One out of three adults in UK check messages during the middle of night (CBR, 2016). According to the recent research, one in four children in UK have problematic smartphone use which can have serious implications on the mental health (Davis, 2019). According to latest YouGov's research, 75% of the workers check their phone while at work and 86% look at their phone screen while watching television (Smith, 2018). According to the latest research, 53% of the people in the UK uses smartphone while walking (Deloitte, 2017). The smartphones have become an important part of the life, with 95% of the smartphone owners in the UK use it on daily basis (Deloitte, 2018). This domination of smartphone has caused decline in the sales of tablets and e- readers in the UK by 4 %. An average UK user according to a recent survey of 2,077 people revealed an average UK user spends 3 hours and 23 minutes per day (Feeley, 2019). This rises when looking at the age group 25-34, who spends an average 3 hours and 31 minutes, while age group 16-24 spends an average of 4 hours per day looking at smartphone screen (Code computer love, 2019). Additionally, the smartphones have become central hub in the daily lives in the UK and therefore surpassed laptop in internet using device. In addition, people spend on average 45 minutes more on the smartphone than on Laptop/PC (Ofcom, 2015). Although, the level of penetration is high in the UK, but buying new phones

are decreasing. The market of smartphone users is saturating and the lifecycle of upgrading to new phone has been extended from 20 months to every 29 months (Arthur and Butler, 2017). One of the main reasons for upgrading to a new phone in the UK is when consumers think their current model is outdated and hence look out for new device. The large screen size is other significant feature which boosted upgrading of phones. The reasons why people are relatively less interested in buying new phones is because there has not been a significant difference within last 10 years in phone industry and high price of newer models (Arthur and Butler, 2017).

1.2.3 Smartphones in Saudi Arabia

In the Saudi Arabia, the smartphone culture continues to be on rise and according to the Nielsen, 67% of the population above 16 years old uses smartphone. The key factors behind choosing new smartphone even more than pricing factor are ease of use and screen size. The impact of brand and family/friends' recommendations plays integral role in the decision-making process when purchasing a new smartphone (Nielsen, 2014). The number of smartphone users is expected to reach 19.4 million units by the end of 2019 (Statista, 2019). The increase in smartphone users in Saudi Arabia has spill over effects and changed the consumer behaviour. The number of people in Saudi Arabia accessing web via desktops and laptops has decreased by 17% in 2018, while the number of people accessing web via smartphone rose by 19% (Euromonitor, 2019).

Secondly, the Saudi Arabian market is mirroring the global trend when it comes to upgrading their phones. This can be understood that there is an average two-year holding time for phones between upgrades and this cycle is gradually increasing This has been due to increased cost of the new devices and lack of attractive new features in new sets. According to Deloitte (2019) there has been a drop of 4% from 2017 to 2019 in respondent's willingness to change their phones. The penetration and growth of smartphones in the Saudi Arabia is expected to grow further due to introduction and anticipation of 5G. According to the survey, 54% of the Saudi respondents expressed willingness to switch to 5G as soon as it is available. This number is high, when compared to other European countries when asked about willingness to switch over 5G; UK 11%, Sweeden13%, Italy, 19% (Deloitte, 2019). In addition, due to the increased penetration and benefits of smartphones, it has become more than just a device in Saudi Arabia. Facebook, Instagram, and Twitter

are experiencing double digit penetration rate, with Facebook 25% rate makes it the most popular social media app in Saudi Arabia. One of the most distinctive features about Saudi consumer is the level of engagement on social media. Saudi Arabia has the highest per capita Twitter users around the world and one of the highest video consumptions on YouTube per capita around the world. In addition, messaging apps are used greatly, with WhatsApp being the most popular followed by Facebook messenger and Skype (Oxford business group, 2018). Moreover, according to a study 75 % of the people in Saudi Arabia do not leave the house without smartphone and the reason of popularity is it acts as personal concierge (Ipsos, 2012). One of the areas which is emerging is the purchasing goods or services through smartphone. Only 25% of the people purchased through smartphone. The mobile commerce is expected to grow but needs more awareness in this area. About 46 % people feel that e-commerce does not feel secure and 22 % feel it is too complicated. Moreover, 28% of the people would give up TV for smartphone and 68% search on their smartphones every day (Ipsos, 2012).

1.3 Problem Statement

In 2013, the consumers around the world on average took 25.6 months to replace their smartphone, however by 2020 it has increased to 33.6 months (Statista, 2020). This is currently a major challenge faced by the smartphone corporations to motivate or convince the end users to upgrade to the latest smartphone device (Kantar, 2017). The problem therefore is, "*The average replacement cycle length of smartphone is increasing, and consumers are taking longer now to replace and purchase new smartphones*".

This is extremely worrying for the smartphone industry because their revenue relies predominantly on consumers upgrading their smartphones year on year and several major brands have already reported significant dropping in revenues due to this (Abigail, 2019). To tackle this, smartphone manufacturers are increasingly spending on research and development to entice consumers with innovation and technological breakthrough features. If they keep failing to motivate consumers and the problem persists of consumers not being attracted to latest smartphones, this will result in even longer cycles of replacement by end user which will cause sharp revenue/profit drops for smartphone corporations.

Innovation is a complex and multifaceted phenomenon and consumers do not necessary welcome all innovations (Laperche, 2018). According to recent researchers on innovation, the failure rate of innovation is estimated between 40% to 90% (Rhaiem and Amar, 2019). Scholars therefore argue, that It is crucial to understand the acceptance or failure of innovation by consumers for the effective management of innovation activities (Joachim et al., 2018).

Technology acceptance is extensively investigated and understood in the literature to understand the adoption of innovative technologies in various industries. There are several models which offers understanding of the adoption behaviour. Of the acceptance models, one of the most widely recognised is Technology Acceptance Model (Vladova, 2021) and several recent researchers have applied in their studies (Zayyad & Toycan, 2018; Camilleri and Falzon, 2020; Ozkale, and Koc, 2020; Lin et al., 2021) to investigate technology adoption by end users. Of the several technology adoption problems, recent research also indicates that a significant link exists between technology adoption and culture (Gao et al., 2018; Sun, Lee and Law, 2019).

Culture comprises of beliefs, customs and norms, which previous research has shown that it impacts strongly on values and perceptions of consumer behaviour (Chow et al., 2000; Naumova et al., 2019; Shavitt and Barnes, 2020). Culture can either enable technology acceptance (Masimba, Appiah & Zuva, 2019) or hinder technology adoption (Sun, Lee & Law, 2019).

Despite this, over the years there has been research pertaining to the link between cultural factors and the uptake of technology (Kovačić, 2005; Srite & Karahanna, 2006; Al Jumeily and Hussain, 2014; Tarhini et al., 2017; Teo and Huang, 2019). However, there is a dearth of studies which applies TAM model in European and Middle Eastern country simultaneously. Most of the published studies in relation to technology acceptance are focused on Western countries and there is a scarcity of literature when it comes to countries such as Saudi Arabia (Khan, 2017). In addition, although the acceptance of technology by end-users is a consumer level phenomenon, surprisingly it was found that most of the literature about cultural effects is based on the organizational level (Tarhini et al, 2017). Furthermore, there are not enough studies on the adoption of mobile technologies (Çukurbaşı et

al., 2016). There is very little or no knowledge in current literature which explains the impact of culture towards innovation in the current climate within smartphone industry.

Therefore, it creates a need for a cross cultural study and becomes crucial for whole of smartphone industry to better understand the adoption behaviour of latest technology. The analysis and findings of the study will provide a comprehensive understanding and assist the policy makers regarding the factors which are encouraging or inhibiting consumer's adoption for the latest smartphone technologies. The researcher will seek to develop and test the adoption model to explore the cultural impact. The Appendix A is the graphical representation of our problem statement using a top-down approach.

1.4 Gap in Research

Clearly there are a number of gaps that this thesis aims to tackle. As mentioned above, there is a lack of:

- Literature which incorporates and understands "Innovation" within smartphone industry. The table attached in Appendix (B) presents the most recent smartphone studies which took culture into account. After careful review of the literature, it was concluded that the studies predominantly in this domain are either focused on "smartphone addiction" or "smartphone as a learning tool", and there is very little or no research regarding "innovation" in the context of culture within smartphone industry.
- There is scarcity of cross-cultural framework in smartphone industry which examines the factors affecting adoption of latest smartphone technologies by the end users. It is established in literature that cultural aspect plays crucial role in technology uptake, however cultural factors are largely ignored in technology adoption models (Lin, 2014). In addition, there are not enough mobile adoption studies which explains the factors affecting adoption (Nikolopoulou, 2018).
- There is also lack of studies which compares European country (UK) with Middle Eastern country (Saudi Arabia). To the best of author's knowledge, there are no previous studies that compares UK and Saudi Arabia within smartphone industry in the context of innovation.

Therefore, to address the aforementioned issues, this research aims to bridge the gap in the literature by developing a conceptual framework which explains the impact of culture towards innovation within smartphone industry. The study will extend Technology Acceptance model (TAM) and include additional variables; Individualism (IND), Power Distance (PD), Uncertainty Avoidance (UA), Perceived Risk (PR), and Subjective Norm (SN). The extending of TAM model will increase the applicability and predictability of the model. Several researchers have concluded that by adding external variables in acceptance models enhances the quality and ability to predict the acceptance of the model (Martins et al., 2014; Maillet et al., 2015; Cimperman et al., 2016; Kabra et al., 2017; Khalilzadeh et al., 2017). Our research model will explore the extent to which these variables affect Saudi and British consumers aged 18-34 in adopting innovative features in smartphone and investigate whether there are differences among these factors.

1.5 Research contribution by addressing the gaps

This study by filling out the gaps mentioned above will contribute to a better understanding of culture and technology adoption in smartphone industry. The significance of this research stems from the fact that the focal point of our research is "**smartphone industry**", which in 2020 alone generated \$409.1 billion revenue (Statista, 2020) and according to projections there will be 6 billion devices in circulation by 2020 (Kharpal, 2017). With so much at stake, there are number of contributions (theoretical and practical) which this research aims to contribute towards:

1. From the academic perspective, this research developed an integrative model that combines both technology acceptance theories with cultural theory and apply at consumer level within different cultural contexts. Therefore, this study is considered as a useful guide for other cross-cultural researchers to understand whether the acceptance of technology is mainly affected by individuals' cultural background (moderation effect) or whether the acceptance is mainly based on the key determinants of technology itself. This research has the potential to become the basis for other cross-cultural researchers to use our adoption model and apply in other regions such as comparison of consumer behaviour in smartphone industry which compares *African culture* (Nigeria) vs *European culture* (Italy) or *South Asian culture* (Pakistan) vs *East Asian culture* (China) etc.

- 2. Our model includes constructs from TAM which has been criticised, because it ignores the cultural influence (Bagozzi, 2007) and it has been mainly applied in developed countries such as North America (Tao et al., 2008). Our model also includes Hofstede's cultural dimensions, which also has been criticised by several scholars in past (Mc Sweeney, 2002; Mc Coy et al., 2005; Wu, 2006; Orr and Hauser, 2008). By developing a framework using TAM and Hofstede's cultural dimension, it will contribute by "*testing their relevance*" and analyse if these theories are still applicable and relevant in current climate.
- 3. The research also aims to contribute to the body of literature in the following domain: *Innovation*, *Technology acceptance*, *Smartphones*, and *Culture*.
- 4. In practical terms, our research aims to contribute to policy makers, smartphone corporations, product designers, and software developers, by assisting them with a better understanding on the factors which contributes or inhibits the adoption and provide an overall image on how the latest innovations in the industry (Artificial intelligence/ Voice assistants, Digital Wallets) are being perceived in Western vs Middle Eastern region.

1.6 Research Aim and Objectives

Based on the problem statement and gap in research, the researcher has developed the aim of this research.

The main aim of the study is "*to explore the impact of culture towards innovation in smartphone industry of consumers aged 18-34 from UK and Saudi Arabia*". By achieving this, the research will support the Policy makers, Software developers, Smartphone brands and Product designers operating in the smartphone industry to establish a better understanding of the factors which contributes or inhibits adoption of new smartphone features across contrasting cultures.

To fulfil the aim, specific objectives were developed below, which will help understand adoption behaviour of UK and Saudi consumers in smartphone industry. In addition, these objectives offer a chance to explore the complex concept of "**innovation**" in cross cultural domain at every stage. In support of the aim mentioned above, here are the research objectives:

- To review the literature related to innovation, culture, and technology acceptance models
- To develop and test a conceptual framework which captures the factors influencing the consumer adoption towards innovation within smartphone industry
- To explore the motivation of Saudi and British consumers behind using smartphones
- To analyse the attitudes of Saudi and British consumers towards innovation in smartphone industry
- To examine the decision-making process for upgrading to new phones
- To evaluate the resistance of Saudi and British consumers towards innovation

1.7 Research Questions

Given the context of the research aim and objectives, the researcher will answer the following five questions:

- How different are the motivation of UK and Saudi consumers behind using smartphone?
- How do cultural dimensions (Individualism, Power distance, and Uncertainty avoidance) impact the behavioural intention of smartphone usage.
- How do UK and Saudi consumers perceive innovation within smartphone industry?
- Why consumers in UK and Saudi Arabia upgrade to new smartphone?
- How do UK and Saudi consumers resist innovation within smartphone industry?

1.8 Theis Outline

This section provides a brief overview of the seven main chapters of this thesis and the steps undertaken to fulfil the research aim and objectives.

Chapter 1: Introduction provides the 'roadmap' of the entire thesis. It first introduces the reader to the research problem along with the motivation behind conducting this research and its scope. Then, it highlights the goal of the research by providing

research aim, objectives, and research questions. The first chapter is aimed to set out a clear background and purpose of the study for the reader.

Chapter 2: Our Literature review chapter is divided in 4 parts.

- *Part 1*: The 1st part of the literature review highlights the evolution of smartphone over period of time and the purchase intention affecting consumers when purchasing smartphones.
- Part 2: The 2nd part starts with providing taxonomy of definition for "innovation" and it looks at classification of innovations and factors affecting it to provide a holistic view of the concept.
- Part 3: The 3rd part emphasizes on consumer's perception towards newness and reviews Berlyne theory to understand psychological behaviour of individuals. Later, it reviews 7 of the most influential theories and models related to technology adoption and resistance (TRA, TAM, TBP, UTAUT, SHETH, RAM, DOI) models which then in chapter 3 are used for conceptual framework.
- *Part 4*: The 4th chapter highlights the importance of the cultural dimensions (Hofstede) on consumer behaviour and overviews the smartphone usage pattern in context of culture.

Chapter 3: Proposed conceptual framework aims to discuss the development of our conceptual model for adoption of smartphones in cross cultural setting. For this purpose, it justifies the use of Technology Acceptance Model as a theoretical basis. This chapter also provides a further justification for extending the TAM to include social and risk factors as key determinants. In addition, it introduces and integrates Hofstede's cultural dimensions (Individualism, Power distance, Uncertainty Avoidance) as moderators within the model to explore adoption/resistance in UK and Saudi Arabia. Moreover, research hypotheses are formulated and operational definitions for each construct are presented. The results of this chapter along with the detailed literature review in Chapter 2 helps the researcher to develop a conceptual framework.

Chapter 4: Methodology chapter explained the philosophical stance, strategy of inquiry, methods, research design, and sampling techniques used in the research.

This chapter also explains the rationale behind the chosen approach and techniques that is essential in order to empirically test the proposed conceptual model and thus achieve the main research objectives and answer the research questions. Lastly, it explains on how the data is collected, how it is analysed and the ethical considerations of the research.

Chapter 5: This chapter presents the research findings of the data obtained from the respondents. The NVivo is employed for data analysis which helped in data coding, frequencies, percentages, word map etc. The results from the data analysis in this chapter focuses on the cross-cultural differences and similarities between UK and Saudi Arabia in the context of smartphones.

Chapter 6: Discussion chapter provides a holistic analysis which takes into the account the findings, past literature, and proposed conceptual framework. This chapter helps understand the role of culture towards adoption and resistance towards smartphone technology in UK and Saudi Arabia.

Chapter 7: Conclusion and Further Research is devoted to highlighting the research implications and major theoretical and practical implications drawn from the research study. This chapter also discusses and delineates the potential limitations and finally propose directions for future research.

To illustrate the *Thesis outline*, a summary map is provided in Appendix C.

1.9 Summary of the chapter 1

This chapter presented the foundation for the research by covering and illustrating its background and purpose. Moreover, this chapter covered the research aim and objectives, gaps, contributions, and significance of the study. Finally, an outline and brief description of the thesis was discussed. The following chapter will discuss and review the most used technology acceptance models, resistance theories, and cultural theories, which will form the basis of the proposed research model in Chapter 3.

Chapter 2: Literature review

2.1 Introduction

The aim of this chapter is to examine several critical areas which appear relevant to the study. This chapter is divided in 4 parts (*Smartphones, Understanding Innovation, Consumer & Innovation, Culture & Innovation*). This chapter at the end provides a conclusion and sets up the basis for the conceptual framework which is presented in chapter 3.

2.2 Smartphones (Part1)

The focus device for the research is "smartphones" and therefore before delving into any description and functionalities of a device, it is crucial to understand the background of "mobile phones" and how it has been evolved to "smartphones". The goal of 1st part of literature is to understand smartphones comprehensively by reviewing previous studies and examine the emerging features which are being incorporated in smartphones.

2.2.1 History and evolution of smartphone

Smartphones are now integral part of everyone's life. Before smartphones, it was mobile phones which were considered key mode for communication. Mobile phones are wireless devices which can be used in wide areas by providing connection to cellular systems through radio waves (Chang et al., 2009; Lexico, 2019). The concept of mobile phones goes back to 1920's (Dunnewijk and Hulten, 2007). In 1979, there was the first cellular system developed and later in 1983 was commercialised (Agar, 2013). The initial mobile phone development was focused around in cars in New York and Boston (Agar, 2013). Additionally, in Europe the first development was considered by Sweden, and they also developed a standard name the Nordic Mobile Telephone. This standard allowed the ability for customers to use mobile phones outside their homes, and since 1982, in other European countries such as Norway, Denmark, Iceland, and Finland (Dunnewijk & Hulten, 2007). In United Kingdom, 1985 was the year where mobile networks were initially developed and government licensed two national operators to provide radio services (Ofcom, 2010). The first mobile phone call in United Kingdom was made on 1st January 1985 by Ernie Wise who was a comedian (Trenholm, 2014) During that time, several countries were developing their own mobile standards such as; C450 standard in

Germany, Nippon Telephone and Telegraph in Japan, American standard advanced mobile phone system by USA (Dunnewijk and Hulten, 2007). In Saudi Arabia, mobile phone services came into operation in 1995 (Mcit, 2019).

Secondly, humans have constantly been inventing new forms of communication; from smoke signals and pigeons as message carriers, to telephones and emails (Roger, 2019) Similar evolution took place in mobile phone industry which now has transformed into a smartphone. A smartphone can be defined as mobile phone or a device that allows users to make telephone calls, exchange emails, internet connection, and download files. It usually has an operating system and a touch screen which can download and run apps through the dedicated Appstore (Park & Chen, 2007; Mobile SQUARED, 2010; Verkasalo et al., 2010; Osman et al., 2011; Aldhaban, 2012;). Current examples of smartphone brands are the Samsung Galaxy phones and Apple iPhones which consist of operating systems such as, Android Operating Systems or iOS (Verkasalo et al., 2010).

The evolution of smartphone initiated in 1992, when IBM introduced Simon phone (Mccarty, 2014). It included a touch screen which was operated by stylus and ability to let the user receive and send fax messages. In the early phase smartphones were mainly focused on enterprise market, bridging the gap between telephones and personal digital assistants. These smartphones were heavy and had short battery lives (Rogers, 2019). Following from that, Nokia developed Nokia "9000" communicator which consisted of additional features such as web browsing, email access, spreadsheets, and word processing (Martin, 2014). The term smartphone was first phrased by Ericsson when they released the GS88 concept, which is also known as Penelope. During this early phase, smartphones were not popular among consumers and were not adopted (Martin, 2014). In the early 2000s, the smartphone development increased, and more players started focusing on new handsets. Nokia launched mobile handsets with Symbian operating system, while BlackBerry introduced handsets aimed for business users (Martin, 2014). Even at this point smartphones were not adopted by mass market and manufactures kept trying to add new functionalities such as flipping keyboards, rotating displays, wafer style phones etc. In 2007, the smartphone market took a new step, when Apple introduced iPhone which offered consumers ease to use via finger-friendly screen, one button on the handset, multimedia functions, option of downloading apps etc. Previous

smartphones were dependent on keypads and could only navigate a watered-down version of internet. The iPhone had the ability to browse the websites which were similar to desktop computer (Jackson, 2018). In 2008, HTC was the first manufacturer to have android operating system in their smartphone and later this operating system was used by LG, Samsung, and Motorola (Mccarty, 2014; Martin, 2014). Currently, smartphones have improved and are different from previous smartphones in three ways: software, physical, and connection. Smartphone nowadays have touch finger capability and large screen which offers QWERTY keypad layout. In addition, these smartphones as compared to older smartphones have powerful processors which allows the user to load web pages, games, application in quicker time. Furthermore, smartphones also have operating systems, at the moment there are two main operating systems: Android or iOS. The operating system has allowed to download application on their operating system. In addition, the networks on the smartphones have the ability to connect to 3g or 4g networks which leads to high-speed internet connection (Bridges et al., 2010). One of the key factors behind worldwide adoption of smartphones was the 3G technology. This standard allowed user to really make the use of smartphone features such as downloading applications, browsing social media on the go and other services which required reliable data connection. This technology is referred also as Universal Mobile Telecommunication System that is based on GSM standards. The transition from 2G to 3G allowed improved voice and data communications (Dunnewijk and Hulten, 2007) In UK, 3G services were launched commercially in 2003 by Hutchinson, which is now known as Three (Thomas, 2015), while In Saudi Arabia 3G was launched in 2006 (Mcit, 2019).

There has been an interesting evolution of smartphones where brands have started adding new features and innovate within smartphone industry. 57% of the UK respondents according to the latest study used voice assisted speakers, 48% of the respondents used fingerprint recognition to validate the payment for online purchase (Deloitte, 2018). Furthermore, 81% of the UK population is aware of at least one application which incorporates machine learning. Machine learning is an application of artificial intelligence which allows automated improvements without explicit programming and supporting quicker iteration. Machine learning apps uses several inputs to personalise the user experience. Machine learning can use various data

points such as usage history, location, common words. In the UK, the most common machine learning based application is predictive test, followed by voice assistants (Deloitte, 2017). Below is the figure 2.1, which shows the awareness and usage of machine learning app among UK users. There is still a clear gap between awareness and usage in all categories.



Figure 2.1: Machine learning apps usage and awareness (Deloitte, 2017)

2.2.2 Smartphone features

This research will be looking at the motivation and usage of smartphones cross culturally. To analyse the motivation, it is important to understand the smartphone features and services.

According to Gao et al. (2012) smartphones services include information search, leaning, communication, provision of office tools and entertainment. In terms of features, it comprises of; high speed processor, multi-tasking operating system, screen with high resolution & large screen size, Bluetooth connection, internet access, camera, full QWERTY keyboard functionality, Radio Frequency identification (RFID), Global Positioning System (GPS), storage capability (Change et al., 2009). In addition, the very latest smartphones are equipped with advanced sensors such as Fingerprint ID, Barometer, Digital Compass, Accelerometer Gyroscope (Phone arena, 2014)

These features mentioned above have various uses for the smartphone users. For example: the application which uses GPS allows user to search his or her current location in the search and the result will only bring things which are closer to user's location (Liu, 2013). A prime example can be of a coffee shop, where the user search will only show the coffee shops closer to his/her location. In addition, as stated above smartphones do have gyroscope capabilities which allows to sense the orientation of a device, while accelerometer in smartphones detects linear acceleration of movement. Furthermore, digital compass in smartphones assists in directions which is useful for users using map application for routes (GSM arena, 2014). Features like these are used now by health and wellbeing apps which can track user's activities and to some degree encourage them to exercise (Liu, 2013)

One of the crucial and popular features in the current smartphones are the smartphone apps which can be downloaded on user's device. There are millions of applications available in the apps market of the smartphone and these apps can be separated into different categories. According to Xu et al. (2011) applications can be classified into categories of business, education, books, entertainment, games, finance, healthcare, lifestyle, medical, music, news, navigation, productivity, photography, reference, social network, travel, weather, utilities, sports and others. Some applications use user's location to personalise the experience based on the current location with the help of GPS such as local news, traffic routes etc (Xu et al., 2011).

The usefulness of the features above were focused from the consumer's perspectives, however smartphones have also become absolute essential for businesses and working life community. Majority of the research on mobile emails suggested that ease of sending and receiving emails on smartphones contributes towards collaboration within teams due to acceleration in work processes. (Beurer-Zuelig and Meckel, 2008a). Similarly, several other scholars suggest that smartphones allow better internal and external communications within organisation

and promotes information sharing (Kossek and Lautsch, 2012; Pitichat, 2013). On the other side, there are some scholars which argues with the above and emphasizes on the negative impacts of smartphones at work (Perlow, 2012; Derks and Bakker, 2014; Derks et al., 2015). One of the common negative impact of smartphones is that worker can find it hard to separate work from smartphones, which could result in anxiety and stress (Perlow, 2012; Derks and Bakker, 2014). In addition, smartphones can cause employees in lack of attention and distraction during important meetings which could affect the productivity of the business. This could be argued by the idea of satisfaction level, and according to Miller-Merrel (2012) smartphones can actually be used as sharing knowledge tool which does not just makes employees more efficient, knowledgeable but also satisfied with the work life.

In terms of smartphone uses, entertainment category is one of the most popular. Smartphone can be used to watch videos and listen to music both online and offline. Users can download entertainment apps such as Netflix, YouTube, Google play and watch/stream the videos of their choice. One of the growing activities among UK users on smartphone is also watching videos, where 57 % of the population aged 16-75 in the UK watches at least one form of video content on their smartphone devices. The number was 18 % five years ago and now has risen to 57%, which is an incredible growth. The most popular video watched are short, while the long video consumption such as Tv programs and films are growing strongly but still less frequent. Television still remains the preferred choice for long form of video content, and it is consistent across the gender and all age groups. Below is the figure 2.2



which illustrates the video consumption of UK users.



Another big part of entertainment is gaming, which now is increasingly growing due to advancements in processors which allows users to play games on their smartphones. Moreover, another dimension of entertainment has emerged in smartphones in the form of social networks such as Facebook or Twitter, which allows users to connect online and interact with the friends. Smartphones users are not only limited to entertainment but are wide spreading in health care industry too. For health care professionals, smartphone apps have a massive potential in training and professional development of healthcare professionals. With connectivity being built in, it assists the blended learning platform with updatable information in an accessible format. Health and wellbeing applications makes up round about 40% of new smartphone apps (Smallman, 2014). The apps in smartphones offers wide ranges within healthcare category. Some apps offer in hospital clinical support, while other apps aim to provide healthcare service to developing countries that do not have proper patient care or medical devices (Journal of health, 2019). According to Whalen (2013) smartphones are helping medical professionals in things such as observe potable heart monitor, viewing patient's x-rays, and other images in a mobile environment. In addition, there is evidence that smartphones are considered as one of the most successful electronic devices among healthcare professionals. A multi-

centre survey study by imperial college on hospital doctors and nurses in UK showed suggested that 92.6% of doctors and 53.2% of nurses termed smartphone "very useful" or "useful" in assisting them in clinical duties. In addition, 89.6% of the doctors and 67.1% of nurses admitted owning medical apps on smartphones and use as part of clinical practice (Mobasheri et al. 2015)

Lastly, smartphones can offer additional benefits by connecting to multiple devices. According to Swan (2012) smartphones can be connected to devices like smartwatch, electrocardiogram, ultrasound, and cell scope. Moreover, it can be connected to televisions (Chen et al., 2009), other electronic devices in apartments (Suyuti et al., 2013), and cars (Kun et al., 2013).

Therefore, it can be summarized that smartphones offer vast number of benefits to users. It depends on the user on how they use and utilise the device. The usage of smartphone is considered subjective and will vary from individual to individual.

2.2.3 M-shopping

Mobile shopping can be described as a service that permits customers to purchase or browse products and services through mobile anywhere and anytime through wireless telecommunication network (Lu and Su, 2009; Hung et al., 2012; Yang and Kim, 2012). According to Wong et al. (2012) m-shopping is any monetary transactions associated with purchasing of services or goods through internet-enable mobile phones or over the wireless telecommunication network. Mobile shopping entails of any such transactions that involves transfer of ownership or rights to use goods and services which is initiated by using smartphone. The study by Lai et al. (2012) concludes that mobile shopping allows consumers to gather real time information from more than one source, browse deals and discounts, check product availability, price comparisons etc. These variety of benefits have made m-shopping relevant and therefore businesses are spending more time on mobile marketing (Barutcu, 2007; Lamarre, Galarneau, and Boeck., 2012). According to Yang (2010) the potential of m-shopping is massive and can help in many ways; acts as personal assistant for shoppers, optimising their purchase experience in a brick-and-mortar shop environment by designing a real time, tailored interactive sales channel between consumers and e-tailers. One of the best advantages of m-shopping in today's world is accessibility of anywhere and anytime (Balasubramanian, Petersen,
and Javenpaa, 2002; McCloskey, 2006). Moreover, other benefits includes convenience, ease of use, price comparisons, variety, discounts, deals, variety of products etc. The m-shopping is still in growing stage, and it varies depending on the individual factors on how it will be perceived. The study by Chong (2012) concluded that young consumers are more likely to use m-shopping than older consumers. Furthermore, the study by Shankar et al. (2010) highlighted that mobile marketing and vast availability of mobile internet technology has caused a paradigm shift from traditional shopping to a new virtual online environment. The study by Hendrix (2013) researched on mobile shopping apps and concluded that consumers appreciate apps that are easy to use, offers price comparisons, managing loyalty award system etc. Another study by Holmes, Byrne, and Rowley (2013) identified accessibility and convenience as determining factors by consumers in context of mshopping. The study by Mitok (2015) explored on mobile apps' impact on consumer behaviour. The study found that features like design, personalization, security, and brand positively influence consumer behaviour towards using a mobile app for mshopping. The study by Holmes, Byrne, and Rowley (2013) found acceptance of mobile shopping significantly, however it was less when compared with shopping via desktops computer. The study examined that majority of consumers use mobiles during information search phase than actual purchase phase. In addition, the empirical study by Groß (2016) showed that risk perception towards mobile channels obstruct consumers from continuous m-shopping. The study also concluded that hindering effect is more to do with " transaction processing and financial risks" instead of security concerns or privacy. Furthermore, the study by Wang, Malthouse and Krishnamurthi (2015) found that consumer behaviour is changing due to emergence of m-shopping. The study revealed that customer tend to m-shop for habitual products that they have purchase before, and order rates go up after customer becomes m-shopper. This is especially more relevant for low spenders, where both order sizes and rates increase after they adopt m-shopping. The way mshopping is perceived depends on several factors from which one of them is culture. There have been previous studies which confirms the impact of culture towards adoption of mobile services. The study by Dai and Palvia (2008) found that individuals from the culture with low uncertainty avoidance are more likely to accept new mobile services. The study by Harris, Rettie, and Cheung (2005) compared Hong Kong and UK attitudes towards m- commerce. The findings concluded some

support for the view that culture plays a major role in shaping the usage of and attitude towards m commerce services. The respondents from Hong Kong were found to be less satisfied and consistently finding them less useful as compared to UK respondents. The adoption rate of m-commerce services was higher in UK as compared to Hong Kong participants. Furthermore, the study by Zhang, Zhu, and Liu (2012) conducted a meta-analysis in which they included 53 countries and created two categories: western culture and Eastern culture. The study found that perceived risk, perceived enjoyment, and perceived cost plays a more important role in Eastern cultures, while perceived usefulness appears to be more significant in Western cultures. The study by Chung and Holdsworth (2012) suggested that the more a culture is collectivistic, the more it will rely on opinion leaders regarding adoption of mobile service. In addition, collectivistic culture normally perceives higher risk associated with online shopping than individualistic culture (Park and Jun 2003; Park et al. 2004). The study by Mandler et al. (2018) explored that adoption of mobile commerce services is negatively influence by level of uncertainty avoidance, while consumer's usage intensity is driven by level of indulgence. The study also concluded that national culture values exhibited strong statistical effect on mobile commerce adoption and usage, even when controlling individual traits.

The study by Moktar et al. (2020) found price as the most significant factor which impacts the online shopping behaviour among young adults. The study found that product being cheaper online than in stores and exclusive promotions online had the most impact when shopping online. This finding has been in been align with previous research which discovered price to have the most compelling factor on buying products online (Choudhury and Dey, 2014; James and Akhbar, 2014; Shanthi and Kannaiah, 2015). The study by Groß (2016) explored that buying online consist of monetary transaction and the main driver of consumer acceptance is related to risk avoidance, which includes privacy concerns, trust in transactions and network security. In addition, the study by Gupta and Arora (2017) analysed the mobile shopping adoption using a novel approach of behavioural reasoning theory. The findings revealed the reason for and against the m shopping according to Indian consumers. The prime reason for m-shopping was 'price saving orientation' and the reason against m-shopping was self-efficacy. This result also suggested that the

value of openness to change has a significant impact on reason for adoption but not on reasons against adoption for m-shopping.

The advances in mobile internet technology have significantly changed the consumer behaviour when purchasing goods or services. According to Pantano and Priporas (2016) mobile internet technology offers distinctive advantages such as; ubiquitous computing, high connectivity, personalization, and convenience which makes it a preferred choice among consumers. About one third of all electronical transaction in Business-to-Consumer industries are happening through mobile devices, and it is found that consumers in most of countries are preferring smartphones over personal computers for e-tail purchases (Criteo, 2016).

2.2.4 Digital Payment (E-wallets)

In today's world, smartphones are playing valuable role in everyone's life around the world. The technology is improving day by day and is changing the way consumers behave. Smartphone users can now use their phones to make a payment or complete a transaction by using applications installed in their device (Subramanian, Rajendran, and Geeta 2019). Mobile wallet or E-wallet is referred as a software application installed in mobile devices which allows individuals to perform similar role of traditional wallets (GSMA, 2012). According to Pahwas (2007) E-wallet is as online prepaid account in which one can store money and complete their transactions both online or offline via computer or smartphone. The digital payment service works as a cashless payment service, where individuals do not need to use their debit card or cash at offline merchants. A person's bank account is linked to a digital wallet in order to complete the transaction with the help of near field communication technology (NFC). This system is already getting popular in Japan where digital wallets are being widely used and called as "wallet mobiles" (Subramanian, Rajendran, and Geeta 2019). The study by Bamasak (2011) showed that there is a bright future for mobile payments in Saudi Arabia as most participants expressed willingness to participate in such activity in future. The unauthorised use of mobile phones to make a payment and security itself of mobile payment transactions were the main areas of the concerns according to Saudi respondents. Moreover, the study by Liu et al. (2012) concluded that digital wallet gave additional convenience to consumers in Canada by offering them flexibility and increased speed of transaction. Additionally, an empirical study by Padashetty and Kishore

(2013) found trust, ease of use, and expressiveness as motivators in India towards adoption of digital payments methods by consumers. Furthermore, the study by Rouibah (2015) concluded that in Kuwait, the major obstacles for adoption of epayment methods are: lack of trust, poor security, high charges, and poor familiarity. The other factors besides security were related to banking facilities, quality of services and privacy were also affecting adoption of epayments. The study by Rathore (2016) identified that digital payment method was convenient for consumers when making a purchase online without moving across places.

In the context of UK, mobile payment users within UK are expected to grow, in 2018 it was 7.2 million mobile payment users, and this is expected to by 8.3 million by 2019 (Statista, 2019). According to emarketer (2019) 8.3 million people in UK which is 19.1 % of smartphone users, will have made at least one proximity mobile payments in past 6 months. The forecasted number is expected to reach around 25.5% by 2023 from 19.1 %. Furthermore, according to new research, smartphone payments such as Apple Pay, Google Pay, and Android Pay in the UK has quadrupled over last two years, which accounts for about 6 % of all the card transactions. The biggest adopter of digital payments has been in London, which accounts for 7% of payments less than 30£, which is at least 2% higher than any other region (Clark, 2018). Like any technological innovation, according to UK finance research, younger people are more likely to register for mobile payments than older groups (UK finance, 2019). Below is the figure 2.3 which illustrates the



proportions of the people registered for mobile payments in UK.

Figure 2.3 Mobile payments in UK by age groups (UK finance, 2019)

In the context of Saudi Arabia, digital payments methods have recently been introduced in 2019, where Saudi users can use their smartphone to pay via using services such as Apple Pay. According to Visa whitepaper, Saudi population has characteristics which can make digital payments and contactless methods successful such as High penetration of smartphone in the region and Tech savvy millennial population of 40 %. According to the observation, Saudi consumers have a desire to try alternative solutions, 80% of the respondents who performed contactless transactions were open to do it again in future (Biz today, 2019).

2.2.5 Intelligent personal assistant

In this era, communication with devices by voice is becoming common activity. Intelligent personal assistants (IPA) such as Apple Siri, Google assistant, Amazon Alexa, Microsoft Cortona, are allowing consumers to perform various tasks like schedule a meeting or making a phone call hands free (Silvia et al., 2019). The voice assistants make use of Natural Language User Interface (NLUI) to engage with users and give information about maps, weather, events etc. (Santos et al., 2016). NLUI allows Human-Device Interaction (HDI) and Human-to- Machine (H2M), which involves translation of human intention into devices' control commands via speech recognition (Drosdov et al., 2017). These innovations show the advancements of artificial intelligence, semantic web, speech recognition, dialog system, and natural language processing. The term intelligent personal assistant is referred as a system that can understand and respond to voice inputs and actions on the users request (Santos et al., 2016). According to Baber (1990), an intelligent personal assistant is an application that makes use of contextual information and user's voice in order to assist by answering questions in human language. Within literature and past studies, the term IPA has been also referred as Virtual Personal Assistants, Conversational Agents, Personal Digital Assistants, Voice Activated Personal Assistants, or Voice-Enabled Assistants. The interactions with voice assistants on smart devices are increasing and the conversation is becoming a key mode of human computer interaction (Luger and Sullen, 2016). In the context of smartphones, there are several software agents which are providing users with voice assistants: Apple's Siri, Google's Assistant, Microsoft's Cortana etc. These software agents continuously listen for key word and wake up. Once it hears the key word, it records user's voice and sends it to specialise server, which then processes and interprets it as a command. The response will depend on the command, the server will supply voice assistant with relevant information to play back to the requested user or complete the task with several connected services or devices (Hoy, 2018). The companies all around the world are increasingly investing in these technologies and advancements have been made within the industry. However, little is known on the user experience of IPAs and the adoption rate. The recent survey showed that almost 98% of iPhone users were aware about Siri, but only 30% uses it regularly or occasionally (Milanesi, 2016). There have been previous studies (Luger and Sellen, 2016; Cowan et al., 2017) which have examined the usefulness of IPAs and suggested that it is mostly used in situations where user is engaged in other activities like cooking, driving, playing etc. In addition, the IPAs offer additional accessibility benefits for the population of disabled or visually impaired and provide some support for speech therapy (Pradhan et al., 2018). The satisfaction of IPAs has been associated with task complexity (the easier task, the higher satisfaction) and in-/output modes (text, voice, gestures) involved in task completion (the more modes, less satisfaction) (Kiseleva et al., 2016). The IPA adoption in Denmark concluded higher satisfaction with higher frequency tasks, pointing to positive correlations between task simplicity, frequency, and satisfaction (Bogers et al., 2019). Moreover, IPAs ability to provide

appropriate feedback on the status of software activation and task progress has also been linked to user satisfaction (Sorenson, 2017), a mismatch between input and output modes (a spoken command that produces screen text) (Luger, and Sellen, 2016), a quality of speech recognition (Moore et al., 2017), quality of the IPA provided information with its sources (Lie et al., 2017), and lack of understanding on the part of the user regarding how to best utilise IPAs (Bopp, 2018). Furthermore, a recent study which explored children's use of Siri found that they ask Siri questions and request that aims on getting to know or explore the agent (asking personal questions) and using it to make a call or send text. Children also were seen to test the limits of Siri by asking questions such as "where is mommy"? which was out of the capability of voice assistant. The biggest takeaway from the study was Siri had limitation in recognising children's speech (Silvia et al. 2015). Additionally, the study by Luger and Sellen (2016) found that users did not trust the voice assistants to complete complex tasks such as calling someone or writing emails. The study also identified that users used different strategies to make voice assistant understand their language by using fewer complex words, reducing the number of words, speaking more clearly, changing the accent, dropping colloquialisms etc. The study by Cowan et al. (2017) highlighted additional issues which are related to privacy and social embarrassment in context of using Siri (IPA). The study found, one of the biggest barriers in people adopting IPAs like Siri is reluctance to use it in public especially in front of strangers because it felt weird and embarrassing. Moreover, the study identified issues related with trust, data privacy and consistency. The participants were unsure whether the data collected is being stored and sold to marketing organisation to monetize the interaction. The previous study Trepte et al. (2017) mentions that countries with high uncertainty avoidance and collectivism tend to pose greater emphasis on privacy issues.

2.2.6 Purchase intention of smartphones

Smartphones are not just any electronical device and have been transformed as a necessity in people's lives. In earlier days, smartphones were treated as a device for making phones calls or sending messages. Smartphone has now become a new medium of communication and information sharing (May and Hearn, 2005). Since the importance of the smartphones have grown immensely all around the world,

people are becoming more conscious and considering several factors before they have the purchase intention.

Purchase intention can be described as an advanced plan to buy certain service or good in future, this plan may not actually result into implementation because it is affected by ability to perform (Chang and Wildt, 1994). The study by Chang and Wildt (1994) explained further that purchase intention will be weak, if consumer views that product value is low. According to Ayodele and Ifeanyichukwu (2016) suggested that different consumer's requirements will vary depending on the brand name, functions, price, and quality. Consumers will search information about different products and evaluate them before making purchase decision.

2.2.7 Social influence

According to Turner (1991) social influence is the process where people indirectly or directly influence the feelings, actions, and views of others. According to Kotler and Armstrong (2010) consumer behaviour is influenced by social factors such as family, socials roles, status, and small group. Consumers will seek advice, suggestions and form their opinion based on other experiences who have already purchase the smartphone. The study by Osman et al. (2012) suggested that 35% of the people preferred to purchase smartphones according to the trend in the community. Similarly, the research by Suki and Suki (2013) younger generation are highly dependent on their surrounding when it comes to purchasing the smartphones. The study by Zahid and Dastane (2016) found that social influence is the most determining factor in purchase intention of smartphones among South-East Asian young adults. Furthermore, family members are considered to be one of the most influential factors within social factor affecting the consumer behaviour. The child learns the traditions and values which later becomes part of his/her life. These values and traditions impact the attitude and behaviour of an individual in decision making (Khan, 2006). Another crucial point regarding family is the idea of decision maker. In some households, husband tends to make decisions, even though wife purchase the items. Similarly, children can be also part of influencing group especially when buying child related accessories. Marketers must know who the decision maker is when it comes to their product or service (Burnet, 2008). In addition, small groups which also can be termed as reference groups, can be formal or informal surroundings such as schools, church, group of friends, or universities.

These groups can shape the attitude or behaviour of consumer when making decision.

The social influence has been broadened due to the emergence of social media, before the social influence was just limited to face-to-face interactions (Kwahk and Ge, 2012). Mc Kenna and Bargh (2000) has identified four differences of social/online interaction as opposed to face-to-face from psychological point of view; users are anonymous, physical appearance is not important, distance is not important, and interaction not necessarily needs to be simultaneous.

According to Nelson and Mcleod (2005) purchasing smartphones are influenced by media, parents and peers. Furthermore, when new products are launched businesses will use advertisements on different mediums such as TV, Social networks to influence the buyers. A study by Ting et al. (2011) concluded that social influence also influences the level of dependency a student has on a smartphone. The consumers who share their positive experiences with other people, this creates a positive word -of-mouth and results in increased purchase of intention. The study by Chen et al. (2011) explained that online word of mouth has a significant impact on purchase behaviour. Simarly, Jalilvanda et al. (2011) identified that online consumer reviews plays two key roles in social influence: informative and suggestive. The informative roles comprise of providing additional user focused information, while suggestive provides with the signal of popularity of the product or service. Consumers who are an active member on social networking sites, creates a virtual peer pressure. The study by Power and Phillips-Wren (2011) concluded that peer pressure on social media is quicker and more comprehensive than face-to-face experience. Kaushal and Kumar (2015) identified that the consumers want to use or buy smartphone because their social circle is using it and hence, they are also motivated towards smart phone.

The study by Li (2011) suggested that consumer's behaviour action is not solely dependent on their own motivation but also by other users which are on the online community. The Wang and Lin (2011) explained that consumers in order to reduce cognitive effort when faced with too much information tends to follow other's decision instead of making their own. Moreover, consumers are now actively searching for product information on social networking sites rather than company's own website

due to credibility issue (Sinclaire and Vogugs, 2011). Furthermore, Park et al. (2007) pointed out that online consumer reviews nowadays play key role in decision making process because this kind of consumer created information provides indirect experiences of products. The consumer reviews are proven to be more for females than males according to the study by Ling and Yazdanifard (2014). Similarly, the study conducted by Bea and Lee (2011) revealed that females are more influenced by recommendations of others than males.

2.2.8 Brand

Businesses will look for ways to stand out from others especially when operating in a tough industry of smartphones which continuously keeps changing. According to Kotler & Armstrong (2010) brand name is more than just symbol and name. It is an element of relationship between business and the user. The study by Yeh et al. (2016) concluded that brand name and image can be crucial factors for adding value. Brand names are intangible asserts that assist correspond the product quality and suggest knowledge structures which associates to the brand (Filieri & Lin, 2017). In addition, from consumer perspective brand positively affects the behavioural outcomes including purchase intention (Liu et al., 2013).

There are several accepted brands which are popular among consumers such as Apple, Samsung, Huawei, and HTC. Each brand reflects unique status symbol and has its own identity in the eyes of the consumer. The studies have shown that the product's brand name has influence on customer's evaluation and affects their buying decision behaviour (Khasawneh and Hasouneh, 2010). The study by Pinson and Brosdahl (2014) suggested that Apple's brand personality has a positive significant effect on Apple's brand loyalty. In an industry where technological features are similar; it is becoming more important to focus on branding to differentiate from its competitors. One of the ways how Apple has cemented his place in consumer's mind is through their multi coloured Apple logo. The president of Apple products in 1999 concluded that "You could not dream of a more appropriate logo; lust, hope, knowledge, and anarchy" (Linzymayer, 1999). Similarly, Apple have achieved their branding through various campaigns such as "Think Different" which tells consumers to be different and go against status quo buy buying Apple over traditional computers (Belk and Tumbat, 2005). One study suggested similar theme regarding brand affect and showed that brand name has a significant effect on the

demand of smartphones among students (Norazah, 2013). In addition, the study by Malviya et al. (2013) concluded that brand name of mobile phone in India has a dominant impact on consumer evaluation and subsequently their buying decision of mobile phone. Additionally, another study by Liao (2012) pointed out that brand image is the most important factor when buying smartphone in India. The study by Mohan (2014) showed that 58% of the people placed emphasis on branding of the smartphone as important when buying. Moreover, the study by Bojei and Hoo (2012) suggested that consumers prefer to buy branded products and services because they perceive brand to quality assurance. The study by Liu and Lang (2014) conducted a study which involved questionnaire and eye tracking technique to understand deeply the consumer behaviour regarding smartphones. The result of the study concluded that 71% of the respondents were willing to pay more for their favourite branded smartphone and brand logo was found to be one of the significant factors in decision making. Similarly, the recent study in Saudi Arabia concluded that Saudi consumers are more inclined towards international brands, and they are affected by brand name when making purchase (Alsulami, 2018). Additionally, Kim and Zhang (2014) concluded that countries with High power distance tends to have a strong preference towards status brands than those with low power distance belief.

2.2.9 Price

According to Kotler and Armstrong (2014) price is an amount of money being charged for a service or product, or the sum of values that consumers gives in exchange for the benefits of using or acquiring the product or service. Price will always remain one of the key concern of consumers in every purchasing decision (Smith and Carsky, 1996) According to Nagle and Holden (2002) price plays a key role as a monetary value whereby the consumers to trade it with products or services that are being sold by the seller. Consumer set an acceptable price range of product before making a purchase. The purchase intention is reduced when the actual price is higher than the acceptable price range (Dodds et al.,1991).

There are several studies conducted across the globe which has shown the impact of price on mobile purchasing behaviour. The study by Saif et al. (2012) which was conducted in Pakistan concluded that price is the most important factor when consumer decides to purchase mobile. Similarly, the study in Finland by; Pakola et al. (2010); study in Ethiopia by Sata (2013) suggested that price is the most

important factor when it comes to purchasing mobile phones. On the other side, the study by Osman et al. (2012) contradicted and stated that price is not the most important factor when purchasing smartphone, and there are other factors which are more important such as design, connectivity, and performance. Furthermore, Gabor and Grange (1966) identified that price plays key indicator of the quality from consumer's perspective, if the price is lower than expected then it may work against the seller, as the consumer may lack confidence towards the product quality. The level of price according to Aaker (1991) is found to have positively affected behavioural intentions because price establishes the brand image in sight of consumers. In addition, consumer perceive high price with high quality, while low price, with low quality (Chow at al., 2012). These findings are in line with the previous findings by Jacob and Olson (1977) who suggested that price sends signals which impact consumer's perception and therefore can evoke a psychological response. The study by Monore and Krishnan (1985) concluded that high price results in high product quality, which then increases the purchase intention directly. In the United Kingdom, according to Statista (2019) 75% of the users consider price as the most important factor when purchasing new phone.

2.2.10 Features

Smartphones are evolving continuously and adding new features year by year. With so many features in smartphones, every individual will have a preference on features which meets his/her needs and desires. Product features are the attributes of a product that can satisfy consumer's preferences through having, using, and applying the product (Kotler and Armstrong, 2007). The study by Oulasvirta, Wahlstrom, and Ericsson (2011) identified that smartphones are now featured with standard built in web browser, wireless connectivity, apps store, high resolution displays, high memory storages, file management system etc. According to previous study by Ling et al. (2006) there are five design characteristics of smartphone which are preferred by consumers such as colour screen, camera, voice activated dialling, internet browsing, and wireless connectivity. The study further elaborated that physical appearance, size, and menu organisation key factors in decision making of college students. One of the recent surveys conducted in UK revealed 67% of 55- 64 years old viewed long battery life as the most impressive smartphone feature. This number dropped to 47% when asked to 25-34 age group. The 25-34 aged group listed high

megapixel camera as the most impressive feature of smartphone. The millennials 18-24 agreed with the 54-64-year-old and listed long battery life as the most impressive feature (Andy, 2018).

In context of Saudi Arabia, poor battery remains the top reason behind changing their mobile phone. The second most popular reason is the release of new model, where 28% of the population admits changing their phone because of the release of new phone. Below is the figure 2.4 which illustrates reasons that prompt change in mobile phone according to Saudi consumers.



Figure 2.4: Reasons that prompt to change main mobile phone (Deloitte, 2019)

Furthermore, the appeal of the new model exists; however, it has eroded if we compare from 2017, where 34% of Saudi consumer admitted changing their phone as compared to 30% in 2019 (Deloitte, 2019). Below is the figure 2.5 which illustrates the purchasing cycle in Saudi Arabia for phone.



Figure 2.5: Purchasing Cycle in Saudi Arabia (Deloitte, 2019)

The study by Lay-Yee et al. (2013) explained hardware as the surface of the device which is tangible such as body of smartphone weight, size, and design. The software of the smartphone comprises of the computer programs, documentation, procedures, storage, operating systems etc. There are several types of operating system such as iOS, Windows, Android, Symbian, Bada, and RIM blackberry. Both hardware and software fall under the features of the smartphones. The study by Russel (2012) found that consumers in Malaysia mostly preferred Android operating system, followed by iOS operating system. Similar trends of preferences towards Android were seen in the following countries: Thailand, Vietnam, and New Zealand. In Singapore it was a different story, where 46% of consumers adopted iOS, while Android remained second with 29%. The study by Lay- Yee et al. (2013) concluded that 31 % of the users placed important on software rather than hardware which indicates that software will have more impact on decision making than hardware.

2.2.11 Summary- 1st part of the Literature review

The 1st part of the literature review (*Smartphones*) gives the researcher the fundamental understanding and insight towards the smartphone. It evaluates the history, evolution, and features of the smartphone over the period. The

understanding of smartphone forms a basis to further understand the consumer behaviour. The consumer behaviour is understood through "purchase intention" and analyse different factors which affects consumer when purchasing new smartphones. The four factors established in literature were Social influence, Brand, Price, and Features.

2.3 Understanding Innovation (Part2).

In the following part, relevant academic literature of innovation is analysed. The goal of this chapter is to gather the understanding of innovation from different perspectives and differentiate innovation from invention. In addition, the chapter will also analyse different types of innovation and factors affecting. This chapter will also help understand importance of innovation in various contexts to provide holistic insight and an embedding to research.

2.3.1 Innovation definition

Innovation has been derived from Latin word "Innovatus" which means creation of something (Johannessen et al., 2001). The concept of innovation is not new and there are over 40 definitions in scientific literature about innovation (Hakkinen, 2017). In the first three months of 2012, more than 250 books were published with the word "innovation" in their title (Kwoh, 2012).

Klauss (2004) define innovation as the degree to which value is created for consumers through activity that converts new technologies and knowledge into profitable goods and services for domestic or international market. Similarly, Lee and Ging (2007) defines innovation as making new products and offering new services or adding new value to existing ones. The European Commission explains innovation as the enlargement and renewal of range of services, products, and the associated markets; the establishment of new method productions, distribution, and supply; also, it involves introducing of changes in management, work organization, working condition, and skills of employees (CEC,1995). According to Crossan and Apaydin (2010) innovation is adoption or production, assimilation and exploitation of value added in social and economic spheres; enlargement and renewal of products, services, and markets; establishment of new management systems and development of new methods of production This definition has been one of the most cited in the literature and considered as one of the most comprehensive definitions of

innovation (Hakkinen,2017). There are significant number of definitions that are used over the period of time by renowned authors in academia. Below is the table 2.1 which provides taxonomy of definition for "innovation" which will assist the researcher to fully understand the concept of innovation and derive common emerging themes.

Authors	Definition of Innovation
Barnett (1953)	• Any behaviour, thought, or thing that is new because it is qualitatively different from existing forms.
Robertson (1967)	 Innovation as a process by which new behaviour, idea, or a thing which is qualitatively different from current forms and is implemented in practice.
Aiken and Hage (1971)	 Innovation is acceptance, generation and implementation of new ideas, services, processes, or products for the first time within an organization setting.
Zaltman, Ducnan, and Holbek (1973)	 a creative process where two or more existing entities or concepts combined in a novel way to produce a configuration which did not existed previous.
Freeman (1982)	 Innovation is introduction of change, which is something new, while invention is the creation of a new device or process.
Drucker (1985)	 Innovation is a tool of entrepreneurs, the means by which they exploit change as an opportunity for a different service or business.
Handy (1985)	 Innovation comprises of all activities directed to changing the things that the organization does or the way it does it.
Dosi (1988)	 Innovation is search for and discovery of development, experimentation, imitation and adoption of new products, new production processes and new organisational setups.
Urabe (1988)	 Innovation is the generation of a new idea and implementation into a new services, products, or process.

Twiss (1989)	A process that combines technology, economics,
	science and management, as it is to achieve novelty and
	extends from the emergence of the idea to its
	commercialization in the form of production,
	consumption, and exchange.
Porter (1990)	Innovation here is defined broadly, to include both
	improvements in technology and better methods or
	ways of doing things. It can be manifested in product
	changes, process changes, new approaches to
	marketing, new forms of distribution, and new
	conceptions of scope.
Lundvall (1992)	 Innovation is new use of pre-existing components and
	possibilities and components. Majority of all innovations
	reflect existing knowledge which is combined in new
	forms or ways.
Afuah (2002)	Innovation is the employment of newly acquired
	knowledge which provides new products or services
	that customer demands.
Rasul (2003)	Innovation as the process where ideas for new or
	improved services, processes, or products are
	developed and commercialized in marketplace.
Rogers (2003)	Describes innovation as adoption of ideas that are new
	to adopting company.
Walker (2006)	 Innovation is a process through which new objects,
	practices, ideas are developed, created, or re invented
	and which are novel and new to the unit of adoption.
Plessis (2007)	Innovation is the creation of new ideas and knowledge
	to facilitate new business outcomes, aimed at improving
	internal business structures and processes and to create
	market driven services and products.
Baregheh, Rowley, and Sambrook (2009)	Innovation is the multi-layered process where
	organizations transform ideas into improved/new
	products, service or processes, in order to compete,
	advance and differentiate themselves successfully in the
	industry.
O'Sullivan and Dooley (2009)	The application of practical techniques and tools that
	make changes towards processes, products, and

	services that results in the introduction of something new for the business which adds value to customers and contributes to the knowledge store of organisation.
Wang and Kafouros (2009)	 Innovation is a value driver which provides impetus to emerging economies by opening up opportunities of international trade.
Grawe, 2009: Daugherty et al. (2011)	 Innovation is a practice, idea, or an object that is perceived as new by individual or other unit of adoption.
Fri, Pehrsson, and Søilen, (2013)	 Innovation is an activity which business uses to solves problems by combining knowledge.
Hisrich and Kearney (2014)	 Innovation is a process for creating and introducing something novel, new or advanced with the aim of creating value or benefit.
OECD (2005, 2018)	 Innovation is the implementation of significantly improved or a new product or process, a new organisational method, or a new marketing method in business practices, workplace organisation or external relations. New or improved product or process (or combination thereof) that differs significantly from the unit's previous processes or products and that has been made available to potential users (product) or brought into use by the unit (process).
Mamasioulas, Mourtzis, and Chryssolouris (2020)	 It is a process of converting an idea or invention into a good or service which creates values or customer to be paid for it. For an idea to be referred as innovation, it should be replicable at an economic cost and satisfy a need.

Table 2.1: Taxonomy of definition of Innovation by renowned authors from 1953-2020

The definitions above show convergences of ideas and thinking among field of academia. By carefully reviewing the above definitions, there are some key components/themes which could be put together to illustrate the core elements of innovation. Below is the figure 2.6 (**Innovation spider**), which is graphical representation of '**8**' common themes which emerged by reviewing taxonomy of definition for innovation between 1953-2020.



Figure 2.6: Innovation spider (Author's own)

Based on our Innovation spider, the author presents a new definition which is in the context of smartphone industry and currently missing in the current body of literature. Below is the figure 2.7 showing researcher's own definition of innovation. Future researchers can use "*innovation spider*" and develop innovation definition relevant to their industry. As stated earlier, innovation is a complex and multidimensional concept and therefore it is required to be defined and adapted based on the context.

"Smartphone innovation can be termed as an implementation of a process which involves a significant technological improvement in features, services, or software, with an aim to add novelty value to the end user" (Mohammad Malik, 2021).

Figure 2.7: Smartphone Innovation (Author's own).

Secondly, there is another crucial distinction to be made when reviewing innovation. Usually, the concept of "innovation" is mixed with "invention" and are inter linked. However, the distinction is crucial between both as innovation may involve invention, but it involves several other factors as well (Crossan and Apaydin 2010; Szirmai et al., 2011; Keeley et al., 2013). Invention is purely the first occurrence of an idea of new process or product while innovation is the commercialisation of the idea and formation of practical new offering (Keeley et al., 2013). Furthermore, the distinction between innovation and invention was made clear in early 1980s by Christopher Freeman, who is one of most eminent researchers in innovation studies and concluded that invention is an idea, model, sketch for a new or improved product, device, system, process, while innovation in the context of economics is with the first commercialisation of the new process, system, device, or product (Freeman, 1982). The method of innovation starts from developing ideas, followed by refining them into a useful form, and bring them in the market where they will achieve increased efficiencies (Morris, 2008)

According to the most distinctive contributor towards innovation "Schumpeter", there are five areas in which innovation can contribute within the business: generation of new product, introduction of new product process, development of new sales market, development of new supply market, and restructuring of the company (Seng and Ping, 2016). Product innovation is the adoption of new or significantly improved

methods. Innovation acts as a bridging gap between the strategies of businesses and technology. According to Global Innovation Index (2017) United Kingdom ranks 5th out of 127 countries, while Saudi Arabia ranks 55 out of 127 countries. Furthermore, the expenditure on research and development is one of the key indicators of innovation within the country. The UK in 2013 spent 1.639% of the GDP on research and development, while Saudi Arabia spent 0.815% of the GDP (World Bank, 2019). From macro-point of view, innovation has emerged as the single most important factor towards long-term economic growth for countries (Rosenberg, 2004). From micro point of view, innovation is more of a management discipline where it focuses on businesses' mission, searches for unique opportunities, analyses if they are aligned with businesses' strategic direction, defines measure for success and constantly re assesses opportunities (Lin and Chen, 2007)

2.3.2 Innovation and competitive advantage

Much of the attention regarding competitive advantage in past literatures have been given regarding the determinants of competitive advantage due to its increased importance year by year. The Ansoff et al. (2019) explains that the current business conditions are dynamic and constantly evolving which is forcing companies to emphasize on innovation techniques in order to survive in modern market. Innovation is essential in this knowledge era, where organisations are viewing innovation as a significant contributor towards their profitability which will lead them to improve their overall competitiveness (Potters, 2009). According to Gupta (2007) sustainable growth and profitability is linked with sustainable innovation.

The research on the competitive advantage was established initially by Porter in 1980. In 1985, the same research termed as "theory competitive advantage" and was expanded and later used by several researchers. The literature is moving forward consistently on competitive advantage and can be described as an ability of an organisation to offer extra-ordinary benefits within the business and cannot be replicated by the competitor at that given point (Hickman and Silva, 2018). According to Porter (1985) the competitive advantage of business consists of things such as differentiation of an item or advantage over competitors, lower cost per unit, and fulfilment of the demand in time. It also includes an established business structure

and marketing foundation. Furthermore, according to Barney (1991) competitive advantage is essentially developed by creating strategies which cannot be copied by rivals. To reap the benefits of the competitive advantage, it needs to be sustained for a long period rather short. The stakeholders play key part in maintaining competitive advantage of the business (Bryson, 2018). Generally, the competitive advantage does have a short period due to the tendency of the new entrants or even current businesses to imitate the unique attributes of the business in order to undermine the competitive advantage (Weerwardena et al., 2015). Porter (1985) believed that for the survival of the business competitive advantage should be sustained.

Several scholars suggest the 21st century is based on information, knowledge, and innovative economy (Collinson, 2005; Hamel & Green, 2007). The highly competitive business environment and globalisation has also resulted businesses in constant pressure of creating a competitive advantage. In addition, the markets are increasingly becoming uncertain, complex, and demanding. To overcome these factors, the leadership requires to devise a mechanism which allows them to follow the trends and stay ahead (Day and Reibstein, 1999). Traditional measures such as outsourcing, cost-cutting and re-engineering are still relevant but not enough for sustainable competitive advantage. Value creation and competitive advantage can only come from innovation (Prahalad and Ramaswamy, 2003)

Moreover, businesses are constantly finding ways to uplift the innovation rate within their products, processes, organization of production, and commercialisation. The capacity and the rate of innovation will largely depend on the internal capability, competency level, and productive qualification (Ferraz, 1995). By doing this, a competitive advantage can be created over rivals by establishing a value in its own product or process which is beyond the production cost and cannot be executed alongside by current or future rivals (Barney, 1991). The importance of competitive advantage through innovation has resulted in a widely accepted phrase of "innovate or die" and is extremely popular in business environment (Kavadas and Chao, 2007). Overall, several scholars support the notion of innovation being significant in achieving competitive advantage (Damanpour, Walker, and Avellaneda, 2009; Gunday et all, 2011; Abidin, Mokhtar, and Yusoff., 2013; Hansen, 2014).

2.3.3 Innovation important for businesses

Anecdotal evidence suggests that innovation is linked to the business performance. There have been studies which shows the positive correlation between innovation and the success of the business. The level of success is not only limited in the research & development area but also challenges by breaking the conventional wisdom within businesses (Dodgson, 2018). The study by Hanson et al. (2016) explained that by breaking the traditional rules and focusing on innovation, it helps the company win in highly competitive industry. Another study by Anning- Dorson (2018) examined on how competitive advantage is created through innovation in emerging markets by using power distance cultural perspective and echelon theory to analyse the mediating role of business leadership on competitive advantage and innovation. Countries such as India and Ghana showed that competitive advantage was largely achieved through innovation.

The continuous market change and increased globalisation has influenced the need of product innovation. Hardaker (1998) concludes that continuous product innovation helps business avoid uncertainty and be successful by integrating with technological change. The inevitability of innovation is also endorsed by Craven et al. (2002) who views that companies have a fear of cannibalization when they introduce new products in the market. Businesses still pursue proactive cannibalization strategy to remain competitive and relevant in the market.

However, not all researchers agree that product innovation results into success. Kleinschmidt and Cooper (1991) established a relationship between product innovativeness and commercial success as U- shaped. This indicated that both high and low innovativeness product are likely to be more successful than those in between. In addition, some scholars also suggested that there is no direct main effect of product innovativeness on product financial performance (Henard and Szymanski, 2001) while other suggest that only one out five new projects become viable for businesses (Asplund and Sandin, 1999). Furthermore, according to Harvard business school every year there are 30,000 new consumer products launched and 80% of them fail (Schroeder, 2017). One of the prime examples of innovation failure within mobile phone industry is Nokia's N-gage mobile set. In 2003, Nokia at its peak of domination tried to capture the gaming market with launching mobile set which was aimed at attracting young generation by offering portable

gaming. The peculiar design of the mobile set became one of the key reasons behind failure and only sold 3 million units in 4-5 years (Cutlack, 2016; McCaskill, 2017).

However, there are studies which contradicts with above studies and shows that there is a link between research development budget expenditure and sales revenue of a firm (Franko, 1989) and there is close relation between innovation and long-term profitability (Geroski and Machin, 1992; Cosh and Hughes, 1996). One of the prominent examples within smartphone industry of innovation is the iPhone. Several mobile phones existed before iPhones, but Apple's strategy of disruptive innovation helped them achieve a successful business out of it. Large touch screen, apps market, sending emails, online transactions, and ease of use resulted them achieved unprecedented success (Kishore, 2018). Now, 60% of the Apple's revenue comes alone from the iPhone sales (Kim, 2017).

2.3.4 Classification of innovation

The understanding of several typologies of innovation is crucial for researchers and the organisations to devise a strategy. The types of innovation have received significant amount of attention throughout the years. Innovations are often analysed in terms of extremes: incremental and radical (McDermott and O'Connor, 2002); continuous and discontinuous (Veryzer, 1998); and sustainable innovation and disruptive innovation (Christensen et al., 2004). Below the researcher will understand the various classifications of innovations from different perspectives and scholars to gather deep understanding of the concept.

The most common typology is radical innovation and incremental innovation (Abrunhosa and Sa, 2008; Lin and Chen, 2007; Prajogo and Sohal, 2003, Forsman and Temel, 2011). Radical innovation leverages on current core competencies and assets to create products/services that will transform the industry for better. This kind of innovation is considered as high in risk because it requires high financial resources, time and knowledge, (Cainelli, Evangelista, and Savona, 2006; Forsman and Temel, 2011). On the other hand, incremental innovation represents an adaptation or improvement which does not cause an industry wide stir. Additionally, incremental innovation usually does not have a huge technological or economical potential as compared to the radical innovation, but the benefits of incremental

innovation can be utilized quicker with less risk (Sundaram and Yermack, 2007; Xu and Yan,2014). Radical innovations are generally unique, original, and has the ability to influence present and the future innovations. One of the prime examples of the radical innovation will be Apple's first iPhone which changed the landscape of the smartphone industry and re imagined what a phone could do (Gardner, 2017). Conversely, incremental innovation comprises of small improvements and upgrades to current service or products. According to Dewar and Dutton (1986) incremental innovation is about slight improvements to existing processes, products, services through which business tries to achieve customer satisfaction, low cost per unit, operational efficiency etc. The biggest example of incremental innovation is Gillette razors which initially begin with a single blade and has evolved into multiple blades over the years (Muckersie, 2016).

The second most common studied typology draws the distinction between technological innovation and marketing innovation. The technological innovation relates to incorporation of new technologies into the products and process. Technological innovation is closely linked with long term success by achieving competitive advantage (Grover, Purvis, and Segars, 2007). This type of innovation is largely associated with opportunities available due to advancement in the technology. The marketing innovation refers to bringing the change to the structure of the organisation. It focuses on implementing new marketing methods which brings changes in product placement, pricing, packaging, promotional activities etc. It allows to target the customer's needs, finding new markets and change the positioning of the firm within the industry.

Product versus process innovation are also commonly used typologies in professional literature of innovation. These types of innovation revolve around the idea of technological advancements. Process innovation reflects change in the way product or services are produced, while product innovation represents modification in the end service or product (Dibrell, Davis, and Craig, 2008). Product innovation focuses on new technologies, information and is about introduction of significantly improved product or service in terms of characteristics. Contrariwise, process innovation is the execution of new or substantially improved delivery or production method. The aim of process innovation can be to reduce the cost per unit of the

delivery or production, in order to enhance the quality (Gunday et al., 2011). Product innovation is more related towards the final customer in the market because it involves developments of new products and services for the end users. The impact of product innovation is largely observed by the customer. The product innovation is used by many firms as a strategy to stand out in the market which leads to customer loyalty and improve in overall business performance (Huang and Rice, 2012). Contrary, process innovation emphasizes on internal side of the business and improves or changes the way the business performs. Below is the table 2.2 which summarises the various types of innovations.

Types of innovation

Schumpeter (1947)	New products
	New methods of production
	New sources of supply
	The exploitation of new markets
Abernathy and Utterback (1978)	Incremental innovation
	Discontinuous innovation
	Architectural innovation
	Modular innovation
Drucker (1985)	Incremental innovation
	Additive innovation
	Breakthrough innovation
	Complementary innovation
Christensen (1997)	Breakout innovations
	Disruptive innovation
	Sustaining innovation
Tidd, Pavitt, and Bessant (2001)	Radical innovation
	Disruptive innovation
	Complex innovation
	Continuous incremental innovation
West (2002)	Brand innovation
	Innovation that creates an industry
	Reformulation innovation
	Package innovation
	Service innovation
	Innovation that extends capabilities
	Process innovation
	Technological reorganisation innovation
OCED (2005)	Product innovation
	Process innovation
	Marketing innovation
	Organisation innovation
Maital and Seshadri (2012)	Market innovation
	Radical innovation
	Disruptive innovation
	Technological substitution innovation
	Incremental innovation
Tidd and Bessant (2014)	Product innovation
	Process innovation
	Paradigm innovation

	Position innovation
Christensen and van Bever (2014)	Marketing-creating innovation
	Efficiency innovations
	Performance-improving innovations

Table 2.2: Types of Innovation

2.3.5 Sustaining innovation vs Disruptive innovation

Businesses are faced with intense competition and increased customer demands in today's world. According to Christensen (2011) companies are faced with a dilemma of either serving existing customers by improving their own performance or start exploring new opportunities and focus on new customers. Generally, businesses stick with existing customers because it is less risky, while exploring new customer appears unprofitable and risky at first glance.

Sustaining innovation improves existing products and does not intend to create new value or markets but focuses on developing existing ones with better value. Sustaining innovation focuses on demanding and high-end customers by developing better performance than product or services than it was previously available. Sustaining innovation can be incremental, which are improved year by year, while some sustaining innovations are break through products which are out of the reach of competitors (Christensen, 1997). On the contrary, disruptive innovation helps innovators create a new market and value network. Disruption innovation can be described as a process where a smaller business with less resources is able to challenge established companies. Companies that focus on disruptive innovation begin to target overlooked segments and gain a foothold by offering suitable solutions at relatively lower price. In the start big companies will not respond vigorously because they are focused on high profitability in more demand segments. However, when mainstream customers start adopting those disruptive offering from entrant businesses that is the time where disruption has occurred (Christensen, 1997). The prime example of disruptive innovation is Apple launching iPod, where the company combined a solid technology with ground-breaking business model of downloading digital music through iTunes. The real innovation was not the iPod itself, but the downloading of songs on iTunes Music store. The songs from nominal

cost of \$0.99 were available for consumers to easily download into their iPod, which gave Apple a disruptive edge in industry. (Gosh, 2013).

2.3.6 Continuous innovation vs Discontinuous innovation

Continuous innovation uses the learning process and continues working in the already existing knowledge-based areas for consumer's needs. Continuous innovation can also be called evolutionary innovation and delivers incremental additional value. On other hand, discontinuous innovation involves expanding the boundaries and pushing the innovation into areas where it has not been before which results in radical new technologies and products (Apilo and Taskinen, 2006). There is another classification for product innovation which could be product technological capability and product capability. The study by Veryzer (1998) explained these two dimensions with integrating continuous and discontinuous terms. The study suggested that product capability dimension refers to customer's perspective about the benefit of the product. This means that higher the product capability, the more the end customer finds it beneficial. In addition, the technological capability is the extent to which product involves expanding technological capabilities beyond existing boundaries. The example used by Veryzer (1998) is Sony Walkman, which is technologically continuous and commercially discontinuous because it provided completely new experienced value. Secondly, an update in an electronic device which does not change the user experience is commercially continuous but technologically discontinuous. The higher the benefit or technological improvement, the more discontinuous the innovation will be. The changes in both benefits to customer and technology results in discontinuous change. Below is the figure 2.8 illustrating technology capability and product capability by Veryzer (1998).



Figure 2.8: Technological capability and product capability (Veryzer, 1998)

2.3.7 Factors affecting innovation within business

Several things in the business are impacted through the management style of the business. The vast amount of literature supports the view that empowered employees and high degree of innovation will increase the degree of control of an employee. This would mean that the employee would be in a comfortable environment to innovate in its' role. (Thamhain, 1990; Tang, 1999; Zwetsloot, 2001; Amar, 2004; Mostafa, 2005; Muthusamy et al., 2005; Nystrom et al., 2002). On the other side, there are scholars who does not fully support this notion and believes that employee empowerment will not lead to increased innovation because they might end up feeling alone in the pursuit of innovation (Knight, 1987; Tang, 1999; Martins and Terblanche, 2003; Mostafa, 2005).

Moreover, the vast amount of literature supports employees as one of the most important assets when it comes to idea creation. To fully utilise, businesses must give enough resources such as financial, time, and materials to create an environment which allows idea generation (Thamhain, 1990; Avlonitis et al., 1994; Pavitt, 2002; Hyland and Beckett, 2005; Mostafa, 2005). The management therefore needs to make sure that the process of innovation gets executed seamlessly and the employees have the ability to interact with the innovation process (Vandermerwe, 1987).

2.3.8 Organisational structure and corporate strategy

This plays a crucial role in affecting the innovation within the organisation. Organisational structure impacts employees within the business directly and is done through various channels such as the organisation of teams or level of formality. The organisational structure sets up the foundation for the nature of the job (Meadows, 1980; Koberg et al., 1996; Hage, 1999; Lewis and Moultrie, 2005) The employees on its own may develop innovations, however the strong groups of employees will be more significant in terms of affecting the overall capacity of the business to innovate. (Anderson and West, 1998; Read, 2000; Lemon and Sahota, 2004; Noke and Radnor, 2004; Muthusamy et al., 2005).

Secondly, the other factors which affects the level of innovation is the corporate strategy. This strategy is in place to represent the overall culture of the business and communicate the common vision (Cottam et al., 2001; Jager et al., 2004). It is key that the workers clearly understand the vision, corporate strategy, and assess what they need to do in order to achieve business goals (Pearson et al., 1989). So therefore, if businesses are serious about innovation, then it should be reflected within the corporate strategy and eventually it will have the trickledown effect.

2.3.9 Industry Maturity

Innovation is viewed as greatly important in corporate competition and considerable attention has been paid to Abernathy–Utterback model. The model suggests that after the birth of new industry, businesses compete on the basis of the product innovation and allocate resources which contributes towards product development. The moment market matures, and customer needs become clearer, companies shift their focus from product development to covering their expenses and process innovation (Cusumano et al., 2007). The study by Klepper (1996) emphasizes that mature industries are more focused to process innovation rather product innovation. Another empirical study by Vock (2001) suggested that only 29% of construction companies from Swiss civil engineering considered product innovation important. According to Christensen (2003) even the best businesses who lead in innovation fail to sustain the level of innovation because management practices that made them leader cannot be implemented in new circumstances.

2.3.10 Customer needs and expectations

The customer expectations and needs are important to increase the process innovation which will directly affect the efficiency levels. According to Hippel (1998) companies must shift their focus towards customer needs and introduced important term called "leading users". It is a special class of users that gives the insight and knowledge about future needs. The authors suggested that leading users will have the aptitude to display future needs as the function of their experience (Hippel, 1998) In other words, companies need to collect constant information from customers which will assist them predicting future needs. On the contrary, Christensen and Hart (2002) stresses that by spending time on existing customer can limit the scope of innovation. Slater and Narver (1999) supports the notion too that innovation does not predominantly depend on existing consumers insight, but it is also done by continually examine the market and anticipating information. This activity of collecting data beyond existing customers is extremely hard for small to medium businesses due to limits resources. The study conducted in Holland by Verhees and Meulenberg (2004) suggested that existing customer needs for radical product innovation influence positively on radical product innovation in small businesses. The hypothesis for the influence of expressed needs of potential customers has not been proved yet.

Another view comes from "demand focused" school of thought by Schmookler (1962), who finds that main factor of innovation is the market demand. The argument is intensity of the demand will determine the rate of invention because every business is profit driven and will respond to economic stimuli. In other words, the market demands which are derived from customer will determine the innovative appetite. This concept can be called as "market pull" and the empirical research of Schmookler (1966) concluded that demands play the crucial role in it. However, later in the decade the researcher argued and did not come to the similar conclusion of demand being key factor of innovation (Cohen, 1995). The study by Asterbro and Dahlin (2005) suggested three key hypotheses towards innovation; a) higher clients' needs leading to positive recognition of invention, b) higher expected demand of invention, higher chances of commercialisation, c) effects of user preferences and needs are aligned with effects of estimated demand for probability of invention commercialisation.

2.3.11 Technological opportunity

The technological advancement vs market demand has been an ongoing debate and dates backs to time of Schumpeter (1934). The study by Schumpeter (1934) concluded that entrepreneurs are guided by technological opportunities which can also be called as "technology push". This view was in complete contrast to the Schmookler's view of "market pull" which was demand led. The notion of Schumpeter (1934) is supported by other authors as well (Cohen, 1995; Goldenberg et al., 2001). In addition, another author; Johnson et al. (2008) concluded that the "technological push" and "market pull" do not cancel each other. According to Martin (1994) technology push as research and development, sales and production operations without full understanding of need for product in mind. Conversely, market-pull is explained as the answer to the need. The technology-push is within the company and driven by technological development that leads to ground-breaking innovations, but it is riskier and has lower success rate than market pull. The fine example of technology-push strategy is launch of Google Glass by Google in 2012 (Chen and Sloan, 2018). It was an attempt to cause stir in wearable technology segment, however there were several reasons such as health and safety concerns of wearing Google Glass, privacy issues, and above all no clear benefit to end user (Doyle, 2016). The company like Google, with massive research and development budget can afford to adopt technology push approach and fail, however for new entrants it might be better to adopt market pull strategy. Below is the figure 2.9 showing technology push vs market pull.



Figure 2.9: Technology push vs Market-pull (Martin, 1994)

Secondly, Innovation in real life market contains a balance approach between science/technology and demand forces. The technological opportunity does have several dimensions which are technological importance, technological performance, and the technical feasibility. The study by Asterbro and Dahlin (2005) added another dimension which was technological indefiniteness, which represents that a possibility of future action in research and development will solve current problems. Viewing this from national economy perspective, it is clear that countries which have a strong scientific and technological potentials have an advantage on those countries which do not have such potentials. Furthermore, the study by Baldwin and Sabourin (1999) found that companies that have research and development are more likely to innovate as compared to companies which do not have research and development. The study found that 60% probability rises if R&D is existing in the company, however this alone is not enough for innovation. This study further found that organised R&D activities are key for innovation

2.3.12 Summary- 2nd part of the Literature review

The goals of this chapter (*Understanding Innovation*) were understanding the roots of innovation and recognize the importance from different aspects by looking at previous literature. This part of the literature assisted to form a foundation of the

concept and distinguish innovation from invention. Moreover, it looked at various classification of innovations and factors affecting it to provide a holistic view of the concept. In addition, by reviewing the definitions of innovation (Table 2.1) in the literature from 1953- 2020, the researcher extracted 8 common themes (Innovation spider- Figure 2.6) which emerged by reviewing these definitions. Based on the innovation spider, the researcher developed a new "*smartphone innovation*" definition which contributes to the body of knowledge because a smartphone innovation definition was missing from current literature.

2.4 Consumer and Innovation (Part3)

In the following part, relevant academic literature of consumer and innovation is explored. The goal of this chapter is to understand the link between consumer and innovation. This part of literature review will also help understand the physiological behaviour of humans towards newness and how they process information. This chapter will also review several technological acceptance models and evaluate consumer resistance towards innovation.

2.4.1 Consumer perception towards newness

According to Forster et al. (2010) newness refers to not previously experienced or lack of familiarity. The characteristic of newness includes unexpectedness, atypicality, complexity, and ambiguity. There is a high degree of chance that newness leads to evoke interest or sense of curiosity among consumers (Forster et al, 2010). The study by Loewenstein (1994) argues that innovation triggers positive and negative things at once. Scherer (2001) concluded that the experience of something new involves novelty check and pleasantness check. Novelty check determines whether a consumer further attends the stimulus, while pleasantness check analyses whether to avoid or approach the stimulus. Furthermore, the research suggests that attitude towards newness is a subjective experience (Radford and Bloch, 2011). This means the perception formed towards newness does not solely depend on the objective features of stimulus itself, but external factors as well. Forster et al. (2010) indicates that every event can be experienced as by simply adopting a different perspective on that event. This means the concept of newness may not just differ from person to person, but also situation to situation. The perceived newness towards a product may depend on how much that newness benefits the customer and level of technological newness (Chandy and Tellis, 2000). Technological newness is the degree to which how different it is from the prior technologies (Veryzer, 1998). The technology can be summed up as design for instrumental action that lowers the uncertainty in the cause effect relationship involved in achieving a desired outcome (Rogers, 2003). Technology comprises of two parts; hardware which represents the tool that makes up the physical object or materials, while the software aspect reflects the information base for the tool. One of the prime examples in modern days is the electric cars which are technologically different from combustion engines.
Newness of customer benefits refers to the degree to which innovation meets the needs better than the existing solution (Chandy and Tellis, 1998). The innovation which are categorised into high level of newness of benefits usually surpasses the original demand and helps customers with new ways of doing things, sometimes even allowing them to do things which they have never experienced before (Lehman, 1997). Customer interaction with innovation impacts their behaviours and thinking patterns because they have no prior experience and feel uncertain about (Hoeffler, 2003).

2.4.2 Perception of meaningfulness of innovation and Perceived feasibility of innovation

Perceived feasibility of innovation is linked with the cost and sacrifice that may be required in using or purchasing the ownership of innovation (Arts et al., 2011). This sacrifice and cost can be such as psychological cost, risk, and economic cost (Smith and Colgate, 2007). An innovation can reduce economic cost if it provides existing solution and lower cost. Moreover, it can reduce psychological cost by lowering the learning cost of the innovation and making it user friendly. Secondly, the concept of perception of meaningfulness can be explained as the combination of desirability of innovation with the feasibility of it (Arts et al., 2011; Trope & Liberman, 2003). If a certain innovation is viewed by a consumer as low in desirability or low in feasibility, this will lead to rejection of innovation by consumer (Rogers, 2003). The classic example of such situation is the Dvorak Keyboard which was introduced as an alternative to QWERTY Keyboard. The typists largely rejected it because it required them to learn a new way of typing and yet there was not enough benefit in switching (Rogers, 2003). The desirability of innovation can be described as to the benefit that come up when switching to an innovation. It involves of specific benefits which innovation provides over the existing method (Sethi et al., 2001).

There are three types of product benefits: Functional, Hedonic, and Symbolic.

Functional benefits are the benefits which comes up through superior functions, characteristics, attributes, and features of an innovation (Woodruff, 1997). Moreover, functional benefit is only considered if it actually improves the performance as opposed to the existing solution (Dahl & Hoeffler, 2004; Norman, 2004; Zhao et al., 2012). This means better an innovation meets its physical purpose, higher functional

benefits are (Sheth et al., 1991). The innovation is classified to have high functional benefits if it solves the current and future problems (Smith and Colgate, 2007)

Hedonic benefits refer to the level to which product create optimum emotion, experience, and feelings (Smith and Colgate, 2007). Hedonic benefit is largely based on sensory experience which is provided by innovation (Rafaeli & Vilnai-Yavetz, 2004). The attributes of innovation related to sensory experience are shapes, colours, size, materials etc (Rindova and Petkova, 2007). Hedonic benefit might arise through emotional experience with innovation such as fun, excitement, and enjoyment (Smith and Colgate, 2007). In addition, hedonic benefits might emerge through social-relational experiences. Facebook, Instagram, Twitter can be prime examples of a business's providing social relation benefits by allowing to interact and engage with online community. The final way a hedonic benefit can emerge is through epistemic experiences (Sheth et al., 1991). The study by Silvia (2005) identifies epistemic experiences comprise of knowledge emotions such as imaginations, fantasy, and curiosity.

Symbolic benefit is related to customer's personal identity and self-worth. According to Smith and Colgate (2007) it is the level to which customers associate psychological meaning to a product. The innovation offers symbolic benefit, if it matches with what customer would like to see themselves. Symbolic benefit also links up with the messaging of customer, of what they want to convey to other (Norman, 2004). Some customers will associate themselves with certain brands due to the fact they would like to be seen in that socio- group (Sheth et al., 1991). The symbolic benefits are intangible in nature and arise from the deeper meaning or core values of the innovation. This can include things like; symbols, signs, cause of particular innovation, ideas, concepts etc (Krippendorff, 1989). The study by Verganti (2008) states that symbolic benefits are likely to arise from specific language, design, and icons. Apple is one of the prominent examples in today's world of offering symbolic value to its customer. The marketing expert Marc Gobe has repeatedly mentioned that people are loyal to Mac because of its distinctive symbol, identity, and feeling not the product itself. In 2006, Apple launched a marketing campaign called "Get a Mac". The campaign features series of commercials that showed a young, cool guy in a hoodie is introducing himself by saying "Hi, I'm a Mac". They also showed a boring, older man wearing glasses and blazer who is buying regular

computer brand. The idea of the campaign was that you are what you buy, and this is a perfect example of identity in branding (Pathare, 2018). Research by Escalas and Bettman (2003) concluded that college students tend to develop positive association with brands that mirrors the images with their own identity such as athletic, hippy, cool, environmental coconscious etc.

2.4.3 Berlyne theory – newness psychological behaviour

Consumers on daily basis interact with new products and reject them due to various reasons such as, pricing, poor positioning, low distribution etc. When it comes to rejection of an innovative product, the product characteristics are considered to play crucial part in adoption innovation (Robertson and Gatignon, 1991). The product can be unsuccessful to convince customer of its benefit and value. In addition, the consumer rejecting the product can be purely because of its "newness", consumer may find it hard to process the information and lack frame of reference for evaluating innovation (Olshavsky and Spreng, 1996; Stayman, et al., 1992; Veryzer, 1998b; Gregan-Paxton and John, 1997). If this happens, consumer can wrongly evaluate the product and it is a missed opportunity for the company which failed to acquire the customer. Similarly, Ram and Sheth (1989) concluded that the rejection of the new product can be due to the novelty of the product rather than its intrinsic value characteristics. The evaluation of new product will be subjective and vary from consumer to consumer.

This part will examine newness concept from theoretical point of view and explore the motives for acceptance and rejection for new products. The literature on newness from psychological point of view has received minimum attention over the past years. This concept has been addressed in past indirectly with concepts such as curiosity (Loewenstein, 1994; Ziamou and Gregan-Paxton, 1999), surprise (Vanhamme and Snelders, 2003), stimulation level (Steenkamp and Baumgartner, 1995). In order to explore the direct psychological perspective of consumers towards newness, Berlyne's Theory of collative variables offers a deeper insight. This theory offers understanding about nature of newness and types of novelty. This theory additionally defines newness and allows to understand this concept through psychological perspective.

2.4.4 Newness concept

People continuously judge a situation, object, or living individual compared to a previous status. This means evaluating newness revolves around a reference against the new item is compared. Berlyne (1960) focuses on two pinnacle things which are reference in time and structure of stimulus. The reference in times is explained as to long and short-term novelty. The long-term novelty is when stimulus has not been encountered for a long time, while short term novelty is where stimulus has not been encountered lately.

In regard to structure of stimulus, 'absolute' novelty, when the stimulus is fully new, from 'relative' novelty, which applies to stimuli whose elements are not new but are assembled in different form. The term newness itself is hard to define and it is one of the most widely used term. Berlyne suggested that all novel stimuli have certain effect on individuals which the stimuli lacking in novelty does not have, it is must they will have certain qualities and properties in common to have that effect Berlyne (1963) has identified six properties of novel stimuli, which are divided into two groups. The first group is predominantly sensory, while the second group is at cognitive level.

The first group comprises of change, incongruity, and surprise as the common properties of novel stimuli. The change represents to what subject views when comparing the stimulus to a prior stimulus. Surprise refers to that fact that subject formed an expectation based on prior stimulus and contradicts with the new stimulus. In addition, incongruity can best be elaborated as a special case of surprise, where the incongruous stimulus contradicts the expectations based on whole mass of past experience with stimuluses.

The second group of the properties includes uncertainty, conflict and complexity. Uncertainty is referred as the impossibility to anticipate what will emerge from novel stimuli. Conflict can arise from more than one reaction to a new stimulus which will vary in quality, strength and occurrences. This can be experienced at different levels and can probe emotions and increased reaction time (Berlyne, 1960). The uncertainty and conflict are closely linked and impact on conflict can reduce the uncertainty. The last one is complexity which is referred as difficulty to understand the new product. Furthermore, the higher the perception of the product is regarding

complexity, the more a subject tends to increase the knowledge about new product. However, the more the information is required to understand new product, lower the level of positive evaluation of the product in the eyes of individual. Similar themes emerged with one of the recent studies conducted by Lindgaard (2006) which was based on examining the criteria by which people evaluate the user friendliness, satisfaction, and trustworthiness of the website. The study showed that after a certain level of complexity, the experience turns out to be unpleasant. This point is crucial in understanding the concept of newness of the consumers. The time it takes for the consumer to detect the novel stimuli and whether it likes the product or not in is seconds (Lindgaard et al., 2006). Berlyne (1960) suggested that consumers need an appropriate inflow of novel stimuli in order to sustain their interest, without getting confused or worried. This optimum inflow of novel stimuli is described as optimal stimulation level (OSL). The best example is too much salt might result in unpleasant experience of a pizza, while too little salt may also result in unpleasant experience. This is also suggested by another study by Cox and Cox (2002) which showed that liking is higher for noncomplex products. In addition, few other studies underline on similar themes and indicated that complexity is potentially a barrier in product adoption (Rogers, 1995; Solomon, 2004). The studies showed that consumer reduced the cognitive activity when it comes to decision making even when it is a risky or completely new purchase.

Overall, The Berlyne's theory of collative variables provides rich understanding of newness perception from psychological point of view. The key area is that consumers perceive newness high or low, depending on the degree and nature of product. Also, it showed that consumers avoid complexity when it comes to innovation. This means one of the determining factors of new products can be on how user friendly they are especially when it comes to technological innovation.

2.4.5 Consequence of newness

Berlyne outlined two sub-groups of collative properties of new stimuli. The first one falls under dominant sensory and second one falls under cognitive level. Below is the figure 2.10 which illustrates collative properties.



Figure 2.10: Berlyne theory (1960)

Berlyne defined arousal potential of a stimulus as properties that drive arousal upward. It is the degree of a stimulus' combined to its ability to excite the nervous system. This conceptualization is similar to notion of stimulus impact, which relates to the degree, variation and meaningfulness of the stimulus and information rate (Maddi and Fiske, 1961; Mehrabian and Russel, 1974). There are three types of determinants of arousal which are affective variables (pleasant and unpleasant forms), intensive variables (size, colour) and collative variables.

Arousal refers to motivational state of alertness of an individual on a continuum from deep sleep to great excitement (Mehrabian and Russel, 1974; Berlyne, 1966). The level of arousal of an individual is a function of environment and of arousal potential of stimuli in the environment. When a person is exposed to a stimulus, collative variables impact and contributes towards total arousal.

Berlyne (1960, 1967, 1973) suggested a U-shaped relationship between arousal potential and arousal. The left side of the U is rare in real consumer behaviour context and corresponds to extreme, experimental conditions of sensory deprivation. In context of consumer behaviour, there is a monotonically increasing relation between stimulus impact and arousal. The study by Maddi and Fiske (1961) concluded a similar notion of monotonically increasing relation between arousal and stimulus impact. In the context of collative variables, the arousal produced by

stimulus increases with novelty, change, uncertainty, and complexity (Berlyne, 1960). Moreover, Steenkamp et al. (1996) also suggested the monotonically increasing relationship between arousal potential of a stimulus and the arousal induced by that stimulus.

2.4.6 Arousal and stimulus evaluation

The intensity of stimulation plays key part on how it will impact the individual. A medium intensity of a stimulus may be pleasant; however, it may transform into unpleasant when intensity is higher. The best example could be too little sweetness may be unsavoury for dessert, but excessive sweetness may cause disgust; similarly, music can be loud to be enjoyable, but may become unpleasant when it becomes too loud and start damaging ears. The relation between hedonic value and stimulus intensity is in bell shaped curve (See-figure 2.11). There is a general consensus that high arousal level induced by a stimulus results a lower evaluation of that stimulus, as compared to moderate level arousal (Fiske and Maddi, 1961; Mehrabian and Russell, 1974). Also, stimulus evaluation is lower for low arousal levels (Fiske and Maddi, 1961; Mehrabian and Russell, 1974; Berlyne, 1978). The inverted -U relationship between arousal and stimulation evaluation also finds support in context of consumer behaviour (Steenkemp et al., 1996).



Figure 2.11: Hedonic value (Michaut, 2004)

The above is in line with OSL theory which suggests that hedonic value of a stimulus increases with stimulation, as stimulation remains below OSL of an individual. If stimulation exceeds the level of OSL, hedonic value of the stimulus decreases when

stimulation increases. The OSL is the distinctively determined stimulation level an individual favours over all situations, sources, and conditions (Maddi, 1961). This advocates a crucial role of collative variables for stimulus selection. It stresses that too familiar (rating low on collative variables) or too remote (rating high on collative variables) stimuli result in lower hedonic value since they yield deviance from the optimum.

On the other hand, stimuli exhibiting medium ratings on collative variables will result in higher hedonic value. Subsequently, stimuli need to strike a balance of being familiar enough and distinct enough to remain interesting (Berlyne, 1960). Furthermore, when deviance is small, an individual is more likely to recover its OSL. Therefore, stimulation level with small discrepancies in are favoured over large ones. For example, small variations in complexity and change are preferred (Berlyne, 1960). Finally, OSL theories suggests that individuals need to maintain their desired level of arousal.

2.4.7 Arousal modifying behaviours: diversive and specific exploration

Exploratory responses afford access to information that was not previously available. There are two aspects of exploration which have been outlined: specific exploration and diversive (Berlyne, 1960: Maddi, 1961). Diversive exploration aims at delivering entertainment and overcoming boredom (Berlyne, 1960). It generally characterizes exploratory behaviour aiming at enhancing arousal level in circumstances where this will be rewarding. The diversive exploration happens as arousal level is at a low level and subjects aim at regaining their optimal level via exploration of the surroundings. This can be accomplished through stimuli from a various source, given that they have arousal potential. This kind of exploration is typically discussed as exploratory behavior in the marketing literature. It comprises variety seeking in purchase behaviour (McAllister and Pessemier, 1982 for review), recreational shopping behavior (Bellenger and Kergaonkar, 1980, Westbrook and Black, 1985), exploratory consumer buying behaviour (Baumgartner and Steenkamp, 1996), and exploratory information acquisition (Hirschman, 1980, Baumgartner and Steenkamp, 1996). Therefore, in the context of novelty, it refers to the case where consumers seek for novelty in their environment.

On the other hand, specific exploration characterizes of situations where arousal has increased and must be reduced to drop back to the optimal level. This can happen when subjects are exposed to stimuli with a high arousal potential due to for example, the presence of collative properties (Cancelli et al., 1980; Kim, 1999). Specific exploration aims at providing information about one particular event or object (Berlyne, 1960: 19). It characterizes a person who aims for a solution to an intellectual problem. Identifying variables eliciting exploratory behaviour is key to the phenomenon. Several variables such as complexity, novelty, surprise, and incongruity contain arousal potential, yield deviation from the OSL and cause exploration (Berlyne, 1960, Maddi, 1961). All collative variables cause exploration, but novelty is considered most powerful amongst them (Maddi, 1961). In the situation where consumers interact to new products, specific exploration will offer extra and focused information about the stimulus, and decrease the level of arousal generated, at least in part, by collative variables of new stimuli. Subsequently, specific exploration helps consumer reduce arousal to an acceptable level and overcome potential initial rejection caused by high arousal created by the magnitude of collative variables. The next sections will focus on specific exploration.

2.4.8 Newness processing: The cognitive end

When consumers are exposed to new products/services, they will have to process the new information comprised in the product and develop an evaluation based on the outcome of this information processing. There are many theories which discusses the social psychology and cognitive thinking which will assist the researcher in understanding the process which takes place in consumer's mind. The two major fields of literature are Learning by analogy and Categorization, which previously been applied in consumer behaviour studies and relevant to the newness concept.

2.4.9 Categorization

The categorization literature has helped previous studies and researchers in cognitive psychology (Fiske, 1982; Fiske and Pavelchak 1986; Fiske 1990; Mandler, 1982). The application of this concept in consumer behaviour context has been discussed in various papers before (Sujan, 1985; Sujan and Dekleva, 1987; Meyers-Levy and Tybout, 1989; Loken and Ward, 1990; Ozanne et al., 1992; Stayman et al.,

1992; Moreau et al., 2001). The foundation of this concept is that knowledge structure of a consumer is organised along categories represented by schemas in brain. People when process new information, naturally divide the world into categories (Sujan, 1985). This results in consumers first trying to understand new product based on the internal knowledge. If this exercise fails, then consumers will aim to understand the product on the basis of external knowledge such as attributes of products in order to achieve comprehensive understanding. Therefore, consumers use more attribute information as they move from direct, non-thoughtful categorization towards a piecemeal process. The potential process is illustrated by a continuum from category based to attribute-based processes in figure 2.12. The Fiske and Taylor (1991) argues that individuals use a continuum of impression formation processing ranging from more schematic processes or category based to more individual processing or attribute-based processing, and one can identify the configurations of information that move people from one end to another end of the continuum. Furthermore, Fiske and Neuberg (1990) explained that category-based processes have priority over attribute-oriented processes in two ways; if relatively category-oriented processes are successful, then the perceiver will not go further towards attribute-based processes and perceivers attempt-based impression formation. The sequential priority of processes moves from category confirmation to re categorisation, to piecemeal integration of attributes.





2.4.10 Insight into psychological processes engaged in categorization

Based on illustration above, it can be identified that there are two main streams of processing, attribute-based (piecemeal) processing and complementary not competitive, namely category.

According to Fiske and Pavelchak (1986), category-based processing contains two stages: categorization and evaluation, to form expectations. The product is initially assigned a meaning (categorized) and then evaluated by forming inferences from the schema, i.e., the affect associated with the evokes category is attached to the new product.

While piecemeal processing directly deals with evaluation and does not start with meaning assignment: product attributes are evaluated and considered one by one. The evaluation of the product is form through an integration and combination of these evaluations. The literature often separates schemas from categories. Categories are presented as taxonomic organizations of objects or to be more specific products, while schemas are according to Mandler (1979) temporally organized structures. A schema is therefore the organized structure of previous knowledge stored in memory about category (Stayman et al., 1992), it is an abstract

representation (Mandler, 1982: 16) which is formed from previous experiences. Schemas may change in their level of abstraction and represent perceptual elements of an object or event as well as its intangible idea (Mandler, 1982). The schema entails information about common attributes of the products constituting the category, their products' relationships to other categories and their links. Categorization is referred here as the process of allocating a product to a category because it matches the individual's schema for this category.

2.4.11 Initial categorization

Initial categorization happens instantly according to Fiske and Neuberg (1990), when encountering information sufficient for cueing a meaningful category. The process is very quick and perceptual (Bruner, 1957). It helps reaching the most basic types of categories. For example, In the food context, initial categories will probably be referred to as dairy products, sauces, chocolate, soft drinks because consumers spontaneously sort products using a taxonomic organization (Ross and Murphy, 1999). However, if consumers enter a butcher shop, they are assumed to be in a more specific context and therefore cue more specific initial categories such as poultry, beef, lamb, which remain basic categories for the situation. This stage occurs when individual is exposed to the new product and does not require attention from the subject. Nonetheless, Sujan and Dekleva (1987) suggest that basic types of categories are limited in the way that they contain few attributes and are little different from other categories at the same level. Therefore, they yield little inferences and may not satisfy consumers in their attempt to give a meaning to the new product. An evaluation of the personal relevance or interest of the product will decide whether to go further in information processing. The attention phase begins with the decision to pursue the process.

2.4.12 Assimilation

This stage is where the subject evaluates the new product typicality in context to the initial category (Fiske and Neuberg, 1990). Entering a state of 'attention', they are able to consider a number of new product attributes. Mandler (1982) points out that assimilation happens when these attributes fit with the schema of the category, it equals a confirmation of the initial categorization. When considering new product

attributes, the category schema and congruity between these attributes results to assimilation and develops cognitive continuity (Mandler 1982).

On the other hand, incongruity permits a change in cognitive and causes a 'schema switch' as explained by Stayman et al. (1992). Processes explained in the following section happens when assimilation is unsuccessful. Different levels of incongruity originate them, which result in different types of schema switch. Incongruity can be moderate, yielding a refinement of the cued category or extreme, leading to the consideration of a new schema.

2.4.13 Accommodation

This happens when there is a moderate disparity between the activated schema and the new product attributes (Mandler, 1982). Consumers needs to accommodate their schema when initial schema refinement (assimilation) is not enough to assign the new product to the category. Accommodation can best be explained as the re organization or adaptation of the schema of the first category cued after considering some attributes of the target. There are two types of accommodation. First, novice consumers may have little information and understanding about a category resulting in an incomplete schema as a representation (Sujan and Dekleva, 1987). They need to diversify it with extra information when they encounter new category members.

Second type is where experts are more knowledgeable and have more complete schemas (Sujan and Dekleva, 1987). Some authors such as (Fiske and Neuberg, 1990; Fiske and Pavelchak, 1986) concludes that accommodation is a type of recategorization, but two processes are two different levels of 'schema switch' (Stayman et al., 1992). Re-categorization happens when the claimed category membership and attributes have a mismatch (Meyers-Levy and Tybout, 1989), or extreme incongruity between the activated schema and attributes. Refinement of the initial schema is not satisfying, but instead of key structural changes in the cognitive structure, the solution is to find an alternate or different schema (Mandler, 1982; Fiske 1990) that integrates with the attributes of the new product, It leads to a delayed congruity (Mandler, 1982). Re-categorization consists in leaving the first category and in cueing a new one based on target attributes. Re-categorization is accomplished by retrieving a similar exemplar fitting another schema or by directly cueing another category. The Piecemeal integration according to Fiske and

Neuberg, (1990) is when new product attributes hinder to confirm the first categorization or to re-categorize the product, the subject may advance to an attribute-by-attribute analysis. The set of evaluations later then combines to evaluate the total value of the target (Sujan, 1985). The process is referred as a piecemeal process. In this evaluation process, the initial category is considered as an attribute among others and therefore has a little impact on the response. In a piecemeal integration process, consumers directly evaluate the product, without a prior meaning assignment stage.

2.4.14 Conclusion on Categorization model

The section above analysed the theory when consumers are exposed to new products and how they possess two main streams of information processing which is attribute based(piecemeal) and complementary not competitive. The initial categorization process is majorly sensory (Olshavsky and Spreng, 1996), yet as they integrate more information and attributes to form a meaning and evaluation, consumers move towards a cognitive processing.

2.4.15 Learning by analogy

The categorization theory outlines two stages: meaning assignment and product evaluation. The evaluation phase understands that the affect attached to the category is transferred to the new product. The 'learning by analogy' theory gives a foundation to analyse on how inferences are made from prior knowledge to give meaning to and evaluate a new product. Consumers are continuously encounter new products, but they are able to view some similarities with products they already are aware of with the likes of attributes, benefits or even values that they are already familiar to them. According to Keane (1996) analogy has proved to be one way for dealing with novelty. When reasoning by analogy, the novel target (new product) is seen as a new instance of something known, namely, and the familiar analogy (Gentner and Holyoak, 1997). Therefore, subjects are learning about the new target by linking it to their prior knowledge, which can also be called as the 'base' or 'source'. The literature differentiates between similarity and analogy. Even though both need integration of the target and the base, but they consist in different relations. Analogy is explained by Gentner and Markman (1997) as a shrewd, systematic process used in creative discovery, while similarity is a brute, perceptual

process that we share with the whole animal kingdom. In other words, analogy refers to the cognitive end, while similarity addresses to the sensory end of processing. Other levels of shared attributes and relations can also be involved, the whole set forms a continuum from similarity to analogy. Below is the figure 2.13 which is illustrating analogy.



Figure 2.13: Analogy (Gentner and Markman, 1997)

Holyoak and Thagard (1997) highlights the structural parallel (relations shared) between the base and target, yet the process they associate to it also involves similarity. The anological definition which is defined by Gentner and Holyoak (1997), the target is confronted to the memory in which the subject will browse in order to search link, based on common relations or attributes. Processes involved to develop these correspondences between the analogs and target in the base are diverse. For example, the analog may perfectly match the new target, an adaptation may be required, or several pieces of information (analogs) may have to be combined to find a new solution (Kolodner, 1997). This diversity in analogies relates to the diversity in categorization processes. The result of analogical thinking may contain the creation of new knowledge to fill gaps in understanding, such as new schemas and categories, adding new instances, new understanding of old schemas and instances that allow them to be better accessed in the future (Gentner and Holyoak, 1997; Kolodner, 1997).

2.4.16 Newness perception in various countries

This previous part studied newness from a theoretical perspective and now it will understand in the context of cultures.

Culture has been widely acknowledged as a determining factor influencing the consumer behaviour (Hofstede, 1991; Solomon, 2004). According to Steenkamp et al. (1996) the level of innovation is dependent on the culture. The study showed that individualism and masculinity positively related to innovation as opposed to uncertainty avoidance. In other words, the countries which score higher on individualistic and masculinity dimension are likely to embrace innovation than the countries which are collectivistic and score low on masculinity dimension (Baumgartner and Steenkamp, 1996). The study by Taylor and Wilson (2012) which collected data from 62 counties concluded that individualism have a significant impact on innovation, while collectivism not only harms innovation but becomes obstacle in the scientific progress on national level. Furthermore, another study by Gorodnichenko and Roland (2011) explained that countries which are individualistic creates a social status reward to personal achievement and therefore not only provides monetary rewards for innovation but also social status rewards which leads to higher innovation nationally as compared to collectivistic culture. Additionally, consumers in individualistic cultures are likely to be more receptive towards innovative ideas because it will allow them to be distinctive from others and establish their self-identity (Steenkamp et al, 1999; Lim and Park, 2013). Individualistic culture promotes the risk taking and rewards entrepreneur behaviours which leads to more new ideas in product development (Singh, 2006; Morris and Leung, 2010). Furthermore, the decision making of an individual in individualistic society is through personal beliefs rather than group norms (Roth 1995; Steenkamp et al., 1999; Perez-Alvarez, 2009). On the other side, collectivistic society promotes group consensus in decision making (Wickliffe and Pysarchik, 2001).

The collectivistic culture is known to negatively impact the innovation. However, there are some empirical studies which shows the positive role of collectivism on innovation. A study by Kaasa and Vadi (2010) indicated that a certain kind of collectivism which refers to "friends related and social related" actually promotes innovation. Additionally, there is a study by Shane (1993) which contradicts with majority of research and suggest that innovation has a negative relationship with

individualistic culture. Some other researchers also argue that individualistic culture has significant effect on innovation (Waarts and Van Everdingen, 2005; Lin, 2009; Engelen et al., 2014). The conflicting findings invites further research in the field to evaluate the impact. Similarly, a society high in masculinity is believed to be more success oriented (De Mooji and Hofstede, 2010). According to Efrat (2014) individuals in masculine society are more confident and assertive, therefore are likely to be more innovative oriented.

Moreover, the study by Michaut (2004) indicated that countries with high uncertainty avoidance overestimate and exaggerate the complexity of new products than those who score lower in uncertainty avoidance dimension. This may suggest that perceived complexity and incongruity will differ cross culturally and react to them differently. This is further endorsed by the study of Strang and Soule (1998), which concluded that uncertainty avoidance reduces the rate of adoption towards new products. In addition, the High uncertainty avoidance cultures find ways to reduce the unstructured conditions and risks by enforcing strict laws and regulations. It was show that managers in a country like Japan who score high in uncertainty avoidance, prefer predictable meetings and structure (Lussier and Achua, 2010). Furthermore, the study by Kumar and Pansari (2016) analysed consumer-level transaction data for a random group of consumers across the 30 countries from 2008 until 2013. The study concluded and suggested few interesting themes; consumers who belong to country that score high on individualism such as Australia, U.S, they are more likely to shop from various channels like retail stores, online and more frequently return items which does not meet their expectation. This study showed that consumers from individualistic culture emphasize more on latest trends than sticking to the brand which makes loyalty cards less effective in these countries. On the other side countries which score high on collectivism like Mexico and Turkey, people are inclined to follow the crowd and place value on brand's reputation instead of its novelty. The study further pointed out that consumers from collectivistic society buy products for their families and are more likely to buy from same trusted retailer. The consumers in these societies would like to see and feel the product instead of e commerce approach. The experiencing of the product tangibly is like societies which are indulgent and found in parts of South and North America. They enjoy testing an item instore and enjoys the freedom of trying out wide range of products.

2.4.17 Resistance to innovation

The concept of resistance to innovation has been overlooked in the literature and only few researchers have explored this concept. The focus has mainly been around "adoption of innovation" and therefore Sheth (1981) has termed resistance to innovation as "less developed". Since 1960, when Everett rogers conducted his initial research on diffusion of innovation, there has been growth in the area of innovation studies. Despite this, from 300 articles on innovation, only 26 of them mentioned unintended consequences of innovation. (Laipointe et al, 2002). According to Sveiby et al. (2009) researchers have expressed little interest on these areas because it is too complicated and difficult because there is no reliable method. It is likely that the researchers back then were pro innovation and focused their efforts on adoption process and ignored the resistance element of it. However, the research about consumer resistance to innovation is increasingly important because more and more products are failing and according to the study Crawford and Di Benedetto (2008), 90% of the products which are launched do not survive in the market.

Furthermore, according to several researchers on innovation; Sivadas and Dwyer, 2000; Andrew and Sirkin, 2003; Schneider and Hall, 2011, suggested the failure rate varies between 50% to somewhat 90%, measured in terms of insufficient financial returns. Moreover, another research by Stevens and Burke (1997) studied resistance to innovation. The figure 2.14 below shows only one product is successful which begins from 3,000 raw ideas. Similarly, the study Cooper (1990) suggested similar themes and found that for every 4 developed projects, only one is successful on the market and at launch stage, at least one of three products fail despite marketing research.



Figure 2.14: Successful products journey (Stevens and Burke, 1997).

This high failure rates are alarming for corporations because it can easily have negative impact on their revenues, competitive position in an industry, brand equity (Bayus et al. 2003, Liao and Cheng, 2014). The perfect example in context of smartphone industry is Nokia, which dominated the mobile market for several years and now has lost its' position, market share, and revenues due to lack of understanding their market/ consumers and late to react to changing market dynamics of innovation (Bowman et al., 2014)

From psychological point of view resistance is conceptualized as aversive motivational form, and it originates when an individual or a group view that their freedom is under threat. This leads to people acting in direction towards recovering their susceptible freedom (Brehm 1966; Brehm and Brehm, 1981). The resistance towards innovation is the critical factor regarding adoption of new technology (Leonard, 2004). The study by Lapointe et al. (2002) has explained that innovation and resistance are termed as two ends of a continuum of reaction towards innovation. According to Ram and Seth (1989) the resistance towards innovation arises from adoption barriers such as value, usage, image, risk etc. The value barrier is purely from the economic point of view when consumer perceives the innovation is not offering strong price to performance as opposed to the current product. The usage barrier comes up when consumer's existing structure of workflow or routine does not match with the innovation. In addition, risk barrier is the level of risk attached with the innovation, while value barrier is linked with the association of the innovation's origin, category, branding, or country of origin (Ram and Seth, 1989).

Consumer's resistance is negatively linked with innovation and has been a determining factor in the market for the success of new products (Ram 1987, Ram & Sheth 1989). The interesting thing about resistance is that it leads consumers to respond into three different forms: rejection, postponement, opposition.

Rejection is a form of response from consumer where it is not due to lack of awareness or knowledge of innovation. It arises when consumer a evaluates the situation of the innovation and leads to disinclination. The study by Rogers (2003) suggests that rejection is likely to result when the consumer is highly suspicious and the product in unproven. Additionally, Hirschheim and Newman (1988) identifies that rejection arises due to the basic human nature of conservatism and status quo. The prominent example was in food industry when McDonalds tried to position themselves with the new 'Arc Deluxe Burger', which had the slogan 'Burger with Grown up taste'. The idea of shifting towards sophistication from convenience was not embraced by masses in America as they were not used to it (Haig, 2003). The 5g example in mobile industry, some of the consumer's suspicion is high and not familiar with it (Warren, 2020).

Another response is **postponement**, where consumer is accepting the innovation to certain degree, however not ready to commit or adopt at that time. In other words, it is delaying the adoption of innovation to future (Kuisma et al, 2007).

Furthermore, **opposition** is also another form of response described as when consumers are maybe convinced that the innovation is unsuitable and decide to launch attack in the form of negative word of mouth. According to Davidson and Walley (1985) referred this as innovation sabotage because consumers actively involve themselves in strategies which will inhibit the innovation's success. The 5g in the UK is the prime example, where in the current situation some of the consumer's suspicion is high. Some of the 5G towers in the UK were burned down and some of the consumers expressed their resentment towards the 5G (Warren, 2020).

Smartphone industry has been evolving and growing at an enormous pace. Smartphone manufacturers have been continuously researching and understanding consumer behaviour in order to survive in highly competitive market. Smartphone industry mainly represents continuous radical innovation and therefore is faced with great consumer resistance than "incremental innovation" (Heiskanen et al., 2007; Garcia et al. 2007). Consumers who form resistance to innovation are mainly nonadopters and are comprised of significant part of the consumer base. These consumers have a strong potential for delivering useful information necessary for the implementation, development, and to the commercialization of innovation. These consumers should not be overlooked and in fact be given more attention in the research studies (Laukkanen et al., 2008). Several empirical studies have shown that innovation failure is due to consumer resistance (Heidenreich and Kraemar, 2016). Consumer resistance will remain one of the biggest threats in the future as well as for businesses (Abbas et I., 2017). Companies operating in smartphones such as Apple and Samsung have to continually review their innovation strategies to sustain their position in global market and understand consumers from across the world.

By analysing literature regarding resistance, there is generally discussion about habits. Bagozzi and Lee (1999) considers consumer's habits at the passive resistance. Sheth (1981) termed habit as the crucial determinant in generating resistance. Habit is predisposition attempt for the uniformity and status quo, instead to change the old behaviour (Chernev, 2004; Gourville, 2005). In addition, the other determinant of passive resistance is too much information (Herbig and Kramer, 1994). If consumers utilize the information in short span, then in this capacity the information becomes burden. The burden of information happens usually when innovation changes rapidly and can be very problematic for consumers to streamline the information (Hirschan, 1970). According to latest study by Lily and Alhazmi (2018) suggested that Arab culture resist innovation in various forms and thus maintains a retro activism- dominated way of life. It further adds that retro activists play key part in reviving old norms and values to remind society to maintain past ideologies. However there have been several reports which suggests that the Saudi Arabian culture is shifting from ultraconservative to a liberal society. Moreover, Saudi Arabian consumers are generally viewed as big spenders and in the last 10-15

years, the Saudi society has seen massive increase of consumerism within country. The factors which have contributed towards this are media awareness and dominance of western values (Assad, 2008). However, there are drawbacks to this modernization and consumerism which directly contradicts with the Saudi cultural values. One of the studies showed that some people in Saudi Arabia were reluctant to use technology because it was reducing the personal connection and collectiveness within the society (Aldraehim, 2013). The study by al Raddawi (2014) suggested that Arabic and western values are significantly different which are rooted in their origins. Al Dossry (2012) concluded that Saudi society is still loyal to Islamic religion as a fundamental doctrine, and it has effect on their consumer behavior despite adoption of western good and services

There have been several studies which suggested that people's motive to adopt and reasons to resist varies qualitatively and influences their decision making. (Garcia et al. 2007; Kleijnen et al. 2009; Antioco and Kleijnen, 2010). This sets the foundation for exploring the consumer behaviour of UK and Saudi consumers towards resisting and adoption of innovation within in smartphone industry. The reasons for resisting innovation might not be opposite to the reasons to adopt innovation. For example, an individual might view relative advantage of electric cars and report positive attitudes towards it. However, despite this, an individual might still resist it because of other factors such as perceived image or cost barriers. (Chazidakis and Lee, 2013). Similar, a study conducted by Tansuhaj et al. (1991) suggested that global standardised marketing strategy for introducing new products will not be suitable as the resistance varies based on the culture. Overall, the literature review regarding innovation reveals that more efforts have been put previously on adoption of innovation instead of resistance of consumer's (Gatignon and Robertson, 1985, 1991; Ram 1987). It has been pointed out by Ram (1989) and Sheth (1981) that it is more useful to emphasize on the factors affecting consumer resistance instead of innovation adoption. Innovation has two parts, one which is the first stage where resistance occurs and therefore is crucial to understand this phenomenon (Kuisma et al., 2007).

2.4.18 Sheth Model

This model by Sheth forms the foundation of the consumer resistance from a psychological perspective. It is easier to theorize about individuals who resist innovation instead of individuals who embrace them. According to Sheth's model (1981), there are two psychological constructs which are crucial in understanding innovation resistance from psychological perspective; Habit toward an existing practice or behaviour and Perceived risks associated with innovation adoption (Sheth and Stellner, 1979). The figure 2.15 below illustrates the Sheth model 1981 (Modelling psychology of innovation resistance) and its two psychological constructs (Kaufman et al. 2019).



Figure 2.15: Modelling psychology of innovation resistance (Sheth, 1981)

Habit towards existing practice: The habit is single most powerful determinant in causing resistance to change. The more powerful the habits are to existing setup, the higher the resistance will be from consumers. The innovation which causes the "change" most in the behavioural setup of individual will be resisted more strongly than other innovations which generate change for a single behavioural act (Sheth

and Stellner, 1979). In the absence of motivational incentive, an individual is less likely to voluntarily pay attention to innovation communication or voluntarily commit himself/herself to try it out. The perceptual cognitive mechanisms are likely to be in actioning to preserve the habit because humans are wired and strive for consistency and maintain the status quo instead of embracing new behaviours. The stronger the habits towards existing setup, behaviour, practice it will result in great intensity of resistance. As explained above, Habit is extremely strong factor for generating resistance, but it is not the only factor. It is possible for individuals to generate resistance even in the situation where strong habits are absent (Sheth and Stellner, 1979).

Perceived Risk Associated with Innovation: This is the second major determinant of innovation resistance. The higher it is perceived risk of an innovation; it will lead to higher resistance towards innovation. The innovation which are discontinuous in nature are likely to be perceived with higher risk than continuous type of innovation (Kaufmann et al., 2019). There are three types of risk; aversive physical risk, which revolves around economic or social consequences, performance uncertainty; and perceived side effects which are linked with the innovation (Sheth and Stellner, 1979).

2.4.19 Ram Model

Following Sheth's model, Ram model (1987) was later formed to give more detailed insight on to resistance to innovation. According to Gatingnon and Robertson (1989) Ram's model of resistance is a useful framework to analyse the relationship between innovation and resistance. This model has been categorised into three different categories: innovation characteristics, consumer characteristics, and characteristics of propagation mechanism.

The factors of innovation characteristic comprise of compatibility, relative advantage, expectations, perceived risk and complexity. Whereas the factors of consumer characteristics are motivation, perception, innovative experience, education, income, and age. The propagative mechanism can be classified into two dimensions, level of marketer control and type of contact with consumer. When a new product is launched in the market, consumers are likely to face with marketing activities such as adverts which reduces the level of resistance towards that new product. Once the

product is being adopted by some people, propagation mechanism outside the marketer control comes into action in the form of word of mouth and reviews (Kaufmann, 2019]. All the above factors mentioned have different impact depending on the product and industry. Below is figure 2.16 illustrating Ram's model of innovation resistance.



Figure 2.16: Model of Innovation Resistance (Ram, 1987)

2.4.20 Theory of reasoned action (TRA)

This is one of the pioneering adoption theories which was used to explain individual behaviour and developed in social psychology field. According to the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA), individuals' intention to perform a behaviour (behavioural intention) determines what they do, and it is based on two things: perceived social pressures from people whom they want to please (subjective norms) and their own attitudes about the behaviour (Fishbein and Ajzen, 1975). Usually, people intend to perform behaviours that they feel positively about or that are popular with other people, and they do not intend to perform behaviours that they feel negatively about or that are unpopular with other people. Once the intention to behave a certain way is determined, people tend to follow through with the intention and engage in the

behaviour. Below is the figure 2.17 which illustrates factors determining individual's behaviour in TRA model.



Figure 2.17: TRA (Fishbein and Ajzen, 1975)

The explanation of factors in TRA model are below:

Attitude towards the behaviour is the degree to which performance of the behaviour is positively or negatively valued.

Subjective norm is the influence of environment on behaviour. It is individual's perception of the majority of people who are importance to him or her think that he/she should or should not perform the behaviour.

Intention is an indicator of individual's readiness to perform certain behaviour

This theory can only explain planned behaviours, but cannot explain habitual actions, immediate decisions, or unconscious decision (Sheppard et al. 1988). In addition, one of the biggest limitations to this theory is lack of personality related factors such as demographic or cultural variables.

2.4.21 Theory of Planned behaviour (TPB)

The theory of planned behaviour was developed to reduce the limitations of TRA (Ajzen, 1991). TPB is an extension of TRA by maintaining the central factors and the behavioural intention to perform certain behaviour. The difference of TPB from TRA is the added factors of perceived behavioural control (PBC). The component responds to a situation when individuals have incomplete control over some behaviour. Below is the figure 2.18 which illustrates TBP Model.



Figure 2.18: TPB (Ajzen, 2006)

The explanation of the components in TPB model are below:

Behavioural beliefs are the subjective probability that the behaviour will produce a given outcome. This factor also impacts attitude towards the behaviour.

Normative beliefs are perceived behavioural expectations from important referent individuals or groups such as friends, family, partners, teacher, doctor, and co-workers. Normative belief is derived from Subjective norm.

Control beliefs are the perception of the factors that may encourage of impede the performance of behaviour. Control beliefs influences PBC.

Perceived behavioural control refers to an individual's perception of the difficulty or ease of performing the behaviour of the interest.

Actual Behavioural Control is the extent to which an individual has the skills, resources, and other prerequisites needed to perform a given behaviour. This factor also influences Perceived Behavioural control. Together with intention, this factor can directly predict behaviour.

This theory is a broad framework and can be not easily applicable especially in fields such as technology adoption behaviour (Benbasat & Zmud, 1999; Taylor & Todd, 1995a)

2.4.22 Technological Acceptance Model (TAM)

In 21st century, the technological advancement has significantly impacted everyone's life on daily basis. It is difficult to imagine an office or household without being affected by the technology. Generally, there are positive perceptions associated with technology such as increased efficiency, productivity, and convenience. However, the implementations of these technologies might not be go as predicted or smoothly.

Consistently, many business organisations are investing heavily in new product development which are aiming to improve the lives of consumers. According to Harvard business research, each year there are more than 30,000 new products introduced to consumers and nearly 80% of them are failed (Kocina, 2013).

Due to the fact that implementation of technology is one of the big obstacles in development of society, this has triggered scholars to conduct research in this area. Existing theories regarding technological acceptance include technological acceptance model (TAM), Theory of planned behaviour (TBP), the theory of reasoned action (TRA), and unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT). These theories and frameworks are still relevant for today's use and have been modified or extended depending on the context of research. Most of the study which involved smartphone adoption used TAM model (Chun et Al., 2012; Wan et al., 2012) or UTAUT model (Jung et al., 2015; Sanakulov and Karjaluto, 2017).

Following on the foundations of psychological perspective of resistance towards innovation. This model specifically examines resistance towards innovation with technology in context. According to TAM, the intentions to use new technology is affected by two things: perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use. The model has been constructed by Davis (1989) and was applied to explore consumer's resistance to new computer systems. This study later has been widely adopted and applied in the research which involved technology adoption behaviour of consumer towards new products (Gefen et al., 2004; Hsu et al., 2004; Luarn & Lin, 2005). Technological Acceptance model is derived from Ram's model; however, it adds technological innovation to consumer resistance. The perceived usefulness is related to the degree of complexity, while perceived usefulness is associated from relative advantage. These two factors are influenced by the external variable such as social factors, political factors and cultural factors. The attitude towards using is related to

individual's evaluation of desirability of using an information system, while Behavioural intention is the likelihood of the individual employing the application. Below is the figure 2.19 showing TAM model.



Figure 2.19: Technology acceptance model (TAM) (Davis, 1989)

Tam Model is one of the most popular frameworks that is used to predict the acceptance of technology and information systems by people. Several studies such as: Yang (2005), Yui Chi et al. (2007) and Amin (2008) have used TAM model to analyse consumer characteristic factors on their attitude towards online banking, mobile commerce, and phone credit cards. In addition, the study by Nysveen et al. (2005) used TAM model to explore effect of gender in explaining intention to use mobile chat services. Additionally, the study by Pak and Chen (2007) applied TAM model to investigate adoption of smartphone by medical nurses and doctors. On the other hand, it has received some criticism as well; the study by Pijpers et al. (2001) and Yang (2005), failed to provide understanding of consumer's perception of innovative technologies using this model. Below is the table 2.3 which shows the review of the literature using TAM model in smartphone related studies.

Literature	Area of research	Research purpose
Alalwan et al. (2018)	Mobile internet	The study in Saudi Arabia examining the adoption of mobile internet by using TAM with perceived enjoyment, innovativeness and trust.
Beldad and Henger (2018)	Smartphone application adoption	The study in Germany utilising TAM to determine the willingness of using fitness app.
Bouman et al. (2007)	Mobile services	This research studied 6 mobile services- GPRS, mobile travel service, mobile surveillance, traditional and advance entertainment and m- commerce service bundles in Finland.
Chen et al. (2009)	Smartphone adoption in logistic companies	To analyse acceptance and diffusion of smartphones via case study approach in a logistic company.
Chong et al. (2012)	Mobile commerce	Examine the adoption of mobile commerce in Malaysia and China. The research reported that apart from TAM variables affecting adoption, culture can also affect adoption.
Chtourou and Souiden (2010)	Smartphone adoption- browsing the internet.	Evaluating the effect of fun aspect of consumers' adoption of technological products.
Kim (2008)	Smartphone adoption	Adoption of mobile internet in smartphones with TAM and other factors.
Koeing-Lewis et al. (2010)	Mobile Banking	Study related to barriers for adopting mobile banking services.
Kang et al. (2011)	Smartphone adoption and their features	TAM used to evaluate factors affecting the adoption of smartphone and features.
Kim and Garrison (2008)	Mobile internet	Tam used as a main theory with other factors to examine mobile wireless adoption such as PDA and Cellular
Lin, Juan, and Lin (2020)	Smartphone application adoption	Evaluating effect of smartphone application on tourism information search behaviours of foreign independent travellers in Taiwan.

Mallat et al. (2006)	Mobile ticketing	Study related to mobile ticketing service adoption in public transportation.
Mizanur and Sloan (2017)	Mobile commerce	The study conducted in Bangladesh integrating Tam with perceived risk, perceived cost and personal awareness to examine the adoption of mobile commerce
Nysveen et al. (2005)	Mobile messaging services	Analysing effect of gender in explaining the intention to use mobile chat services in Norway.
Park and Chen (2007)	Smartphone Adoption	Investigating human motivations affecting adoption decision for smartphone among medical doctors and nurses.
Rafdinal and Agriqisthi (2020)	Mobile gaming	The study analysed factors in mobile game adoption by using TAM and game features.
Roy (2020)	Smartphone app usage	The study in India examined the adoption behaviour of mobile apps using TAM.
Shin (2007)	Internet mobile	TAM used to explore the adoption of mobile internet in South Korea.
Shin (2009)	Mobile payment	The study in Korea validated a model of consumer acceptance in regard to mobile payment. The results found perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, trust, and perceived security affect consumer intention when using mobile payments.
Shukla and Sharma (2018)	Mobile shopping	The study in India evaluated adoption of mobile grocery shopping on mobiles using TAM.
Tahamtan et al. (2017)	Smartphone adoption in medical sector	The study in Iran explored factors affecting smartphone adoption for accessing information in medical settings.
Trivedi, Chauhan, and Trivedi (2021)	Smartphone adoption	Exploring consumer decision factors in adopting smartphone by utilising TAM and Multi-Attribute Utility theory in India.

Verkasalo (2010)	Mobile apps	Examining adoption of new mobile apps, internet, games, and maps.
Wismantoro, Himawan, and Widiyatmko (2020)	Smartphone usage	This study was conducted in Indonesia and focused on the application of the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) to determine the willingness of batik and textile craftsmen to use smartphones.
Wu and Wang (2005)	Mobile commerce	The study was related to mobile commerce using DOI, TAM, Cost and Perceived risk.

 Table 2.3: Review of the literature using TAM model in smartphone related studies

It can be seen from the table above that TAM is one of the most popular theory used when understanding technology adoption research. The most recent literature related to smartphone have adopted TAM in their studies which indicates its' ease of application and usefulness in present context. According to Olushola and Abiola (2017) TAM is robust, strong, and parsimonious model for predicting user acceptance of information technologies. It has been used in many empirical studies and proven to be of quality and statistically reliable.

2.4.23 Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of technology (UTAUT)

In 2003, UTUAT was developed based on TAM, TPB and DOI (Venkatesh et al. 2003). The improved factors are Effort expectancy, Performance expectancy, Social influence and Facilitating conditions that affect independent variables. The moderating variables are gender, age, experience and voluntariness of use. Below is the Figure 2.20 which illustrates UTUAT model.



Figure 2.20: UTUAT Model (Venkatesh et al. 2003)

Below are the explanations of UTUAT's variables (Venkatesh et al., 2012).

Performance expectancy: This can be referred as a degree to which an individual believes that using the system will help him/her to attain gains in job performance. This variable is similar to perceived usefulness from TAM and relative advantage from DOI.

Effort expectancy: This can be referred as the degree of ease associated with the use of the system. This variable is similar to perceived ease of use from TAM and complexity from DOI.

Social influence: This can be referred as the degree to which individual perceives it to be important that others believe that they should use technology. This factor is similar to Subjective Norm from TRA.

Facilitating Conditions: This can be referred as the degree to which individual believes that technical and organizational infrastructure exists to facilitate the support of the system. This variable is similar to perceived behavioural control from TPB and compatibility from DOI.

The UTUAT model has also been widely adopted and below is the table 2.4 which shows the review of the previous literature using UTUAT model within smartphone related studies.

Literature	Research domain	Research purpose
Al-adwan, Al-adwan, and Berger (2018)	Smartphone learning adoption	The study in Jordan exploring the factors affecting mobile learning in higher education by utilising UTUAT model.
Alam, Hu, and Barua (2018)	Smartphone adoption in health sector	The study in Bangladesh used UTUAT model to determine factors affecting use of Mobile health services.
Alkhunaizan and Love (2012)	Mobile commerce	Examining factors affecting m-commerce in Saudi Arabia.
Boontarig et al. (2012)	Smartphone adoption in e-health service	Study conducted in Thailand explored the factors that influenced older population's purchase intention to use smartphone as e-health services. Using UTUAT
Carlsson et al. (2006)	Smartphone adoption devices and services	Study in Finland analysed mobile device using UTAUT in organisations.
He and Lu (2007)	Mobile advertisement	The Chinese study examined consumer's perception and acceptance of mobile advertising in SMS
Kamboj and Joshi (2021)	Smartphone application	Examining the factors influencing smartphone apps use at tourism destinations by utilising a UTAUT model
Kijsanayotin et al. (2009)	IT in health	Influencing factors affecting IT adoption in community health centres in Thailand.
Lee at al. (2012)	Applications in Smartphone	Research used UTUAT, personalization and credibility to examine smartphone application adoption.
Nur and Panggabean (2021)	Mobile payment adoption	The study in Jakarta examining the factors influencing adoption of Mobile payment among Generation Z.
Park et al. (2007)	Mobile communication technology	Study in China investigated mobile communication technology adoption

Pitchayadejanant (2011)	Comparison of adoption between Blackberry and iPhone	UTUAT used to identify use of smartphones in Thailand.
Shi (2009)	Mobile application	The study from China used UTUAT to investigate smartphone software adoption.
Song and Han (2009)	Smartphone applications	The study conducted in South Korea analysed the adoption of smartphone applications.
Thomas, Singh, and Renville (2020)	Mobile learning	The study in conducted in Caribbean to examine the factors determining mobile learning.
Venkatesh et al (2012)	Mobile internet	The study used UTUAT2 to study acceptance and use of technology among consumers in Hong Kong.
Walrave, Waeterloos, and Ponnent (2021)	Smartphone application	Investigating the adoption of COVID-19 contact-tracing technology using UTUAT model in Belgium.
Zhou (2008)	Mobile commerce	The study in China used UTUAT's significant factors influencing user acceptance of mobile commerce.
Zhou et al. (2010)	Mobile Banking	This research used UTUAT to explain mobile banking adoption in China.

 Table 2.4: Review of the literature using UTUAT model in smartphone related studies

It can be seen that UTUAT model is also widely used by previous researchers within smartphone context. UTUAT predicts technology intention of use up to 70% as compared to other models. Although this model is significant, but it is still weak in terms of determining impact of cultural factors affecting intention to use new technology (Chiemeke and Evwiekpaefe, 2011) and concerns regarding parsimony (Williams et al., 2011).

2.4.24 Diffusion of Innovation theory (DOI)

The high failure rate of innovation in the marketplace is concerning for managers and market researchers. One of the key reasons behind this is, businesses not understanding the innovation diffusion within the society. The adoption of new devices and gadgets in human society is explained by Prof Everett M Rogers in his book of "Diffusion of innovation" (Ali and Miraz, 2015). Roger identified that diffusion is the process of how uptake of innovation and news is communicated through networks and social contacts with respect to time. The diffusion of an innovation. The four factors included innovation itself, time, communication channels, and social system (Rogers, 2003). In addition, for innovation to flourish it must be financially supported and adopted by mass. According to Rogers (2003) there are five categories of adopters, which can be defined as "classification of members of a social system on the basis of innovativeness". The figure 2.21 below illustrates the five categories of adopters.



Figure 2.21: Adopter categorisation on the basis of innovation (Rogers, 2003)

Innovators: These are the pioneer adopters of technology and likes novelty. These people are risk takers and innovate themselves. The people who fall under this category needs minimal persuasion for adopting new technology.
Early adopters: These people are aware of the need of change and are strategic leaders. Early adopters are responsive to the innovation changes and technologies. They require little support and information on how to adopt technology. They believe in indulging themselves in "do it yourself" activities and cope with new innovation. Early adopters are more likely to have leadership role in social system and plays key role in diffusion of innovation. Other members of society will come to early adopters to seek advice or approval for adoption of innovation.

Early Majority: These people are not leaders or pioneers in adopting innovation, however once the evidence is presented to them regarding benefits of innovation then eventually, they adopt the innovation. They are neither the first ones to adopt nor the last ones to embrace the innovation.

Late Majority: These people are doubters and holds reservation to the innovation. They will only embrace the innovation after majority. In order to be persuaded about any new innovation, they need to see others have successfully benefited from the innovation. Similar to early majority, the late majority comprises of one-third of all the members of the social system who waits until most of their peers have embraced the innovation.

Laggard: People who fall under this category are traditionalist, conservatives, and sceptics. They are resistant to change and toughest to convince. In order to change their mind, they need to be presented with statistics, pressure from other groups, and even fear appeals.

Moreover, Rogers (2003) explained the innovation-diffusion process as an "reduction in uncertainty process". Rogers (2003) suggested five attributes of innovation which can help decrease the uncertainty linked with innovation. The attributes of innovation include five characteristics of innovations: relative advantage, compatibility, complexity, trial-ability, and observability.

Relative advantage: This is the extent to which innovation is viewed to offer an advantage over the existing instrument it is replacing.

Compatibility: Compatibility is as an extent of how well innovation integrates or blend with current idea or product in terms of user experience, needs, and values.

Complexity: The innovation if viewed to be overly complex, it would hinder people in the society to adopt. According to Rogers (2003) complexity is negatively correlated with the rate of adoption.

Trialability: the innovation must be easily experimented or tested, so people can try it before making decision. The trialability is positively correlated with rate of adoption. The more an innovation is tried, the faster it will be adopted.

Observability: The innovation must be seen to produce observable and concrete results by subject. The relative advantage, trialability, compatibility and observability are all positively correlated with adoption of an innovation.

The process of adopting innovation has been studied for several years in past, however Roger's work of Diffusion of Innovation remains one of the most popular adoption models (Sherry and Gibson, 2002). The work has been applied to various disciplines such as political sciences, public health, history, education, and technology (Dooley 1999; Stuart, 2000). However, despite being used in several studies over different disciplines, the theory of diffusion has attracted criticism as well by researchers. The study by Pace (2013) emphasized that this model is outdated, and innovations nowadays are so radical that current models of innovations are not sufficient to understand. Similarly, Peres et al. (2010) pointed out that innovation has become multifaceted and increasingly complex which makes it hard for the previous theories to become relevant. Although DOI theory explains the decision-making process behind adoption and categorises the adoption, but it does not explain how attitude is involved in the adoption procedure (Karahanna, Straub, and Chervany, 1999; Chen, Gillenson, and Sherrell, 2002). To overcome such weaknesses, further developments of the model and theory were made. In addition, Wood (2017) identified that customer expectations change over time and diffusion of innovation does not take that into consideration.

Overall, several studies in past are focused on exploring how technology is perceived and examine their behaviours on how consumers interact with technology (Moore and Benbasat, 1991). There has been common interest with researcher in past to analyse adoption of technology with user demographics in context such as age, education level etc (Kim, 2009). Also, several studies focus on product itself and their features contributing towards adoption (Henard and Syzmanski, 2001;

Moreau et al., 2001). However, the sociological studies emphasize less on the product factors, but more on the characteristics of the society (Selwyn, 2003; Slowlkowski and Jarratt, 2007). These studies suggest that analysing the relationship between users might be more useful than the factors of the product itself when it comes to technological adoption (Brown and Duguid, 1991; Haggman, 2009).

2.4.25 Risk to innovation

Consumers generally perceive a risk towards innovation and unfavourable side effects which cannot be anticipated (Ram and Seth ,1989). According to Rijsdijk and Hultink (2003) there are various types of risks involved from customer's perspectives towards innovations such as Financial risk, Performance Risk, Psychological risk. Physical risk and Risk of time loss.

Jacoby and Kaplan, 1972 stated that performance risk is that where something faulty is perceived with innovation. It includes concerns of nature such as durability, functionality, or utility of an item. The main reason for performance risk is lack of prior experience and the idea that innovation has not been fully tested (Ram and Seth, 1989). Financial risk is associated with the unfavourable financial consequences for the potential customer (Jacoby and Kaplan, 1972). The financial risk increases if the price of the innovation is high. Psychological risk denotes that the adoption will not align with the self-image of a consumer (Jacoby and Kaplan, 1972). Many innovations are rejected because customers are emotionally attached to the current technology (Castano et al., 2008). Physical risk refers to the chance of adoption of an innovation which may be harmful or injurious to health. Innovations like smartphones could be considered as a health hazard according to some individuals. Risk of time loss is associated with waste of time, efforts, conscience (Roselius, 1971). This kind of risk increases, if customer experience is low and investment of time and money is high towards innovation.

2.4.26 Summary- 3rd part of the literature review

This part of the literature (*Consumer and Innovation*) assisted researcher in understanding the concept of newness from the psychological point of view and analyse how consumer from different countries perceive new products. Moreover, it examined the consumer resistance and adoption behaviours towards innovation by

reviewing seven of the most influential models in the literature (TRA, TBP, DOI, TAM, UTUAT, SHETH, RAM).

2.5 Culture (Part4)

In the final part of literature, the researcher will be reviewing and explore the link of culture and innovation. This chapter will introduce Hofstede's cultural dimension theory and examine previous literature linked to it. The goal of this chapter is to provide the solid foundation on the impact of culture towards innovation.

2.5.1 Culture and innovation

The academic review notes more than 150 definition of culture which explains the importance and complexity of this phenomenon (Kluckohn and Kroeberg, 1952). The meta-analysis conducted by Baldwin et al. (2006) counted over 300 definitions of culture. The analysis further showed that researchers of culture generally have one of seven approaches; they view culture as function, structure, process, refinement, product, group, or power (Faulkner et al., 2006). It has been pointed out that culture is extremely difficult to define (Condon and LaBrack, 2015) and it represents series of mutually incomparable concepts (Winthrop, 1991). According to Beck and Moore (1985) national culture can be explained as beliefs, assumptions, and values which are learned in the childhood which distinguish one segment of people to other. Schwartz (2014) defined culture as common values in a group of people that differentiates the members of the group from others and shapes one's behaviour. According to Jones and Davis (2000) similarities in national culture are derived from common history, language, and religion. The studies which are based on culture, majority of work is built on from Hofstede's original framework. According to Bond (2002) Hofstede's work is the most widely cited when it comes to culture. The most cited definition of culture is by Hofstede and Hofstede (2005) and defined as the collective programming of individual's mind that differentiates the one member of group from another. Hofstede's book in 1980; "Culture's Consequences" and is still one of the most influential publications in international business. The original publication, along with newer editions, has been cited more than 50,000 times according to Google Scholar (Devinney and Hohberger, 2017). Culture is embedded in daily life and is resistant to change which affects the consumer behaviour (Newman and Nollen, 1996). Cultural misunderstanding and lack of empathy by

businesses leads to conflicts (Zhang et al., 2003). According to Lee (1996) cultural misunderstanding occurs when one assumes that other culture is similar to yours or takes the differences for granted. According to Pukthuanthog and Walker (2007) due to advancement in globalisation, understanding cultures is the biggest objectives of the businesses. According to Bowman and Okuda (1985) the biggest brands are the ones who have successfully understood other markets and cultures while holding their own values.

According to study conducted by Lundvall (2007) concluded that various aspects on the national level impact the motivation of the innovation. The research done by Jones and Davis (2000) confirmed that national culture affects the level of the innovation within the country which impacts consumers on individual level. A society's values will steer the process of technological development and adoption. Herbig and Dunphy (1998) analysed that existing cultural condition determines if what type, when, and how innovation will be adopted. Moreover, Williams and McGuire (2010) concluded that culture of the country shapes the attitude towards innovation.

2.5.2 Culture and consumer behaviour

Below is figure 2.22 which shows Hofstede's cultural dimension of UK and Saudi Arabia.



Figure 2.22: Hofstede cultural dimensions: UK and Saudi Arabia (Hofstede, 2010).

Hofstede created dimensions which showed differences across the cultures. The framework proposed 6 dimensions (Hofstede, 2017).

Power distance: This dimension expresses the degree to which less powerful members of the society accept and expect the power to be distributed equally. Saudi Arabia score 95 as compared to 35 by United Kingdom. This indicates that society in UK believes that in equality should be minimized as opposed to Saudi society. Power distance is a dimension of culture which reflects the level of acceptance towards unequal distribution of preference and power between superiors and subordinates (Hofstede et al., 2010). If someone belongs to the culture with high power distance, you will tend to believe in hierarchy of power and understand everyone has specific place in society. For example, nations such as Mexico and Russia will tend to accept and expect unequal distribution of power. On the other hand, countries like Austria and Sweden will place more emphasis on equality and decentralisation (Hofstede et al., 2010).

The culture with high power distance is generally considered to have respect for authority and elders, whereas the culture with low power distance believes in treating children as equals and accepting criticism from them (Hofstede *et al.*, 2010). In addition, cultures with high power distance in organisational context have a tendency towards less conflict, because subordinates find it difficult to criticize or confront the authority which can hinder the innovation process. Conversely, cultures with low power distance encourages initiatives by subordinates which generally supports the innovation process (Hofstede et al., 2010).

Previous studies have shown that power distance is inversely proportional to innovation (Halkos & Tzeremes, 2013; Rinne et al., 2012; Shane, 1992, 1993) In addition, power distance has shown to be related with less consumer information (Erumban and Dejong, 2006) and lower adoption towards new products (Kumar, 2014). On the other side there have been some studies which suggest otherwise regarding Power distance and its' impact on innovation in operational activities in enterprises. The study by Veechi and Brenan (2009) suggested that power distance had a positive impact on the innovation inputs. Furthermore, the study by Jones and Davis (2000) linked a positive relationship between power distance and innovation adoption. At national level, the counties with small power distance are seen living with modern technology, social mobility, and urban living. All of these is possible due to the innovation process acceptance in small power distance countries (Hofstede et al., 2010).

Individualism/collectivism: Individualism believes in "me" not "we" and are expected to be independent in their thinking process. Collectivist society tends place importance on group more than individual. United Kingdom scores 89 as opposed to collectivist Saudi Arabian society of 25. This means in UK children are taught from early age to be unique and independent. This cultures with high individualistic score are considered to have loose ties between people and it is a society where "me is above we" (UK and USA). The countries which are collectivist such as Pakistan and Columbia are believed to have strong links between people and places importance on groups over individuality. The core values of individualistic culture are " autonomy and freedom", while in collectivist cultures it is "loyalty and integration" (Hofstede et al., 2010). According to Shane (1992) individualism promotes the traits that encourages entrepreneurship, creativity, and innovation. According to Lee et al. (2013) the consumer in the individualistic society acts more independently than collective society and are more attractive towards the new products (Kumar, 2014).

In organisational context, the studies by; Hofstede et al., 2010; Shane, 1993; Taylor & Wilson, 2012, has linked individualism with more tolerant environment for ideas and incentives for innovators.

In macro environment context, there is a positive relationship between GNI (gross national income) and individualism. The economy which is derived under individualism is usually have a restrained government's role in the economy, high social mobility, and emphasis on the policies which encourages the ideologies of freedom over equality (Hofstede., 2010). This dimension has been one of the most importance regarding innovation according to several studies: Taylor and Wilson 2012; Rinnie et al., 2012.

Masculinity: This dimension relates to a society that is driven by competition, achievement, and success. Both Saudi Arabia and UK fall below 70.

This dimension focuses on the gender differences within the society. In societies where Masculinity is higher such as Venezuela and Japan, gender roles are distinct,

men are expected to be assertive and tough, while women are expected to be gentle and modest (Hofstede, 1997). Countries such as Sweden and Norway are considered highly feminine societies and gender roles do overlap (Hofstede, 1991). The culture which is masculine values recognition and advancement, whereas feminine society values quality of life and relationships (Hofstede., et al 2010). This dimension according to previous literature had contrasting findings in context to its' impact on innovativeness. According to Halkos and Tzermes (2013) suggested that there is a positive correlation between masculinity and national innovativeness. However, the study conducted by Rinnes et al. (2012) found this correlation of national innovativeness and masculinity insignificant. The study by Steenkamp et al. (1999) found the relationship between masculinity and consumers' propensity to buy new products in order to display success and accomplishment.

Considering the masculinity under the organisational level, the study by Jones and David (2000) argued that masculinity encourages innovativeness because it focuses on accomplishment, achievement, success etc. On the other hand, masculinity can create a high ego atmosphere as per studies which can lead to disruption in innovation processes (Berdahl et al., 2018).

Masculinity in government's institutions showed that it prioritized growth, while feminine cultures emphasized on the living environment (Hofstede., et al 2010). These both strategies could be argued can be used for innovation and it shows how complex is the relationship between masculinity and national innovativeness.

Uncertainty avoidance: This refers to how well people can cope with uncertainty. Saudi Arabia scores 80 on this dimension and prefers avoiding uncertainty. This means countries scoring high on this are intolerant towards unorthodox behaviour and ideas which might emerge. Uncertainty avoidance (UAI) is the dimension which reflects the tolerance of the society on unpredictability and ambiguous (Hofstede et al., 2010) Belgium and Greece can be classified as high in uncertainty avoidance, while Singapore and Sweden can be categorised as low in uncertainty avoidance. The general perception based on previous studies is that the uncertainty about new goods and services increases in high uncertainty avoidance cultures (Rubera et al., 2012; Yalcinkaya, 2008). Uncertainty avoidance is considered to have negative impact on consumers' propensity of buying new mobile and internet (Hofstede et al.,

2010). In addition, low uncertainty avoidance culture demonstrates risk-taking and ease with unknown, while countries who score higher are hesitant towards new information and unknown.

However, the study by Tellis et al. (2003) indicated that new products sell quicker in high uncertainty avoidance cultures. The Uncertainty avoidance in the organisational context, suggest similar themes. According to Elenkov and Manev (2005) indicated that manger's impact on the innovation towards product/service is negatively related to high uncertainty avoidance culture. In addition, the earlier study by Shane et al. (1995) found that cultures which score high in uncertainty avoidance limits the role of employee in innovation process.

At national level according to several studies gives a similar trend. The study by Allred and Swan (2004) showed that cultures with high uncertainty avoidance tends to obstruct the innovation process and protect them from technological changes by implementing actions such as nationalism, protectionism, trade barriers etc. According to Hofstede (2010) uncertainty avoidance is directly proportional to the corruption which impacts the reputation of the country and affects the innovation process.

Long-term orientation: It refers to how every society has to maintain some links with its own past while dealing with future challenges. The countries which score low on this dimension chooses to uphold the time-honoured traditions and norms. On the other side, countries who score higher prefers to be more pragmatic and encourage thrift and efforts. Germany and China are among the categorised under long term orientation, while Iran is categorised as short-term orientation (Hofstede et al., 2010).

This dimension's effect on consumer behaviour is interesting and complex. The study by Yalcinkaya (2008) found that long term orientation encourages slow adoption of new ideas, while short term orientation cultures boost the adoption process of new goods/services for recognition and status. Generally, it is observed that new products taking off is slower in Confucian Asia than in Nordic European countries (Chandrasekaran & Tellis, 2008).

In organisational level the impact of long-term orientation is significant on innovation process. High long-term orientation countries correlate with R&D intensity (Allred and Swann, 2004). High long-term orientation encourages the initiation and implementation phase (Nakata & Sivakumar, 1996). Countries which score high in long term orientation adapts quicker to B2B innovation (Van Everdingen & Waarts, 2003; Waarts & van Everdingen, 2005). Another study by Tajeddini & Trueman, (2012) suggested that new ideas are believed to be useful in high long-term orientation cultures.

Indulgence: This dimension relates to the extent to which people try to control their impulses and desires. A high score of 69 by United Kingdom indicates that they based their decisions on impulse and desires. This is relatively new dimension within this model, and it could be defined as the extent to which people try to control their impulses and desires based on the way they are raised. Strong control is called Restrain, while weaker control is called Indulgence. Indulgence within society reflects that it allows free gratification of basic human needs, while restrain stands for a society that curbs gratification by stringent societal norms (Hofstede et al., 2010). Indulgence has been so far negatively correlated with Hofstede's power distance and Globe's in group collectivism. Previous studies have shown that indulgence is positively correlated with design innovation, which offers satisfactions with their creativity; however, it is negatively correlated with technological innovation (Bukowski and Rudnicki, 2018).

On the macro level, it appears that indulgence is positively related with freedom of speech and negatively correlated with choosing to maintain an order in nation (Hofstede et al., 2010, pp. 295-296). This combination may contribute towards the flowing of ideas and cause disruption in demands within society which may assist towards innovation. The study by Syed and Malik (2014) concluded that cultures with low uncertainty avoidance and high indulgence adopts new technology better than the cultures high uncertainty avoidance and low indulgence. This dimension needs further verification and evidence, however based on majority previous studies it can be expected that indulgence leads to support national innovativeness.

2.5.3 Criticism on Hofstede's cultural dimensions theory

Hofstede's research has been one of the most cited studies and had remarkable effect on academics and practitioners' various fields. Hofstede's model has been a foundational framework which is used for implementation by business systems such as entrepreneurial behaviour, training design, conflict relation, leadership styles, innovation, and several other cross-cultural issues (Michael, 1997, Smith, 1998). Geert Hoftede's research began in 1980 which comprised of 116,000 questionnaires, from which 60,000 people responded across 50 countries. Hofstede worked with IBM which at that time was identified as 'Hermes'. Hofstede provided factor analysis of 32 questions in 40 countries, from which he identified bipolar dimensions. Hofstede initially distinguished four, later five and finally even six dimensions of culture orientation that are different for various national cultures (Hofstede, 2001). According to Bhagat and Mcquaid (1982), Hofstede's works is without a doubt the most important cross-cultural study. Hofstede has been termed as one of the leading academics in the field of culture by several other researchers; Kirkman et al., 2006; Merkin et al., 2014). In addition, Hofstede's work is the most extensively used framework among researchers and practitioners (Sondergaard 1994; Ross, 1999; Furrer, 2000; Gong et al., 2007). The study by Holden (2004) concluded that Hofstede's work can still be viewed as the most comprehensive and relevant work in cultural differences context. According to Sondergaard (1994) the Hofstede study has been citated 1,036 times, while another study which is highly regarded in the field by Mile and Snow only received 200 citations. Also, the similar study pointed out that Hofstede's work is the foundation, because at that time there was little, or no work done in cross culture field. The Hofstede's study opened the doors for other researcher and practitioners to build on from his framework. Furthermore, several studies have been developed to test the relevancy of Hofstede's questions and they have confirmed the accuracy of Hofstede's dimension (Sondergaard, 1994).

On the other hand, despite its extraordinary impact on cross cultural studies, Hofstede's work has been criticised by some scholars. One of the main criticisms has been that study of Hofstede is out-dated especially with today's rapid changing globalisation and convergence (Mc Sweeny, 2000; Wu, 2006). Hofstede's counter argument to this argument is that cross cultural outcomes were based on centuries of indoctrination and programming. The recent replication of studies has supported the notion that cultures does not change overnight (Hofstede, 1998). Mc Sweeney (2002) and Orr and Hauser (2008) has further argued that there might be a 'political influence' on the developments of some dimensions of Hofstede particularly uncertainty avoidance and masculinity in the time of cold war. Furthermore, Mc Sweeney (2002) criticised that nations are not the best unit of examining the cultural aspect and surveys are not the most suitable ways. Hofstede (2002) countered that nations might not be the best possible way of measuring cultural aspects, but often the only available for conducting this kind of research. In addition, Hofstede (2000) agrees with the idea of surveys not being only research instrument and therefore welcomes other researcher to come up with proposals. Further argument against Hofstede's work is that it is methodically questionable to assign the results of subordinates of one company and generalise to the whole nation (McSweeney, 2002). However, variety of frameworks and research have shown that national culture values are related to workplace attitudes, behaviours, and other organizational outcomes (Kluckohn and Strodbeck, 1961; Hall, 1976; Ronen and Shenkar, 1985; Trompenaars, 1993; Schwartz, 1994). Overall, Hofstede's work till this day remains one of the crucial frameworks in analysing cultures and conducting cross cultural studies.

There are three significant large scale cultural dimension models which overlap in some way, but are different in respect to sampling, purpose, and type of questions asked. The models that include cultural values and can be used for cross cultural research are Hofstede (1980), Shalom Schwartz (1992), and project GLOBE (House et al., 2004). Hofstede's work explored the differences in work motivations of all the levels of employees across the world. Schwartz (2011) focused on basic values on which individuals differ in all cultures and developed into a theory. While Robert House, who initiated the GLOBE was eager to examine the effectiveness of leadership styles (House et al., 2002). Hofstede's work revolved around group of employees in seven occupational categories within one global country which was present in 66 countries. Schwartz work utilized teacher and students in 54 countries, while GLOBE surveyed middle management in 951 organisations in 62 societies (De Mooij, 2003)

Overall, the work by Hofstede remains the most used by other researchers in international marketing settings and comprehensive. The study by Hadwick (2011)

compared Hofstede's model with GLOBE study and concluded that Hofstede's work is simpler and more familiar than GLOBE's work. In addition, Hofstede's dimension creates a common language for researchers in psychology, management, anthropology which can later be used to interact across disciplines. When it comes to Hofstede vs Schwartz cultural framework model, the study by Steenkamp et al. (2001) pointed out that Schwartz might have a better theoretical foundation, but it has not been tested empirically enough. In addition, the study by Drogendijk and Slangen (2006) compared Schwartz work with Hofstede's and concluded that scholars can reliably still use both Hofstede and Schwartz measure of culture distance and therefore is premature to dismiss Hofstede's work as outdated. Additionally, the study by Magnusson et al. (2008) compared cultural frameworks and examine the validity of it. The study found that the cultural distance based on Hofstede's work had stronger convergent validity as compared to cultural distance based on Schwartz' and GLOBE's scale. Hofstede's book in 1980; "Culture's Consequences" is still one of the most influential publications in international business. The original publication, along with newer editions has been cited more than 50,000 times according to Google Scholar (Devinney and Hohberger, 2017).

2.5.4 Kano Model

Customer satisfaction has a significant impact on the profitability of the business organisations because it increases customer loyalty (Hallowell, 1996). Business organisations are continually aiming to satisfy their customers and different attributes of a product will lead to different level of satisfaction or even dissatisfaction (Tontini, 2007). In addition, Tontini et al. (2013) concludes that satisfaction is linked with what customer's indirect and direct needs are recognised by the attributes of a product or a service. For example, Smartphones are now more than just a device which is used for making calls, but also perform various tasks (Kim et al., 2016; Liu and Yu, 2017). For example, smartphones have features such as camera, charging speed, processing speed etc. These features will have different impact on different individuals and every individual will has its own preferences. Businesses which are able to satisfy their customers are likely to have superior financial return and therefore organisations must identify which attributes their product should have in order to generate customer satisfaction (Anderson et al., 1994; Hallowell, 1996).

The Kano model (Theory of attractive quality) was formed to categorise product or service-related attributes to customer satisfaction (Kano et al., 1984). The Kano model has been developed by Noraiki Kano which aimed to identify the correlation between performance and customers satisfaction (Tontini, 2007). This model is inspired by Herzberg's motivational theory which revolved around how some factors that cause job satisfaction differ from the factors which causes job dissatisfaction. Kano suggested that not all product and service attributes have linear relationship with customer satisfaction. He believed that customer satisfaction is more complex and multidimensional (Gregory and Parsa, 2013). According to Pinner (2014) Kano model provides a solid understanding of customer satisfaction and examines customer requirements via multiple factor structure. The model distinguishes attributes into five categories of Must be, Attractive attributes, One dimensional attribute, In different attributes, and Reverse attributes (Kano et al., 1984). The Kano model illustrated below in figure 2.23 illustrates that the vertical axis stands for the satisfaction and dissatisfaction users, while horizontal axis stands for conditions being insufficient or sufficient.



Figure 2.23: Theory of attractive quality (Kano et al ., 1984)

The Five categories are:

Must be: These attributes do not increase the customer satisfaction, however if not present it can increase customer dissatisfaction.

Attractive attributes: These attributes are source of attraction and delight for customer satisfaction. These attributes are not expected by customers and the absence of these attributes will neither change the satisfaction positively nor negatively.

One dimensional attribute: These attributes are positively related with customer satisfaction and if they are not present it will cause customer dissatisfaction. One of the prime examples is smartphone's battery life.

In different attributes: These attributes have no impact on customer either positively or negatively. These qualities are considered irrelevant and goes unnoticed by customers.

Reverse attributes: These are the attributes which triggers dissatisfaction if present and triggers satisfaction if not present.

The Kano model is dynamic and suggests that consumer perceptions can change of certain attributes. The prime example is the "touch screen" attribute of mobile which in the start was considered as "attractive attribute", however now is considered as "must be attribute". Kano Model has been used extensively within academic research (Emery and Tian, 2002; Emery and Tian, 2003; Bhattacharyya and Rahman, 2004; Fuller and Matzler, 2007; Wang and Ji, 2010) and applied in various industries such as student/professor satisfaction (Emery, 2006), employee satisfaction (Matzler et al., 2004), manufacturing products (Miyakawa and Wong, 1989), and banking and grocery stores (Scvaneveldt et al., 1991). One of the recent studies which applied Kano model was by Yang et al. (2009) which demonstrated the importance of Kano model on discontinuing certain components of products to achieve cost reduction. Most importantly Kano model has been applied previously within smartphone context (Baek et al. 2009) which concluded that picture messaging, internet access capability, and instant messaging are considered as one-dimensional quality attributes. Similarly, another study within context of mobile phones was by Hahn and Kodo (2017) which applied Kano model on exploring

mobile payments and concluded that factors such as security protection have transformed and became important features. The other attributes such as colour of mobile payment application is not of importance due to the nature issue.

2.5.5 Sharing and using mobile devices across cultures

According to Katz and Aakhus (2002) mobile phones are considered very personal and individual devices. The sharing behaviour of mobile devices might vary from culture to culture. Several studies have been conducted in developing nations about the consumers sharing their mobile devices. The study by Rangaswami and Singh (2009) indicated that Indian families' mobile devices were like "walking landline" and sharing was highly popular. The study further suggested that women in India shared not only their family's mobile phones but also their neighbour's mobile phones. One of the key factors was the lower economic situation of the families which increased the sharing of mobile devices according to this study. In addition, another study reported similar findings that mobile phone sharing with friends and family were highly popular in Banglore (Steenson and Doner, 2009). However, there was another study in the early 2000 which contradicted with the notion of economic necessity and sharing of mobile devices. The study showed that teens from Sweden might share their mobile devices with their friends and occasionally with strangers (Weilenmann and Larsson, 2001).

According to Bell (2003) culture plays crucial role on how people share their mobile devices. The study further reported that Asian people's sharing of mobile devices might be due to lesser valuing of "individual" compared to western culture. The study by Chenn (2011) showed that large proportion of Taiwanese teens borrowed friends' mobile phones to make quick phone calls. In addition, a US study by Karlson et al. (2009) found that middle class Americans shared their smartphones depending on the type of phone activity it was needed for and the relationship between phone owner and borrower.

One of the common reasons behind different sharing mobile devices behaviour could be the privacy concerns. The study by Bellman et al. (2004) surveyed over 500 internet users from 38 countries and concluded that cultural values do have an impact on the level of concern about information privacy. The study by Cho et al. (2009); Miltgen and Guillard (2014) found that people from collectivistic culture

displays less concern on data privacy as compared to people from individualistic culture. Similar findings were reported by; Milberg et al. (1995, 2000) which showed that individualistic cultures are more concerned about privacy and private life. The same study reported that higher score in power distance dimension is associated with privacy concern because there will be a trust deficit towards powerful groups/businesses. High score on uncertainty avoidance will link to high stress, anxiety, and privacy concerns. According to bellman et al. (2004) Masculinity dimension is negatively related with the privacy concern. The study by Posey et al. (2010); Miltgen and Guillard (2014) found that focus group participants from individualistic cultures were more hesitant to disclose their information that participants from collectivistic society. The study by Cho et al. (2009) indicated that internet users from individualistic cultures displayed higher concerns about privacy than collectivistic cultures. In addition, the study by Steenkamp and Geyskens (2006) suggested that individualistic cultures placed more emphasis on customization and privacy. There are additional differences between cultures even when it comes to sharing content. Several studies have suggested that mobile users share content and their locations with their friends and family (Taylor and Harper 2003; Consolvo, 2005; Koskinen, 2007) The study by Taylor and Harper (2003) found that UK teenagers exchanged their mobile media content with friends and family. The research added that UK teenagers were creating a social relationship by exchanging content with each other. This exchanging and sharing of mobile content is termed as "gift giving" ritual among youngsters. Another Study by Chen (2011) reported similar theme that the teenagers in Taiwan had a ritual among group friends which involved exchanging of content with each other. In addition, the exchanging of content was mainly humorous MMS/SMS and music tracks.

Secondly, there have been several studies which indicates that culture do impact the way consumers interact and use technological devices. The study by Bell (2003) conducted an ethnographic study in five different counties, including Malaysia, China, India, Singapore, and South Korea. The study found that the mobile users in India used SMS instantly to stay in touch with their friends and family. Another study by Shuter and Chattopadhyay (2010) compared the Indian and American SMS behaviour. The study indicated that Americans send messages while in public space with strangers around them, while Indians prefer to send SMS in private space.

Malaysians used new media for religious activities and sharing. Another study by Baron and Segerstad (2010) examined the behaviour of Japanese, American and Swedish students in regard to usage of media in public places. The study found that American and Swedes felt comfortable using mobile phones in public, unlike Japanese. The reason behind was that in Japan there is "keep quiet" in public policy and it is a norm to obey that.

2.5.6 Smartphones as fashion symbol across cultures

Smartphones are becoming more common day by day across the globe. The meaning of the smartphone is evolving as well when it travels across. Some might be using for functional purposes, while others may be using as a status symbol. The study by Yusuf and Abdullah (2003) found that key motivation behind using smartphone among 630 Turkish participants were "status". Moreover, the plant (2000) has linked people with 'stage phoning' or talking loudly in order to make people aware of the device. This trend is increasing more in youth than the older users. The youth are engaging themselves in personalization of mobile devices and using new ringtones in order to their mobile devices visible. Mobile phones are transforming into fashion accessories such as using bright colourful covers for their mobile phones, fashionable wallpapers being downloaded as wallpapers etc.

The evidence of smartphones as a status symbol is not just seen through personalization of mobile phones, but also with the size of the mobile phones. Some studies have shown that there are different reasons and preference behind consumers choosing large size of the smartphone. The study by Rau et al. (2015) suggested that Chinese consumers preferred large screen size smartphones due to the fact it looked more prestigious and expensive, while Germans choose large screen smartphones due to better battery life and faster processing. Similar theme of finding was reported by Khan (2016) where it was found that consumers from Pakistan views smartphone as the part of their image, status, and preference is given to a socially desirable brand of a phone than the feature of phone when making decision of purchase.

2.5.7 Attachment with mobile devices

Product attachment is described as the intensity of the emotional bond between consumer and a product (Schifferstein and Pelgrim, 2004). Mugge et al. (2008)

suggested that people develop emotions towards product that convey special meaning to them and gives them an overview of different meanings that product may have to their owners. It further stated that there are possibly four product meanings as possible determinants of product attachment.

Group affiliation: The product expresses owner's belonging to a certain group.

Pleasure: Product provides pleasure.

Self-expression: It says something about the identity of the person.

Memories: Triggers nostalgia.

Many mobile users across the world develop personal attachment with their mobile devices (Rangaswamy and Singh, 2009). The study by Venta et al. (2009) identified that though personalization of mobile content on their device and customization, the users develop emotional attachment with their device. The study by Katz and Sugiyama (2006) added that mobile users treated their devices as physical extension of their body and as a symbolic tool. The study by Vincent et al. (2003, 2004a) concluded that people in UK and Germany had emotional attachment largely due to the information stored and delivered on their mobile device. Furthermore, the study further listed common concerns and emotions related with mobile devices among users. Some of the emotions were "panic" if device went missing and "thrill" if received text and ability to multitask. Furthermore, the study by Vincent (2005) further added that constant interaction of phone with our senses are greatly responsible for emotional attachment. For example: constant touching and holding it in your palm or keeping in your pocket. However, the study by Tukle (2007) gave a slightly different view of consumers' attachment to their mobile devices. The study argued that mobile devices are viewed as evocative rather authentic companions. The study by Savas (2003) which was exploratory in nature investigated the reasons of product detachment and attachments. Respondents in this study mainly linked things such as positive experiences, social reasons, past, and style as the reasons behind any attachment towards products.

2.5.8 Smartphones addiction

Smartphone addiction is linked to internet addiction, because it has the same symptoms and effects. According to Shaw and Black (2008) the internet addiction is characterized as an extreme or poorly controlled behaviours and urges towards internet use that results in distress or impairment. Similarly, smartphone addiction can be classified into behavioural addiction, and it is similar to chemical addiction. Both behavioural and chemical addiction entails similar symptoms such as; mood modification, conflict withdrawal, tolerance, salience, and problems (Grant et al., 2010). Various studies have reported some common features of smartphone addiction. The study by Lin et al. (2014) indicated that smartphone addiction has four features such as compulsion, tolerance, functional impairment, and withdrawal. Likewise, Bianchi and Phillips (2005) linked excessive use of smartphone to psychological symptoms which are in form of behavioural addiction. The study by Griffiths (1995) associated smartphone addiction as technological addiction which comprises of human to machine interaction. Smartphone addiction is overall an inability to control the smartphone usage despite the damaging impact on the user. Individuals who are addicted to smartphones, they tend to receive pleasure, reduction in stress, but also it leads to lack of control to the extent they use regardless of the negative effect on psychological, financial, and social aspects of life (Van Deursen et al., 2015). The study by Mc Crae et al. (2017) found a statistically significant relationship between social media use and depressive symptoms in children and adolescents. In addition, a meta-analysis of 23 studies showed correlation of problematic Facebook use and psychological distress in young adults and adolescents (Marino et al., 2018). According to Kappeler (2003) individualistic societies are more likely to suffer from depression, and other mental health issues.

The research by Young (2007) showed that social media addicts were not able to manage real life activities. The study by divan et al. (2012) suggested that children using cell phones resulted in behavioural problems such as nervousness, mental distraction, and laziness. Moreover, the study by Nie and Erbring (2000) identified that people spending excessive time on internet had poor social support and great levels of loneliness. In context of Saudi, study by Alosaimi et al. (2016) 61 % of the respondents used smartphone at least 5 hours per day, while 27% of the respondents admitted spending more than 8 hours a day in Saudi Arabia.

2.5.9 Psychological and physical problems with smartphone addiction

Smartphone addiction is largely believed to have significant impact on individual's health (Abo -Jedi, 2008). Technology causes depression and in order to avoid that depression, individuals engage themselves in smartphones to avoid the depression or any other anxiety (Kim et al., 2015). Users constantly wait, check, and react to the notifications which is also the sign of depression and anxiety (Cougle et al., 2012; Evraire and Dozois, 2011). Additionally, a longitudinal study by Thomee et al. (2011) reported the high stress, sleeping disturbances, and depression among heavy users of smartphones. Similar themes were emerged in other studies ; Brunborg et al., 2011; Vollmer et al., 2012, which linked screen time with disturbed sleeping pattern.

Apart from psychological effects, overuse of smartphone could result in physical effect too. The overuse of smartphone can result into following; wrist pains, joints fatigue, problem with eardrum, weak immune system, brain tumour, cancer (Alasdair and Philips, 2017; Richard, 2001). However, interestingly the perception of 'overusing' varies from age to age. In the context of UK, Smartphones have been adopted by all age groups in the UK, however the penetration is the strongest among 25-34 years old with 94% adoption rate in 2019. Age group 55-75 has the lowest adoption of 80%, but it is on increasing trend from previous year which shows the overall peak of smartphones in the UK (Deloitte, 2019). With such a high rate of adoption and usage, about 38% of the population between 16-75 thinks that they overuse their phone. Over half of the population among 16-34 believes that they are overusing their phones, however the idea of overusing decreases as compare with older age groups (Deloitte, 2017).

2.5.10 Smartphone usage pattern

Smartphone addict spends significant amount of time and uses daily, which is an indicator to a smartphone addiction. The study by Torrecillas (2007) shows that 40% of adults and adolescents spends 4 hours a day to make phones calls and messages. People who spent more than 4 hours showed more problems than the people who did not overly used smartphones. In Europe, smartphone user touches their cell phones approximately between 10-200 times a day, for a mean period between 10-250 seconds, and used 1-1000 megabytes of data per day (Falaiki et al., 2010). One of the key motivators behind addiction is the "smart" side of the things in

the phone (Van Deursen et al., 2015). The study by Park and Lee (2012) showed that smartphone addicts use social networking sites which explains the fact females are more likely to be addicted to smartphones than males. The study by Liu et al. (2016) suggested gaming as a key motivator behind smartphone addiction too. Overall, the studies by Jeong et al., 2016; Salehan and Neghban (2013) classified "social networking sites" as the strongest factor of smartphone addiction as compared to entertainment, gaming, or study. The study Dimitrios and Alali (2014) concluded that Saudi society are heavy users of social media with more than 85% usage

Secondly, smartphone usage is continuously changing our day-to-day behaviours. To explore deeper into how people in UK are spending time on their mobile screen, the poll uncovered screen time activities. The most popular activities included '; messaging family and friends (67%), browsing social media (59%), reading news (48%), music (49%), e commerce (35%), and posting on social media (30%). It was an interesting insight which showed people are more likely to browse than actually post on social media which indicates social media platforms are used in quiet passive way. The other activities include usage of health/fitness apps is somewhat common (17%), but other 'healthy' types of apps are only used by a minority: Sleep improvement (6%), Meditation (6%), creating art/producing music (5%), and Journaling (4%) (What mobile, 2019). According to Statista (2020) sending/receiving email was the most popular activity in Britain (2020). Texting during driving is considered to be a dangerous act and several countries have passed legislations to prevent the harms and accidents caused by it (Governors highway safety n,d.). The studies are now showing texting while walking can cause negative effects and suggesting that texting should not only be avoided while driving, but also when walking. This smartphone walking culture can be further validated by the research by AO- Mobile (2019) which identified that 96% of the population say they have experienced people not paying full attention while walking because of their phone. Due to increase in "distracted walking" there have been UK's first slow lane created in Manchester for distracted walkers. Furthermore, people in the society are being glued to smartphones which is another term of "smartphone zombie culture". According to (Monsell, 2003) multitasking is emerging as the new norm in 21st century, but it comes with the cost. Using smartphone while walking affects the

speed of walking and posture (Oh and La Pointe, 2017) and affects the reaction times of individuals towards auditory and visual targets. (Haga et al., 2015) Similarly, there was another study which showed that while browsing internet on smartphone while cross a virtual street, increased the time spent looking away from the road and frequency of vehicular collisions (Byington and Schwebe, 2013). This study concluded that smartphone while walking influences our style of walking, attention span, and risks of injury. Moreover, the study by Nasar and Troyer (2013) found that the percentage of phone related pedestrian injuries are increasing. The smartphone addiction is still controversial and in one study, university students scoring higher on the smartphone-addiction proneness scale reported higher accident rates when using a smartphone while walking than people with lower scores (Kim, & Min, 2017).

2.5.11 Gender and Cultural Smartphone addiction

Several researchers have suggested that difference may exist on the basis of gender regarding smartphone usage (Billieux et al., 2008; Hakoama & Hakoyama, 2011; Haverila, 2011; Junco et al., 2010; Leung, 2008). According to Geser (2006), women use smartphones as a social tool, while men use it more for instrumental use. Similarly, the study by Junco et al. (2010) analysed that female college students spent more time on cell phones talking and sent more text messages than male students. Females perceive smartphones as a means to maintain and nurture the relationships, while men tend to view this as a source of entertainment or information (Junco and Cole, 2008). The another study which finds a similar theme to above is that females have a higher attachment to their cell phones as compared to males (Geser 2006; Hakoama & Hakoyama, 2011; Jackson et al., 2008; Jenaro et al., 2007; Leung, 2008; Wei & Lo, 2006). In addition, there was another study which surveyed college students in USA, which showed that women spend an average of 600 minutes on cell phone everyday as compared to 459 minutes by men. Moreover, women spend on average 105 minutes on texting as compared to men spending 84 minutes (Roberts et al., 2014). However, there are some studies; Bianchi and Phillips (2005); Junco et al., (2010), which contradicts with the notion of female attachments is higher than male to the cell phones. Smartphone addiction studies have reported over the time that women are more dependent on smartphones than men (Billieux et al., 2008). Similarly, the study by Walsh et al. (2011) suggested that females are likely to get involved with their mobile phones than males are.

Smartphone addiction in the context of cross culture gives an interesting insight into behavioural changes. The study by Sun et al. (2012) suggested that Internet addiction among Chinese population were high on males as compared to females. However, the same study indicated that Internet addiction was higher in females as compared to males in the US sample of data. Additionally, another study was conducted in Turkey which indicated that female high school students had higher internet addiction rates than males (Aylaz et al., 2016). Furthermore, a comparative study between UK and Chinese students revealed that females had higher problematic smartphone use than males in both cultures (Yang et al., 2018). A more recent study also revealed a similar pattern and identified that females are more prone to internet gaming disorder than males (Wang et al., 2019).

2.5.12 Summary- 4th part of the literature review

This part of literature review (*Culture and Innovation*) emphasized on the relationship of culture and innovation. It introduced and explained the Hofstede's 6-dimension model and identify differences between Saudi and British culture. Additionally, this part of the literature helped understand smartphone usage, sharing behaviour and addiction related behaviours.

2.6 Summary of Literature review

This chapter has presented and discussed available literature related to smartphones, technology acceptance models, resistance models and Hofstede's cultural model. This has provided the theoretical background of this research.

In particular, an overview of the factors affecting decision making when purchasing new smartphones was presented in the first section. Secondly, a review of the seven most influential models in literature that has been used to study human behaviour regarding adoption and resistance of technology was presented; **Diffusion of Innovation theory** (DOI); **Unified Theory for Acceptance and Use of Technology** (UTAUT); **Technology Acceptance Model** (TAM); **Theory of Planned Behaviour** (TPB); **Theory of Reasoned action** (TRA); **Sheth Model**, and **Ram Model**. From the previous critical literature, researcher can note that some of the models have good parsimony and application (TAM), but lacks the comprehensive cover of major factors, while other models include more complex factors, but compromise on the parsimony of the model (UTUAT). After critical review of adoption literature within smartphone area (Table 2.3, Table 2.4), TAM was found to have an acceptable explanatory power and also with good parsimony. TAM has received extensive empirical support in the implementation area and has been regarded as the most robust, easy to use, influential, and powerful model in innovations acceptance behaviour (Davis et al., 1989, Pavlou, 2003; Olushola and Abiola, 2017). It has been used in several empirical studies which proven to be statically reliable and therefore we consider this theoretical model as a base for the purpose of the present study.

However, there have been some criticisms concerning the theoretical contributions of this model, specifically its ability to fully explain technology adoption and usage. Additionally, the existing constructs of the TAM neglects investigating other essential predictors that may affect the adoption of technology such as **cultural factors**. Taking into consideration the above limitations, this research will extend the TAM and include additional factors in order to increase its predictive power and make it more comprehensive. The following chapter will discuss the conceptual framework in detail.

Finally, this chapter also discussed the Hofstede's cultural model and compared with the other two most influential cultural models; Schwartz (1992) and project GLOBE (House et al., 2004). It was concluded that Hofstede's model to this date remains the most cited, reliable, and easy to use, as compared to other two models. In addition, the chapter also reviewed previous literature related with the impact of culture towards innovation. Although, the acceptance of technology by end-users is a consumer level phenomenon, surprisingly it was found that most of the literature about cultural effects in research is based on the organisational level. Therefore, in an attempt to overcome this gap, this research will develop a conceptual framework which will explore the impact of culture at the consumer level within the context of Middle Eastern country (Saudi Arabia) and Western (UK) country. The table attached in Appendix D summarizes the theories/models which underpins our research. The following chapter will discuss the conceptual framework and hypotheses of our study.

Chapter 3: Proposed Conceptual Framework

3.1 Introduction

The previous chapter discussed various theories and models that are related to technology acceptance and external factors which directly or indirectly are useful in developing the conceptual framework for this study. Based on previous chapter, the aim of this chapter is to discuss the development of proposed conceptual model to study adoption of new smartphones in cross-cultural setting. This chapter also provides justification for including Hofstede's cultural dimensions as moderators for our adoption model. This chapter will then list the research hypothesis which are drawn and define every construct which is included in our model. The next section **3.2** will introduce theoretical background for the conceptual framework of our study which will discuss the theories that are underpinning our research.

3.2 Theoretical development

As stated earlier in the research aim that our study is "exploring the impact of culture towards innovation within smartphone industry". After reviewing seven most influential adoption/resistance theories in literature; Diffusion of Innovation theory (DOI); Unified Theory for Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT); Technology Acceptance Model (TAM), Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB), Theory of Reasoned action (TRA), Sheth Model, and RAM model, it was found that no one theory is complete in explaining the adoption of smartphones. Extensions of existing models or integration is suggested as a better option (Qingfei et al., 2008; Venkatesh et al., 2003). In addition, some of the studies (Jeyaraj et al., 2006; Liu et al., 2005) suggested that TAM needs to be integrated with other broader models for improved result to testing its predictive power. Furthermore, some argue that given the complexity of the behavioural research, it is nearly impossible to cover all or majority of the adoption factors by using a single model (Ward, 2013). The researcher therefore decided to integrate the following theories (TAM, TRA, Sheth Model and Hofstede's Cultural Dimension Theory) to provide a comprehensive understanding of adoption for new smartphones. TAM will be used as a baseline model in this research and additional constructs from TRA. Sheth Model and Hofstede's dimensions are added to extend the TAM.

The rationale behind using TAM is because it is proven to be easily applicable, flexible and vastly used in various fields. The field of our research is "**smartphone**" and researcher carefully reviewed the smartphone adoption literature (See table 2.3, table 2.4) and it was concluded to incorporate TAM in our study due to its' largescale acceptance, robustness and clear focus (Chandio, 2011).

In addition, the researcher also reviewed past studies which incorporated Hofstede's cultural dimension with technology acceptance models. Below is the Table 3.1 which illustrates past studies using Hofstede's dimensions with technology acceptance models. Based on review, it was found that TAM does not only prove to be viable model, but also most used when incorporating Hofstede's dimension to a research based on technology acceptance across cultures. In each of the studies below, it was also indicated that culture did have an effect to some degree on technology acceptance.

Previous Study	Technology	Title	Culture	Cultural
	acceptance models			dimensions
Akthar et al. (2018)	TAM and TRA	Investigating the moderating role of uncertainty avoidance on mobile banking adoption	Pakistan vs China	Hofstede
Al Ghathani, Hubona, and Wang (2007)	UTUAT	Culture and the acceptance and use of IT	Saudi Arabia	Hofstede
Al Jaafreh (2011)	TAM: PU and cultural dimensions yield BI	The relationship between information quality and national cultural in Jordan.	Jordan vs Western	Hofstede
Calantone, Griffith, and Yalcinkaya (2006)	ТАМ	An Empirical Examination of a Technology Adoption Model for the Context of China	China	Hofstede
Hassan and Ditsa (1999)	ТАМ	The Impact of Culture on the Adoption of IT	Middle East vs West Africa	Hofstede
Hussain, Salah, and Madanan (2019)	ТАМ	Evaluating e- government acceptance	Oman	Hofstede
Igbaria, Ivaria & Maragahh, 1995	ТАМ	Why do individuals use computer technology? A Finnish case study	Finnish	Hofstede

Im, Hong, and Kang (2011)	UTUAUT	An International Comparison of Technology Adoption (Mp3 player and Internet banking)	Korea vs USA	Hofstede
Jere and Maharaj (2017)	Integration of TAM and DOI	Evaluating the influence of information and communications technology on food security	South Africa	Hofstede
Mahomed, Mcgrath, and Yuh (2018)	TAM: PU and PEOU	Usage of emails among academician	Malaysian	Hofstede
Mc Coy, Galetta, and King (2007)	TAM: PU, PEU, BI	Applying TAM across cultures: the need for caution	Several cultures	Hofstede
Sreen, Sadarangani, and Giridhar (2019)	ТАМ	A path from cultural values (Mobile travel app)	India	Hofstde
Srite (2006)	ТАМ	Culture as an explanation of technology acceptance differences	Chinese vs USA	Hofstede
Straub (1994)	ТАМ	The Effect of Culture on IT Diffusion: E-mail and Fax in Japan and the US	Japan vs USA	Hofstede
Straub, Keil and Branner (1997)	TAM: PU and PEOU	Testing the technology	Switzerland, Japan, and USA	Hofstede

		acceptance model		
		across cultures.		
Terzis et al. (2013)	Computer based	Computer Based	Greece vs	Hofstede
	assessment	Assessment	Mexico	
	acceptance model	Acceptance: A Cross-		
	(CBAAM)	cultural Study in		
		Greece and Mexico		
Park et al. (2007)	UTUAT	Adoption of mobile	Chinese	Hofstede
		technologies for		
		Chinese consumers		
Veiga, Floyd, & Dechant	Tam: PU and PEOU	Towards Modelling	Several	Hofstede
(2001)		the Effects of	cultures	
		National Culture on IT		
		Implementation and		
		Acceptance		
Van Slyke, Belanger, &	Diffusion of	A comparison of	American vs	Hofstede
Sridhar (2005)	Innovation theory	American and Indian	Indian	
		consumers'		
		perceptions of		
		electronic commerce		

 Table 3.1: Studies which integrated Technology acceptance models with Hofstede's dimensions

Based on the analysis and recommendations of the previous studies, we developed our research model which combines variables from:

- Theory of Reasoned Action- Subjective Norm (SN)
- Sheth model (1981)- Perceived Risk (PR)
- Technology Acceptance Model- Perceived Usefulness (PU), Perceived Ease of Use (PEOU), Behaviour intention (BI)
- Hofstede dimensions Individualism (IND), Power Distance (PD),
 Uncertainty Avoidance (UA)

Our proposed conceptual framework is called SAM (Smartphone Adoption Model).

Our model includes three categories of variables, and the categories are presented below:

- Independent variables (PEOU, PU, SN, PR) these variables may have an effect on BI
- **Dependent Variable** (BI)- This variable may be affected by the independent variable directly or indirectly by set of moderators.
- **Moderators** (IND/PD/UA)- These set of moderators may have an impact on the relationship between independent variables and BI.

The table 3.2 summarizes the variables of "**SAM**" and the theories they are derived from:

Variables	Summary	Theories derived from
Individualism	This refers to the extent to which individuals are integrated into groups. Individualistic societies focus on "I" instead of "We". Collectivistic societies place emphasis on family and society.	• Hofstede (1980)
Power distance	This refers to the extent to which individuals expect and accept differences in power between different people.	• Hofstede (1980)
Uncertainty Avoidance	This refers to the extent to which ambiguities and uncertainties are tolerated.	• Hofstede (1980)
Perceived Risk	The perception of the degree of risk associated with adopting & using innovation.	• Sheth Model (1981)
Perceived usefulness	The degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would enhance his or her job performance.	 TAM Model (Davis et al. 1989)
Perceived ease of use	The degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would be free of effort.	 TAM Model (Davis et al. 1989)
Behavioural intention	Means a person's ability or capability to intend to perform behaviour.	 TAM Model (Davis et al. 1989)
Subjective norm	The person's perception that most people who are important to him or her thinks he/she should or should not perform the behaviour in question.	 TRA (Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975)

Table 3.2: Variables of conceptual framework

3.3 Proposed conceptual Framework (SAM)

Before we delve into detailed explanation of our variables and proposed propositions of **SAM**, it is best to discuss the concept of hypothesis in qualitative research. Kerlinger (1956) describes hypothesis as relational propositions which are made to clarify the direction of research problem. It is often in the form of conjectural statement which predicts the relationship between two or more variables. In addition, Ary et al. (1996) defines it as a tentative proposition which is made to suggest a possible solution to a problem, or an explanation of a phenomenon or situation surrounding a problem. Moreover, Creswell (1994) explains hypothesis in a different manner and defines it as a formal statement that present the normal relationship between dependent and an independent variable. All these definitions can be summarised to mean that a research hypothesis is " *the statement developed by a researcher, which gives direction or clarifies the problem and speculates upon the nature of relationship between variables*". The above summarised version of definition is going to be our understanding for the research hypothesis.

Secondly, our research is qualitative and there are scholars who advocates the idea of "*hypothesis being relevant only in quantitative studies*" (Ulichny, 1991; Malterud and Hollnagel, 1999; Malterud, 2001; Bluhm et al., 2010; Maudsley, 2011). However, there are other scholars (Sabatier, 1998; Flyvbjerg, 2006: Sullivan and Sargeant, 2011) who have asserted that hypothesis can be used and tested in qualitative research. Our study aligns with these scholars and believes that the science of research and the culture is evolving and ever changing. According to Chigbu (2019) qualitative researcher should not be discouraged from using hypothesis in their study and considered it "illogical" to expect qualitative researcher to strictly follow the rules of quantitative methods. The use of hypothesis in current study is viewed as "*ingredients of the preconceptions, reflections, or a direction*" and this approach is supported by (Malterud, 2001; Chigbu, 2019) for researchers using qualitative methods.

Thirdly, there is always discussions among the academics regarding testing of hypothesis in qualitative research. The term "test" has never been about quantities or numerical calculations, and always has been about examination (Steger, Owens, and Park, 2015; Garland et al., 2017; Gentsch et al., 2018). However, the common

misconceptions or traditional practices in past literature leads researchers to believe that testing always mean quantitative calculations to prove or disapprove assumptions. Hypothesis can be tested through data gathered by not only surveys or statistical tools, but also interviews (Smith and Mc Gannon, 2018; Christensen, Johnson, and Turner, 2014; Chigbu, 2013; Chigbu, 2019). The use of a hypothesis can be done in any form of research to predict scenarios that can be either confirmed or proved in the later part of a study to give direction to scientifically justified conclusions. For example: if there is a hypothesis proposed by a scientist that "*water is in the jar*", in order to confirm or refute this hypothesis, scientist needs to show that there is or there is no water in the jar. The scientist does not necessarily require conducting a volumetric analysis to arrive at zero or a negative numerical result before him/her to conclude that there is no water in the jar.

The purpose of the hypothesis in our study is to provide the researcher with a direction or enable a framework for making solid conclusion. The researcher developed an approach for formulating the propositions based on **SAM** (Seeappendix E).

The below section will now provide a detailed explanation of each variable mentioned in the above table (3.2) and proposed hypothesis.

3.3.1 Perceived usefulness (PU)

Perceived usefulness (PU) is defined as the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would enhance his/her job performance (Davis, 1989). PU is similar to "*relative advantage*" from the model DOI and "*performance expectancy*" in UTUAT model (Venkatesh et al., 2003). In TAM, PU has been theorised as a direct determinant of BI. According to previous research (Davis,1989; Chang and Tung, 2008; Liu et al., 2010) PU was found to have a significantly greater correlation with BI than PEOU. Davis (1989) concluded that users are more likely to adopt a system mainly because of the functions it performs for them.

In the present context of study, PU was used to explore the consumers' attitudes about potential benefits of latest smartphone features. Many studies have highlighted the positive effect PU has on BI (Davis, 1989; Igbaria et al., 1997; Venkatesh & Davis, 2000; Chau & Hu, 2002; Venkatesh & Balla, 2008; Al-Hujran & Al-Dalahmeh, 2011). Therefore, it is hypothesised that PU will have a positive significant influence on the behavioural intention to use the latest smartphone features.

• **H1**: High PU will have a direct positive influence on the behavioural intention to use new smartphones

3.3.2 Perceived Ease of Use (PEOU)

Perceived ease of use (PEOU) is defined as the degree to which an individual believes that his/her using a particular system would be free of effort (Davis et al., 1989). This is similar to *"effort expectancy"* from UTUAT model (Venkatesh et al., 2003). In TAM, this has been theorised as a direct determinant of BI. There is strong evidence which concludes that PEOU plays a significant role in predicting BI (Davis, 1989; Igbaria et al., 1997; Venkatesh and Morris, 2000; Chan and Lu, 2004; Reid and Levy, 2008). In addition, several studies confirm the direct positive influence of PEOU on BI (Davis, 1989; Venkatesh, 2000; Venkatesh & Balla, 2008; Al Hujran & Al-Dalahmeh 2011; Hoque & Bao, 2015; Croteau & Vieru, 2002; Wu et al., 2008; Aggelidis & Chatzoglou, 2009).

In the present context of the study, PEOU is included to explore consumers' beliefs of whether the latest smartphones are free of effort and to predict their behavioural intention to use. It is expected that consumers from UK and Saudi Arabia are expected to adopt new smartphones, if they are easy to use and not complicated. Therefore, based on previous research and many models which considered the direct relationship of PEOU on BI, we propose the following hypothesis:

• **H2**: PEOU will have a direct positive influence on the behavioural intention to use new smartphones

3.3.3 Subjective norm (SN)

Subjective norm can be defined as the individual's perception that most people who are important to him/her think he or she should or should not perform the behaviour in question (Ajzen and Fishbein, 1980). This construct has been derived from Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA). SN has been characterised as an antecedent of PU and in some as an antecedent of BI. According to Venkatesh et al. (2003) the influence of SN is complex and there are inconsistencies in the literature about the influence of

SN on BI. Majority of studies have concluded that SN have a significant impact on BI (Hung, Ku, & Chien, 2012; Hsieh, 2015: Abbasi, et al., 2015; Van Raaij & Schepers, 2008; Venkatesh & Davis, 2000; Venkatesh et al., 2003). However, there are some studies which failed to report any impact of SN on BI (Chau & Hu, 2002; Lewis, Agarwal, & Sambamurthy, 2003). Building on the study from Venkatesh and Davis (2000) this study will consider direct impact of SN on BI. This research extends the TAM and includes SN to overcome the limitation of TAM model in measuring the influence of social environments (Venkatesh and Davis, 2000). The inclusion of SN is also important due to the nature of the study (Cross cultural) and thus, we propose the following hypothesis:

• H3: SN will have a positive influence on users' BI to use new smartphones

3.3.4 Perceived Risk

Bauer (1960), Webster (1969), and Ostlund (1974) introduced perceived risk as an additional construct in the adoption of innovation, which is then later added by Sheth (1981) in modelling of innovation resistance. This is the second major determinant of innovation resistance in Sheth model. The higher it is perceived risk of an innovation by an individual, the higher resistance towards innovation it will lead to. TAM's basic constructs do not completely replicate the user task environments and should be improved and extended (Wessels and Drennan, 2010). Previous researchers considered risk as one of the factors that influences the mobile user's acceptance (Brown et al., 2003; Karjaluoto, Riquelme, and Rios 2010; Wessels and Drennan, 2010). Hence, the current research incorporated Perceived risk as additional construct along with TAM's fundamental constructs. Several studies have indicated the negative relationship between perceived risk and behavioural intention to use things such as e-commerce and mobile payment systems (Crespo and del Bosque, 2010, Herrero and San Martín, 2012; Liébana-Cabanillas et al., 2013; Liébana-Cabanillas et al., 2018, Slade et al., 2015). Several studies on the adoption of new technologies show that the perception of the individuals regarding perceived risk is an important factor in adopting technology (Chen, 2013; Laforet and Li, 2005; Yang, 2009). In their studies, Im, Kim, and Han
(2008) and Lee (2009) noted how perceived risk attenuates the perception of usefulness and ease of use, and consequently the intention to use.In present context of study, perceived risk is crucial, and it is considered an antecedent of intention to use. Therefore, we propose this research hypothesis:

• H4: Perceived risk will have direct negative influence on BI to use new smartphone features.

3.3.5 Behavioural intention to use new smartphone (BI)

The main difference between TRA and TAM is the Behavioural intention. The BI is considered as crucial in determining the actual usage of the system. Many studies have reported the relationship between BI and actual usage (Chang & Tung, 2008; Liu et al., 2010; Park, 2009; Tarhini et al., 2017; Teo, 2010).

In present context of study, BI to use new smartphone is considered as dependent variable for our conceptual framework.

3.3.6 Moderating variables in our model (Hofstede's cultural dimension)

This section will explain the moderating variables used in our conceptual framework (Individualism, Power distance, and Uncertainty avoidance) and the impact these dimensions may have on the core constructs of our model. The rationale behind inclusion of moderators within our conceptual model is to increase the predictive power and based on literature gap which suggested that culture impacts the uptake of new technology. Below is the table 3.3 which illustrates the values of UK and Saudi Hofstede's dimension. The other dimensions (Masculinity, Indulgence, Long term orientation) were not included in our framework, because according to Hofstede's cultural dimensions the values of Saudi Arabia and UK were similar in those dimensions (see figure 2.22). Our aim as stated earlier is " *to explore the impact of culture towards innovation*" and therefore incorporated dimensions which were different between cultures to examine if it has any impact on behaviour.

Dimensions	UK	Saudi Arabia
Individualism	89	25
Power Distance	35	95
Uncertainty avoidance	35	80

Table 3.3: UK and Saudi cultural dimensions (Hofstede)

3.3.7 Individualism

Hofstede (1980) refers this dimension as the extent to which individuals are integrated into groups. Individualistic societies such as UK focus on achievement and personal goals, while collectivistic societies such as Saudi Arabia focus on group they belong. Several authors have confirmed the role of Individualism/Collectivism on PU and PEOU. The study by (Akour 2006; Lee et al., 2007) found that individualism has a direct positive effect on PU and PEOU. Furthermore, studies by Mc Coy, Everard, and Jones, 2005; Sanchez-Franco et al., 2009, hypothesised the moderating role of Individualism on the relationship between PU and BI. Individualistic cultures are focused on individual goals, so PU would be highly relevant when evaluating new smartphones. In addition, the study by Mc Coy, Galletta, and King (2007) found the PEOU, and BI was impaired in collectivistic setting and speculate that people within these cultures may be more willing to use poor usability as long as they are achieving goals that are valued by wider group. According to Shane (1992) individualism promotes the traits that encourages entrepreneurship, creativity, and innovation. According to Lee et al. (2013) the consumer in the individualistic society acts more independently than collective society and are more attractive towards the new products (Kumar, 2014).

In the present context of study, individualistic dimension is viewed as a significant predictor which moderates the relationship between PU and BI. Individualistic cultures are characterised by an emphasis on the achievement of individual goals, so PU would appear to be a highly relevant factor for technology adoption in such settings as compared to collectivistic cultures. To further explain this, PU is considered one's subjective probability to view the usefulness of technology for self-

interest and can better be favoured by the individualistic mind set (Mc Coy, 2002). Therefore, we propose the following:

• **H5:** Stronger effect of PU on BI for the Individualistic individuals, while lower effect of PU on BI for the Collectivistic individuals towards new smartphone features

3.3.8 Power distance

According to Hofstede (1980) Power distance refers to the extent to which individual expect and accept difference in power between different people. Several past studies have indicated that PD is expected to moderate relationship between SN and BI (Dinev et al., 2009; Li et al., 2009; McCoy, Everard, & Jones, 2005; Srite & Karahanna, 2006; Zakour, 2004). The general consensus based on the review of these studies is that higher the value of PD, the more it will be likely to base their decision with social environment in mind. Cultures with High PD value will adopt smartphones, if it has a positive impact on their image in social environment such as colleagues, friends and family. Therefore, we propose the following:

• **H6a**: High PD score, more effect of SN on BI to use new smartphones. Low PD Score, lower effect of SN on BI to use new smartphones.

In addition, Mc Coy, Everard, and Jones (2005) predicts that PD value moderates the relationship between PU and BI. The relationship is not clearly explained however, it is assumed that cultures with low PD values may feel to user their own intention rather than rely on individuals, groups, colleagues who have high perceived power. In addition, study by Akour et al. (2006) and Al Hujran et al. (2011) supports the notion that PD impacts the PU. In the present context of study, this is explored in the context of features and its' importance across cultures. Therefore, we propose the following:

• H6b: The relationship between PU and BI to use smartphone is moderated by PD value

3.3.9 Uncertainty avoidance

According to Hofstede (1980), this dimension refers to the extent to which uncertainties and ambiguities are tolerated. Cultures with high UA are hypothesised by previous literature to be less accepting of technological change (Zakour, 2004).

The study by Al and Kumar (2011) Indicate that in cultures where uncertainty avoidance is high, perceived risk with internet buying is also high, and this impacts internet buying negatively. Similarly, study by Yin et al. (2019) compared China and France and concluded that high uncertainty avoidance culture brings perceived risk. Furthermore, Hofstede (1984) claimed that High UA cultures embody stability, risk avoidance, predictability, resistance to change and discomfort with unknown features. The study by Dai and Palvia (2008) found that individuals from the culture with low uncertainty avoidance are more likely to accept new mobile services as compared to higher uncertainty avoidance cultures.

In the present context of study, we predict that uncertainty avoidance will impact the perceived risk when evaluating new smartphone features. Therefore, we propose the following

• **H7**: The relationship between PR and Bi to use is moderated by UA value.

3.3.10 SAM Hypothesis Summary

Below is the Table 3.4 which summarises the hypothesis of *SAM* (**Smartphone Adoption Model**)

Variables	Hypothesis	Previous Authors
Perceived Usefulness (PU)	H1 : High PU will have a direct positive influence on the behavioural intention to use new smartphones	(Davis, 1989; Igbaria et al., 1997; Venkatesh & Davis, 2000; Chau & Hu, 2002; Venkatesh & Balla, 2008; Al-Hujran & Al Dalahmeh, 2011).
Perceived Ease of Use (PEOU)	H2 : PEOU will have a direct positive influence on the behavioural intention to use new smartphones	(Aggelidis & Chatzoglou, 2009; Al- Hujran & Al-Dalahmeh, 2011; Croteau & Vieru, 2002; Davis, 1989; Venkatesh, 2000; Venkatesh & Balla, 2008; Hoque & Bao, 2015; Wu et al., 2008).
Subjective norm (SN)	H3 : SN will have a positive influence on users' BI to use smartphones	(Venkatesh and Davis, 2000; Venkatesh et al., 2003; Hung, Ku, &Chien, 2012; Hsieh, 2015, Abbasi, et al., 2015; Van Raaij & Schepers, 2008).
Perceived Risk (PR)	H4: PR will have a direct negative effect on BI	(Brown et al., 2003; Karjaluoto, Riquelme, and Rios 2010; Wessels and Drennan, 2010; Crespo and del Bosque, 2010, Herrero and San Martín, 2012; Liébana-Cabanillas et al., 2014; Liébana-Cabanillas et al., 2017, Slade et al., 2015; Chen, 2013; Laforet and Li, 2005; Yang, 2009; Im, Kim, and Han, 2008; Lee, 2009).
Individualism (IND)	H5 : Stronger effect of PU on BI for the Individualistic individuals, while lower effect of PU on BI for the Collectivistic individuals towards new smartphone features	(Akour et al., 2006; Shane 1992; Lee et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2013; Kumar, 2014; Mc Coy, 2002; Mc Coy, Everard, and Jones, 2005; Sanchez-Franco et al., 2009).
Power distance (PD)	H6a : High PD scores, more effect of SN on BI to use new smartphones. Low PD Score, lower effect of SN on BI to use new smartphones	(Akour et al.,2006; Al Hujran et al., 2011; Dinev et al., 2009; Li et al., 2009; McCoy, Everard, & Jones, 2005; Srite & Karahanna, 2006; Zakour, 2004).

	H6b : The relationship between PU and BI to use smartphone is moderated by PD value.	
Uncertainty avoidance (UA)	H7 : The relationship between PR and Bi to use is moderated by UA value.	(Hofstde, 1984; Al and Kumar 2011; Dai and Palvia, 2008; Yin et al., 2019)

Table 3.4: Summary of SAM Hypothesis

3.4 SAM conceptual framework (Smartphone adoption model)

Below is the figure 3.1 which illustrates our final conceptual framework (SAM) and explains the relationship of variables.



Figure 3.1: Proposed Conceptual Framework- Smartphone Acceptance Model (SAM)

3.5 Summary of Chapter 3

We developed our *Smartphone Adoption Model* (SAM) based on the literature review to understand the impact of cultural factors on individual's intention to adopt new smartphones in British and Saudi context. The SAM is based on well renowned theories and models which were discussed in Chapter 2 (TAM, TRA, Sheth, Hofstede) and have been integrated to reflect the factors which may be relevant within smartphone industry. The TAM model is extended by including SN, PR, and moderators (cultural dimensions) are introduced to explore the impact of culture on behavioural intention in smartphone context. There are seven hypotheses which are proposed in our framework and the following chapter will offer a detailed discussion and a plan (methodology) to validate our model cross culturally.

Chapter 4: Methodology

4.1 Introduction

The overall aim of research methodology chapter is to devise a mechanism which acts as a bridge between our Chapter 3 and Chapter 5. By doing this, it will assist the researcher to achieve the objectives and answer the research questions. The first half of the chapter explains the research philosophy and the research design of the study. Latter half of the chapter will outline the data collection techniques, sampling, target population, ethical issues, and considerations.

The research methodology according to Bryman and Bell (2007) is a procedure or a way of gathering the data. Sekaran and Bougie (2010) defines business research as systematic, organised, data based, critical, objective scientific inquiry, or investigation into specific issue, conducting to get answers or solutions. According to Saunders et al. (2009) the research is any process by which an individual tries to study new things in a systematic way in order to enhance their knowledge. Research methodology supports the nature of evidence gathered and types of question that can be tackled (Clark, 1984). Overall, methodology is a body of knowledge that assists researcher to analyse and describe their methods for gathering information (Miller, 1983). The aim of our study is to explore the impact of culture towards innovation within smartphone industry by analysing attitudes of Saudi and British consumers aged 18-34. By achieving this, this research will support the Policy makers, Software developers, Smartphone brands and Product designers operating in the smartphone industry to establish a better understanding of the factors for adopting or resisting of new smartphone features across contrasting cultures.

4.2 Selecting an Appropriate Research Approach

According to Levin (1988) research approach is an idea or a belief about interpretation, collection, and analysis of data collected. Research approach is the second layer of the research onion and can be divided into two types; deductive and inductive (Saunders et al., 2009). According to Trochim (2006) inductive approach moves from specific to general, while deductive begins from general and ends with specific. Similarly, Creswell and Plano Clark (2007) suggest that deductive researcher works from "top down", meaning from theory to hypothesis to data, to add or contradict with theory. Moreover, deductive approach develops hypothesis or hypotheses based on pre-existing theory and then formulates research approach (Silverman, 2013). The inductive researcher takes a "bottom up" approach, meaning it starts with participant's views to form broader themes and resulting in generating theory. Similarly, Saunders et al. (2009) adds that deductive approach emphasizes on utilizing theoretical literature and identify theories which research will test using data. Contrarywise, inductive approach focuses on data collection and theory development established based on results of data analysis.

This study adopted inductive approach because the researcher begins with the topic, develop empirical generalisation and identify any relationships. This research is not testing any theories, the foundation of the research is understanding individuals from different cultures and gain a deeper understanding of their behaviour. One of the key advantages of using inductive research in the cross-cultural context is its' ability to disregard any previous trends/literature, because this method is commonly complimented with qualitative research (Flick, 2011). In addition, inductive approach allowed the research to be more flexible and to be focused more on the research context which is crucial in the cross-cultural study. Moreover, inductive approach assisted to reduce the bias in the data collection stage where interviews were conducted with the focus on specific phenomena rather than previous theory (Bryman and Bell, 2011). Additionally, this study adopts interpretivist approach instead of positivist, and the deductive approach according to Snieder and Larner, (2009) is better suited for a positivist approach because it allows formulation of hypotheses and statistical testing of expected result. Below is the Figure 4.1 which illustrates our approach.

Theory development:

Developing theory in the field of cross-cultural discipline which captures factors that affect smartphone adoption and invites other cross-cultural researchers to use in different regions and settings

Tentative hypothesis



Looking for patterns:

Data analysis using NVivo to identify emerging themes

Data collection:

Specific level of focus on social actors

Bottom-up approach

Research aim:

To explore the impact of culture on innovation

Observation:

Cross cultural difference exists

4.2.1 Underlying Philosophical assumptions

The research philosophy is the foundation of the research and the first layer of the research onion. The research philosophy can be referred as a belief of interpretation, collection and analysis of the data collected (Levin, 1998). At this stage of layer, the researcher displays the assumptions, views, and the way he/she views the world (Simpson, 2009). This perspective of the research will influence the choices the researcher makes into the data collection stages

There are five main research philosophies: **positivism**, **realism**, **postmodernism**, **pragmatism**, and **interpretivism** (Saunders et al., 2009).

Positivism supports the view that only factual knowledge gained through observation, including the measurement is credible. The role of the researcher is limited to data collection and interpretation in an objective way (Bryman and Bell, 2007). According to Crowther and Lancaster (2008) that positivist studies generally follow the route of being deductive rather inductive in nature. Positivist philosophical stance consists of working with an observable social reality to produce law-like generalisation (Saunders et al., 2012).

Realism approach supports the notion of independence of reality from human mind. This approach adopts scientific approach in terms of development of knowledge. The essence of the approach is that there is a reality independent of the mind. Realism is considered a branch of epistemology, which is similar to positivism and takes the scientific approach (Saunders et al., 2009). The realism can be divided into two types: direct realism and critical realism. The critical realism claims there are two steps of experiencing the world. First being the actual thing and the sensations, it conveys, and the second step is when the sensations meet our senses (Novikov and Novikov, 2013). The direct realism believes only in the first step and can be referred as what you see is what you get. It means that direct realism shows the world through personal human senses (Saunders et al., 2012). Postmodernism focuses on the power relations and role of language, seeking to question accepted ways of thinking and giving voice to marginalised views. According to Calas and Smircich (1997) Post-modernist actively seek to question the power relation and expose the sustain dominant realities. The overall aim according to Kilduff and Mehra (1997) of post-modernist is to challenge the established ways of knowing and thinking.

Pragmatism believes that concepts are only relevant where they support action (Keleman and Rumens, 2008). The overall aim of a pragmatist researcher is to contribute toward a practical solution to inform future practice. Pragmatist's research varies in terms of subjectivist or objectivist and may use multiple methods or types of knowledge. Pragmatists researchers realise that there is more than one way of interpreting the world and undertaking the research.

The other philosophy is interpretivism which primarily integrates human interest into a study. The interpretive researchers assumes that access to reality is through social constructions such as shared meanings, language, and instruments. The foundation of this philosophy is based on the critique of positivism (Myers, 2008). The researcher in interpretivist approach acts as a social actor and appreciates the differences between people (Saunders et al. 2012). Individual constructs are elicited through interaction between participants and researcher (Guba and Lincoln, 1994), with participants being the focal point (Creswell, 2009). Interpretive philosophy is usually grounded (inductive) and is being generated from the data, not preceding it (Cohen et al., 2007). Below is the table 4.1 which summarises the research philosophies and our choice.

	Research	Ontology (Nature	Epistemology	Axiology	Typical methods
	Philosophies	of reality or being)			
	Positivism	One true reality(universalism) Independent, external, real	Casual explanations and predictions. Scientific methods (measurable facts and numbers)	Researcher objective and distanced.	Traditionally deductive and quantitative.
	Critical Realism	External, Independent Casual mechanisms	Facts are socially constructed. Epistemological relativism	Value-laden research	Retroductive, in depth historically situated analysis of pre-existing structures and emerging agency.
	Post modernism	Rich, Complex. Socially constructed through power relations.	Truth and knowledge are decided by dominant ideologies Emphasis on silences and repressed/oppressed meanings, voices, and interpretation	Value constituted research. Researcher and research in power relations	In depth examinations of silences, anomalies, and absences. Typically, qualitative method of analysis
	Pragmatism	Rich, Complex, External. Reality consequence of ideas	Focus on problems, practices and relevance. Problem solving and informed future practice as key contribution	Value-driven research. Researcher begins with researcher's own beliefs and doubts	Focus on practical solutions and outcomes. Range of methods typically used: Mixed, multiple, action research.
Our Research Philosophy	Interpretivism	Rich, Complex and socially constructed through culture and language	Emphasis on perceptions, narratives, and stories	Researcher part of what is researched, and researcher's interpretation key to contribution	Traditionally inductive and involves small samples, in depth investigations. Use of qual methods.

Table 4.1: Summary of Research Philosophies (Saunders et al., 2009)

4.2.2 Selecting Interpretive Research Approach

For this study, an interpretivist view was suitable to explore the cultural differences towards innovation. Interpretivism emphasizes that nature of reality is socially constructed by human actors and distinctively rules out the methods of natural science (Mc Intosh, 1997; Eliaeson, 2002). According to Whitley (1984) interpretivists focus on the meaning and motives behind individual's actions such as behaviours and interaction with society and culture. Furthermore, Lin (1998) suggests that interpretivist researchers are not limited to search the casual relationship, but also ways in which it is manifested and above all the context in which things occur. Similarly, Kelliher (2005) believes that interpretivist researchers go beyond and emphasize on how it is occurred instead of what has occurred. Placing people in social context gives opportunity to a researcher to understand their perceptions they have of their own activities (Hussey and Hussey, 1997). The whole foundation of interpretivism is that research is being conducted on humans rather than objects. Interpretivism considers emotions, social behaviour and acknowledges the fact that individuals are different, and these differences needs to be taken into account (Saunders et al., 2012). This research was about understanding British and Saudi culture and view the reality through their lens. In addition, past several cultural studies have used interpretivism as the research philosophy to aid in the understanding of cultures (Briggs, 1972; Zhang, 2012). By taking interpretivist stance, the researcher was able to critically evaluate the impact of cultural backgrounds and interpret the participants' feedback through their lens. Culture is an intangible idea and comprises of values and beliefs of individuals. This research views culture as a value of an individual which gives different meanings when the context changes. This approach allowed more contextual space for individuals to convey the reality in a way that original message is not lost due to different cultural backgrounds. This permitted the researcher to unveil the hidden meanings of two different cultures and assist in interpreting individual's behaviour from UK and Saudi Arabia. However, the researcher was aware of the disadvantages which comes with the interpretivist approach. This stance of interpreting the cultures may cause bias, by imposing their own values onto the views. The researchers using an interpretive stance to understand and interpret culture need to be careful not to cause bias, by imposing their own values and beliefs on to others' views. According to Schwandt

(2003) researcher's biases were engaged in understanding, which was not an attribute that an interpreter needed to get rid of to achieve a strong understanding. Instead, these biases should be used to help examine the preconceptions and prejudices which were historically inherited and believed and alter the ones that inhibits researcher from a better understanding (Garrison, 1996). According to Aylesworth, 1991; Bernstein, 1983, understanding of a social action or text was a temporal and gradual process, which was bound to each specific occasion. As a result, the researcher emphasized more to the specific context, timing, environment, location, and people, in order to get a more holistic view of the findings.

4.3 Justifying the Use of Qualitative Research Method

This stage of research is when researcher decides on which strategy to opt for data collection. Determining which methods is suitable, it largely depends on the research questions and objectives. The strategy involves on making a decision regarding the method of data collection and analysis and must be aligned with the nature of research study (Creswell, 2009). According to Punch (2003); Saunders et al. (2012) there are three types of research methods and can be categorized into; qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method.

The literature in past have differentiated the research strategies into qualitative and quantitative research, however some of the past studies have used the mixture of both which can be referred as mixed methods.

The origins of quantitative research can be traced back from natural sciences and it is about examining the As-Is situation by identifying the characteristics of a phenomenon or exploring the correlation between more than one phenomenon (Leedy and Ormrod, 2006). The quantitative research is research which focuses on quantification in terms of data collection and analysis (Bryman and Bell, 2007). The methods are predetermined and uses closed ended questions, performance, observation, attitude, and census data. The quantitative approaches are used to test the existing theories or explanations. The quantitative theorist believes in singular reality which can be measured reliably and validly using scientific principles (Onwuegbuzie and Leech, 2005). According to Robson (2002) quantitative research is suitable when researcher is trying to measure the relationship between variables. The quantitative research is objective and normally deductive, and researcher's role is like "disinterested scientist" (Neuman, 1997). According to Patton (2002) this type of research requires standardised measures, which normally begin with cause- effect relationship, derived from existing theories (Neuman, 1997; Leedy and Ormrod, 2005). The biggest limitation to the quantitative research is lack of insight in the research and explaining "what" without providing any understanding of "how". According to Roer-Stier and Kurman (2009) quantitative research often rely on questionnaire data which provides little knowledge to the subjective experience of the participants, and it depends on the subjective interpretation of the researcher. The short comings of the quantitative research can be overcome by the qualitative research.

Qualitative research according to Creswell (2005) is a type of educational research in which researcher depends on the perspective of participants by asking broad questions and collect the data which constitutes of mainly words or texts. These words or texts are analysed later to find themes and conduct the inquiry in a subjective manner. The qualitative theorists believe in multiple constructed realities that generate different meanings for different individuals, and whose interpretations rely on the researcher's lens. (Onwuegbuzie and Leech, 2005). According to Olds et al. (2005) qualitative research is used to test and collect textual data such as interviews, focus groups, surveys, conversational analysis, and observation. Furthermore, Creswell (2003) points out that qualitative research focuses on examining an issue by obtaining views and attitudes of the interviewees. The qualitative research gives an insight on "how" and offers detailed explanation of the subjective experience. In addition, the findings are not gathered through statistical procedures or quantification (Strauss and Corbin, 1998). Instead, it revolves around according to Stauss and Corbin (1998) on the individual's experiences, emotions, behaviours, life experiences, or to organise social movements, functions, interaction between notions, and cultural phenomena. The qualitative approach offers focus on phenomena in real world context, and they examine them in all their complexity and detail (Patton 2002; Leedy and Ormrod, 2005). The key advantage of qualitative research according to Sipe and Constable (1999) is it allows a dialogue between researcher and participant, which gives a deeper understanding of the social world. In addition, according to Denzin and Lincoln (2000) qualitative research places importance on words of participants instead of number of participants which can give

better and detailed understanding in findings. However, qualitative research has been criticised and according to Bryman (2001) that it can be too subjective because it relies heavily on the researcher and can be hard to generalise, because it is impossible to know how findings can be generalised in other settings. Later in the chapter, the researcher will attempt to address the ways to overcome the shortcomings of qualitative research.

The third type is the balance and combination of both qualitative and quantitative research called mixed methods. According to Sandelowski (2006) mixed method is combination of purposeful and probability sampling, open and close ended data collection techniques and narrative and multivariable analyses in which anything can be used together. Similarly, Creswell (2003; 2005) describes mixed methods as mixture of qualitative and quantitative methods in a particular study for data collection and analysis. Researchers have stressed that purpose of the mixed method design is to obtain a comprehensive understanding of a studies model and overcome the weaknesses of quantitative approach Tashakkori et al., 2007). Additionally, Jick (1979), has supported the multi or mixed method design because it offers researcher the benefits of both. Also, according to King et al. (1994) the best research is the one which integrates features of both qualitative and quantitative research. Furthermore, Green et al. (1989) analysed various research studies and concluded that mixed methods have several advantages for a researcher. Triangulation can be achieved by convergence and corroboration of results from different methods which increases the validity of the findings. Additionally, it can offer complementarity, which means that elaboration and clarification of results from one method with the results from other to enhance the meaningfulness and interpretability. Moreover, it can assist with initiation which is described as comparison of data which may contradict from one another and offer different perspectives. Likewise, it can add depth and breadth to research by using different methods at different stages of research (Greene et al. 1989).

The nature of our research is culture, people, and their behaviour. Qualitative research is best suited to understand and analyse the complex nature of the study. The current research is under explored because it is attempting to explore the consumer behaviour of Western vs Eastern cultural group. There has been scarcity of cross-cultural frameworks when studying impact of culture towards innovation.

The qualitative research allows to use open ended question which offered researcher to gain an in depth understanding of the behaviours. The overall aim was to get richer insight of Saudi and UK consumers in terms of smartphone usage, reasons to adopt, and reasons to resist towards innovation. The quantitative research was not suitable because it lacks to offer depth knowledge to the issue and add value to the body of knowledge. The goal of our research is to uncover the 'why' and 'how' instead of 'what'. The qualitative research assisted revealing the psychological process behind their decision making and allowed the researcher to see the reality through their lens. This study explored consumer behaviour in the context of latest and complex technologies such as Voice assistants, Artificial intelligence, Digital Payments etc. These topics are complex, multi-dimensional, and required a two-way communication to evaluate the perception of Saudi and British consumers especially considering difference in languages, expressions, emotions etc. In addition, our two main concepts of the research are *Innovation* and *Culture*, and both of these concepts were established in the literature review chapter as hard to define, understand, and complex. Therefore, qualitative research method was the most suitable to explore these concepts in cross cultural setting.

4.4 Selecting an Appropriate Research Strategy

According to Remeyi et al. (2005) research strategy provides comprehensive direction of the research and identified various types of research strategies such as survey, ethnography, grounded theory, case studies, and archival research. Saunders et al. (2009) refers research strategy as the overall plan of how researcher will go about answering research questions. In addition, Bryman (2008) defines research strategy as general orientation to the conduct of the research.

The choice of research strategy according to Saunders et al. (2009) has to be based on the research objectives and questions, the amount of time, and resources available, the extent of existing knowledge on the subject area to be investigated, and philosophical stance of the researcher towards the research. According to Yin (2003b) the selection of research strategy must be based on three conditions; the extent of control an investigator has over actual behavioural events, type of research questions, and degree of focus on contemporary of historical events. Both Saunders et al. (2009) and Yin (2003) agreed that although there are different types of

research strategies which are distinctive in terms of characteristics, but there are still overlaps among them and researcher should select which is most advantageous for particular research. From the various research strategies, the current research adopts case study as the research strategy and following section will explain the case study strategy and its justification.

4.4.1 Justifying the use of Case Study Research

The current research adopts case study as the main strategy. According to Yin (2003b) case study is an empirical inquiry that examines a contemporary phenomenon within its real-life context, especially when the boundaries between context and phenomenon are not clearly evident. Moreover, Creswell (2013) explains that case study explores a real life, contemporary bounded system (a case) or multiple bounded systems (cases) over time, through a detailed, in-depth collection involving multiple sources of information and reports a case themes and case description. Verschuren (2003) defines case study as a strategy that can be termed as comprehensive in nature, following an iterative-parallel way of proceeding, looking at only few selected cases, observed in their natural context in an openended way, explicitly avoiding all variants, making use of analytical comparison of cases or sub cases, and aimed at description and explanation of complex and entangled group patterns, structures, processes, or attributes. The case study in other words allows for a holistic and intensive investigation of the chosen topic, through more effort and research time to seek detailed and in-depth information. In addition, Simons (2009) defines case study after critical review of various case study definition, as in-depth exploration from multiple perspectives of uniqueness and complexity of a particular project, institution, policy, system, or a program in real world. The current research questions aim to seek in depth understanding of complex topics such as *culture* and *innovation*, which requires rich data in each specific context, and therefore case study is the appropriate choice for the current study. The researcher aims to gather in depth understanding of how innovation is perceived across cultures within smartphone industry, and this is supported by Morris and Wood (1991) which states that case study strategy is appropriate if the researcher wishes to gain rich understanding. Moreover, Yin (2003) as explained above mentioned three conditions to decide upon a research strategy (types of questions posed, the extent of control researcher has over actual events, and degree

of focus on contemporary issues). Our research questions are exploratory in nature and involves 'How and Why''. Below are our research questions:

- 1. How different are the motivation of UK and Saudi consumers behind using smartphone?
- 2. How do cultural dimensions (Individualism, Power distance, and Uncertainty avoidance) impact the behavioural intention of smartphone usage?
- 3. How do UK and Saudi consumers perceive innovation within smartphone industry?
- 4. Why consumers in UK and Saudi Arabia upgrade to new smartphone?
- 5. How do UK and Saudi consumers resist innovation within smartphone industry?

The second condition identified is the degree of control the research has over the actual behavioural events. The research did not have control over the behaviour of consumers in cross cultural setting and there is no possibility of manipulating the behaviour when having an open-ended conversation in interview format. The third condition involves degree of focus on contemporary events, and this research is investigating contemporary issue by exploring current consumers aged 18-34 from Saudi and British culture regarding innovation within smartphone industry. The key issue with case study within interpretive paradigm is the generalizability. The findings gathered are based on interviewer's interpretation and therefore findings may not be generalised to the whole population (Walsham, 1995). However, the findings can be applied broadly, and Walsham (1995) identifies four types of generalization: generation of theory, development of concepts, drawing of specific implication, and contribution of rich insight. The findings of this research can be transferred to other cultural settings in order to understand innovation better across the world. Below is the table 4.2 which summarises different research strategies and illustrates our choice.

	Strategy	Types of research questions	Requires control over an event	Focus on contemporary events
	Experiment	Why, How	Yes	Yes
	Survey	What, Where, How much, How many	No	Yes
	Archival Analysis	What, Who, Where, How much	No	Yes/No
	History	Why, How	No	No
Our Strategy	Case Study	Why, How	Νο	Yes

 Table 4.2: Summary of Research Strategies (Adapted from Yin, 2003)

4.4.1.1 Multiple Case Study Research

Stake (2000) identified three types of case study: instrumental case study, intrinsic study, and collective case study. The intrinsic case study is undertaken when the researcher wants to better understand a particular case, which demonstrates a special problem or trait, and the case itself is of the interest to the researcher. Instrumental case study is undertaken where the researcher wants to examine one case and provide detailed insight into an issue or to re-evaluate and seek its generalisation. In this type of case study, the case is not of primarily interest, but provides contextual meaning for the issues to facilitate people's understanding. Collective case study (Multiple case study) is study of several case where the researcher examines to investigate a phenomenon, general condition, or population. According to Creswell (2007) multiple case study selects several programmes to be studies from several research sites, or alternatively multiple programmes within a single site. Stake (2000) adds further that multiple case study offers better understanding or better theorising about a larger collection of cases.

The current research has 2 different cases which varies in terms of culture and the focus of the research is to explore the similarities and differences in these cases. Verschuren (2003) further argues that single case lacks the analytical power, generalisability, and pervasiveness of the multi-cases. The research results of a single case study are difficult to compare and can be valid within one single context. On the other hand, in multi-cases the results can be compared and contrasted across cases, expand the diversity of possible results, which allows researcher to obtain a result with a wider view, which ultimately assists in analysis. Moreover, Verschuren and Dorewaard (1999) explained that multi cases allows researcher to adopt a comparative approach, which increases the diversity of research. In addition, according to Darke et al. (1998) multiple case studies allow comparison of findings and investigation of phenomenon in different settings. The current research adopts multiple case study to obtain a comprehensive picture of culture differences and to distinguish the impact of culture towards innovation. It helps the researcher build a better insight from various angles and strengthens the exploration of the cultural phenomena. Furthermore, the comparison of case studies helps researcher to provide a more reliable findings and solid theoretical contribution (Vannoni, 2014). In addition, according to Eisenhardt and Graebner, (2007) multiple case study allows wider exploring of the research questions and theoretical evaluation.

4.5 Empirical Research Methodology

Empirical research is research that makes use of verifiable evidence in order to arrive at research outcomes. This type of research relies solely on evidence obtained through observation or other data collections methods (Calfree and Chambliss, 2005). The starting point of any empirical research are the research questions which becomes the focal point when evaluating methodological choices. Our research questions guide us for our methodological choices. The research questions of our study focus on "Why" and "How" and therefore, leads the researcher to adopt qualitative methods (Interviews). The following section will discuss in detail about design, data collection, sampling, interviews, and data analysis.

4.5.1 Research design

Churchill (1979) identifies that research design provides researchers direction for analysing and collecting data for their respective study. Research design is about shaping the plan to guide the researcher for the collection of data and answering the research questions. Similarly, according to Creswell and Plan (2007) research design is the 'procedures for collecting, analysing, interpreting and reporting data in research studies. In other words, It is the overall plan for connecting the conceptual research problems with the pertinent (and achievable) empirical research.

There are three different types of routes research design can progress with according to Robson (2002): exploratory, descriptive, and causal. Descriptive research's main objective is to gather an accurate representation of happenings, situations, or people. Descriptive research is a way of determining, describing, identifying what is and attempts cast light on current issues or problems (Fox and Barat, 2007). One of the biggest issues with descriptive research is that it can become too descriptive and may result in worthless outcome. The most common primary data collection method for this type of study is observation, however case studies and surveys can also be applied in specific situations. Many studies tend to combine descriptive study with explanatory to provide valuable explanation (Saunders et al., 2012). Explanatory study is when a researcher is establishing causal relationship between variables. The focus is to analyse the situation or a problem to explain the relationship between variables (Saunders et al., 2012). Explanatory research is conducted to examine the impact of specific changes on existing processes, norms. Experiments are generally the most popular form of primary data collection in explanatory research. One of the issues with explanatory research is that coincidences might be perceived as cause and effect. In addition, conclusion is difficult to reach because there could be many other factors having an impact in social environment (Zikmund et al., 2012).

By considering the research problem and the research philosophy, this study opted for exploratory route. Exploratory study is about finding out 'what is happening'' in order to discover new insights; ask questions and analyse the phenomena in a new way (Robson, 2002). It is useful especially, if the nature of study is relatively unexplored and is flexible in the approach. The current study compares Saudi and British population in the light of innovation. According to Javindan and House (2001)

researching culture is always complex and multifaceted. The biggest challenge for cross-cultural researcher is the understanding of culture and what it relates to because there are many conceptualizations and definitions in the literature (Straub et al. 2002). The current study's topic is relatively unexplored and required a two-way communication with participants to understand the behaviour. According to Brown (2006) exploratory research is known to be suitable in tackling new problems on which little or no previous research has been done. According to Saunders et al. (2009) exploratory is valuable when asking open ended questions such as how and what. The elements of exploratory research aligned well with the nature of crosscultural study. However, there are issues with exploratory research such as information may have a bias as it is subject to interpretation, and It can be too flexible. The research was aware of that and according to Adams and Schvaneveldt (1991) that exploratory research is flexible but does not mean it is absence of direction. It starts broader and eventually becomes narrower in the focus as the research progresses. Topics like culture especially when comparing western culture with eastern culture, it is suitable to understand the research problem with the help of exploratory research rather than jumping onto the conclusions. There have been several studies which successfully used exploratory nature in their research such as study by Turan and Kara (2007), a cross national comparison between Turkish and Irish Entrepreneurs; Oumlil and Baloun (2019) assessing cross national advertising differences within Morocco, UK, USA, Spain, and France; Panova et al. (2019) exploring smartphone usage behaviour in Spain, USA, and Columbia.

Secondly, time horizon is described as required time for completion of project work. There are two types of time horizon which are identified by Saunders et al. (2009) in research onion (See appendix F) are cross sectional and the longitudinal. This study undertakes a cross sectional design for the current study as it was being conducted at a particular time of a particular situation. The study was not investigating the same situation/phenomenon repeatedly or several times and views our study as a snapshot of current situation (Saunders et al., 2009).

Furthermore, our research aims to explore the impact of culture towards innovation within smartphone industry. The study adopts Case study strategy, by focusing on British and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34. To achieve this, the researcher develops a conceptual framework **SAM**, which incorporates constructs from TAM, TRA, Sheth model and Hofstede's cultural dimensions. To best of our knowledge,

there has been very little, or no frameworks present which explores the impact of culture within smartphone industry. By developing **SAM**, it will have several implications and contributions (practical and theoretical) which will improve the overall understanding in body of literature.

As stated earlier (4.2.2) our study adopts interpretive stance, because it integrates and aligns with the nature of our research. Our research involves concepts (**Innovation and Culture**) which are complex, multifaceted, and multidimensional. This stance will help researcher see reality through the lens of social actors (Participants). Moreover, our research is inductive, and it is useful especially in the cross-cultural context, because of its' ability to disregard any previous trends/literature (Flick, 2011). Below is the figure 4.2 which illustrates our research design.



RQ1) How different are the motivation of UK and Saudi consumers behind using smartphone?

RQ2) How do cultural dimensions (Individualism, Power distance, and Uncertainty avoidance) impact the behavioural intention of smartphone usage?

RQ3) How do UK and Saudi consumers perceive innovation within smartphone industry?

RQ4) Why consumers in UK and Saudi Arabia upgrade to new smartphone?

RQ5) How do UK and Saudi consumers resist innovation within smartphone industry?

Figure 4.2: Research design (Author's own)





4.5.2 Data Collection

This study was conducted cross nationally, in two diverse countries: United Kingdom and Saudi Arabia. The sample consisted of fourteen members from each culture, making up a total of 28 members. The analysis of 28 interviews through NVivo resulted in identifying several themes and correlations for the research. The themes identified in the semi structured- in depth interviews are linked to the objectives and aims of the study. The respondents are labelled or categorised as either British (B) and Saudi Arabian as (S). Moreover, each respondent was given a number which will show the profile of the respondent. Please find below the interviewee profiles in the figure 4.3 and 4.4:

Respondent	Age	Living	Gender	Bought smartphone	Highest degree obtained	Profession
B1	34	UK	М	2018	Undergraduate	Salesperson
B2	30	UK	М	2019	Postgraduate	Self employed
B3	34	UK	М	2020	High school	Salesperson
B4	26	UK	М	2019	Postgraduate	Marketing
B5	25	UK	М	2019	Undergraduate	HR
B6	24	UK	М	2019	Undergraduate	Student
B7	24	UK	М	2019	Undergraduate	Accountant
B8	23	UK	F	2018	Undergraduate	Student
B9	20	UK	F	2020	High School	Salesperson
B10	22	UK	M	2019	Undergraduate	Salesperson
B11	33	UK	М	2020	Postgraduate	Engineer
B12	22	UK	F	2019	Pursuing undergraduate	Barista
B13	25	UK	F	2018	Undergraduate	Fashion retai management
B14	34	UK	М	2019	Undergraduate	Self employed

Demographic Characteristic and Profile of Interviewees.

Figure 4.3 Demographic characteristics and profile of British interviewees (Author's own)

Respondent	Age	Living	Gender	Bought smartphone	Highest degree obtained	Profession
51	32	Saudi	M	2020	Undergraduate	Banking
	1	Arabia				
52	33	Saudi	F	2020	Undergraduate	Teacher
		Arabia				
53	27	Saudi	F	2020	Undergraduate	Housewife
	1	Arabia				
54	34	Saudi	M	2019	Postgraduate	Hospitality
		Arabia				
55	24	Saudi	F	2019	Undergraduate	Retail
	1	Arabia				
56	25	Saudi	F	2019	Undergraduate	Teacher
	1	Arabia				
57	30	Saudi	M	2017	Undergraduate	Business
	1	Arabia				owner
58	34	Saudi	M	2020	Undergraduate	HR
		Arabia				
59	24	Saudi	M	2019	Pursuing	Student
	1	Arabia			undergraduate	
510	28	Saudi	M	2020	Postgraduate	Area
		Arabia				manager
511	31	Saudi	M	2018	Postgraduate	Marketing
		Arabia				
512	19	Saudi	M	2018	College	Student
		Arabia				
513	29	Saudi	F	2020	Undergraduate	Housewife
		Arabia				
514	27	Saudi	M	2018	Postgraduate	Sales
	1	Arabia				executive

Figure 4.4: Demographic characteristics and profile of Saudi interviewees (Author's own)

The average age of British participants was 27 and 28 for Saudi participants. The participants from both cultures were either Saudi citizens or British citizens and fell under the age group of 18-34. Our recruitment of participants ensured that all the participants have purchased a smartphone for themselves in last three years.

The interview lasted between 30-60 minutes and conducted via Skype. The participants were sent an inviting email for participation in the research. The sample email invitation is attached in Appendix L. The interviews were conducted online instead of Face to Face due to COVID-19 restrictions and as a result it did not allow the researcher to record the semi structured interviews. However, notes were taken during every interview and shared back with the participants to confirm the answers. Moreover, the researcher was also concerned with technological intervention of recording, which could have resulted in lack of participation or lack of expressiveness on certain sensitive topics in our study. Furthermore, Saudi female participants asserted reluctance towards the idea of audio recording due to

religious/cultural reasons. The researcher therefore decided against recording of interviews and keep similar data collection settings across both cultures for the consistency of data. Prior conducting interviews, the researcher sent out the informed consent form to each of the participants who expressed their interest in participating in the study which is attached in appendix K. Each of the participants interviewed signed the consent form and returned it back to the researcher. After consent received, the research contacted the subject to explain the purpose of the interview, attached the semi structured interview guide, and arrange the time of the interview to be conducted.

4.5.2.1 Sampling Techniques

Population can be referred as complete number of organizations, components, items, or individuals that participates in study (Parahoo, 2006). It is suggested by Miles and Huberman (1994) that regardless of the type of methods used in the study, researcher will inevitably face difficulties in including everyone in the study, in all places, doing all the things. This is the reason why researchers are urged and advised to sample the study and then generalize the results. Henry (1990) suggests that sampling allows feasible and practical way for researchers to implement the research projects within time and budget. Furthermore, Henry (1990) describes samples as study of small group of cases that represents the larger population. According to Saunders et al. (2012) sampling is as selecting units or slices from the whole population, due to limitations in time and money. Similarly, according to Parasuraman (2004); Singleton and Straits (2005), sampling is the choice of subset of cases of the total number of units to draw a general conclusion about whole body of units.

The sampling strategies are influenced by research questions and overall aim of the study. Statistical representativeness is not the goal of our study, but it is to have a deeper understanding of the "innovation perceptions cross culturally" which is largely unexplored.

The study conducted on Smartphone users based in UK and Saudi Arabia to get the insight about their attitudes and behaviours towards innovation. The overall sample size of semi structured interviews was 28 (14 participants from UK and 14 participants from Saudi Arabia). All interviewees were recruited via researcher's

professional networks by using purposive and snowball sampling. This sampling method helped recruit preferred participants in accordance to their ability to elucidate on phenomenon being studied (Creswell, 2007). In order to have diverse perspective within the population, individuals were recruited purposefully with different professions and gender. The sample size used criterion of data saturation to guide data collection. When no more useful information could be collected, it was considered complete and resulting interviews have reached data saturation (Morgan, 1998). Furthermore, Grady (1998) defined data saturation as when in interviews, the researcher begins to hear same comments again and again. It is time to stop collecting information and start analysing of what has been collected. In addition, study by Guest, Bruce, and Johnson (2006) studied data saturation in depth when study is using non probabilistic sampling and concluded that saturation was occurred in the first twelve interviews and basic elements for meta themes were present as early as in first six interviews. Moreover, one of the first studies which studied data saturation for qualitative study was by Morgan et al. (2002). The study concluded that first five to six interviews produced the majority of the new data and little information was gained after that. In addition, the study by Coenen et al. (2012) empirically assessed saturation by inductive and deductive approach. The study concluded that data saturation was reached after 13 interviews in inductive approach analysis.

Our study conducted interviews step by step. The first phase began with conducting semi structured interviews with one culture. After 14 British semi structured interviews, the data saturation was reached, and no new information was adding value to the research aims. The second phase was then to complete Saudi semi structured interviews. After 12 interviews, data saturation was reached, however in order to keep consistency and similar research setting, researcher conducted additional two interviews.

Nonprobability was used since there was no frame or list for smartphone users in the system. The description of the population is below:

• Aged 18-34 years old. According to Nielsen (2016) smartphone owners by age, penetration is highest aged 18-24, 98% of whom own smartphones and second highest is aged 25-34, 97%. In the UK, as of 2018, 95 percent of

people aged 16 to 34 years_owned a smartphone. The smartphone penetration is highest between two age groups: 16-24, and 25- 34. Below is the figure 4.5 which illustrates the smartphone users by age in UK. In addition, according to Deloitte (2019) adoption remains strongest with 18-24 and 25-34-year-olds, among whom mobile ownership is almost universal: 93% and 94% adoption. Not only does adoption vary by age, but it also varies by usage. The younger age band (18-34) grew up with smartphones as their main device, while older groups would have used laptops (35-44 band) or desktops (45+ band) when these first became widely available. That familiarity continues to guide preferences, with the older groups tending to use desktops and laptops rather than smartphones for online services such as online banking or mobile commerce. The goal of this study was to focus on the age group which have used smartphones predominantly in their life as primary device which then will help understand the adoption and resistance better for the new emerging technologies.



Figure 4.5: Smartphone users by age in UK (Statista, 2019)

- Local citizens. British participant based in the UK and Saudi participants based in Saudi Arabia. This rationale behind this was to get the true reflection of the cross-cultural factors affecting their perceptions.
- Participant who has upgraded or bought a smartphone in last 3 years. According to Kantar Worldpanel (2016) that majority of countries around the world upgrade their phones before 36 months. Additionally, the UK data suggested that British consumers upgraded their phone after 29 months (Arthur and Butler, 2017). The data for Saudi Arabia upgrade to new phone is not known. According to Statista (2017) the average smartphone was replaced after 28.1 month in 2016 across the world. By doing this, it assisted the researcher to gather latest decision-making process and insight on the innovation by participants from both cultures.

According to Gratton and Jones (2004); Ary et al. (2006), there are two types of sampling designs; probability and non-probability. Probability sampling is when every individual in the population has equal chance of being randomly selected to produce a sample that is statistically representative of the population. On the other hand, in non-probability sampling techniques the selection of individuals from population is not random and established by researcher (Greener, 2008). Probability sampling is commonly applied in quantitative studies, while qualitative studies rely on non-probability sampling (Anderson, 2009).

Purposive sampling and snowball sampling was used to recruit and interview the participants. According to Patton (2002) purposive sampling is a technique which is commonly used in qualitative research for identification and selection of information in order the effectiveness of limited resources. This technique involves identifying and selecting individuals that are knowledgeable or experience about the phenomenon (Creswell and Plano Clark, 2011). The reason behind choosing purposeful, because the goal of the research was to gain understanding of Saudi and UK participants regarding innovation in smartphone. The goal of the research is not statistical generalising, and our study have a relatively small population, therefore purposive sampling is suitable for our study.

Secondly, snowball sampling was used where already participants which have been interviewed through purposive sampling assisted in providing others who match the

above criteria. According to Brewerton and Milward (2001) snowball sampling is a technique that utilizes few cases to help encourage other cases to take part in the study, resulting in increasing the sample size. Snowball sampling was particularly useful in Saudi Arabia where personal connections play vital part. In addition, snowball sampling did only assist in finding the target sample, but also communicate better with samples as the acquaintances of the first sample has already gone through the process. This was in line with the previous research by Polit and Beck (2006) which also concluded that snowball sampling helps in communication with the participants of the study. Same sampling methods were applied for both cultures to eradicate any flaws and biasness on the research.

4.5.2.2 Semi structured Interviews

According to Kahn and Cannell (1957) Interviews are a purposeful discussion between two or more people and a credible way for gathering data. The origins of interviews can be traced back from psychiatry and psychology and is widely used methods in qualitative research (Bryman, 2006). Easterby-Smith et al. (2002) interviews are popular among researchers and respondents because they allow a two-way communication which is face to face and provide in-depth and holistic insight about the research topic. According to Bryman (2012) Interviews are categorised by the level of formality, ranging from structured interviews to unstructured interviews. Structured interviews are rigid and uses identical set of questions which are predetermined for all the respondents. Structured interviews are quite similar to questionnaires and used to collect mainly quantitative data from participants. On the contrary, unstructured interviews are like informal discussion and do not have a format or a standardised question. They usually have broad topics and interviewers may change the questions depending on the conversation with the participants (Healy and Rawlision, 1994).

The semi structured interviews are in between structured and unstructured interviews. According to Flick (2002) semi- structured interviews involves a series of open-ended question around the topic area, covered by interview outline and responses are left open. Bryman (2004) indicated that interview guide for semi-structure interviews is more relaxed than structured interview guide. The guide in semi structured interview is used as a brief list of memory prompts of topics and

issues which needs to be addressed. This method gives opportunity to discuss topics in detail and opportunities for respondents to raise issues that are important to them. Semi structured interviews have pre-determined question; however, it allows flexibility for any new ideas to emerge during discussion and sequence of the questions may vary depending on the flow of conversation (Greener, 2008).

This research used semi- structured interviews for this study based on the overall aim and objectives of the research. Interviews have been considered as best way for understanding complex topics such as culture (Miles and Huberman, 1994). The main reason behind is the balance between structure and flexibility which is crucial in cross cultural studies. The researcher was able to navigate the interviews and conversations were focused on the topics, but also gave opportunity to participants to express ideas even if it is not part of the interview guide. According to Berg (2007) semi structured interviews gives researcher to prepare an interview guide, while gives interviewees a leeway in how to reply. The current study was exploratory and interpretive in nature, therefore the semi structured interview provided opportunity to probe answers where researcher wanted interviewees to explain or build on their responses. Understanding of multi-layered and complex topics of our study such as: "artificial intelligence" and "perception regarding big tech corporations" were only possible through the flexible nature of semi structured interviews.

The limitation of interview is mainly the amount of time it requires a researcher for conducting interviews, transcribing them, and analysing interviews (Bailey, 2008). In addition, since it requires a vast amount of time, the researcher can only conduct interviews with relatively small sample of respondents. Moreover, interviews are susceptible to response bias, meaning the interviewees may view certain response to be more desirable than their actual views, or it can be influenced by interviewer's opinion (Healey and Rawlinson, 1994).

Overall, the flexibility and two-way communication nature of semi structured interviews offered better discussion on the complex issues layer by layer and helped deep dive into the psychological process behind every answer. Additionally, semi structured interviews are not rigid and adaptable which helped in grasping the information from two opposing cultures, who have different way of expressing and choice of words.

4.5.2.3 Semi structured interview guide

Based on the literature review and the research questions in previous chapters, the interview guide (See appendix G, Interview guide in English and Appendix J, Interview guide in Arabic translation) comprised of four sections including motivation behind using smartphone, cross cultural analysis towards innovation, purchase intention decision making process, and cross-cultural resistance towards resistance. The interview questions used simple and direct language to extract the information easily from participants. In addition, interviews were conducted in relaxed and comfortable manner and efforts were made to build rapport making it easier for participants to open and express their views. At the end of the interviews, participants were given the transcribing notes and offered them opportunity to add/subtract anything which was not interpreted correctly by the researcher.

The interview guide was originally written in English and therefore was essential to translate into Arabic for the consumers in Saudi Arabia and is attached in appendix J. According to Blaschko and Burlingame (2002) three step protocol was applied in order to achieve the best possible Arabic version of the interview. The interview guide was initially translated into Arabic by using online credible service. Secondly, the translated Arabic version of the interview guide was translated back into English to check any discrepancies. The final step is to cross check the validity and accuracy of translation. A professional researcher fluent in both Arabic and English compared and assessed the original English and the re-translated version. Some revision and amendments were made after the review to keep both guides as simple as possible.

4.5.2.4 Transcription

The literature on transcription provides several views and explanations of the concept. There is a common theme with transcription that it is theoretical in nature (Ochs, 1999). Transcription is representational process (Bucholtz, 2000) and encompasses of several things; what is represented in transcripts things such as (nonverbal action, talk, time, speaker/hearer relationship, multiple languages, translation, physical orientation); who is representing whom, in which way, for what purpose, and with what outcome; and how the analyst position themselves, and their interviewers in their representation (Green et al., 1997). Translation entails translation or transformation of image/sound from recording to text (Slembrouck, 2007; Duranti, 2007). The transcription process is selective where one part of the
talk or phenomena are transcribed. This selectivity of transcription is actually practical and theoretical solution, because it is impossible to record all features of the talk. According to Ochs (1979) selective transcription is more useful than non-selective one because extra information might be cause issues for researchers to extract relevant information

Several scholars have stressed the importance on researcher doing their own transcriptions (Lapidat and Lindsey, 1999; Wengraf, 2001; Tiley, 2003). It is according to Strauss and Corbin (19990) to build additional theoretical sensitivity during research process. This can also be referred as researcher- transcriber, where researcher opts to transcribe his/her own data and gives opportunity to listen data more carefully and think about the interview using sensory and other memory (Park and Zenah, 2005). During transcribing, it is easier and better for researcher to reflect on the data and add their thoughts, reactions, feelings, and analytical assumptions. Recalling interviews several times during transcription provides researcher of memories and thoughts that will aid in giving the true representation of the feelings of the participant (Wengraf, 2001.) The researcher transcribing their own data also give opportunity to revisit those pauses, words, tones, and silences which the hired transcriber might not be aware of (Wengraf, 2001; Park and Zenah, 2005).

The researcher went through transcription of interviews several times and recalled to the detailed conversation with notes present. This helped the researcher to not miss out on any important words/meanings and therefore ensure accuracy of the individual's emotions. Palmero (2009) interrogated the transcription work for qualitative research and concluded that researcher transcribing his/her own work allows researcher to know the data better and as a result helps greatly in analysis process and themes. In addition, Tile and Powick (2002) have evaluated the use of hired transcribers in relation to the accuracy of transcripts and their analysis. This study is one of the few studies which provides empirical accounts of transcription and concluded that there are several issues when researcher hired a transcriber such as lack of direction given by researcher to hired transcriber, transcriber's alteration of words or omission when transcribing and above all the ethical matters related to confidentiality of the data when handing over to a hired transcriber. For the reasons stated above and better analysis, researcher opted to transcribe the data on its own instead of hiring a transcriber. During every interview, notes were taken with

181

the consent of the participants and after completion of the interview, those notes were put into the transcription and sent to the participants to cross check. This process was repeated after every interview. The researcher only conducted and moved to another interview, once the notes and transcriptions of the previous interview was completed and cross checked by the interviewee for the accuracy of the data. This exercise produced approximately 20,000 words of rich data from 28 participants (British and Saudi). Below is the figure 4.6 showing the five-step approach taken by researcher for transcription:



Figure 4.6: 5 step approach (Author's own)

4.5.3 Data analysis

Qualitive research has been adopted by many scholars due to the fact it provides indepth and rich information which quantitative data struggles with. Qualitative research allows to explore experiences, behaviours, attitudes, perceptions, and the overall thinking process of individuals or groups. This means the data collected will be rich in text, comprising of large number of words, interactions, gestures etc (Pope and May, 1996; May and Pope, 2000). Due to the large number of words, text, and in-depth information, it is crucial that the data is analysed appropriately in order to grasp the true nature of thoughts and experiences of participants (Tashakkori and Teddlie ,2006). Data analysis in qualitative research is more than just a technical exercise, and it involves creative process of inductive reasoning, intuitiveness, thinking, theorising (Basit, 2003). Bogdan (1982) refers data analysis in qualitative research as the systematic process of searching and arranging transcripts, interviews, observation notes, or any non-textual materials that the research views, that it is important to increase the understanding of the phenomenon. According to Saunders et al. (2012) there is no single and standardized way for analysing qualitative data. There are several techniques which can be used to examine and report patterns within text (Braun and Clarke, 2006). According to Riessman (2005) there are four types of method for analysing textual narratives for qualitative data: Thematic analysis, Structural analysis, Interactional analysis, and Performative analysis.

Table 4.3 below explain different types of narrative analysis and our choice of analysis for the study. (Riessman, 2005)

	Discourse/ Structural Analysis	 Focuses on a way the story is told. Emphasizes on language, frequency of words, their structures, and relationships.
	Performative Analysis	• Envisions dialogues as a performance which is addressing audience through gestures and language. They focus on "doing" rather than "telling"
	Interactional Analysis	• Focus is on the dialogical process between listener and teller. Takes into account pauses, interruptions, change of topic and other aspects of conversations
Data analysis of our research	Thematic analysis	• The focal point is on the content of the text, what is said over how it is said. Identifies themes of meaning.

Table 4.3: Narrative Analysis (Riessman, 2005)

4.5.3.1 Thematic analysis

The researcher opted for thematic analysis considering the nature and overall aim of the research. Ritchie and Spencer (1994) identified that thematic analysis involves both intuitive and logical thinking which aids the researcher to interpret the meanings, find key issues, and link ideas. According to Attride- Sterling (2001) thematic analysis stages are described as reduction or breakdown of the text, exploration of the text, and the integration of text. According to Ryan and Bernard (2000) thematic stages are discovering themes and subthemes, winnowing themes into manageable (refining of themes), and developing hierarchies of code books or themes, and linking these themes back to theoretical models.

To interpret the data from the current research and find emerging themes between respondents, thematic analysis was better suited.

28 transcriptions (14 Saudi and 14 British Interview data) of the research were transferred into NVivo software. According to Basit (2003); Walsh (2003), NVivo allows researchers flexibility to view data, linking them, comparing patterns within and across documents. NVivo allowed transcriptions to be categorised according to the interview guide, which was structured by concepts and topics that directly links to research questions and overall aim. Themes are generated in two ways generally; inductively which are derived from raw text/data and deductively which are based on previous research/theories (Boyatzis, 1998; Fereday and Muir- Cochrane, 2006). In the current research data, themes have been coded in two tier stages. In the start, primary themes were developed which were based on previous researcher/theories. These themes acted as guide tool for the researcher who sought other different and similar issues across transcriptions. During the process, some of the primary codes were found to be not relevant or adding value to the overall research and were replaced by the new themes which emerged during analysis. By doing this, the complete list of themes were developed and all transcriptions were thoroughly classified and categorised based on those developed themes. The reason for opting NVivo software is it allows researcher to explore and identify themes easily because it can perform the manual tasks seamlessly, leaving researcher more time on focusing on the data. In addition, NVivo is ideal because it is immensely systematic, flexible, easier to use for the researchers (Wong, 2008), and improves the accuracy of the qualitative studies (Bezeley, 2007). In addition, NVivo's key strength is its' compatibility, and is not limited to one specific research designs. There have been several different kinds of studies which have successfully used NVivo for analysis; Qualitative Study by Donmozoun et al (2014), Cross sectional study by Gilmore et al. (2014), comparative study by Adongo et al. (2014), cross cultural study by Fox

184

(2010), study of smartphone usage by British and Chinese students Yang et al. (2018). After managing the data into themes from NVivo, it was transferred into an excel sheet where it helped to illustrate the results graphically into charts and cross validate the analysis.

4.6 Data triangulation

According to Simons (2010) triangulation is means of cross-checking the significance and relevance of issues or testing out arguments and perspectives from different angles. In addition, triangulation helps reduce minimise systematic bias and provide cross validity checks (Patton, 1999).

Denzin (1978) and Patton (1999) explained there are four types of triangulations:

- **Data triangulation** (obtaining data from different sources or at different times or under different space)
- Investigator triangulation (using several researchers in study)
- **Theory triangulation** (encourages several theoretical schemes to enable interpretation of phenomenon)
- **Methodological triangulation** (involves use of several data collections methods)

For our research, space triangulation fits well with the cross-cultural nature of the study. Cohen and Manon (1978) explain triangulation as an attempt to understand more fully, the complexity and richness of human behaviour by studying it from more than one standpoint. Our research involves studying the same phenomenon, but in different "space" such as London and Riyadh. The idea was to "explore *impact of culture towards innovation within smartphone industry*". Studying the same phenomena (Smartphone Innovation) in different settings/space to reach divergence or convergence in findings. Below is the figure 4.7 which illustrates Space triangulation.



Figure 4.7: Space Triangulation (Author's own)

In addition, to evaluate the empirical research, Yin (2009) suggests that there are four aspects which should be maximized (construct validity, external validity, internal validity, and reliability). Yin (2009) proposed three (3) principles of data collection to deal with the problems of establishing the construct validity and reliability of the case study evidence, which are multiple sources of evidence; create a case study database; and maintain a chain of evidence. Below is the table 4.4 showing our reliability and validity measures.

Tests	Descriptions	Our study
Construct validity	Establishing correct operational measures (Yin, 2003)	Multiple sources of data by conducting Semi structured interviews from UK and Saudi participants on the same phenomenon.
Internal validity	Internal validity seeks to demonstrate that the explanation of a particular event, set of data or issue which a piece of research provides can actually be sustained by the data. (Cohen, Manion and Morrison, 2007)	Clear hypotheses were established with diagram to explain the relationship between different variables. Hypothesis derived from established theories and several theories were considered when establishing hypothesis.
External validity	External validity refers to which the results can be generalized to the wider population, situations, or	Multiple case study adopted with a clear rationale of sampling and case selection.

	cases. (Cohen, Manion and Morrison, 2007)	
Reliability	Demonstrating that operations of study can be repeated with same result (Yin, 2003)	Careful documentation and clarification of the research procedures and developing of case study protocol.
		Case study data base included field notes, transcripts, and semi structured interview guides.

Table 4.4: Reliability and validity in our study (Adapted from Yin, 2003)

4.7 Case Study Protocol: An Operational Action Plan

A case study protocol is normally a document or a record that comprises of the procedures, methods, and rules that will be followed in using instruments of data collection. The case study protocol is used to improve the overall reliability of case study results (Rahim and Baksh, 2003). According to Yin (1994) a case study protocol outlines: (a) **the case study overview**, (b) **fieldwork research procedures** (c) **questions addressed by the research** (for example, *exploring the factors affecting adoption of smartphones in UK and Saudi Arabia*), and (d) **the research output format.** Below is the table 4.5 which illustrates a snapshot to case study protocol, and which later is explained in detail in following sections.

Section	Overview
Case study overview (research aim and research questions)	 "To explore the impact of the culture towards innovation within smartphone industry in UK and Saudi Arabia" How different are the motivation of UK and Saudi consumers behind using smartphone? How do cultural dimensions (Individualism, Power distance, and Uncertainty avoidance) impact the behavioural intention of smartphone usage? How do UK and Saudi consumers perceive innovation within smartphone industry? Why consumers in UK and Saudi Arabia upgrade to new smartphone? How do UK and Saudi consumers resist innovation within smartphone industry?
Field work research procedures	Participant selection criteria: • Aged 18-34 • UK cand Saudi Citizens only.
	• Bought Smartphone within last 3 years Invitation email and consent forms sent out to the participants (Please see Appendix K and L)
Research instrument	 Qualitative Method adopted (28 semi structured interviews) Interview guide attached Appendix G
Data analysis	Thematic analysis using NVivo
Design	 Multiple case study (Research Strategy) Qualitative Method adopted
Case selection	 UK and Saudi Arabian consumer aged 18-34 (14 participants UK and 14 Saudi)
Data collection	Semi Structured interview

Table 4.5: Case study protocol

4.7.1 Case study overview

The case study overview typically involves overview of the research project which includes aims, research questions, and the importance of the study. The case study overview should provide sufficient information to anyone who may be interested in the research (Yin, 2009). This case study investigated British case and Saudi case regarding innovation within smartphone industry. The case study overview helps the researcher in narrowing down the focus and emphasize on the key elements of the issue. Below is the figure 4.8 which illustrates the overview of our case study.



Figure 4.8: Case study overview (Author's own)

The aim of the case study: "To explore the impact of culture towards innovation within smartphone industry"

Importance of our case study:

- This case study provides an opportunity to develop an integrative model that combines both technology acceptance theories and cultural theory and test it at consumer level. As established earlier in introductory chapter, there is dearth of studies which explores innovation at the consumer level in crosscultural setting within smartphone industry. This results in lack of crosscultural framework currently in body of literature which examines the factors influencing the adoption of latest smartphones.
- 2. Our conceptual framework integrates (**SAM**) integrates Hofstede's cultural dimensions with the technology acceptance model. By doing this, the researcher is testing the relevancy of Hofstede's dimension in this modern age. The research by Mc Coy, Galletta, and King (2005) questions the relevance of Hofstede's work by suggesting that shifts may have occurred over last 30 years in context of cultural values.
- 3. By addressing the above gaps, our research will assist the following: *Policy makers, Smartphone brands, Product Designers, and Software developers* with a better understanding on how the latest innovations emerging in the industry such as **Artificial intelligence**, **Digital Wallets, M-shopping** are being perceived in Western vs Eastern region.

Research questions:

- How different are the motivation of UK and Saudi consumers behind using smartphone?
- How do cultural dimensions (Individualism, Power distance, and Uncertainty avoidance) impact the behavioural intention of smartphone usage?

- How do UK and Saudi consumers perceive innovation within smartphone industry?
- Why consumers in UK and Saudi Arabia upgrade to new smartphone?
- How do UK and Saudi consumers resist innovation within smartphone industry?

4.7.2 Fieldwork Research Procedures

Field research procedures are guidelines as to how the case study will be conducted. This section normally includes areas such as how subjects will be accessed (Ethical issues), the schedule, any practical issues etc (Yin, 2009).

The fieldwork research procedures are below:

- Selecting appropriate countries for case study and setting a defined criteria on who should be interviewed. The researcher set a strict criterion and applied across both cultures. The participants who fell under the following criteria were able to participate in our study:
 - 1. Aged 18-34
 - 2. Bought smartphone in last 3 years
 - 3. British and Saudi citizens only (Living in their respective country; for example, in order to qualify for the participation in the study, participants must be residing in their home country)

The same list of questions (Semi- structured interview guide, Appendix G) were asked to British and Saudi respondents to keep the consistency. By using Semistructured interview, it allowed the researcher to fully explore, and deep dive into the psychological mind set of respondents from British and Saudi respondents. This data gathering method allowed researcher to also accommodate the differences in communication style by British and Saudi consumers.

- Respondents were asked to participate in the current research by email invite. The email is attached in Appendix L which explicitly stated the following:
 - 1. Introduction to the researcher and university
 - 2. Purpose of our research
 - 3. Method of data collection

- 4. Selection criteria
- 5. Data confidentiality
- 6. Voluntary participation

According to Christians (2005) there are four main items in codes of ethics: informed consent, deception, privacy and confidentiality and accuracy. The participants who took part in the research were ensured their anonymity and confidentiality. Every participating participant signed a consent from (details in appendix K) which listed matters related to confidentiality and how the data will be used. The information provided by the participants was used only for the current research and the details of the participants will not be revealed to any other person except the researcher, either in dissertation or in any subsequent publications. The researcher therefore replaced names of participants by pseudonyms (Baez, 2002; Kaiser, 2009) and identified using letters and numbers (see figure 4.3 and 4.4). Interviews were only arranged if participant was voluntarily willing and consent. Participants were assured that there would be no adverse effect if they refuse to participate or withdraw from the study (Crow et al., 2006). Respondents were informed about the aims and nature of the study both verbally and in writing. Respondents were given an opportunity and right to not answer a question. After finishing every semi- structured interview, the researcher summarised the data and cross checked with the respondents to make sure that their views and meanings are conveyed accurately (see figure 4.6- Author's own five-step transcription approach). This exercise of cross checking assisted in avoiding misinterpretation of the data and it was crucial because of the cross-cultural nature of study and language issues (Arabic and English). The researcher informed every participant before starting interview that they might need to repeat or clarify on occasions where the researcher feels the need of it for improved understanding. Moreover, researcher also informed the participants that there might be delays in between questions because of notetaking during the interview. The researcher always kept sufficient resources such as large note pads, pens, and markers to highlight key issues in order to grasp every important word, pauses, feelings of the respondents. The interviews were one on one via online (Skype), however some of the Saudi Female respondents asked their partner (Husband) to accompany them during the interview. This was because, some of the Saudi female respondents felt more comfortable and willing to take part in the research when accompanied by their

husband. The researcher made sure that every effort is made to enhance the level of comfort, because this led to a pro longed discussions and helped really understand the multi-layered, complex issues such as *Artificial intelligence*, *Innovation*, *Cultural Impact* etc.

4.7.3 Issues addressed by the Research

The research questions are a focal point of any study and therefore needs be addressed. This section of case study highlights the issues that the researcher intends to address and answer to make theoretical and practical contribution. Our research intends to make practical contribution on a wide scale, industry level (smartphone) which will be useful to Smartphone manufacturers, Software developers, Product designers, Policy makers, and make theoretical contribution in the following areas: Development of Cross-cultural framework for smartphone adoption (SAM), Innovation literature, Testing the relevance of Hofstede's cultural dimension in this modern age and exploring Saudi Arabian culture which is under researched in body of literature in context of technology acceptance.

Below is the table 4.6 which shows in detail the issues addressed by research. The researcher extracted sub questions from the research question to show the number of key issues addressed by our case study.

Research issues	Research questions	Sub questions
Motivation behind using smartphone by British and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34. In order to explore the smartphone behaviour and usage, it is crucial to understand their motives first.	 (Rq1) How different are the motivation of UK and Saudi consumers behind using smartphone? 	 What is the average screen time per day of UK and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34? How dependent UK and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34 are on their device and why? How has smartphone affected daily life of UK and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34? What are the most popular apps according to UK and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34 and Why? Where do UK and users spend their time while using smartphone?
Factors influencing the adoption of latest smartphones. Focusing on reasons to adopt.	 (Rq2) How do cultural dimensions (Individualism, Power distance, and Uncertainty avoidance) impact the behavioural intention of smartphone usage. 	How different is the perception of UK and Saudi consumers towards the latest smartphone features such as Voice Assistants, Digital Payments, M- shopping? What are the factors which contribute towards adoption of new smartphone features? How do UK and Saudi smartphone users view large screen smartphones? Which culture pays more attention to functional benefit of the product and why?
Attitudes towards innovation by British and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34	 (Rq3) How do UK and Saudi consumers perceive innovation within smartphone industry? 	How different is the perspective of UK and Saudi consumers regarding the level of innovation they experienced within smartphone industry in last 5 years? What do British and Saudi smartphone users think of big smartphone companies such as Apple, Samsung launching phone every year? How different UK and Saudi users view the word "innovation" and what do they associate this word with?
Factors influencing the upgrade of smartphones	 (Rq4) Why consumers in UK and Saudi Arabia 	Which factors affect UK and Saudi the most when purchasing new smartphone and why?

	upgrade to new	How important is branding, pricing, and features to
	smartphone?	British and Saudi smartphone users and why?
		How important is the following: online
		recommendation, friends/family advice when making
		decision towards new smartphone?
Factors contributing towards resistance of latest smartphones. Focus is on reasons not to adopt and rejection.	 (Rq5) How do UK and Saudi consumers resist innovation within smartphone industry? 	Which factors contribute the most regarding rejecting new smartphone features? What are the views of UK and Saudi smartphone users regarding ease of use? How different is the perception of "risk" and " privacy" when it comes to innovation and why? What is the attitude of UK and Saudi smartphone users towards early adoption in smartphone users?

Table 4.6: Research issues (Author's own)

4.7.4 The Research Output Format

According to Yin (2003) reporting case studies are one of the most challenging aspects of case studies and researcher should give utmost priority of identifying the audience for which the case study is directed to. There are some key elements addressed by Yin (2003) that should be covered in this section: Targeting case study reports and Illustrative structures for case study compositions.

The starting point is identifying the audience for the case study. Generally, case studies are believed to have a wider audience than for example 'experiment'.

By reviewing our study, it can be concluded that there are several target audiences for the study. The researchers have categorised the audience into three types: Primary audience, Secondary audience, Tertiary audience. The table 4.7 below identifies the different types of audience for our case study and implications to it.

Audience type	Who	Implications to audience
Primary audience	 Research community especially in cross cultural discipline, innovation, technology acceptance etc. Academic colleagues Research committees 	 The relevance of our case study to primary audience is in following areas: Fulfilling the gap by developing of cross-cultural framework (SAM) for smartphone adoption Innovation literature (Developing a new innovation definition in the context of smartphone) Testing the relevance of Hofstede's work in modern age
Secondary audience	 Smartphone manufacturers (Apple, Samsung, Huawei, Google etc.) Software developers Product designers Policy makers International managers 	 The relevance of our case study to secondary audience is in following areas: Our case study depicts the current usage, attitudes, and perceptions of users aged 18-34 regarding emerging technology within smartphone industry Our case study reports the reasons to adopt and examines the factors inhibiting the adoption towards new features in smartphone industry and showing which factors are relevant in western vs eastern region.

Tertiary audience	Policy makers operating in emerging tech	The relevance of our case study to
	Industries which share some common	tertiary audience is in following areas:
	characteristics with smartphone industry	• Our case study reports the
	such as:	Our case study reports the
		attitudes of consumers
	• Smart speaker industry (Alexa,	regarding Artificial intelligence
	Google assistants etc).	and Machine learning
	Virtual reality and Augmented	technologies.
	reality industry (Oculus)	• Our case study reports on the
	• Smart watches (Fitbit)	current perception of
	• Electric vehicles (Tesla)	innovation from consumers
	Other Artificial intelligence	aged 18-34. It shows what
	related products.	factors are still the most
		relevant for adoption.
		• Our case study reports the
		consumer's mindset in relation
		to the risks/ resistance towards
		innovation. The other related
		industries can learn from this
		and apply to their industry for
		increasing the adoption.

Table 4.7: Target audience for our Case study

Secondly, another crucial part in case study report output format according to Yin (2003) are the illustrative structures for case study compositions. There are six structures most commonly used (Linear analytic, comparative, Chronological, Theory Building, Suspense, Unsequenced). Our purpose of case study is exploratory and after reviewing the six structures, linear analytical structure best fit our study. This structure usually begins with the issues or problem, followed by relevant literature. Then the structure proceeds with the methods used, and then there is a chapter presented for findings and discussion (Yin, 2003). This structure is most commonly used in the research community for academic reporting of case studies. However, some changes are made to the current the structure to fit the context of our study and audience. Below is the table 4.8 which illustrates six structures of composition and our choice.

	Type of structures	Explanatory	Descriptive	Exploratory
Our choice	Linear -analytical	X	X	X
	Comparative	Х	Х	X
	Chronological	Х	Х	X
	Theory building	Х		Х
	Suspense	X		
	Unsequenced		Х	

Table 4.8: Six structures of composition (Yin, 2003)

Furthermore, the quality of case study does not only depend on the empirical data collection, but also on its reporting (Denzin and Lincoln, 1998). It is important for a case study to clearly show the phenomena under investigation and be presented in easy-to-read format.

The case study involves consumers aged 18-34 from UK and Saudi Arabia. Selecting UK and Saudi Arabia as case study involves three reasons:

Our research focal point is "culture and its' impact towards innovation". It
was logical to select cases which are culturally distinctive. This was also
validated by Hofstede's national dimensions which illustrates differences in
Saudi and UK cultural dimensions. Below is the table 4.9 showing Hofstede's
dimensions of Saudi and UK.

Dimensions	UK	Saudi Arabia
Individualism	89	25
Power Distance	35	95
Uncertainty avoidance	35	80

Table 4.9: Hofstede's cultural dimensions – UK and Saudi Arabia

- Secondly, the literature indicates that UK smartphone penetration is one of the highest in Europe (Statista, 2021), while Saudi smartphone penetration is one of highest in Middle east (Deloitte, 2019). These regions therefore become a viable and appropriate option due to nature of our study which involves "smartphone industry".
- **Geographical considerations**: UK and Saudi regions were conveniently accessible to the researcher.

Case	Description	Population Criteria	Respondents
1. British case	Involves exploring the factors affecting the adoption of latest smartphones in a real-life context (London based)	 Aged 18-34 UK citizens only Bought Smartphone within last 3 years 	14 Participants
2. Saudi case	Involves exploring the factors affecting the adoption of latest smartphones in a real-life context (Riyadh based)	 Aged 18-34 Saudi citizens only Bought Smartphone within last 3 years 	14 participants

Below is the table 4.10 which shows details of our case study.

 Table 4.10: Case study Description (Author's own)

4.8 Summary methodology

The research adopted interpretivist approach in the study which emphasizes on the individual differences. The interpretivist approach focuses on people, not on objects and see the reality through lens of social actors (Saunders et al., 2009). The research was about analysing consumer behaviour from different culture, which assisted the inherit nature of interpretivism; focus on feelings and behaviours of individuals.

The research approach adopted inductive rather deductive because the research was commencing with the problem, and it is not testing any theory. The Saudi and British consumer behaviour towards innovation is not known, therefore it initiated with the topic and recognise any relationships/theories.

The purpose of the study was exploratory because there is a scarcity in cross cultural studies when it comes to product innovation. The understanding of Saudi and British customers required adaptability and flexibility due to cultural differences and unexpected nature of the study.

To achieve the objectives of the study, the research used qualitative method for gathering information. The qualitative research helped rich understanding of the issue complex issues concerning with product innovation in opposing cultures. The qualitative data helped research on exploring the "why" rather than "what". The Saudi and British perception towards complex issues were understood via two-way communication. This two-way communication allowed researcher to incorporate nonverbal communication such as expressions, pauses, tones, feelings into the data interpretation for rich understanding. The researcher used nonprobability sampling (Purposeful and Snowball) to recruit participants. The criteria for selection of participants for the study were (*Smartphone users aged 18- 34, Purchased smartphone in last 3 years, and Saudi and British citizen only*).

Chapter 5: Research Findings

5.1 Introduction

The presentation of research findings and analysis will be structured aligning to the objectives in the introductory chapter. This chapter will aim to answer objectives and overall aim of this paper, which was identified earlier in the introductory chapter.

5.2 Screen time of British and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34

The respondents were asked to share the screen time from their smartphone which illustrated the duration of time spent per day. The data was gathered from features on their smartphone such as **Screen time** (iOS) and **Digital Wellbeing** (Android OS). This data revealed reports of British and Saudi smartphone users on how much and where they spend time (Entertainment, Social media, Productivity, etc.) when using smartphone. A significant trend was observed when analysing the screen time of both Saudi and UK smartphone users. The table 5.1 illustrates the time spent per day on smartphone by British and Saudi respondents aged 18-34. The figure 5.1 graphically represents the average time spent by British and Saudi respondents on their smartphone.

Smartphone	British	Smartphone	Saudi
Screen time	Respondent	Screen time	Respondent
(minutes		(minutes	
per day)		per day)	
240	B1	420	S1
330	B2	600	S2
420	B3	300	S3
360	B4	360	S4
390	B5	600	S5
240	B6	660	S6
340	B7	720	S7
360	B8	210	S8
420	B9	510	S9
250	B10	360	S10
388	B11	460	S11
391	B12	560	S12
255	B13	360	S13
210	B14	444	S14

Table 5.1: Screen time (Minutes per day)



Figure 5.1: Average smartphone screen time minutes per day

There was a common theme between British and Saudi respondents regarding their high dependency on their smartphones. British users on average spent 5 hours and 28 minutes per day (328 minutes per day), while Saudi respondents spent 7 hours and 48 minutes per day (468 minutes per day). This means every day on average; Saudi users are spending an extra 2 hours and 18 minutes (2.3 hours) per day on their screen of smartphone than British respondents.

The largest screen time data from UK respondent was 7 hours and lowest was 3 hours and 30 minutes. On the contrary, highest screen time from Saudi data was 12 hours, and lowest was 3 hours and 30 minutes.

5.3 Motivation behind using smartphone by British and Saudi smartphone users

Based on the user's screen time reports and semi structured interviews, 7 themes were created on where users spend their time when using smartphone. Below is the table 5.2 which is showing the name of the apps and the respective categories they fall under.

Apps Category	Name of apps
Communication	WhatsApp, I message, Facetime,
	Teams, Texting messengers, Skype,
	Imo etc.
Entertainment	YouTube, Netflix, Spotify, Apple Music,
	Podcast, Gaming apps, Apple Tv+ etc.
Social Media	Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, Snapchat
	etc.
Productivity and finance	Financial trading apps, Notes, Online
	Banking apps etc.
Information and Reading	News apps, Weather, Academic
	learning apps etc.
Navigation/Travel	Google maps, Waze, Maps, Uber,
	Careem etc.
Shopping/ Ecommerce	Amazon, Souq, Namshi, Noon etc.
Table 5.2: Apps Categories	

British and Saudi respondents were asked to list 3 most used apps. In total, 42 apps were noted down per culture.

- 33% of the apps listed by UK respondents were from communication category, while 29% of the apps were from Entertainment category, and 26% of the apps were from social media category. Below is the Figure 37 to illustrate the motivation of British smartphone users behind using smartphones
- 38% of 42 apps were from Social media category, followed by 36% of the communication category, and 17% of the entertainment category.

The figure 5.2 and figure 5.3 graphically illustrates the motivation of British and Saudi smartphone users behind using smartphones.



Figure 5.2: Motivation behind using smartphone by British users



Figure 5.3: Motivation behind using smartphone by Saudi users

The main reason behind using smartphone by British users emerged to be Communication, Entertainment, and Social media. Below are the statements from British and Saudi participants regarding motivation behind using smartphones. The letter 'B' stands for British respondent and 'S' stands for Saudi respondent. The numbers have been aligned to each participant.

Respondent B4

"I generally use for catching up with my friends. I spent time exchanging memes and talk about things happening around the world with my friends. If I want to use it for something more serious like academic reasons or work, then I will use laptop".

Respondent B7

"I watch lots of shows on YouTube related with technology news for my knowledge, some gaming reviews and talking with my Friends".

Respondent B9

"The purpose is fun and leisure. I do not think, I do much productive on smartphone. It is a way to move away from stress of real life".

Respondent B13

"My smartphone has become my new Tv, when I am travelling, I got my headphone on and end up watching show on it or listen something. I cannot remember the last time I watched Tv".

Respondent B14

"The biggest use is communication with people from both work and non-work. I do also play games sometimes on my smartphone when I cannot sleep".

Saudi respondents showed similar trends, however Social media was the most popular category, followed by Communication, and then Entertainment.

Respondent S2

"I use 25% for work and then rest 75 % is leisure. My activity on smartphone increases at night-time. I primarily use for social media".

200

Respondent S4

"I can easily speak to my suppliers and customer throughout the day. I create business relationships and send receipts to my suppliers by using WhatsApp always. In addition, I use it for keeping in touch with my Family".

Respondent S9

"Smartphone's main purpose for me personally is keeping an eye on what is going on around the world and with friends/family".

Respondent S13

"To stay in touch with people I know and pass time".

Respondent S14

"Navigation is most useful feature because my work requires me to go to areas which I have not been before. Riyadh is such a huge city, and I till this day, have not fully explored the city. The second purpose is staying in touch with my social circle".

5.4 Most used apps by Saudi and British smartphone users

- 71% of the British respondents listed WhatsApp as one of the most used apps on their smart phone. The second most used app used was YouTube with 36% people listing as most used app. The third most used app was Facebook, with 28% of the people listing it as most used app on their smartphone. The other apps which were popular among British respondents were Gmail 21%, Instagram 21%, and Netflix 14%. Below is the figure 5.4 which illustrates the most apps used by British respondents.
- 79% of the Saudi respondents listed WhatsApp as one of the most used apps. The second most used app was Facebook, with 43% listing as most used app. The third most used apps were shared between Instagram and YouTube with 29%. The other apps which were popular were Snapchat 21% and Twitter 21% among Saudi respondents. Below is the figure 5.5 which illustrates the most apps used by Saudi respondents.



Figure 5.4: Most used apps by British respondents



Figure 5.5: Most used apps by Saudi respondents

5.5 Most important electronical device according to British and Saudi consumers

Interesting themes emerged while exploring the perception towards importance of smartphone and it showed the increasing penetration of smartphones in both cultures for users aged 18-34. There were similar trends regarding being the most important device, however opposing views were collated regarding second most important device. 86% of the British respondents, and 93% of Saudi respondents listed smartphone as the most important electronical device. British and Saudi users concluded that smartphones are the most important device due to following 2 major reasons:

- Convenience
- Performing multiple tasks

Respondent B4

"Smartphone is such an incredible thing. It has everything. I remember before it was used to be Laptop where I was used to be excited to spend more time, but now due to ease of access of internet and smartphones being so advanced, I prefer using smartphones".

Respondent B6

"I do spend time on gaming consoles, but if I must pick one, it has to be smartphones, because you can do several things. With gaming you can just play games, while with smartphone you can play, listen to music, chat etc".

Respondent B12

"I live away from my family, so smartphone is important because I can always keep in touch with them. We have created WhatsApp groups where we share jokes/memes with each other throughout the day. Staying in touch was never as easy as it is today, with one click".

Similarly, 93% of the Saudi respondents listed smartphones as the most important electronical device which they use on daily basis.

Respondent S1

"All my life is linked to this small device now. Working from home now makes smartphone even more important and helps connect with work and leisure easily".

Respondent S3

"Smartphone is most important because you carry all the time in your hands, which makes it portable".

Respondent S13

"Smartphone is important because these days communication is very essential. I use my smartphone to keep in touch with my family and other relatives. No other device offers ease like smartphone". On the other hand, 14% of the British respondents and 7% of Saudi respondents did not viewed smartphones as the most important device.

Respondent B10

" I spend a lot of time on personal computer because I work on it and play online gaming a lot. I got myself a new gaming monitor which is equipped with high resolution screen which makes it harder for me to get used to smartphone screens now".

Respondent B14

" Due to nature of my work, Laptop is all I use 24/7. I prefer large screens in general and not a fan of small screens. Maybe it is down to my eyesight, but I feel more comfortable using laptop. Smartphones, I only use it for calls or text".

Respondent S8

"I spend about 8 hours daily on desktop, while 3 hours 30 minutes on Smartphone. Desktop is most important device currently because being working professional, I cannot waste time on smartphone which will affect my deadlines or career".

The second most important device was laptop among British users (43%) followed by Desktop/PC (29%). The leading reason behind using Laptop were to perform tasks related to:

Academic and Work

Respondent B3

"The second most used device will be laptop because of the zoom calls I need to attend for work".

Respondent B9

"For university work, I have to use Laptop which I bought recently especially when I have to create PowerPoint presentation".

On the other side, the second most important device was Desktop/PC among Saudi users with (36 %), followed by Laptop (21%).

The leading reason behind PC/desktop computers was

• Efficiency towards completion of tasks.

Respondent S4

"All of our offices have desktop setups and they have given us work laptops as well. I still prefer desktops and in fact miss them because working from home now requires using laptops, but it is not the same".

Respondent S11

"I still think PC/Desktops are way quicker than any other device when it comes to perform tough tasks. With laptops when I work on it, I found them not as efficient as desktops. Working on PC psychologically has a better impact on me than when I do on Laptop. Just my opinion".

In addition, the second most popular device among Saudi Females were Television.

Respondent S2

"Television plays a major role in our family because we are binge watching shows on Netflix every night. I watch one episode daily with my husband on our 65-inch television".

Respondent S3

"Although I watch videos on smartphone but there are somethings which smartphone cannot replace is like a movie night with family on a tv".

Respondent S6

"Television is always on in the background and feels empty when its off".

5.6 Mobile shopping adoption by British and Saudi smartphone users

UK users are significantly ahead when it comes to M-shopping, 79% of the British respondents admitted purchasing something over their smartphone at least once a month. The m-shopping among Saudi users were relatively lower, only 50% users have bought something over last month using their smartphone. Below is the figure 5.6 illustrating varied level of adoption between Saudi and British smartphone users aged 18-34.



Figure 5.6: M-shopping adoption by British and Saudi respondents

There were two main reasons emerged on why UK users use smartphone for shopping online:

- Convenience
- Quick delivery

Respondent B1

"I do shop online using smartphone every month, obviously it depends on how quickly I need an item. If it is not that urgent, then I might use my computer for online shopping or even go to store".

Respondent B2

"I use smartphone once a week at least to buy something. I prefer using smartphone over laptop because it is handy. Turning on the laptop and wait for it to start up takes time. You can do the whole lot with smartphone; everything is in palm of my hand".

Respondent B13

"Going to store and they do not have in stock is frustrating. At least over online, it is usually in stock or if not, I can check on the app. Also, I like the delivery times. You order in night, and they come tomorrow. That is unbelievable".

Some of the UK users also mentioned that they use smartphone as

- Price comparison tool
- Window browsing tool

Respondent B8

"I mainly use to compare prices. There have been instances when for example, I wanted to buy a shaver from one of the stores, before making purchase, I checked on the website to see if it was cheaper anywhere else and it was".

Respondent B10

"Regularly, every week I shop online using smartphone. When you go instore there is no stock. I could never imagine myself buying grocery online, but now I do. I also enjoy sometimes just window shopping on my phone to see what is out there and read reviews below".

Some users (Respondent B4 and B7) expressed that they shop using smartphone for things which are relatively lower in price but prefer using Laptop/Desktop for high price or high importance item.

Respondent B4

"I do shop online using smartphone once a week. Places like Amazon, or other online retailers makes it easier. The time I will use laptop is when I plan to book

something important like flying tickets or hotel bookings. For daily normal buys, using smartphone is more efficient"

Respondent B7

"If I am buying a luxury item, I will use my Pc to complete the transaction. It will have less chance of me making a mistake or ordering a wrong item. If I am ordering a protein shake, kettle, then I will use my smartphone".

21 % of the UK users admitted that they spend more than they should when shopping over their smartphone.

Respondent B6

"I often shop online every 2 weeks via smartphone because I do not like to go all the way to stores and especially due to current restrictions it even a bigger reason to shop online. However, I do realise I spend more now when shopping online than instore. I do not know why it is like this. There are so many instances where this has happened to me".

Respondent B9

"Yeah, it is so much easier, just a click really and I can also shop when I want to and not bound by store hours. This is great, but then I purchase things which I do not need".

Respondent B12

"So many times, I do not need an item but when I am browsing while sitting on my couch, I end up ordering stuff. I probably need to discipline myself from that".

The main reasons behind low adoption of M-shopping behind Saudi users were:

- Poor experiences
- Lack of confidence towards online payments system
- Lack of touch feel factor

Respondent S1

"I am not the biggest supporter of e commerce. I had horrible experiences in past such as late delivery or product not as shown on the web. I am a bit old school especially when it comes to clothing. I would like to see the fit first clothing and then buy it. These days brand 'A' will have different fit as compared to brand 'B' which makes it harder. In food also, I tried ordering online and food delivered was cold. Overall, people are lazy, but I like the idea of going out on shopping".

Respondent S2

"I downloaded an app recently which was offering great discount for my mobile covers but still did not place order. One of the reasons is delivery takes too much time and I am not sure of the quality they are showing on the web. I have lack of trust over online shopping. I prefer to go instore. I also feel hesitant for putting my card details to online apps or websites".

Respondent S3

"I browse online a lot and have apps installed on my smartphone which are for ecommerce, but never managed to make a purchase. The reason why because I cannot check the quality of the product and also sometimes worry that it might be a scam when putting down the bank details. The only time I use is for price check".

Respondent S10

"I still do not shop online regardless. I always have the feeling if something goes wrong if you buy from the store, you can always go there and speak to the manager. Online it all seems invisible".

Respondent S12

"I avoid shopping online because I feel empty if I buy something without checking".

50 % of the Saudi respondents aged 18-34 used M-shopping at least once a month. The prime reason emerged to be:

- Price
- Convenience

Respondent S7

"I shop a lot. It is effortless and easy. Saves time. I hardly visit shopping malls. I use cash on delivery method over credit card".

Respondent S8

"Yes, I use Souq website (Amazon) frequently. It is quick and has some great offers when used with online coupons".

Respondent S11

"I shop everything online. From clothes to electrical items, I have been using it more than ever and getting some good deals recently. I use smartphone for shopping at least once a week to order various items such as watches, laptop covers etc. I am normally logged in on smartphone and the process becomes quicker".

Moreover, even the Saudi users who adopted M-shopping, some of them still preferred to choose

• Cash on delivery payment method over online payment when ordering online.

Respondent S14

"Yes, I do use smartphone for m-shopping. I find electronics 300-500 Saudi riyal cheaper online as compared to stores with same warranty. I prefer pay cash on delivery over putting card details".
5.7 Attitude towards social media by Saudi and British smartphone users

86 % of the British and 93% of the Saudi smartphone users use social media apps on their smartphone. The interesting themes emerged when discussing if the users post photos/videos on social media. About one-third (33%) of the UK users who use social media do not post photos/videos, while a significant 62% of the Saudi users who use social media do not post photos/video. The reasoning behind not posting were found different across both cultures. The leading reasons behind not posting photos/videos according to Saudi respondents varied based on gender. The leading reasons were:

- Religious/Cultural (Saudi female respondent reason)
- **Privacy** (Saudi male respondents)

Respondent S2, 23, S5, S13 do not post on social media due to religious/cultural reason.

Respondent S2

"I prefer to remain low profile online and use it silently. Facebook and Instagram take most of my time in social media context, but I still avoid posting anything on due to religious reasons".

Respondent S4

"I prefer to keep an eye on what is going around with the world and friends. I do not feel comfortable sharing my life stories on the web".

Respondent S13

"I do not like to show pictures of our family on social media due to religious reasons".

On the other side, a third (33%) of the users in UK who do not post videos/photos due to three main reasons:

- Privacy
- Waste of time
- Mental health

Respondent B3'

"I work 9-5 and my nature of work requires a lot of focus and efficiency. I do not want to be distracted by unnecessary notifications and comments which will waste my time or affect me".

Respondent B6

"I like to stay away from posting on social media apps and sometimes it can be awkward if no one likes the picture/post I post. Some of my friends they have thousands and thousands of followers. There have been times when I was used to post something and keep on checking my phone to see if anyone liked or commented it. It was affecting me and have stopped posting altogether".

Respondent B7

"Not anymore, I remember when I started using social media, I was on it like every day posting things. Now I still use it, but do not post anymore. Privacy is one of the major reasons to not share personal stuff".

Respondent B14

"I do not post stuff online – if for example I went to a vacation and I want to share my family photos with my relative or friends, I will send to them directly through WhatsApp instead of posting them on my social media. No one knows what happens to our pictures when they go online".

5.8 Attachment towards smartphone according to British and Saudi smartphone users

Respondents were asked to discuss their thoughts on how important smartphone is to them and they were presented up with three follow up questions:

- Do you use smartphone while walking?
- Do you check your smartphone while watching television?
- Do you use smartphone while at bed before going to sleep at night?

The findings show the intensity of attachment towards smartphones across both cultures aged 18-34. The "smartphone zombie culture" is more prevalent among British users as compared to Saudi users.93% of the British and 64% of the Saudi users admitted that they use smartphones while walking. The main reason emerged were across both were:

- Texting to reply work related messages/emails
- Staying connected with friends/family

Respondent B3

"Using smartphone while walking is purely because I am always on the go and have to respond to work's' emails and friends' messages straight away. From train station to my home, there is a 10 minutes' walk, I catchup with all the messages during that too".

Respondent B4

"I do use smartphone while walking, I suppose this is what multitasking looks like. It also shows I am always available everywhere all the time".

Respondent B7

"Using smartphone while walking is often because It is usually some silly text or a notification which entices me to respond".

Respondent S10

"Some customers need constant support, and it is vital for me to respond them quickly. Majority of calls I take is when I am walking somewhere".

"Yes, I do use smartphone while walking, in fact everywhere even in gym, shopping malls etc".

Some of the Saudi smartphone users (36%) were not using smartphone while walking due to:

- Social reasons
- Family reasons.

Respondent S2

"I strictly avoid using smartphone while walking because I am afraid of snatching of my new phone. To overcome this, I recently bought apple watch so that I can look at important messages and respond them while I am walking without the need of taking my phone out".

Respondent S3

"Never use smartphone while walking now because of the kids. I have to be cautious and keep an eye on them when out".

Secondly, there was similarity in behaviour when it comes to using smartphone while watching television – 100 % of both British smartphone users (excluding Respondent B13 because does not watch television) and 100% of Saudi smartphone users use smartphone while watching television. The impressions given from both cultures were similar and considered as a "normal practice", however some pointed out drawbacks to this activity.

Respondent B12

"I think my concentration level has decreased when I am watching something on Tv. I feel the urge to check and hold my smartphone even when I am watching an incredible film which is not nice".

"When watching television, there have been so many instances where I had to rewind the film to understand because I missed while being engaged in smartphone. It is mainly texting or notification which distracts".

79% of respondent aged 18-34 in UK use smartphone while at bed before going to sleep. The main reasons behind were:

- Trouble sleeping patterns
- Boredom.

Respondent B5

"Yes, I use smartphone while on bed before sleep. In fact, I mainly use my phone while I am at bed which is bad. On several occasions, I end up falling asleep while using it."

Respondent B8

"The main reason behind this multitasking comes from when I can't sleep on bed or when I am watching something on Tv that is not interesting enough".

Respondent B11

"It feels like a routine now to have a "smartphone session" before going to bed. Trying to sleep without checking notifications keeps me awake, therefore I end up using it for 30 minutes and then sleep".

86% of the Saudi users admitted using smartphone while on bed before going to sleep. The leading reasons were:

- Boredom.
- During night they have spare time (Female respondents)

"Yes, I use smartphone every night before going to sleep while on bed, it serves a purpose of lullaby for me on bed over 80 -90 minutes".

Respondent S2

"I use smartphone at night because that is the most peaceful time in my home due to kids being asleep and I can browse without distractions".

Respondent S11

"Yes, I use smartphone before going sleep at night because you cannot do much when everyone is asleep. You are never alone if you have smartphone regardless of time".

Respondent S13

"Using smartphone at night is best time because that is my "me time" otherwise during the day it is chaos because of kids/husband".

5.9 Overusing and Dependency on smartphones

Respondents were asked to express their views on the level of dependency towards their smartphone and the idea of overusing smartphone. There is a clear theme which emerged that smartphones are playing a key role across the cultures, whether it is a Western country or an Eastern country. The overwhelming majority of British and Saudi smartphone users believed that they are dependent on their smartphones.

Respondent B7

"My hands hurt sometimes which shows that my body is telling me to stop using smartphone. Using less smartphone now feels harder than going to gym. I do plan for new year's resolution to reduce my smartphone usage".

"Yes, I am dependent. Now the first thing when I wake up is check my notification even before brushing my teeth".

Respondent B9

"I like to think I am not dependent, but that would be a lie. I use this to get away from stress. If I am busy doing something, I will not even think of checking my smartphone, but If I am doing absolutely nothing then smartphone will be the first thing, I will put my hands on".

Respondent S1

"I am connected to my work and family through smartphone. I hold my smartphone more than my kids and dumbbells".

Respondent S2

"Smartphone is like my 4th child. I do not think I am overusing, because hours spent is required for personal and work reasons".

Respondent S3

"I am totally dependent on smartphone because being housewife, this is one of the top sources for entertainment and connecting with family/friends. I cannot imagine life without it".

Although, both cultures viewed they are dependent on smartphone, but two third of British users (64%) also believed that they are overusing their smartphone.

"Yes, I am overusing my smartphone. This mainly happens when I am trying to get distracted from something. I do end up playing some random games on my smartphone".

(44%) of the UK respondents who believe they are overusing their smartphones blamed social media behind increased screen time.

Respondent B3

"Yes, I am dependent to my smartphone and that is mainly down to work and keep in touch with family and friends. I sometimes spend more then I should on social network but only when I am bored".

Respondent B4

"Yes, I am absolutely spending too much time on smartphone, particularly on Instagram. I remember before, I was used to be more active and involved in outdoor activities. I am planning to change this, but I am not too hopeful if I can".

Respondent B12

"We are using more smartphone because we have created the social bubble where we live our lives on daily basis. I am sure if the world is forced to go back to previous days, the world will still survive."

2 of the British respondents have already cut down the screen time of their smartphone.

Respondent B13

" I do not like the feeling that I feel thirsty of checking notification. I have reduced my usage by turning notifications off".

On the contrary, only 29% of Saudi respondents believed that they are overusing their smartphone. Majority of the respondents (71%) justified their screen time and considered as a "**necessity**" in today's world.

Respondent S1

"My average usage is divided into work and leisure. Browsing memes during work and compilation videos is negative but It is a necessity to relax from work. I see people talk about we use a lot but then there is always resistance about new technology. I am fine with it. I do not think I am overusing smartphone".

Respondent S4

"Without smartphone it is difficult to live because it is crucial for work and communication. Now, online banking, insurances, and other important things are easily accessible on our phones which makes it even more essential. It is my requirement. I use it productively".

Respondent S10

"I understand why people would think that we might be overusing the device. I think we need to understand, the need of smartphone is only going to increase and there is nothing much we can do about it. I was amazed and surprised last time at airport when I went away to Turkey, I did not need to print boarding pass, but just show the screen shot on my phone".

Respondent S11

"I am not overusing my smartphone, if there was an alternative way or device which can assist in so many things then I will say yes, otherwise no".

Saudi users who viewed that they were overusing their device were primarily concerned with the impact smartphone have on:

- Eyesight
- Social Fabric (Family)

"Looking to reduce screen time because of eyesight issues it may cause in future. I worry specially for kids/ cousins who are spending so much time at this young age".

Respondent S6

"It feels like a part of family now the smartphone. I do miss old times where our family members on dinner table were more engaging, as opposed to being busy over their phones all the time including me".

Respondent S9

"I love pretty much everything what smartphone bring to table; however, I do see we are busier taking selfies when out with family/friends than actually having fun. This is not smartphone's fault; it is us who are misusing the device and letting it take over our original behaviour".

5.10 Psychological mind map of British and Saudi consumers towards the word "innovation"

Respondents were asked to express the first thing comes to the mind when they hear the word "**innovation**". This part of the findings revealed the psychological snapshot of the word innovation in the minds of British and Saudi consumers.

The figure 5.7, 5.8 are the "**Word Query**" which illustrates the words used by British and Saudi users when expressing their thoughts on innovation. The "**Word Query**" is created using NVivo software, where transcripts of the answers are imported and visualized in a word map manner on the basis of most frequently appeared word.

technology marketing scifi sell changing moon world machinery apple better latest intelligence something ideas tesla new building robots cars space electric invention future seen interesting artificial living trying robotic futuristic revolution someone transformers transformers revolution someone

Figure 5.7: Psychological Mind Map of British consumer towards the word "innovation" (NVivo)

scientists expansion shorter research technology process labs technology process advanced cars 5g better time dialup smartphone cutting wifi american electric new industry original martphones innovation development western progressive bioBlessive

Figure 5.8: Psychological Mind Map of Saudi consumers towards the word "innovation" (NVivo)

The findings revealed that innovation in general is viewed positively across both cultures, however the understanding and the expression are different on how they are perceived psychologically.

British respondents aged 18-34 associated innovation dominantly to:

- Artificial intelligence
- Robots
- Machines

Respondent B7

"I visualize a life with touch screen and voice commands when I think about innovation. "Artificial intelligence" and "Future" comes to my mind".

Respondent B12

"I link innovation with Robots/Automation. It reminds me of transformers movie, where robots will take over the humans".

On the contrary, Saudi respondents aged 18-34 associated innovation heavily with:

- Smartphone
- Computers
- Wi-Fi

Respondent S1

"Smartphones is all I can think with the word innovation. The best example will be 5G currently, because there have been huge billboards of 5g all over the Riyadh city. The moment you say innovation, it also reminds me of technology, tool, or a device which basically cuts down original process into shorter time. I also think of computers when someone says innovation. When I was growing up computers were the next big thing".

Respondent S6

"Smartphones. I do not think there is any industry who has a product and marketing every other day. You are forced to believe and relate innovation with smartphones nowadays". There were some exclusive words and expressions which were used by Saudi respondents such as:

- 5G
- Western/ American
- Modern.

Respondent S7

"5G. I have been told by several colleagues/friends that life will change with the inclusion of 5G in the world. It has been a hot topic here".

Respondent S9

"Progress. Modern. American. These words pop into my mind".

Respondent S13

"Advanced". "Western". There is a perception that new technologies are from international countries. So naturally you think of that when you hear innovation or advancement".

Respondents from both cultures were similar in associating the word innovation with:

- Technology
- New.

Respondent B2

"New and interesting. The reason why because I love technology and I tend to keep an eye on trends in technology. There is a strong relationship between innovation and technology".

Respondent S14

"Better technology for easy life. The goal of innovation really is to explore new ways to help us in our daily lives".

Another interesting aspect was found that some of the perception towards innovation were similar, yet the way respondents expressed were different.

Both cultures expressed that when they hear the word innovation, they think of electric vehicles or smartphones. The way British respondents described them were by naming a brand which makes electric vehicles or smartphones such as Apple or Tesla, while Saudi respondent did not mention the brands, but they directly mentioned the word Smartphones or Electric cars.

Respondent B8

"I think of Apple. They always communicate to the audience by using this word. There messaging is powerful and makes me relate innovation with this brand".

Respondent B11

"A new invention is what I link innovation with. I hear the word "innovation" generally when I see corporations trying to sell their technology such as Apple or a Tesla".

Respondent S3

"Anything related with Smartphone is what I associate innovation with. One of the reasons is that I have seen a visible change in our family behaviour on how we communicate now and how it was like before. Smartphone is being used every second at our house even in kitchen, bedroom, kids' room etc. The impact it has on our family is unbelievable".

Respondent S8

"Electric cars and smartphones are often I associate innovation with. Electric cars are going to be massive in Saudi because we love cars here. Likewise, smartphones are also only going to get better, and we will continuously be using them".

5.11 Saud and British smartphone users' feelings towards new smartphones.

Respondents were asked to express their emotions when they see new smartphones. There were six themes emerged from the discussion from Saudi and British respondents. There are 6 reaction categories which were expressed by both cultures:

- Marketing/Money making
- Devaluation of current smartphones
- Happy and Excited
- Curious
- Confused
- No reaction/Neutral emotion

There was no British respondent who mentioned about devaluation of current smartphone in context of launching of new smartphones. On the contrary, 2 of the 14 Saudi respondents viewed launching of new smartphones negative because of the impact it has on the value of their smartphone.

Respondent S3

"The reaction will be to some degree sad because I recently bought my new smartphone and that will mean it will devalue the value of my current smartphone".

Respondent S7

"I get angry because it makes me want to throw my old/obsolete device which has lost its' resell value. I am not happy with frequent release of new models".

21% of the Saudi respondents and 14 % of the British respondents view when they see new smartphones, as a marketing or money-making activity for businesses in smartphone industry.

"I feel annoyed. The reason being from experience, businesses are now using this for making more money. If you look at smartphones, there is not much difference between a smartphone in 2015 as compared to smartphone launched in 2020".

Respondent B11

"If you look at the pricing it is going up year by year. I see new product launches for smartphones as a way of making money. They entice you with the things which you do not need".

Respondent S6

"It is marketing, selling the same thing in the new packaging".

Respondent S12

"There are so many now, the new does not sound new anymore. They release new products for their profits".

42 % of the British respondents and 29% of the Saudi respondents expressed positive emotions (Happy, Excited) towards launching of new smartphones.

Respondent B7

"I am excited when I see new smartphones. I am always looking to get upgrade and replace my phone".

Respondent B9

"I am happy, there is always a buzz when you see new gadgets/devices launch".

Respondent S4

"I like to play around with new phones, it is great".

Respondent S8

"I feel happy because it is an advancement and progress in tech. New tech empowers society". 36% of the Saudi respondents and 14 % of the British respondents expressed curiosity/intriguing emotions towards launching of new smartphones.

Respondent B5

"I am a curious person overall and yes I do get curious when I see something new in smartphones".

Respondent S1

"Everyday there is new smartphone. I will not react until or unless I see something which is different. It will not make me excited but more curious".

Respondent S2

"I will investigate further – for example I was checking new apple watch 6 and Se series – I search more to find the difference and concluded there was not a major difference. I saved myself few hundred riyals and bought Se. It depends on the technology and features".

Respondent S12

"It will depend on the brand who launches it. If it is from the brand which I prefer, then I will have my attention".

21% of British respondents expressed neutral emotions towards when they hear about launching of new smartphones.

Respondent B3

"I do not get any feeling or excitement; I only get a felling as how the company who developed the product is going to have impact on the market. I focus on how these companies going to innovate and help make the world better place".

Respondent B14

"I get enthusiastic normally, but enthusiasm levels are not the same because lack of exciting ideas in smartphone recently".

1 British respondent expressed emotion of confusion towards launching of new smartphones.

Respondent B12

"I get confused sometimes because there are so many. The market is saturated".

5.12 Voice Assistant adoption by British and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34

Respondents were asked to discuss their opinion and experience about voice assistant feature in their smartphone. About 57% of the British and 36% of the Saudi users aged 18- 34 use voice assistant at least once a week. The reasoning behind using and the perception towards voice learning applications varies across cultures.

The leading reason behind UK users using voice assistant were:

- 38% of the users use it to respond to texts or phone calls while driving
- 38% of the users use it to play music
- A quarter use it to check weather
- 13% use it for to request jokes/riddles.

Respondent B2

"I think voice assistants are useful, especially when you are driving. The searching is easier, and navigation of apps are better through voice over typing when driving".

Respondent B5

"I use these features while driving. It is useful asking Bixby to call someone while driving".

Respondent B6

"I do listen to music using Siri, I think that is convenient and useful feature. It is a decent feature, sometimes it needs to understand the dictation clearly".

"I request voice assistant lots of silly things like play a classic song. I have not used it for something serious, but just for leisure. I always loved the idea of smart house. I would like to control things through my voice like open windows, change thermostat. That looks cool".

Respondent B9

"I often ask my Siri, or my smart speak at home to play music for me. When I am working on my laptop, fully focused and realise I need a music in background, that is where I just ask Hey Siri or to check if it is going to rain".

Respondent B11

"For driving this is super useful. I am always out and before it was extremely hard to respond or attend calls while driving".

Respondent B13

"When my nephews see me do this, he laughs and enjoys the robotic voice of voice assistants. I request jokes and riddles".

Some of the UK users (43%) aged 18-34 did not use voice assistant in their smartphone. The leading reason behind was:

'Gap between expectation vs actual by consumers.

Respondent B1

"When these features came out, I was extremely excited but now I have realised it does not offer advantage over traditional methods such as typing. It now looks as "Gimmicky" it does not do what it is supposed, you must repeat several times for voice assistant to understand what I am saying. This makes me frustrated, and I end up typing".

"I do not use Siri much; I find it pointless because it was supposed to be quicker than typing. I do not think asking Siri of nearby coffee shops is any quicker than typing on google".

On the other side, about two-third (64%) of the Saudi users did not use voice assistants on their smartphone. The leasing reasons behind were:

- Perceived value and perceived performance are low towards this technology
- Viewed this technology for a certain segment (Older generation)

Respondent S1

"Artificial intelligence has lots of benefits. I am not against using. People especially who have disability, is doing wonders for them. For me and my personal lifestyle, I do not like this lazy way of doing things. I do not mind typing. I think we are not there yet. Voice assistant is luxury but not a need. Having a fast car 250 mph is a good but would you be driving on a road every day".

Respondent S2

"I tried using it, it is a waste of time. In my opinion, voice assistant is aimed towards older generation".

Respondent S3

"Typing is more convenient, and it does not understand all the accents".

Respondent S8

"It does not add much value. It is cool technology, but not for my lifestyle, maybe in future".

"It does not work for me. I like the traditional way. I think this technology is for older people".

5.13 Digital payment adoption by British and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34

Respondents were asked to share their thoughts regarding Digital payments and how useful they find it. The findings revealed the different adoption level of digital payment methods such as Apple Pay, Samsung Pay, Google Pay etc. The reason behind adoption of digital payments and the whole psychological thinking varied across culture.

About Two-thirds (64%) of British and 42% of the Saudi users aged 18-34 use at least once a month digital payment method such as Apple Pay, Samsung Pay, or Google pay.

The main reasons behind UK users adopting digital payment methods were:

- Backup method for payment
- Covid-19

Respondent B5

" I use Samsung pay quite frequently. I remember once I had problem with my bank card, but I was still able to make a purchase because I had Samsung pay".

Respondent B7

"I use it for emergency reasons as a backup. It is a fantastic feature. Imagine on a night out, you lose your wallet".

Respondent B9

"I use it more now than ever because I do not carry cash due to corona virus. Even retailers are encouraging it to pay contactless which is nice".

"I enjoy this feature, especially when you do not need to carry cash and heavy coins. I still use contactless cards more than Samsung pay. Nowadays, I am avoiding cash handling due to Covid-19 situation. I use it every week at least".

The 36% of UK users aged 18-34 did not use digital payment methods because:

• Low perceived benefit for digital payment method over existing method.

Respondent B1

"I do not use this feature because I always have a wallet, I do not see a point. Why do I need a digital payment method when there is already a fully functioning system of bank cards".

Respondent B10

"I prefer using card over cash overall, however I tried paying from phone wallet mode but now stopped it. They need to improve the accuracy of it. I used it in a café, and I had to tap 2-3 times to make it work".

On the other hand, Saudi respondents had evidently a different view towards digital payment methods.

42% of the Saudi respondents had positive views about digital payments and main reasons were:

- Convenience
- Tracking the payments

Respondent S2

"Yes, absolutely I use it a lot. I hated the fact before I have to open my huge bag and find my purse with kids around at pay point. Now it is just a click away. Also, gives all the summary of transaction, easy to track the date/time/place of the money spend".

"I use it every day. It is a great innovation. Quick and easy".

Respondent S9

"Useful and great addition. I wear gloves now when I am out due to pandemic, and I was used to struggle taking my wallet and take out my bank card. With this one touch, it is convenient".

Respondent S11

"The best thing happened in smartphone. It does what it says. Before, I was used to spend money in cash and always double count on where all money went".

The other 58% were reluctant to adopt digital payment. The leading reason were:

- Low perceived benefit
- Old habits

Respondent S1

"Three important things which I never forget: wallet, smartphone, and keys. I do not need technology to make it complicated".

Respondent S7

"I do not use it because it is pointless, and I am not used to it"

Respondent S10

"I been carrying wallets since 16. I do not feel the need at the moment. Habits take time to change".

5.14 Perception of risk attached to innovation in smartphone

The findings revealed a clear disparity between the type and level of concerns between UK and Saudi users. 71% of the UK users aged 18-34 expressed concerns towards the innovations and advancements happening in smartphone industry. The leading reasons behind were:

- Data privacy
- Hacking

Respondent B1

"Yes, I do see ulterior motives sometimes behind these innovations. Corporations trying to solve problems which does not exist. I am also not too sure how secure is paying through your smartphone".

Respondent B4

"Yes, I do see some risks because now our smartphone has not only our contact details but our voice, health information, pictures, and other personal details. There is always a bit of doubt with new things".

Respondent B6

"Yes, I am not fully sure if the voice recordings on these voice assistants are recorded or not. I have always been sceptical about Artificial intelligence".

Respondent B7

"Privacy is concerning especially with these voice assistants. I will never talk something sensitive or personal details on voice assistants like Siri or Bixby because it feels unsafe".

Respondent B9

"I do get scared of hacking because the amount of information my smartphone has".

"I did hear few things from my friend about fraud happening in online banking which made me a worried and the amount of personal data which is being shared by big tech corporations without our consent".

On the contrary, only 37 % of the Saudi users aged 18-34 expressed concerns and risks attached to these innovations in smartphone. The majority 64% of the Saudi users expressed comfort toward these innovations.

Respondent S2

"These things technologies are essential, especially in pandemic. These new features are not bad innovations. Also, I do not see opposition for these innovations which makes me confident that we are in safe hands. Everyone is using technology now".

Respondent S3

"No risk – it is a must thing to have. Smartphone does more good than harm".

Respondent S9

"I do not view any risk with these innovations, people who are in position of power should worry, not common people".

Respondent S13

"I do not fear about these things because life is too short to worry about these stuffs. The question is even if it these risks are there; can I stop using it? No!"

Within Saudi respondents, there were some (36%) who expressed concerned with smartphone innovations. The reasons varied from health hazard, social fabric, and hacking issues.

"I am more concerned about the addiction side of the smartphone. They are making these things so attractive and as a human we are engaging with them more than we should. More light should be shed on Health hazard and its long-term implications, especially on our kids. Some research I saw which found that too much use of smartphone will impact on your health like eyesight etc".

Respondent S8

"There is little we know about online world, and yes there is a fear of scams during online shopping which I do a lot. Also, the other risk I see is regarding our society losing human touch. Everyone is busy in their own shell and not talking face to face".

Respondent S10

"The risk is we not being disciplined enough with these innovations and handling it. I was used to use phone while on bed constantly, which caused stiff back/neck for a short period of time".

5.15 Attitude towards smartphone corporations launching smartphones every year

Respondents were asked to share their attitudes and perceptions towards smartphone companies launching phones every year. The findings revealed congruence in perceptions across UK and Saudi Arabian users in this matter.

Majority of British (57%) and Saudi (71%) expressed resentment towards the idea of companies launching phones every year. The figure 5.9 below illustrates the perception of Saudi and British respondents.



Figure 5.9: Resentment towards smartphone companies upgrading models every year

The leading reason behind this according to British respondents were:

- Lack of trust towards big tech corporations
- Current smartphone becomes obsolete

The leading reason behind Saudi respondents were:

- Lack of trust towards big tech corporations
- Devaluation of current phone

Respondent B1

"Smartphone upgrading models every year is hypocritical because there is not much innovation within smartphones and all these companies tends to push " free carbon emission", if they are serious then they should probably not make smartphone every year".

Respondent B2

"Launching smartphones every year, is a bad thing, the fact you bought a smartphone in 2019 and in 2020 comes new phone, consumer should be frustrated because it becomes outdated. Companies should launch smartphones maybe like every 2 years instead of every year".

"Smartphones have now become a business big time. Before it was more about new features, now it is releasing a model for the sake of launching it and charge customers premium. The pricing is way too much".

Respondent B6

"It gets boring sometimes, one smartphone after another. You buy today and then tomorrow is another one. Cannot keep up with them! For someone like me who likes to buy and keep up with latest technology hurts his wallet".

Respondent B11

"I do not agree, it is a money-making cycle for businesses".

Respondent S1

"I personally feel smartphone companies hold on the release of technologies. For example, if they have 20-megapixel resolution technology available in 2010 for smartphone cameras, they will deliberately release only 10 megapixels at that time. They will divide the innovation over the period of years which makes more money for companies over long period of time".

Respondent S3

"Main problem is it devalues your smartphone. Also, the differences what they launch are inches or minor ones".

Respondent S4

"It devalues the smartphone, for example if we buy 4000- 5000 Saudi riyals brand new smartphone, it will go down 50 % just after next year because of the new model".

Respondent S9

"It is marketing really. They sell every year the same thing in a different way. I do not like the idea of launching phones every year".

"It is like a theatre when they launch new products. Small improvements, more drama and big prices".

5.16 Sharing smartphone devices

Respondent were asked to discuss whether they share their smartphone device with their family. Clear patterns were revealed when discussing sharing of smartphone devices with families.

Significant majority (79%) of the respondents in the UK aged 18-34 did not shared their smartphones with their families. Most of the respondent felt uncomfortable with the idea of sharing due to "**Privacy**".

Respondent B4

"No, I do not share because it is such a personal device with all my sensitive information and the things I type, search etc. I am not comfortable at all to share my device with anyone".

Respondent B6

"No, I do not share smartphone with my family because I have work documents".

Respondent B14

"Before I was used to share my smartphone with them but one of my kids accidently deleted some of the important pictures such as receipts. Now, all my kids have a tablet or a phone, therefore they do not bother me. It is funny how everyone now in my house have a screen pet".

The 21 % of the users in the UK who shared their devices were with their kids or a younger sibling.

Respondent B5

"I share sometimes with my kid. If my kid wants to play a quick game while we are out shopping. It keeps her entertained and helps us shop at ease".

"I occasionally share smartphone with my family (younger sister). She likes to play candy crush on my phone".

On the contrary, a significant majority 57 % users in Saudi Arabia aged 18-34 shared their devices with their family members. There was a common theme that sharing was common practice with their kids and husband/wife.

Respondent S1

"I have 3 kids and it can be hard to handle them when we are outside or in a car. It keeps them distracted".

Respondent S3

"Even though everyone in my house including kids have their own tablets or phones. Still my kids end up using my smartphone at some point especially when their tablet's battery dies. My husband does use it sometimes too from time to time. When kids use my phone, I do try to put lock on some apps".

Respondent S11

"Yes, I do share my phone sometimes with my kids. My 10-year-old wants to buy a phone, although I am reluctant. I allow him to use my one for few minutes. I do also consult with my wife if I have to spend 5,000 Saudi riyals".

5.17 British and Saudi attitudes towards large screen smartphones (Phablets)

Respondents were asked to discuss their attitudes towards large screen smartphones. The large screen smartphones were considered such as Note + or iPhone Max models.

43 % of the UK users and 71 % of Saudi users prefers to have large screen phones. The findings revealed that the users from UK had different reasons as opposed to Saudi users behind purchasing large screen size smartphones (Phablets). The figure 5.10 illustrates the preference towards large screen smartphone by Saudi and British users.



Figure 5.10: Preference towards large screen smartphones

The leading reason behind buying large screen smartphone according to British respondents was:

• Functional benefits as compared to regular size smartphone

Respondent B2

"Watching films/shows on large screen is a better experience and I also use Microsoft excel on my note plus which makes it easier to navigate".

Respondent B5

"Yes, larger smartphones are better because I also watch live sports matches on my phone which makes the experience better visually".

Respondent B13

"Large screen smartphones like Note+ are better for watching tv shows/films. I do that a lot. I have stopped watching television. I cannot remember the last time I sat down and watch Tv".

"Yes, because large screen phones have better batteries and I have a fear of running out of battery when I am working longer shifts".

The leading reason behind Saudi users (71%) behind choosing large screen smartphones were a combination of:

- Functional benefits as compared to regular size smartphones
- Social status

Respondent S1

"Yes, big phones are better (S20+). You get something bigger for small premium to pay. Lots of people have asked me in office when I bought my new phone. It makes a statement".

Respondent S2

"I like large screen phones because it offers better view when watching shows or reading something on it. In addition, it looks good when carrying it in the hand".

Respondent S6

"I do change my smartphone often, however when I recently purchased the pro max everyone in my social circle spotted it and asked me about it".

Respondent S9

"Bigger screen is better and important because now I spend a lot of time on it. Facetime/ watching videos are better on large screen phones".

Respondent S13

"Yes, bigger phones have better design and looks".

5.18 Main motivational factors behind upgrading

Respondents were asked to describe their main motivation behind upgrading their smartphone. There were some similarities and differences between Saudi and British respondents.

43% of the British respondents listed Faster processor as main motivation behind upgrading to a new smartphone. The second leading motivation was More memory with 36% of respondents listing as their motivation. The third motivation was split between features such as: Camera (21%), Design (21%) and 5G (21%). The rest motivational factors included: Bored of current smartphone 14%, Faster charging (7%) and Price bargain (7%). Below is the figure 5.11 which illustrates main motivation behind upgrading smartphone by British respondents.



Figure 5.11: Main motivation behind upgrading smartphone by British respondents

Camera was emerged as the main motivation behind upgrading smartphone among Saudi smartphone users (43%) The second leading motivation was More Memory with 36% of respondents listing as their motivation. The third motivation was faster processor with 29% of the respondents listing it as main motivation. The rest motivational factors included: Dual sim (14%), Lagging issues in current phone (14%), Bored of current phone (14%), Hype (7%), Better Battery (7%), 5G (7%) Below is the figure 5.12 which illustrates main motivation behind upgrading smartphone by Saudi respondents.



Figure 5.12: Main motivation behind upgrading smartphone by Saudi respondents.

5.19 Main source of recommendation when purchasing a new smartphone

Respondents were asked to express the main source of recommendation when they purchase a new smartphone. An overwhelming majority across both cultures expressed online reviews as the main source of recommendation by British and Saudi Respondents aged 18-34.

Respondent B2

"I will look out on YouTube for online reviews and then go to see phone in real life. I will not base my opinion based on brand's website, salesperson etc. I believe in personal research. Phone is very personal thing, I will not need someone else opinion to affect me, for example if everyone in my households buys Brand A I will not be persuaded by that and I will see what suits best for me".

Respondent S1

"Salesperson is off the charts now. Everything is available online. I find user reviews on Tech blogging and gadgets related websites (Gsm arena) which allows me to quickly compare and see what gadget gurus think of it".

5.20 Influential factors affecting decision making process

Respondents were asked to explain the most influential factor which affects them during decision making of purchasing a new smartphone.

Features clearly plays an integral part in UK consumer decision making with 50% of the respondent listing it as most influential factor. The second most influential factor is shared between Branding (21%) and Price (21%). The least influential factor was social influence (7%) according to British respondents. The figure 5.13 below illustrates most influential factor during decision making process by British respondents.



Figure 5.13: Most influential factor when you purchase new smartphone by British respondents

One the other side, 43% of the Saudi users viewed branding as the most influential factors towards decision making. The second most important factor was Price (29%). The third most influential factor was split between Social Influence (14%) and

Features (14%). The figure 5.14 below illustrates most influential factor during decision making process by Saudi respondents.



Figure 5.14: Most influential factor when you purchase new smartphone by Saudi respondents

5.21 Perception of "early adopter" within smartphone industry

The findings revealed some similarities and differences between UK and Saudi consumers regarding buying smartphone as early as possible from launch date. Most of the Saudi respondent (79%) prefers to wait when it comes to make a purchase of a new smartphone. The leading reasons behind these were:

- Saudi respondents prefer to wait and assess the feedback of other buyers regarding the performance of new smartphone.
- Saudi respondents prefer to wait for few months because they expect a price drop.

Respondent S2

"I wait for reviews and then buy. I see the market reaction first and then react".

Respondent S4
"I wait for my colleagues/friends to tell me if the new smartphone is worth the money. No need to rush".

Respondent S8

"I prefer to wait and see if there are any premature issues in device or operating system".

Respondent S11

"I will if I know the price will not drop after 3 months. This is the main reason why I stop. I remember I bought a television and after couple of weeks I saw it on reduction of 1,000 Saudi riyals. That frustrated me".

On the other side, British respondents expressed a mixed reaction where 50 % of the respondent were not early adopters when it comes to smartphone because:

- Lack of innovation and differences year on year
- Happy with the current smartphone performance

Respondent B1

"I would say 10 years ago, I was an early adopter when it comes to smartphone. I always wanted to be the first one to buy. From past few years there has not been much improvement or innovation in smartphones, so I have been holding off my purchase of new smartphone. The moment I found something interesting, the design I like, I will buy it. I will not wait for other people to get it".

Respondent B3

"It is Irrelevant that whether I buy it first or last as I buy them as a work necessity. I had my first phone when I turned 16 and had my first job. The product should just work, and my current phone is working fine".

Respondent B10

"In some things I am like I want to do it on first day; for example, watching film on 1st day of release. In smartphones I do not think I am early adopter".

Respondent B14

"If something comes up and I need it immediately then yes, otherwise I can wait and take my time. The latest phone vs last year phone, there are only minor changes".

The other 50% of the British respondents supported that they are early adopters and like to purchase smartphone on launch dates.

Respondent B4

"In theory I would like to buy new smartphones on 1st day of launch, but the pricing has been ridiculous lately. Yes, but it is cool and exciting to be the among first ones. Always can buy on contract which makes spreads the cost".

Respondent B7

"Buying on release date and pre order is enjoyable. I do that very often with Apple or PlayStations".

Respondent B9

"Yes, I do order things as they come out fresh. It satisfies me".

Respondent B12

"It is always entertaining to get it first and share it with friends on what you purchased before them".

5.22 Perception towards the scale of innovation in last 5 years within smartphone industry

Across both cultures, there are convergence of views regarding the level of improvement and innovation within smartphone industry in past 5 years. Respondents were asked to discuss their views on the level of improvement and

innovation according to them they have seen year on year. Majority of respondents from both cultures viewed and expressed that there has not been a:

- Substantial and meaningful innovation within the smartphone industry. This has resulted people holding on to their older smartphones and delaying their purchase of a new smartphone.
- There have been few improvements over past 5 year in areas such as cameras, processors, artificial intelligence, 5G, battery, and design.

Respondent B1

"Not just in smartphones, but business corporations are producing lots and lots of products which gives more choice to the people, but not sure if so many choices are any good for the consumers. This is focus on quantity rather quality is not only diminishing level of innovation in industry, but also customer satisfaction People are always left dissatisfied and confused when they are buying products, especially technology. When you buy Smartphone A, you think about the things you missed out on Smartphone B and so on and so forth".

Respondent B2

"Yes, there has been improvement in areas such as processors, 5g etc. However, in recent times their differences are becoming subtle, and the innovation is focused on wrong areas. For example: Smartphone companies are pushing 120 hz panel refresh rate screen, the average person will not make use of it. I would say around 80% of people will not make full use of the device capability regardless. People buying new phones now probably because of the looks might be appealing, but the technical specification and innovation are not being utilised as such because it is not helping the average user greatly".

Respondent B3

"They are only different when it comes to memory capacity or battery, otherwise smartphones they are still the same".

Respondent B5

"There is an improvement in some areas like processors. But you can still live your life with phones which are of 5 years old. The older smartphones are not obsolete because the newer ones have not got any anything out of ordinary features or tech in them".

Respondent B14

"Smartphone are trying to improve things which does not matter much. They are forcing the innovation which is not adding value to the common man".

Respondent S1

"From 2015- 2020. There has been not a major innovation. How I describe this is as moving on straight line. Need a new Steve Jobs or Bill Gates which can spike innovation exponentially in smartphone sector".

Respondent S2

"6/10 in my opinion. For example, I had iPhone 7+ before and then If i compare with iPhone 11 pro max, then there is not that much difference or new features. The difference becomes big if I would have jumped from any other unknown brand of smartphone to iPhone 11 pro max. The area which has been improved is cameras, especially now they have 3 cameras built in which makes a difference".

Respondent S10

"How I see now is it is all marketing and way of taking customer's money from their pockets. I can still call, send text, browse internet, take pictures from a smartphone which is let us say 4-5 years old. The new phones might be better but not sure if they are vastly different".

Respondent S12

"I will only now change my smartphone if it stops working or I lose it. I see my friends with their new phones which look great but are not attractive enough to change".

Respondent S13

"No significant differences. More publicity and new words".

5.23 Ease of use perception by British and Saudi smartphone users

The findings saw convergence in views and perceptions of Saudi and UK respondents regarding smartphones being complicated to use. The respondents across both cultures aged 18-34 overwhelmingly considered operating new smartphones as

• Not complicated and easy to get used to.

Respondent B2

"If the user stick with one brand and been using the same Operating system then there is no complication because the core system and layout remains the same. I prefer to stick with Android operating system, and I am confident that I can easily operate any android device. However, if you switch between brands with different operating system then there might be some complications and it will take time to get used to it".

Respondent B10

"Smartphones are similar these days and user friendly. There are 2 main operating systems in current day and age. Once you know how to operate them (Android and iOS), then it is no brainer".

Respondent S1

"It can become complicated to certain age group, because my parents struggled when they switched from J to S series within Samsung. It depends on age group. For me it is easiest thing to use".

Respondent S3

"Extremely easy to get used to it and new smartphones are not complicated to operate. My 2-year-old navigates smartphones as if it is a piece of cake. So, if kids can do it, then why not us?"

5.24 Factors behind rejecting new smartphone by British and Saudi smartphone users

Respondents were asked to express their main reasons to reject the new smartphone from 4 below statements:

- 1. I do not want to pay lot of money and I am not even sure if it is any good
- 2. I will wait for other people to get it first and then buy
- 3. The latest phone is no different and happy with current
- 4. The new phone might be complicated

50 % of the British respondents listed statement #3 as the strongest reason to reject a new smartphone. They elaborated that that they will not change the phone because there are not significant differences. The 29% of the British respondents opted for statement #1 to reject a new smartphone. This was down to the financial risk attached when purchasing brand new smartphones at premium price. 14% of the respondents opted statement #2 and 7% chose statement 1#. The figure 5.15 below illustrates the responses by British respondents.



Figure 5.15: Strongest reason to reject a new smartphone by British respondents

On the contrary, 43% of the Saudi respondents listed statement 1# as the strongest reason to reject innovation. 36% of the respondents listed statement #2 as strong reason to reject new smartphone. This means financial risk and performance risk plays a crucial role in the decision making. The figure 5.16 below illustrates responses of Saudi respondents.



Figure 5.16: Strongest reason to reject a new smartphone by Saudi respondents

5.25 Smartphone Adoption Model (SAM) Hypothesis validation

Below are Table 5.3 and 5.4 which illustrates and explains the validation of our proposed hypothesis of SAM Model in British context and Saudi context separately.

SAM	Original	Our study	Validation (British Context)	British Participants
Constructs	Hypothesis	result		
PU	H1: High PU will	Supported	86% of the British respondents listed smartphone	• B1, B2, B3, B4, B5, B6,
	positive influence		as the most important electronical device. The	B/, B9, B11, B12, B13 -
	on the		reason behind being the most important	most important
	behavioural		electronical device was due to the usefulness it	electronical device.
	intention to use		offers in the lives of British users aged 18-34. The	• B10 - Listed PC as most
	smartphones.		reasons behind this were down to:	important electronical
			Convenience	device
				• B14 - Listed Laptop as
			Performing multiple tasks	most important
			Polow are the three examples which shows Pritish	electronical device
			respondents expressing their views on how and	
			why new smarthhones are useful	
			with the smartphones are useful.	
			Respondent B4	
			"Smartphone is such an incredible thing. It has	
			everything. I remember before it was used to be	
			Laptop where I was used to be excited to spend	
			more time, but now due to ease of access of	
			internet and smartphones being so advanced, I	
			prefer using smartphones".	
			Respondent B6	
			"I do spend time on gaming consoles, but if I must	
			pick one, it has to be smartphones, because you can	
			do several things. With gaming you can just play	
			games, while with smartphone you can play, listen	
			to music, chat etc".	
			Respondent B12	

"I live away from my family, so smartphone is important because I can always keep in touch with them. We have created WhatsApp groups where we share jokes/memes with each other throughout the day. Staying in touch was never as easy as it is today, with one click".

Our findings further validate this by reviewing the screen time of the respondents aged 18-34. British users on average spent 5 hours and 28 minutes per day (328 minutes per day). The findings confirmed that British users are overwhelmingly becoming dependent on smartphones and using more due to the usefulness they offer.

Below are the two examples showing high dependency on smartphones by British respondents.

Respondent B7

"My hands hurt sometimes which shows that my body is telling me to stop using smartphone. Using less smartphone now feels harder than going to gym. I do plan for new year's resolution to reduce my smartphone usage".

Respondent B9

PEOU

H2: PEOU will have a direct

on the

behavioural

intention to use

positive influence

	"I like to think I am not dependent, but that would be a lie. I use this to get away from stress. If I am busy doing something, I will not even think of checking my smartphone, but If I am doing absolutely nothing then smartphone will be the first thing, I will put my hands on".		
Supported	British smartphone users aged 18-34 when asked	٠	B:

about ease of use and impact it has on their usage.

Below are the three examples showing British users

B1, B2, B3, B4, B5. B6, B7, B8, B9, B10, B13, B14

-View smartphone ease of use and not complicated

expressing their views and intent.

	new smartphones.		Respondent B2	•	B11 - Listed smartphones as not 'ease of use'' and
			If the user stick with one brand and been using the		added that some new
			same Operating system then there is no		features especially
			complication because the core system and layout		regarding data transfer
			remains the same. I prefer to stick with Android		can be complicated.
			operating system, and I am confident that I can	•	B12- Mixed emotions –
			easily operate any android device. However, if you		listed smartphone
			switch between brands with different operating		is a software undate in
			system then there might be some complications		the phone
			and it will take time to get used to it".		
			Respondent B9		
			"One of the main reasons I stick with Apple phones		
			is the ease of use. I started from iPhone 4 and still		
			with them. Some of my friends try to push me to		
			buy another brand, but for me simplicity is key		
			when it comes to interface"		
			Respondent B10		
			"Smartphones are similar these days and user		
			friendly. There are 2 main operating systems in		
			current day and age. Once you know how to		
			operate them (Android and iOS), then it is no		
			brainer".		
SN	H3: SN will have a	Not Supported	British users did not display any indication which	•	B1, B2, B5, B6, B8, B9,
	on users' BI to use	Supporteu	showed the influence of SN on their decision	_	B12-Features
	new smartphones		making.	•	B3-, B4, B7 -Brana
			When asked about most influential factor when		B10, B11, B14-Price
			purchasing smartphone, only 7% of the	-	big Social inflactice
			respondents mentioned Social influence as factor.	•	B1, B2, B3, B4, B5, B6,
			In addition, when asked about source of		B7, B8 B9, B10, B12, B14-
			recommendations when deciding to purchase a		Online reviews as main
			new smartphone, overwhelming British users listed		source of
			"online recommendations" over friends/family or		recommendation
			"instore colleagues". Below is the example of	•	B11, B13- Friends/Family

			British user expressing views regarding recommendations. Respondent B2 "I will look out on YouTube for online reviews and then go to see phone in real life. I will not base my opinion based on brand's website, salesperson etc. I believe in personal research. Phone is very personal thing, I will not need someone else opinion to affect me, for example if everyone in my households buys Brand A I will not be persuaded by that and I will see what suits best for me".	
PR H	H4: PR will have a direct negative influence on BI to use new smartphone features	Supported	British users when asked about if they perceive any risks attached to the innovation which are being incorporated in latest smartphones and if it affects them. The types of risk perceived by British smartphone users aged 18-34 were of following nature: Data Privacy and Hacking Respondent B1 "Yes, I do see ulterior motives sometimes behind these innovations. Corporations trying to solve problems which does not exist. I am also not too sure how secure is paying through your smartphone". Respondent B4 "Yes, I do see some risks because now our smartphone has not only our contact details but our voice, health information, pictures, and other personal details. There is always a bit of doubt with new things". Respondent B6	 B1, B2, B3, B4, B6, B7, B9, B10, B12, B14- Perceives Risk with innovations being incorporated In smartphone as whole which affects BI B5, B8, B13- No PR perceived which affects BI B11- Undecided

			"Yes, I am not fully sure if the voice recordings on	
			these voice assistants are recorded or not. I have	
			always been sceptical about Artificial intelligence".	
			Respondent B7	
			"Privacy is concerning especially with these voice	
			assistants. I will never talk something sensitive or	
			personal details on voice assistants like Siri or Bixby	
			because it feels unsafe".	
Ind	H5: Stronger	Supported	Perceived usefulness of Digital Payments (Apple	• B2, B5, B6, B7, B8, B9 ,
	effect of PU on BI		Pay, Samsung Pay, Google Pay) by British	B12, B13, B14, - Perceives
	for the		smartphone users aged 18-34	Usefulness towards
	Individualistic			Digital Payments
	lower effect of PU		Two-thirds (64%) of British smartphone users aged	 B1, B3, B4, B10, B11 Not
	on BI for the		18-34 use at least once a month digital payment	Perceives Usefulness
	Collectivistic		method such as Apple Pay, Samsung Pay, or Google	towards Digital Payments
	ndividuals for		pay. British smartphone users viewed this	
	features		innovation as useful and the reason behind	
			adoption were:	• B2, B5, B6, B8, B9, B10,
				<mark>B11, B13</mark> - <u></u> Perceives
				Usefulness towards Voice
			Backup method of payment	assistants
				• B1, B3, B4, B7, B12, B14 -
			• COVID-19	towards Voice Assistants
			Below are the examples of British respondents	
			expressing their views on their adoption towards	
			digital payments such as Apple Pay, Samsung Pay,	R7 R/ R5 R6 R7 R0
			or Google pay.	B12 - Farly adopter and
				like to purchase new
			Respondent B5	smartphones as soon as it
			" I use Samsung pay quite frequently. I remember	is launched
			once I had problem with my bank card, but I was	• B1, B3, B8, B10, B11 B13,
			still able to make a purchase because I had	B14 - Not early adopter
			Samsung pay".	and does not like to
				purchase new
			Respondent B7	smartphones as soon as it
				is launched

" I use it for emergency reasons as a backup. It is a fantastic feature. Imagine on a night out, you lose your wallet"

Respondent B9

"I use it more now than ever because I do not carry cash due to corona virus. Even retailers are encouraging it to pay contactless which is nice".

Respondent B14

"I enjoy this feature, especially when you do not need to carry cash and heavy coins. I still use contactless cards more than Samsung pay. Nowadays, I am avoiding cash handling due to Covid-19 situation. I use it every week at least".

Perceived usefulness of Voice assistants (SIRI, BIXBY) by British smartphone users aged 18-34

British respondents when asked about the innovative features in new smartphones such as Voice assistant (SIRI, BIXBY). It was confirmed that the significant reason behind adoption was the perception of usefulness or benefit they offer. Below are the three examples which shows British users expressing why they intent to use voice assistants.

Respondent B2

"I think voice assistants are useful, especially when you are driving. The searching is easier, and navigation of apps are better through voice over typing when driving".

Respondent B5

"I use these features while driving. It is useful asking Bixby to call someone while driving".

B3, B5, B12- Sharing smartphones with their family

٠

B1, B2, B4, B6, B7, B8, B9, B10, B11, B13, B14-Not sharing smartphones

with family

Respondent B6

"I do listen to music using Siri, I think that is convenient and useful feature. It is a decent feature, sometimes it needs to understand the dictation clearly".

Early adopters

British respondents were relatively early adopters when comparing it with Saudi participants

British respondents supported that they are early adopters and like to purchase smartphone on launch dates. Below are the examples showing British users expressing their intent.

Respondent B7

"Buying on release date and pre order is enjoyable. I do that very often with Apple or PlayStations".

Respondent B9

"Yes, I do order things as they come out fresh. It satisfies me".

Respondent B12

"It is always entertaining to get it first and share it with friends on what you purchased before them".

Individualistic behaviour

Significant majority (79%) of the respondents in the UK aged 18-34 did not shared their smartphones with their families. Most of the respondent felt uncomfortable with the idea of sharing due to "Privacy". Displaying strong individualistic behaviour and confirming the individualistic trait.

Respondent B4

PD	H6a: High PD	Both	 No, I do not share because it is such a personal device with all my sensitive information and the things I type, search etc. I am not comfortable at all to share my device with anyone". Respondent B6 " No, I do not share smartphone with my family because I have work documents". Respondent B14 "Before I was used to share my smartphone with them but one of my kids accidently deleted some of the important pictures such as receipts. Now, all my kids have a tablet or a phone, therefore they do not bother me. It is funny how everyone now in my house have a screen pet". H6a: Power distance and preference towards large 		B1, B2, B5, B11, B13,
	score, more effect of SN on BI to use new smartphones. Low PD Score, lower effect of SN on BI to use new smartphones H6b : The relationship between PU and BI to use smartphone is moderated by PD value.	Supported	 screen smartphones 43% of British Smartphone users preferred large screen smartphone and the reasons was due to "Functional benefits", while Saudi smartphone users preferred large screen smartphones due to "Social Status" and "Functional benefits". This confirmed that high PD cultures (Saudi) emphasizes on "status goods" and "social desirability ", while low PD cultures (British) does not base their decision which relates to social status within smartphone industry. Below are the example of British respondents expressing their views on preference towards large screen. Respondent B5 "Yes, larger smartphones are better because I also watch live sports matches on my phone which makes the experience better visually". 	• • •	 B14- Prefers large screen smartphones B3, B4, B6, B7, B8, B9, B10- Not prefers large screen smartphones B12- Undecided / no strong preference B1, B2, B5, B6, B8, B9, B12- Features B3-, B4, B7-Brand B10, B11, B14-Price B13 -Social influence

			Respondent B13	
			"Large screen smartphones like Note+ are better	
			for watching tv shows/films. I do that a lot. I have	
			stopped watching television. I cannot remember	
			the last time I sat down and watch Tv".	
			Respondent B14	
			"Yes, because large screen phones have better	
			batteries and I have a fear of running out of battery	
			when I am working longer shifts".	
			H6b: British smartphone decision making	
			Features clearly plays an integral part in UK	
			consumer decision making with 50% of the	
			respondent listing it as most influential factor. The	
			second most influential factor is shared between	
			Branding (21%) and Price (21%). The least	
			influential factor was social influence (7%)	
			according to British respondents. This confirms	
			that cultures with low PD(UK) uses their own	
			judgment instead of relying on other factors on	
			basing decision. This shows Low PD users are	
			focused more on the usefulness over anything.	
UA	H7: The	Supported	British smartphone users aged 18-34 are	• B1, B2, B4, B5, B6, B7,
	between PR and		significantly ahead when it comes to M-shopping	B9, B10, B11, B12, B13 -
	Bi to use is		(79%) as compared to Saudi smartphone users.	B3 B14- Not adopted M-
	moderated by UA		Our study found that UK (LOW UA) adopted m-	shopping
	value.		shopping because they displayed little or no	• B8 - Uses for price
			perceived risk and used it due to the usefulness.	comparison only
			There were two main reasons emerged on why UK	• B10 - Uses for price
			users use smartphone for shopping online:	comparisons and also
			Companya	shops using smartphone
			Convenience	
			Quick delivery	

Respondent B2

"I use smartphone once a week at least to buy something. I prefer using smartphone over laptop because it is handy. Turning on the laptop and wait for it to start up takes time. You can do the whole lot with smartphone; everything is in palm of my hand".

Respondent B13

"Going to store and they do not have in stock is frustrating. At least over online, it is usually in stock or if not, I can check on the app. Also, I like the delivery times. You order in night, and they come tomorrow. That is unbelievable".

Table 5.3: Hypothesis validation- British context (Author's own)

SAM Constructs	Original Hypothesis	Our study result	Validation (Saudi context)	Saudi Participants
Constructs	Hypothesis H1: High PU will have a direct positive influence on the behavioural intention to use new smartphones	result	93% of the Saudi respondents listed smartphones as the most important electronical device. The reason behind being the most important electronical device was due to the usefulness it offers in the lives of Saudi users aged 18-34. The reasons behind high adoption of smartphones among Saudi users aged 18-34 were also of similar nature: Convenience Performing multiple tasks Below are the three examples which shows Saudi respondents expressing their views on how and why smartphones are useful. Respondent S1 "All my life is linked to this small device now. Working from home now makes smartphone even more important and helps connect with work and leisure easily". Respondent S3 "Smartphone is most important because you carry all the time in your hands, which makes it portable". Respondent S13 "Smartphone is important because these days communication is very essential. I use my smartphone to keep in touch with my family and other relatives. No other device offers ease like smartphone".	 B1, B2, B3, B4, b5, B6, B7, B9, B10, B11, B12, B13, B14- Listed Smartphone as most important electronical device B8- Listed Desktop as most important electronical device
			average spent 7 hours and 48 minutes per day (468	

			 minutes per day). The findings confirmed that Saudi users are overwhelmingly becoming dependent on smartphones and using more due to the usefulness they offer. Below are the two examples showing high dependency on smartphones by Saudi respondents. Respondent S2 "Smartphone is like my 4th child. I do not think I am overusing, because hours spent is required for personal and work reasons". Respondent S3 "I am totally dependent on smartphone because being housewife, this is one of the top sources for entertainment and connecting with family/friends. I cannot imagine life without it". 	
PEOU	H2: PEOU will have a direct positive influence on the behavioural intention to use new smartphones	Supported	Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34 when asked about ease of use and impact it has on their usage. Below are the three examples showing Saudi users expressing their views and intent. Respondent S1 "It can become complicated to certain age group, because my parents struggled when they switched from J to S series within Samsung. It depends on age group. For me it is easiest thing to use". Respondent S3 "Extremely easy to get used to it and new smartphones are not complicated to operate. My 2-year-old navigates smartphones as if it is a piece of cake. So, if kids can do it, then why not us?"	 S1, S2, S3, S4, S5, S6, S7, S8, S9, S10, S11, S12, S13, S14- Views smartphone as easy to use and not complicated

SN	H3: SN will have a positive influence on users' BI to use new smartphones	Not Supported	Respondent S11"If you asked me this question 10 years ago, yes. Now, I can use smartphones with my blindfold on and this is the reason we are addicted to it".Saudi users also did not display any significant indication which confirms the influence of SN on their decision making.When asked about most influential factor when purchasing smartphone. only 14% of the respondents mentioned Social influence as factor. Branding and pricing were far more relevant factors as compared to social influence factor. In addition, when asked about source of recommendations when deciding to purchase a new smartphone, overwhelming Saudi users listed "online recommendations" over friends/family or "instore colleagues". Below is the example of Saudi user expressing views regarding recommendations.Respondent S1"Salesperson is off the charts now. Everything is available online. I find user reviews on Tech blogging and gadgets		S1, S3, S5, S6, S8, S9, S11, S14- Online reviews S4, S10, S12, S13- Friends/Family S2- Social media S7- Instore salesperson S4, S5, S7, S8, S9, S10- Brand S1- S3, S11- S12- Price S6, S14- Features S2, S13- Social Influence
			salesperson is off the charts now. Everything is available online. I find user reviews on Tech blogging and gadgets related websites (Gsm arena) which allows me to quickly compare and see what gadget gurus think of it".		Influence
PR	H4: PR will have a direct negative influence on BI to use new smartphone features	Supported	One of the main reasons behind Saudi smartphone users resisting Mobile shopping was perceived risk (Financial risk). Respondent S2 "I downloaded an app recently which was offering great discount for my mobile covers but still did not place order. One of the reasons is delivery takes too much time and I am not sure of the quality they are showing on the web. I have lack of trust over online shopping. I prefer to go	•	S1, S2, S3, S4, S10, S12, S13- Did not adopt M-shopping due to PR- BI affected S1, S4, S7, S8, S10 – Perceives Risk with innovations being incorporated In smartphone as whole which affects BI

instore. I also feel hesitant for putting my card details to online apps or websites".

In addition, Saudi users when asked about if they perceive any risks attached to the innovation which are being incorporated in latest smartphones and if it affects them. The types of risk perceived were of following nature: **Health hazard, Social fabric, Financial risk, and Hacking issues**

Respondent S4

"I am more concerned about the addiction side of the smartphone. They are making these things so attractive and as a human we are engaging with them more than we should. More light should be shed on Health hazard and its long-term implications, especially on our kids. Some research I saw which found that too much use of smartphone will impact on your health like eyesight etc".

Respondent S8

"There is little we know about online world, and yes there is a fear of scams during online shopping which I do a lot. Also, the other risk I see is regarding our society losing human touch. Everyone is busy in their own shell and not talking face to face"

Respondent S10

"The risk is we not being disciplined enough with these innovations and handling it. I was used to use phone while on bed constantly, which caused stiff back/neck for a short period of time".

Ind	H5: Stronger	Supported	Perceived usefulness of Digital payments (Apple Pay,	 S2, S5, S6, S9, S11,
	effect of PU on		Samsung Pay, Google Pay) by Saudi smartphone users	<mark>S13</mark> - Perceives
	BI for the			Usefulness towards
	individuals,		The 58% of Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34 were	Digital Payments
	while lower		reluctant to adopt digital payment. The leading reason	• <mark>\$1, \$3, \$4, \$7, \$8,</mark>
	effect of PU on		were:	<mark>\$10, \$12, \$14</mark> - Not
	BI for the		Low persoived herefit	Perceives Usefulnes
	individuals		• Low perceived benefit	towards Digital
	towards new		• Old habits	Payments
	features		Respondent S1	• \$5, \$6, \$7, \$11, \$14 -
				Perceives Usefulnes
			"Three important things which I never forget: wallet,	towards Voice
			smartphone, and keys. I do not need technology to make	assistants
			it complicated".	• S1, S2, S3, S4, S8, S
			Respondent S7	<mark>\$10, \$12, \$13</mark> - Not
				Perceives usefulness
			"I do not use it because it is pointless, and I am not used	towards Voice
			to it"	Assistants
			Respondent S10	
			"I been carrying wallets since 16. I do not feel the need at the moment. Habits take time to change".	• <mark>\$9, \$13, \$14</mark> - Early adopter and likes to
			Perceived usefulness of Voice assistants (SIPL RIVRV) by	purchase new
			Soudi amorta hono usors	as it is launched
				• <u>\$1 \$2 \$3 \$4 \$5 \$6</u>
			Saudi respondents when asked about the innovative	S7 S8, S10, S11, S12
			features in new smartphones such as Voice assistant	Not early adopter
			(SIRI, BIXBY). It was confirmed that the reason behind not	and does not like to
			adopting was due to the lower perception of usefulness	purchase new
			or benefit they offer. Below are the three examples	smartphones as soo
			which shows Saudi users expressing why they intent to	as it is launched
			not use voice assistants	
				• • • • • • • • • • • •
			Respondent S1	51, 33, 34, 35, 310,
				Sharina smartphone
			"Artificial intelligence has lots of benefits. I am not	with their Family
			against using it. People especially who have disability, is	
			doing wonders for them. For me and my personal	

lifestyle, I do not like this lazy way of doing things. I do not mind typing. I think we are not there yet. Voice assistant is luxury but not a need. Having a fast car 250 mph is a good but would you be driving on a road every day".

Respondent S2

"I tried using it, it is a waste of time. In my opinion, voice assistant is aimed towards older generation".

Respondent S3

"Typing is more convenient, and it does not understand all the accents".

Respondent S8

"It does not add much value. It is cool technology, but not for my lifestyle, maybe in future".

Early adopters

Most of the Saudi respondent (79%) prefers to wait when it comes to make a purchase of a new smartphone and are not early adopters as compared to individualistic (UK) culture. The leading reasons behind these were:

• Saudi respondents prefer to wait and assess the feedback of other buyers regarding the performance of new smartphone.

• Saudi respondents prefer to wait for few months because they expect a price drop.

Respondent S2

"I wait for reviews and then buy. I see the market reaction first and then react"

Respondent S4

S2, S6, S7, S8, S9,
 S12 Not Sharing
 smartphone with
 their Family

•

"I wait for my colleagues/friends to tell me if the new smartphone is worth the money. No need to rush".

Respondent S8

"I prefer to wait and see if there are any premature issues in device or operating system".

Respondent S11

"I will if I know the price will not drop after 3 months. This is the main reason why I stop. I remember I bought a television and after couple of weeks I saw it on reduction of 1,000 Saudi riyals. That frustrated me".

Collectivistic behaviour

Furthermore, our findings also confirmed the collectivistic behaviour of Saudi culture where a significant majority 57 % users in Saudi Arabia aged 18- 34 shared their devices with their family members. There was a common theme that sharing was common practice with their kids and husband/wife.

Respondent S1

" I have 3 kids and it can be hard to handle them when we are outside or in a car. It keeps them distracted".

Respondent S3

"Even though everyone in my house including kids have their own tablets or phones. Still my kids end up using my smartphone at some point especially when their tablet's battery dies. My husband does use it sometimes too from time to time. When kids use my phone, I do try to put lock on some apps".

Respondent S11

			"Yes, I do share my phone sometimes with my kids. My		
			10-year-old wants to buy a phone, although I am		
			reluctant. I allow him to use my one for few minutes. I do		
			also consult with my wife if I have to spend 5,000 Saudi		
			riyals".		
PD	H6a: High PD	Both	H6a: Power distance and preference towards large	•	<mark>S1</mark> , <u>S2, S3, S5, S6, S7,</u>
	effect of SN on	Supported	screens		<mark>S9, S10, S13, S14</mark> -
	BI to use new		71% Saudi Smartphone users preferred large screen		Prejers Large Screen
	smartphones.		smartphone due to Social Status and Functional benefits,	•	S4. S8. S11. S12 - Not
	Low PD Score,		while British smartphone users preferred large screen		Prefers Large Screen
	SN on BI to use		smartphones just due to functional benefits.		Smartphones
	new				
	smartphones		This confirmed that high PD cultures (Saudi) emphasizes		
	H6b: The		on "status goods" and "social desirability".	•	S4, S5, S7, S8, S9,
	relationship		Pernandant S1		510- Brana 51- 52-511-512-
	BL to use		Respondent 31		Price
	smartphone is		"Yes, big phones are better (S20+). You get something	•	<mark>S6, S14</mark> - Features
	moderated by		bigger for small premium to pay. Lots of people have	•	<mark>S2, S13</mark> - Social
	PD value.		asked me in office when I bought my new phone. It makes		Influence
			a statement".		
			Respondent S2		
			"I like large screen phones because it offers better view		
			when watching shows or reading something on it. In		
			addition, it looks good when carrying it in the hand".		
			Respondent S6		
			" I do change my smartphone often, however when I		
			recently purchased the pro max everyone in my social		
			circle spotted it and asked me about it".		
			Respondent S13		
			"Yes, bigger phones have better design and looks".		
			H6b: Saudi smartphone decision making		

			Branding over features .43% of the Saudi users viewed	
			branding as the most influential factors towards decision	
			making. The second most important factor was Price	
			(29%). The third most influential factor was split between	
			Social Influence (14%) and Features (14%). High power	
			distance tends to have a strong preference towards	
			status brands than those with low power distance belief.	
			Buying branded products can be a way of enhancing	
			social status and therefore branding plays a significant	
			part when purchasing new smartphone by Saudi users.	
UA	H7: The relationship	Supported	British smartphone users aged 18-34 are significantly	• 55, 56, 57, 58, 59,
	between PR and		ahead when it comes to M-shopping (79%) as compared	M-shonning
	Bi to use is		to Saudi smartphone users. Our study found that Saudi	• \$1. \$2. \$3. \$4. \$10.
	moderated by		(High UA) resisted m-shopping because of perceived risk.	<mark>\$12, \$13</mark> - Not
	OA value.		The main reasons behind low adoption of M-shopping	adopted M-shopping
			behind Saudi users were:	
			Poor experiences	
			• Lack of confidence towards online payments	
			system	
			Lack of touch feel factor	
			Below are the examples of Saudi respondents on resisting	
			M-shopping.	
			Respondent S2	
			"I downloaded an app recently which was offering great	
			discount for my mobile covers but still did not place order.	
			One of the reasons is delivery takes too much time and I	
			am not sure of the quality they are showing on the web. I	
			have lack of trust over online shopping. I prefer to go	
			instore. I also feel hesitant for putting my card details to	
			online apps or websites".	
			online apps or websites".	

" I browse online a lot and have apps installed on my smartphone which are for ecommerce, but never managed to make a purchase. The reason why because I cannot check the quality of the product and also sometimes worry that it might be a scam when putting down the bank details. The only time I use is for price check". **Respondent S10** "I still do not shop online regardless. I always have the feeling if something goes wrong if you buy from the store, you can always go there and speak to the manager. Online it all seems invisible". Moreover, even the Saudi users who adopted Mshopping, some of them still preferred to choose Cash on delivery payment method over online payment when ordering online. **Respondent S14** "Yes, I do use smartphone for m-shopping. I find electronics 300-500 Saudi riyal cheaper online as compared to stores with same warranty. I prefer pay cash on delivery over putting card details".

Table 5.4: Hypothesis validation- Saudi context (Author's own)

5.26 Summary of findings

Below is table 5.5 which presents the summary of our findings in tabular format and links the findings back to our original objectives of the study. The findings link back to objective number 3,4,5, and 6.

	Smartphone	British respondents	Saudi Respondents	Summary Analysis
	behaviour			
	Average screen	328 minutes per day (5	468 minutes per day (7hours,	Saudi smartphone users are
	time of	hours, 28 minutes)	48 minutes)	spending extra 2.3 hours per day
	smartphone			than British smartphone users.
	usage per day			
	Motivation	33% Communication, 29%	38% Social media, 36%	Saudi smartphone users use
	behind using	Entertainment, 26% Social	Communication, 17%	predominantly Social media
	smartphone	media	Entertainment	apps, while British smartphone
				users use more Entertainment
				and Communication apps.
	Most used apps	WhatsApp, YouTube,	WhatsApp, Facebook,	WhatsApp most used app across
		Facebook	Instagram, YouTube	both cultures.
	Most important	Smartphone 1st most	Smartphone 1st most	Reason behind being most
	electronical	important device	important device	important device by British and
	device			Saudi respondents were
				Convenience and Ability to
				perform multiple tasks.
Exploring	Second most	Lanton and most	Saudi Mala: Dasktan 2 nd	Lanton and most important
Motivation	important	important device according	most important dovice	dovice according to British
3rd [‡]	alactronical	to British respondents	most important device	respondents
objective	dovico	to british respondents	Saudi Female: Television, 2 nd	respondents.
findings	uevice		most important device	Saudi Males listed Desktop,
				while majority of Saudi Females
				listed Television as most
				important device.
	Mobile shopping	79% purchased something	50% purchased something	British respondents are
		over last month.	over last month.	significantly adopting Mobile
				shopping than Saudi
		-Reasons behind high	-Reasons not to adopt:	respondents. People who
		adoption:	Poor experience,	adopted M-shopping in Saudi
		Convenience and Quick	Lack of touch feel factor, and	Arabia still preferred Cash on
		delivery	Lack of trust towards online	delivery method over online
			payment system.	transactions.
			-Reasons to adopt:	
			Price and Convenience	
	Attitude towards	86% use Social media.	93% uses social media, 62%	Social media usage is high across
	social media	33 % does not posts	does not post photos/videos.	both cultures but the reasons
		photos/videos.	-Reasons for not posting by	for not posting differs across
		-Reasons for not posting by	Saudi female: Religious/	cultures.
		British: Privacy, Mental	Cultural and Saudi male	
		Health, and Waste of time	reason: Privacy	

	Intersity of	02% uses smortphane	640/ uses smorthbane while	Descen behind using
	intensity of	95% uses smartphone	04% uses smartphone while	
	Attachment	while waling	walking	smartphone while walking by
	Using			British and Saudi:
	Using			
	smartphone			Texting to reply work related
	while walking			messages/emails and Staying
				connected with friends/family.
				Reasons for not using while
				walking is higher in Saudi
				because of Social and Family
				reasons.
	Intensity of	Using while on bed before	Using while on bed before	Similar behaviour but different
	Attachment	sleep - 79% admits	sleep- 86% admits-	reasons behind this action.
	Using	-Reasons:	-Reasons:	
Exploring	smartphone			
Motivation	while on bed and	Trouble sleeping and	Boredom (Saudi male) and	
2-4	before going to	boredom	free time is at night (Saudi	
370 ⁻	sleen		female)	
objective	Siecp			
mumgs	Intensity of	100% uses smartphone	100% uses smartphone while	Congruence in behaviour behind
	Attachment	with exception of B13	watching television	using smartphone while
		respondent because B13		watching television and
	Using	does not watch television		considered as "normal practice"
	smartphone	at all		across both cultures.
	while watching			
	television			
	Dependency	Majority are dependent	Majority are dependent	Congruence in behaviour and
	towards			reasons behind being dependent
	smartphone			on smartphones. Heavy reliance.
	Overusing of	61% view they are	Only 29% view they are	Differences on how both
	overtasing of	overweing their device	overweing their smorthbane	sultures view this Although our
	smartphone			
		and 44% plames it on	/1% Justifying their usage.	study indicates that Saudi users
		emergence of Social media	People who viewed they are	are on average using 2.3 hours
			overusing were concerned	more than British users per day,
			with the impact it has on	but still Saudi respondents
			Eyesight and Social fabric	believe they are not overusing
				their device.
	Psychological	Linking with Artificial	Linking with Smartphones,	Exclusive words by Saudi
	Mind map	intelligence, Robots,	Computers, Wi-Fi	towards innovation: 5g, Modern,
Attitudo	towards	Machines		Western/American.
towards	"innovation"			Common words across both:
Innovation	word			'Technology and New' British
				naming names of brands like
4 th objective				
findings				Apple and Tesla, while Saudi
				naming the devices such as
				smartphones or electric vehicles
				when expressing innovation.

	Emotion when	21% marketing or monou	2 respondents: devaluation of	Curiosity is yong much the
	they bear about	making activity 47%	current smartnhone 1/1%	emotion when Saudi
	new smartphone	expressed positive	marketing/money making	respondents hear about new
	new smartphone	omotion - 20% curious -	activity 20% expressed	smarthhono while British
		21% poutral reaction 1	positive emotion -26%	rospondents expressed (hanny
		21% neutral reaction. 1	positive emotion -50%	and availing' amotion
	Voice assistant	57% British uses voice	36% Saudi uses once a week.	The adoption of voice assistant
		assistant once a week	-Reasons for not using (64%):	feature like Siri, Bixby varies and
		-Reason for not using	Perceived value and	is higher in British culture as
		British 43%	nerceived performance are	opposed to Saudi. In addition,
		Gap between expectation	low – and views technology	the way it is perceived varies
Attitude		and actual	for older generation	too.
towards			for older generation	
Innovation	Payment through	Two third (64%) uses.	42% uses.	The adoption of digital payment
4 th objective	smartphone			method such as Apple Pay,
findings	(digital payment)	 Reasons for adopting 	-Reasons for adopting	Samsung Pay, Google wallet is
		Backup method and	Convenience and Tracking	higher in British culture as
		COVID-19	payments	opposed to Saudi. The reason
		Posson not to adopt:	- Possons not to adopt:	behind on adoption and resisting
		Low parcoived bapafit for	- Reasons not to adopt.	varies across both cultures.
		digital normant over	Old habits	
		ovisting mothed	Old habits	
	Diale attacks of the			Completely different systems in a
	Risk attached to	71% expressed concerns.	Only 37% expressed concern.	completely different outlook and
	innevetions	-Risks included:	-Risks included:	attached to innovation is viewed
	innovations			attached to innovation is viewed
		Data privacy and Hacking	Social fabric, Health hazard	by Saudi and British culture.
			and Hacking	
	Resentment	57% expressed	71% expressed resentment.	British resentment related with
	towards	resentment.	Deserves	obsolete of technology, while
	smartphone	Deserves	- Reasons:	Saudi resentment related with
	companies	-Reasons:	Lack of trust towards big	devaluation of current phone.
	upgrading model	Lack of trust towards big	tech corporation and	Both were similar with lack of
	every year	tech corporation and	Devaluation of current	trust towards big tech
Examining		Obsolete technology	phone	corporation.
Decision	Sharing of	79% did not shared their	57% share their smartphone	Saudi respondents admitted
making	smartphone with	smartphone with their	predominantly with kids,	sharing their smartphone device
process	family	family due to privacy	husband/wife	with their family members.
5 th objective				British respondents did not feel
findings				comfortable sharing due to
				privacy of data.
	Preference	43% of the preferred large	71% preferred large screen	Saudi respondents strongly
	towards large	screen		preferred large screen
	screen (Phablets)		- Reasons: Functional	smartphone due to functional
		-Reasons: Functional	benefits over regular size	benefits and social status.
		benefits over regular size	and Social status	

				Majority of British respondents
				did not prefer large screen
				smartnhones
				Sillar phones.
		Faster Processor	Better Camera	Different motivation between
Examining	behind			British and Saudi respondents
Decision	upgrading			behind upgrading smartphone.
making	Main source of	Online	Online	Congruence in views and
nrocess	recommendation			attitudes towards source of
process				recommendation. Online being
5 th objective				popular across both cultures.
findings	Most influential	50% Features,	43% Branding,	British respondents are features
	factor			oriented, while Saudi base their
		21% Price,	29% Price,	decision by focusing on brand
				decision by rocusing on brand.
		21% Branding.	14% Social influence,	
			4.40/ 5	
			14% Features.	
	Early adopter	50% will not buy as soon as	79% will wait and not buy as	British respondents are still
		possible because they view	soon as possible because:	relatively early adopter. Both
		there is lack of innovation	Saudi respondents prefer to	cultures have different reasons
		and are also happy with	wait and assess the feedback	and thought process for not
		current performance of	of other buyers regarding the	being early adopter.
		their smartphone	performance of new	
			smartphone.	
			Saudi respondents also prefer	
			to wait for few months	
			because they expect a price	
			dron	
	Views towards	Not hig innovation within	Not hig innovation within last	Convergence of views - No
	in a subtiention in			convergence of views - No
E in his the s	innovation in	last 5 years	5 years	
Evaluating	smartphone			innovation seen in industry.
Tesistance	within last 5			Some small improvements made
6 th objective	years			such as :5G, Design, A.I, Camera,
findings				Processor, and Battery.
	Are new	No	No	Convergence views-
	smartphones			overwhelming majority does not
	complicated to			consider new smartphones as
	use?			'complicated' and find them easy
				to get used to.
	Strongest reason	The latest phone is no	I do not want to pay lot of	Financial risk and Performance
	to reject new	different and happy with	money and I am not even	risk plays crucial role regarding
	smartphone.	current	sure if it is any good	rejecting new smartphone –
			, 0	Saudi respondents.
				Lack of perceived benefit plays
				critical role regarding rejecting
				new smartphone – British
				respondents.

Table 5.5: Summary of Findings (Author's own)

Chapter 6: Discussion

6.1 Introduction

The aim of this chapter is to pull the various threads of the research together, relate the results and analysis to the themes emerged from previous literature and explain how the research questions of the study have been answered. Moreover, the contribution to the knowledge and implications for theory and practice will be merged to provide comprehensive discussion.

As explained at the start, this study's overall aim is to explore the impact of culture towards innovation by analysing the attitudes of British and Saudi consumers aged 18-34 towards innovation in smartphone industry. The study also explored to provide a detailed insight and 'why' behind consumer's perceptions towards adoption or rejection of innovation. The study aimed to focus on the area of research which is understudied; Western vs Middle Eastern culture and provide a framework for international marketers to understand the psychology behind their decisions.

Most of the cross-cultural studies in the context of smartphone has been in the area of addiction or problematic smartphone usage. This study provided an opportunity to fill the gap on scarcity of frameworks on how these innovations are being interpreted by consumers from the two different cultures. Below are the research questions:

- How different are the motivation of UK and Saudi consumers behind using smartphone?
- How do cultural dimensions (Individualism, Power distance, and Uncertainty avoidance) impact the behavioural intention of smartphone usage?
- How do UK and Saudi consumers perceive innovation within smartphone industry?
- Why consumers in UK and Saudi Arabia upgrade to new smartphone?
- How do UK and Saudi consumers resist innovation within smartphone industry?

6.2 Motivation

This part discusses and focuses on the reasoning behind why Saudi and British consumers aged 18-34 use smartphone. This first step was to evaluate and develop a solid foundation on their motivation which also assisted the researcher to better understand the other parts of findings and linking them.

The results of screen time of smartphone and most apps used highlighted some differences and some similarities between British and Saudi smartphone users.

Some of the findings aligned with previous literature, however some of the findings contradicted.

Our findings revealed that Saudi users spend on average 2.3 hours more per day than British respondents. The average screen time of British smartphone user was 328 minutes per day as opposed to 468 minutes by Saudi respondents.

According to latest survey conducted by Code Computer love (2019) found that an average UK screen time is 3 hours and 23 minutes per day, and this rises considerably to 3 hours and 48 minutes for the aged group 16-24. On the other side, the study by Al Osaimi (2016), found that majority (61%) of the 2367 participants spent at least 5 hours per day using their smartphones, whereas 27.2% spend more than 8 hours per day. Our findings have reported an increase in screen time in both cultures as compared to previous research. The increase of screen time per day could be due to the fact that our study is being conducted during pandemic COVID-19 and respondents are spending more time on their smartphones. In addition, our findings were based on the population aged 18-34 only, there is a possibility for future researchers to find the decreased screen time for older age group across both cultures.

Secondly, our findings concluded that British users use smartphone predominantly for Communication and Entertainment purposes, while Saudi users uses smartphone primarily for Social Media and Communication. 38% of the apps listed by Saudi users regarding most used were from Social media category, followed by 36 % of the Communication category apps. This finding aligns with the study by Al Osaimi (2016) which concluded that Saudi users use their smartphone primarily for social networking sites and study by Dimitrios and Alali (2014) which concluded that Saudi

287

society is heavy users of social media with more than 85% usage in the country. However, our findings provided an extra layer regarding attitudes towards social media. Our study found that although there is considerably higher penetration of Social media across both cultures, but 64% of Saudi and 33% of the British respondents expressed that they do not post photos/videos on social media and are silent users. The findings explored that Saudi females did not post due to cultural/religious reasons and Saudi males stated privacy as their reason. The previous study by Raddawi (2014) supported the findings from Saudi females which concluded that Arabic and Western cultures have significant differences which are rooted in their origins and religion. In addition, the study by Al Dossry (2012) echoes with our findings that many Saudi families reject the goods that are seen as un-Islamic and plays important part in their consumer behaviour. Al Dossry (2012) explained that Saudi society is still loyal to the Islamic religion as a fundamental doctrine, and it affect their behaviour despite their adoption of western fashion, technology, and luxury cars.

Secondly, our findings also reported that one-third (33%) of the British respondents also did not post photos/videos and were silent users. The reasoning behind that were of different nature which included: mental health, waste of time, and privacy. This is in line with previous literature, where studies have shown correlation between social media and anxiety. The study by Mc Crae et al. (2017) found a statistically significant relationship between social media use and depressive symptoms in children and adolescents. In addition, a meta-analysis of 23 studies showed correlation of problematic Facebook use and psychological distress in young adults and adolescents (Marino et al., 2018). The interesting findings were although a great deal of previous literature shows the social media use and mental health issues, however only UK respondents expressed as a factor but not Saudi smartphone users. This reasoning behind Saudi smartphone users not mentioning mental health unlike British respondents could be down to the cultural makeup. The Saudi society is highly collectivistic and promotes interdependence rather independence. The individualistic cultures like Britain have been proven to be more prone to depressions, disorders than non-western cultures according to Kappeler (2003). The day child is born, the individualistic society teaches them to be alone and independent which results in a weaker family system. The individuals from

288
individualistic society therefore are more frequently left alone to cope with issues on its own.

Thirdly, our findings also found that WhatsApp was the most used app across both cultures These finding contradicts with tone of the recent surveys conducted in UK, which revealed that sending/receiving emails were the most popular activity performed by individual in Great Britain (Statista,2020). On other hand, the study by Al Osaimi (2016) found that among Saudi university students, WhatsApp was the most common app, followed by twitter and Instagram. Our study found that WhatsApp was the most used app, followed by Facebook, Instagram, and YouTube by Saudi respondents.

Furthermore, our research found that Smartphone is the most important electronical device according to both cultures. British and Saudi users concluded that this due to the common benefit convenience and ability can perform multiple tasks. There was a disparity on the second most important electronical device, where Saudi respondents perceived desktops and British respondents viewed laptops as 2nd most important electronical device. In addition, the findings further attempted to gather the intensity of attachment towards smartphones across both cultures. 93% of the British and 64% of the Saudi users admitted that they use smartphones while walking. According to Deloitte (2017) 53 % of the 4,150 British people aged 18-75 admit using smartphone while walking. Our research found a significantly higher number than previous survey and the reason behind this could be the age sample of our study 18-34, as opposed to 18-75. Higher smartphones use while walking among British respondents as opposed to Saudi could be the fact Britain has one of the finest public transportation systems which means more people walk and therefore this behaviour emerges. In addition, the walking trend is an increasingly adopted lifestyle in UK where proportion of adults walking at least once per week in England increased from 68% in 2015-16 to 70% in 2017-18 (Department for transport, 2019).

The 36% of the Saudi respondents did not use smartphone while walking and reasons emerged to be Social and Family. This can be traced back to the fact Saudi is a collectivistic culture which affected this behaviour. There is a congruence regarding using smartphone while watching television. It appeared to be normal practice across both cultures. Moreover, differences on reasoning were observed

behind using smartphone while on bed before going to sleep. The British respondents used smartphone because of Boredom and trouble sleeping patterns, while Saudi female used at night because of the they are busy during the day with kids/husband, and Saudi male used at night because of boredom. Collectivistic culture according to Hofstede (2010) promotes family values and looking after them. Saudi females mentioned that they use smartphone at night-time because they are looking after kids or their partner during the day.

This first part of discussion provides a detailed insight of the motivation behind using smartphone by Saudi and British users. This part of discussion adds to the body of knowledge that culture has an impact on the actions which impacts the motivation behind using smartphone. It also contributed to the fact that some of the contradictions with previous literature arise (**Expected screen time was lower than actual screen time**) due to global pandemic and it will assist policy makers within smartphone industry to base their future decisions with COVID-19 in mind across the globe. Our findings also reported that PU construct is still relevant across both culture and the reason behind high adoption of smartphones is due to usefulness they offer to the users aged 18-34: **convenience and multitasking**.

6.3 Cultural dimensions impact

This part of the discussion emphasizes on understanding the perceptions of consumers from both cultures towards innovation. The data gathered showed impact of culture when it comes to adoption or resistance towards new technology.

6.3.1 M-shopping discussion

Our findings reported that British smartphone users aged 18-34 are significantly ahead when it comes to M-shopping (79%) as compared to 50% of the Saudi smartphone users. The study by Mandler et al. (2018) suggested that mobile commerce services is negatively influenced by level of uncertainty avoidance. Saudi Arabia scores 80 and UK scores 35 on uncertainty avoidance dimension on Hofstede model. In addition, the study by Dai and Palvia (2008) found that individuals from the culture with low uncertainty avoidance are more likely to accept new mobile services as compared to higher uncertainty avoidance cultures. Furthermore, the previous studies have also found that individualism and collectivism influence the perceived risk of online shopping. Collectivistic culture normally

perceives higher risk associated with online shopping than individualistic culture (Park and Jun 2003; Park et al. 2004). According to Hofstede, Saudi Arabian culture falls under collectivism with the score of 25, while UK is a highly individualistic society with the score of 89. The Saudi respondents one of the main reasons not to shop online was:

• Lack of confidence towards online payments system

Findings from our research supports the previous literature and concludes that cultural dimensions have an impact towards adoption of M-shopping.

In addition, the study by Mokhtar et al. (2020) found price as the most significant factor which impacts the online shopping behaviour among young adults. The study found that product being cheaper online than in stores and exclusive promotions online had the most impact when shopping online. Our findings partially contradict and support the previous literature. The reasons to adopt M-shopping by British smartphone users were convenience and quick delivery. On the contrary, according to Saudi smartphone users price emerged to be significant reason behind adoption. Additionally, previous empirical study by Groß (2016) showed that risk perception towards mobile channels obstruct consumers from continuous m-shopping. The study concluded that hindering effect is more to do with " transaction processing and financial risks" instead of security concerns or privacy. Our findings revealed that Saudi consumers who adopted M-shopping still preferred "cash on delivery' option instead of online payment.

6.3.2 Voice assistant and Digital payment discussion

Our findings revealed that 57% of the UK and 36% of the Saudi users aged 18- 34 use voice assistant at least once a week. The reasoning behind using and not using varied across both cultures. The significant reason behind using voice assistant by British respondents was responding to texts/calls during driving. The previous study by Luger and Sellen, 2016; Cowan et al., 2017 examined the usefulness of Intelligent personal assistants (IPAs) and suggested that it is mostly used in situations where user is engaged in other activities like cooking, driving, and playing. However, majority of Saudi respondents did not use voice assistants on their smartphone due to following reasons:

- Perceived value and perceived performance are low towards this technology
- Viewed this technology for a certain segment (Older generation)

Previous studies have shown social embarrassment, consistency, and trust as one of the major obstacles behind using Intelligent Personal Assistant (Cowan et al., 2017). Our findings somewhat contradict and suggested that Saudi respondent's main reason was that they do not consider voice assistants as useful and were not satisfied with performance level. The reason behind not adopting was not due to social embarrassment or trust as per previous research. Although Saudi is a highly collectivistic society and social considerations are taken into consideration but with this technology it was not that matter.

Secondly, about Two-thirds (64%) of UK and 42% of the Saudi users aged 18-34 use at least once a month digital payment method such as Apple Pay, Samsung Pay, or Google pay etc. British smartphone users viewed this innovation as useful and the reason behind adoption were:

- Backup method of payment
- COVID-19.

The significant adoption rate was down to the fact British respondents mentioned that they are using contactless ways and avoid cash handling due to pandemic. Within contactless ways it included contactless cards and digital payment methods.

While Saudi smartphone users' reason behind adoption were:

- Convenience
- Tracking payments

Previous study by Bamasak (2011) showed that there is a bright future of mobile payments in Saudi Arabia as most of the participants in the study expressed willingness to use it in future. However, our findings revealed that still a majority 58% of the Saudi smartphone users have not adopted digital payment method. Reasons behind lack of adoption by Saudi smartphone users were:

• Low perceived benefit

Old habits

The study by Rouibah (2015) found that major obstacle behind adoption of digital payments methods in Kuwait which is culturally comparable to Saudi Arabia were: high charges, low trust, and familiarity, The Saudi smartphone users' reason behind not adopting were somewhat of different nature as compared to Kuwaiti smartphone users even though culturally they are similar on Hofstede's 6 dimension of national culture. The familiarity factor was common across both cultures as being an obstacle. Overall, by reviewing the discussion of Digital payments and Voice assistants, it is clear that consumers from British views these as high in PU as compared Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34.

6.3.3 Risk attached to innovations

Our findings reported that majority of (71%) British smartphone users expressed concerns and risks attached to innovation in smartphone, while (63%) Saudi respondents expressed comfort towards future innovation when asked if participants view any potential risk attached to these latest features and innovation in smartphone industry day by day. This disregards previous research by Hofstede et al. (2010) which suggested that low uncertainty avoidance culture (UK) demonstrates risk-taking and ease with unknown, while countries who score higher (Saudi Arabia) are hesitant towards new information and unknown. The major risk perceived by British smartphone users to future innovation were:

- Data privacy
- Hacking

While Saudi smartphone users listed 3 concerns:

- Social fabric
- Eyesight
- Hacking

The previous study Trepte et al. (2017) mentions that countries with high uncertainty avoidance and collectivism tend to pose greater emphasis on privacy issues. Our findings found the UK smartphone users who are low in uncertainty avoidance and individualistic to be more concerned about data privacy. The innovations of digital

payments and voice assistants have raised their concerns due to the fact the amount of sensitive information smartphone has. On the other side, Saudi respondents were not overly concerned about privacy but more about the long-term affect smartphone is having on the social fabric. Several respondents mentioned that there has been less face-to-face conversation within the house and attention of family member have been divided over the dinner table because of constantly using smartphone. This particular concern arises from being part of collectivistic culture which places strong emphasis on family values and relationships and Hofstede et al. (2010) findings about collectivistic findings society confirms that

6.4 British and Saudi views towards innovation in smartphone industry within last 5 years.

There was a congruence between perceptions when asked regarding how the participants view the level of innovation in smartphone industry in last 5 years. There was an agreement across both cultures that there has not been a substantial and meaningful innovation in last 5 years. The smartphone users from both cultures agreed that there have been some improvements in areas such as: :5G, Design, A.I, Camera, Processor, and Battery. Furthermore, our research also found that there is a resentment towards the idea of smartphone companies launching models every year by (57%) of British and (71%) of Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34. The mutual reason behind resentment was lack of trust towards big tech corporations. Several respondents from both cultures perceived this as money making activity or a marketing tactic for businesses to reap profits.

This part of discussion adds to body of the knowledge that the perception of innovation within last 5 years have been similar in Eastern and Western culture. The smartphone corporations would need to work heavily on research and development and to have a breakthrough in terms on innovation. In addition, smartphone companies need to work on their perception of "money making activities" in mind of consumers all over the world. If these two ideas persist across the world, then there could be a decline in the overall sales revenue of smartphones which could affect the degree of innovation in the industry. People will hold on to their mobile for long before they upgrade to a new one. Secondly, our findings also revealed that financial risk and performance risk plays crucial role regarding rejecting new smartphones

according to Saudi smartphone users, while Lack of perceived benefit plays critical role in rejecting new smartphones by British respondents

6.5 Upgrading to new smartphones

This part of the discussion emphasizes on the decision-making process when British and Saudi smartphone users upgrade their smartphone. This discussion provides knowledge on the factors which influences their purchase intention.

Our findings reported that main motivation factor behind upgrading smartphone by British users were 'Faster Processor', while Saudi respondents listed 'Better Camera'. Furthermore, the most influential factor according to British smartphone users was 'Features', while 'Branding' plays crucial part in the decision making of Saudi smartphone users. Our findings align with previous research of Kim and Zhang (2014) which concluded that countries with High power distance tends to have a strong preference towards status brands than those with low power distance belief. Buying branded products can be a way of enhancing social status and therefore branding plays a significant part when purchasing new smartphone by Saudi users. Similarly, the recent study by Alsulami (2018) concurs with our findings are points out that those Saudi consumers are more inclined towards international brands, and they are affected by brand name when making purchase. Moreover, the study by Malviya et al. (2013) concluded that brand name of mobile phone in India has a dominant impact on consumer evaluation and subsequently their buying decision of mobile phone. Additionally, another study by Liao (2012) pointed out that brand image is the most important factor when buying smartphone in India. Both Saudi Arabia and India are High in Power distance and the studies have established a strong relationship between High power distance and brand in decision making.

6.5.1 Preference towards large screen smartphone

Secondly, 71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets). The important findings were not the level of preference towards large screen smartphone but the reasoning behind the preference. Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were; Functional Benefits and Social Status. Saudi respondent placed emphasis on large screen looks good and design being prominent among friends/office workers. The UK smartphone users' main reason behind large screen smartphones was exclusively 'Functional Benefits' such as better batter life, working efficiently on a larger screen, better experience for watching etc. The Saudi Arabian culture scores high on Power distance dimension 95, while UK culture according to Hofstede scores 35. This is in line with previous literature, the study by Kim and Zhang (2014) shown that people in high-power-distance contexts prefer status goods more than those in low-power-distance contexts. In addition, our findings are also aligned with a previous cross cultural study Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed and battery life of large screen smartphone. Chinese culture scores high on power distance (80) dimension like Saudi Arabia (95) This concludes that Saudi smartphone users perceive large screen phones socially desirable as opposed to British consumers who solely perceives them as better functionally.

6.5.2 Sharing of device

57 % users in Saudi Arabia and 21% of British smartphone users aged 18-34 shared their devices with their family members. There was a common theme that sharing was majorly with their kids. The study by Chen (2013) concluded that Taiwanese respondents which is highly collectivistic culture frequently shared their tablets as opposed to the U.S respondents which falls under individualistic culture. Our research is in align with the previous study because the respondents in Saudi Arabia expressed sharing as a normal behaviour especially with their kids and partner. The reason behind UK respondent not sharing their smartphones was predominantly due to 'Privacy'. However, even though majority of Saudi respondents shared device, but there was still a considerable 43% of the Saudi respondents which did not shared their device. Saudi is a highly collectivistic culture but still a sizeable number of respondents expressed views which were close to individualism values like UK. This could be potentially due to culture being evolved due to several factors such as social media, westernization or our study being limited to age group of 18-34, maybe a higher age group will have higher sharing rates of their devices because they might be closer to their cultural makeup.

6.5.3 Online reviews

Our findings revealed that online reviews are the main source of recommendation for British and Saudi respondents when purchasing new smartphones. This is concurring with previous research which concludes the online reviews plays significant part in the decision making these days. The study by Li (2011) suggests that consumer actions are not just dependent on their own motivation but also by the user online. The Wang and Lin (2011) explained that consumers in order to reduce cognitive effort when faced with too much information tends to follow other's decision instead of making their own. Moreover, consumers are now actively searching for product information on social networking sites rather than company's own website due to credibility issue (Sinclaire and Vogugs, 2011). Furthermore, Park et al. (2007) pointed out that online consumer reviews nowadays play key role in decision making process because this kind of consumer created information provides indirect experiences of products.

The interesting finding was that even Saudi smartphone users also mentioned online reviews as their main source of recommendation. Although, Saudi Arabia is a highly collectivist society and it could have been expected that Saudi participants could be using Friends/Family/Instore salesperson as a source of recommendation over online due to the interpersonal nature of the society. In addition, the reason behind online recommendations taking over the human recommendations is the emergence and penetration of social media among Saudi respondents aged 18-34. Our first part of the findings also confirmed that the Social media is the main motivation behind Saudi smartphone users.

The findings add to the body of knowledge that international marketers should heavily invest on online presence and availability on major social media platforms. There was a significant preference across both cultures towards online reviews due to the fact they are perceived as unbiased and more credible than the brand's own website or the instore salesperson. In addition, several respondents from both cultures mentioned about their increased M-shopping due to several reasons such as Covid-19. This another reason on why smartphone corporations should find new ways to make the customer journey from purchase- to- finding reviews better.

6.6 Early adopters

The study by Yeniyurt and Townsend (2003) suggested that countries with power distance and uncertainty avoidance hinders the acceptance of new products, while individualism encourages the innovative products.

Our findings revealed across both culture there were reasons behind not buying new smartphone as soon as possible from the launch date. Even though culturally Saudi and United Kingdom appears to be different on Hofstede dimensions especially in power distance and uncertainty avoidance. Our study concluded that neither of cultures are fully early adopter when it comes to purchase new smartphone. The factors which resist British smartphone users were:

- There is lack of innovation within smartphones.
- Happy with current performance of their smartphone

While reason behind Saudi smartphone users on not being early adopter were:

- Saudi respondents prefer to wait and assess the feedback of other buyers regarding the performance of new smartphone.
- Saudi respondents prefer to wait for few months because of price drop.

The findings of reasoning contribute to the knowledge that how different market behaves and assesses the early adoption. This should assist policy makers in smartphone industry to address these reasons in order to decrease the average replacement cycle of consumers all around the world regarding smartphone upgrades.

6.7 Final Verdict SAM

Based on the Finding in Chapter 5 and Discussion in Chapter 6, table 6.1 shows the final verdict on our original hypothesis of **SAM**. The graphical illustration of each hypothesis can be found in Appendix M, N, O, P, Q, R.1, R.2, S.

Original hypothesis	Validation	Final verdict
H1: High PU will have a direct positive influence on the behavioural intention to use new smartphones	Supported	Our findings concluded that PU is relevant in smartphone industry. The reason why people use smartphones across both cultures is due to the benefit they offer. The higher the perceived usefulness, higher the BI to use smartphones.
H2: PEOU will have a direct positive influence on the behavioural intention to use new smartphones	Supported	Our findings concluded that PEOU is relevant in smartphone industry. Users across both cultures aged 18- 34 currently find these smartphones easy to use and not complicated, which increases their BI to use.
H3: SN will have a positive influence on users' BI to use smartphones	Not Supported	Our findings concluded that SN did not have any substantial effect on Saudi smartphone users and no effect on British smartphone users. Both cultures heavily relied on 'online recommendation' as opposed to Friends/Family opinions when making decision about purchasing new smartphone.
H4: PR will have a direct negative influence on BI to use new smartphone features	Supported	Our findings concluded that PR is still one of the significant factors when it comes to resistance of innovation in smartphone industry.
H5 Stronger effect of PU on BI for the Individualistic individuals, while lower effect of PU on BI for the Collectivistic individuals for new smartphone features	Supported	Our findings confirmed that smartphone users from individualistic (UK) culture were more focused on PU, which resulted high intent to use. Conversely, users from collectivistic (Saudi) culture perceived less usefulness to these new innovations as compared to British users.

H6a: High PD score, more effect	Supported	Our findings confirmed that social
of SN on BI to use new	Supported	influence only came into effect
smartphones. Low PD Score,		when societal differences were
lower effect of SN on BI to use		involved. Saudi Culture preferred
new smartphones		Large screen smartphones due to
H6b: The relationship between		the Social status, while British
PLL and PL to use smorthbone is		culture (Low PD) preferred large
PO and Bi to use smartphone is		screen smartphones due to
moderated by PD value.		functional benefits. This confirmed
		that High PD cultures (Saudi) takes
		social environment into account
		when they need to demonstrate
		social status or send a message to
		environment.
		Secondly, Low PD cultures do not
		rely on others and use their own
		judgement which is based on
		usefulness and therefore it is
		feature oriented. On the contrary,
		high PD culture have a strong
		preference towards status brands
		than those with low power distance
		belief. Buying branded products can
		be a way of enhancing social status
		and therefore branding plays a
		significant part when purchasing
		new smartphone by Saudi users
H7 The relationship between PR	Supported	Our findings confirmed that high
and BI to use is moderated by		UA culture (Saudi) perceived higher
UA value		risk to M-shopping, as compared to
		Low UA culture (British). Saudi
		users' perceived risk overshadowed
		their perception of usefulness of
		this service. On the other hand,
		British users did not demonstrate
		any risk in context of m-shopping
		and found it useful.

Table 6.1: Final Verdict on SAM (Author's own)

6.8 Summary Chapter 6

After extensive discussion of our findings and SAM conceptual framework, please find below table 6.2 which summarizes our key discussion points. The summary discussion is divided into 3 parts (*Motivation, Cultural Dimensions' Impact, Upgrading to New Smartphone and Behaviour*).

Motivation- Discussion Summary Part 1			
Our findings	Previous literature/research	Findings Expected	Explanation
The average Screen time of British smartphone user was 5 hours, 28 minutes per day as opposed to 7 hours, 48 minutes by Saudi respondents.	 Code Computer love (2019) found that an average UK screen time is 3 hours and 23 minutes per day, and this rises considerably to 3 hours and 48 minutes for the aged group 16-24. The study by Alosaimi (2016) found that majority (61%) of the 2367 participants (Saudi) spent at least 5 hours per day using their smartphones, whereas 27.2% spend more than 8 hours per day. 	Not expected	Saudi users spend on average 2.3 hours more per day than British respondents. One of the reasons behind high screen time across both cultures could be 'timing of our research'. Our research was conducted during COVID-19, and there could be a possibility that individuals had more spare time due to lockdown.
Our findings identified that Saudi females used social media but did not post on Social networking sites due to cultural/religious reasons.	 The study by Al dossry (2012) and Al Raddawi (2014) found that Saudi society is still loyal to the Islamic religion as a fundamental doctrine, and not as westernized which affect their behaviour. 	Expected	This comes back to the conservative nature of the Saudi society. Also, according to Hofstede, Saudi Arabia is a highly collectivistic society which means group opinion prevails over 'l'.

Our findings reported 86% of	The following literature indicated	Expected	PU construct is still relevant across both
the British and 93% of the	that PU has a significant impact		culture and the reason behind high adoption
Saudi respondents listed	on BI: Davis, 1989; Igbaria et al.,		of smartphones is due to high usefulness
smartphone as the	1997; Venkatesh & Davis, 2000;		they offer. According to Saudi and British
	Chau & Hu, 2002; Venkatesh &		smartphone users, the significant reason
most important electronical	Balla, 2008; Al-Hujran & Al		behind high adoption of smartphone is
device.	Dalahmeh, 2011		down to: Convenience and Multitasking
Our findings indicated that	• The following literature indicated	Expected	One of the reasons behind overwhelming
smartphone is considered by	that PEOU has significant impact		majority across both cultures viewing
significant majority as ease	on BI: Aggelidis & Chatzoglou,		smartphones as 'easy to use' and not
	2009; Al-Hujran & Al-Dalahmeh,		'complicated' could be due to the age
of use and not	2011; Croteau & Vieru, 2002;		sample of our research (18-34). The
complicated	Davis, 1989; Venkatesh, 2000;		literature indicates the younger generations
complicated across	Venkatesh & Balla, 2008; Hoque		are more likely to adapt to new technology
both cultures which impacts BI	& Bao, 2015; Wu et al., 2008		as compared to older generation.
to use smartphone.			

Cultural Dimensions' Impact- Discussion Summary Part2

Our findings	Previous literature/research	Findings	Explanation
		Expected	
British smartphone users aged 18-34 are significantly ahead when it comes to M- shopping (79%) as compared to 50% of the Saudi smartphone users.	 Mandler et al. (2018) suggested that mobile commerce services are negatively influenced by level of uncertainty avoidance Dai and Palvia (2008) found that individuals from the culture with low uncertainty avoidance are more likely to accept new mobile services as compared to higher uncertainty avoidance cultures Park and June 2003; Park et al., 2004 concluded that collectivistic cultures perceive higher risk with online shopping Groß (2016) showed that risk 	Partially	One of the prime reasons for Saudi respondents to not fully adopt M-shopping was the perceived risk. Saudi respondents who even used M-shopping, even they preferred 'cash on delivery method' over online transaction. Our findings contradict with Mokhtar et al. (2020), but supports the findings from the study by Holmes, Byrne, and Rowley (2013). The reasons to adopt M-shopping by British smartphone users were 'convenience' and 'quick delivery' instead of 'price'.
	perception towards mobile		

	 channels obstruct consumers from continuous m-shopping Mokhtar et al. (2020) found price as the most significant factor which impacts the online shopping behaviour among young adults Holmes, Byrne, and Rowley (2013) identified accessibility and convenience as determining factors by consumers in context of m-shopping 		Overall, Saudi users (High UA culture) perceived higher risk of M-shopping which affected their adoption.
Our findings revealed that 57%	• Luger and Sellen, 2016; Cowan et	Partially	The significant reason behind using voice
of the UK and 36% of the Saudi	al., 2017 examined the usefulness		assistant by British respondents was
users aged 18-34 use VOiCE	of Intelligent personal assistants		responding to texts/calls during driving. This
-	(IPAs) and suggested that it is		is in line with study by Luger and Sellen
assistant at least once a	mostly used in situations where		(2016) and Cowan et al. (2017).
week	user is engaged in other activities		The prime reason for Saudi respondents not
	like cooking, driving, and playing.		adopting Voice assistants was down to their
	• Cowan et al. (2017) have shown		perception for this technology – 'Viewed this
	social embarrassment,		technology for older smartphone users'. No
	consistency, and trust as one of		previous study has indicated this as obstacle.
	the major obstacles behind using		
	Intelligent Personal Assistant.		
			Overall, British users (Highly Individualistic
			culture) have a higher adoption rate because
			they perceive higher usefulness of this
			innovation as compared to Saudi (Highly
			collectivistic culture) smartphone users.
Two-thirds (64%) of UK and	Bamasak (2011) showed that	Partially	Reasons behind lack of adoption by Saudi
42% of the Saudi users aged 18-	there is a bright future of mobile		smartphone users were:
34 use at least once a month	payments in Saudi Arabia as most		Low perceived benefit
digital payment	of the participants in the study		Old habits
method such as Apple Pay,			

Samsung Pay, or Google pay	expressed willingness to use it in	This is partially in line with study of Rouibah
etc.	future	(2015) regarding familiarity towards digital
	• Rouibah (2015) found that major	payments, but Saudi users did not indicate
	obstacle behind adoption of	high charges or low trust as obstacle in
	digital payments methods in	digital payment context.
	Kuwait which is culturally	
	comparable to Saudi Arabia were:	The high adoption rate for Digital payments
	high charges, low trust, and	by British smartphone users was due to
	familiarity	COVID-19, because users are using
	• Liu et al. (2012) concluded that	contactless ways more now and avoid cash
	digital wallet gave additional	handling. No previous study indicated the
	convenience to consumers in	impact of COVID-19 on digital payments.
	Canada by offering them	Overall, Saudi users (Highly Collectivistic
	flexibility and increased speed of	culture) have relatively a lower adoption
	transaction	rate because they perceive low usefulness of
	• Padashetty and Kishore (2013)	this innovation as compared to British
	found trust, ease of use, and	(Highly Individualistic culture) smartphone
	expressiveness as motivators in	users.
	India towards adoption of digital	
	payments methods by consumers	
	• Rathore (2016) identified that	
	digital payment method was	
	convenient for consumers when	
	making a purchase online without	
	moving across places.	

Upgrading to New Smartphones and Behaviour- Discussion Summary Part3

Our findings	Previous literature/research	Findings	Explanation
		Expected	
The most influential factor	• Kim and Zhang (2014) concluded	Expected	Branding over features. 43% of the Saudi
according to British	that countries with High power		users viewed branding as the most
smartphone users was	distance tends to have a strong		influential factors towards decision making.
'Features' , while	preference towards status brands		The second most important factor was Price
	than those with low power		(29%). The third most influential factor was
'Branding' plays crucial	distance belief.		split between Social Influence (14%) and
	• Liao (2012) indicated that brand		Features (14%). High power distance tends
	image is most important factor		to have a strong preference towards status

part in the decision making of	when purchasing smartphone for	brands than those with low power distance
Saudi smartphone users	consumers in India	belief. Buying branded products can be a
	Alsulami (2018) concurs with our	way of enhancing social status and therefore
	findings are points out that those	branding plays a significant part when
	Saudi consumers are more	purchasing new smartphone by Saudi users.
	inclined towards international	On the other hand Features plays an integral
	brands, and they are affected by	part in UK consumer decision making with 50% of
	brand name when making	the respondent listing it as most influential
	purchase	factor. The second most influential factor is
	• Malviya et al. (2013) concluded	shared between Branding (21%) and Price (21%).
	that brand name of mobile phone	The least influential factor was social influence
	in India has a dominant impact on	(7%) according to British respondents. This
	consumer evaluation and	confirms that cultures with low PD(UK) uses their
	subsequently their buying	own judgment instead of relying on other factors
	decision of mobile phone	I ow PD culture emphasizes on the usefulness
		over anything.
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of	Rau et al. (2015) which concluded	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference	 Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers 	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference	 Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to 	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets)
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen	 Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's 	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were:
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets).	 Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen 	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were:
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets).	 Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed 	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were: • Social Status.
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets).	 Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed and battery life of large screen 	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were: • Social Status. • Functional benefits
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets).	 Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed and battery life of large screen smartphone. 	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were: • Social Status. • Functional benefits
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets).	 Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed and battery life of large screen smartphone. 	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were: • Social Status. • Functional benefits Saudi respondent placed emphasis on large screen looks good and design being
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets).	• Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed and battery life of large screen smartphone.	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were: • Social Status. • Functional benefits Saudi respondent placed emphasis on large screen looks good and design being prominent among friends/office workers
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets).	• Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed and battery life of large screen smartphone.	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were: • Social Status. • Functional benefits Saudi respondent placed emphasis on large screen looks good and design being prominent among friends/office workers.
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets).	• Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed and battery life of large screen smartphone.	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were: • Social Status. • Functional benefits Saudi respondent placed emphasis on large screen looks good and design being prominent among friends/office workers. The UK smartphone users' main reason
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets).	 Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed and battery life of large screen smartphone. 	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were: • Social Status. • Functional benefits Saudi respondent placed emphasis on large screen looks good and design being prominent among friends/office workers. The UK smartphone users' main reason behind large screen smartphones was
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets).	• Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed and battery life of large screen smartphone.	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were: • Social Status. • Functional benefits Saudi respondent placed emphasis on large screen looks good and design being prominent among friends/office workers. The UK smartphone users' main reason behind large screen smartphones was exclusively:
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets).	• Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed and battery life of large screen smartphone.	YesOur findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were:• Social Status. • Functional benefitsSaudi respondent placed emphasis on large screen looks good and design being prominent among friends/office workers.The UK smartphone users' main reason behind large screen smartphones was exclusively: • Functional Benefits
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets).	• Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed and battery life of large screen smartphone.	Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi Yes Our findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were: • Social Status. • Functional benefits Saudi respondent placed emphasis on large screen looks good and design being prominent among friends/office workers. The UK smartphone users' main reason behind large screen smartphones was exclusively: • Functional Benefits
71% of the Saudi and 43 % of the UK users have preference towards large screen phones (Phablets).	• Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German's respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed and battery life of large screen smartphone.	YesOur findings revealed that Saudi respondents' two main reasons on why they prefer large screen smartphone (Phablets) were:• Social Status. • Functional benefitsSaudi respondent placed emphasis on large screen looks good and design being prominent among friends/office workers.The UK smartphone users' main reason behind large screen smartphones was exclusively: • Functional BenefitsBritish respondents placed emphasis on things such as better batter life, working

			experience for watching videos on large screen. Overall High PD culture (Saudi) places emphasises on status goods and social desirability element, while low PD culture (UK) base their decision on usefulness.
57 % users in Saudi Arabia and	The study by Chen (2013) concluded that Taiwanese	Partially	The reason behind UK respondent not
users aged 18- 34 Shared their devices with their family members	respondents which is highly collectivistic culture frequently shared their tablets as opposed to the U.S respondents which falls under individualistic culture		predominantly due to 'Privacy'. Even though majority of Saudi respondents shared device, but there was still a considerable 43% of the Saudi respondents who did not share their device. Saudi is a highly collectivistic culture but still a sizeable number of respondents expressed views which were close to individualism values like UK. This could be potentially due to culture being evolved due to several factors such as social media, westernization or our study being limited to age group of 18-34. Maybe a higher age group will have higher sharing rates of their devices because they might be closer to their cultural makeup.

Table 6.2: Summary Discussion (Author's own)

Chapter 7 Conclusion and Further research

7.1 Research overview

This study sets out to enrich the body of cross-cultural literature by exploring the perceptions and behaviours of British and Saudi smartphone users aged 18-34. Five specific research questions were asked in order to discover how innovation is viewed by Western vs Eastern culture group. Our research questions included: motivation behind using smartphone, cultural dimensions impact on behavioural intention, attitudes towards innovation, purchase intention behind upgrading, and reasons behind resistance of innovation cross culturally.

The study used Hofstede's cultural dimension model of national culture to investigate the cultural differences between UK and Saudi Arabia. The study adopted interpretivist approach and gathered qualitative data by conducting 28 in depth Semistructured interviews (14 British participants and 14 Saudi participants) to evaluate the psychological behaviour of the consumers in the context of innovation. Our study concluded that both adoption and resistance towards innovation within smartphone are driven to a varying extent by different cultural dimensions. Individualism/Collectivism, Uncertainty avoidance, Power distance, are the three dimensions which exhibited an impact on our findings and identified varied decision-making process by both cultures. Our study concluded that reasoning behind adoption and resistance by both cultures towards; Mobile commerce, Digital payments, Voice assistant, Large screen smartphones and Sharing of devices were different. This confirmed the interpretation and understanding of innovation changes based on cultural makeup.

The findings also showed that there was a convergence in perception regarding the level of innovation within last 5 years in smartphone industry. Our results showed that there was a consensus that there has not been a substantial and meaningful innovation in the industry recently. The study also found that there was a resentment towards smartphone companies launching smartphones every year across both cultures.

Despite limitations of the study, our study contributed to the body knowledge in several ways. This research developed an integrative model that combines both technology acceptance theories with cultural theory and apply at consumer level

within different cultural contexts. This research by developing **SAM** framework which combines TAM and Hofstede cultural dimension, tested the relevance of these theories in the current climate. In addition, our study showed the reasons behind adoption/resistance towards the emerging latest features which are being incorporated such as: Voice assistants, Digital payments, M-shopping etc. There is a limited knowledge on how these technologies will be perceived by people from all over the globe with different cultural backgrounds. The previous studies have been limited to 'what', while our study focused on the thinking process behind adoption or resistance towards these new features. Furthermore, there was scarcity in understanding of 'views, opinions, and beliefs" of Western and Middle Eastern culture regarding innovation in smartphone industry. Our research provided an indepth analysis in this area which was underdeveloped and provided opportunity for future researchers to apply the findings in different regions. Our study assisted *Policy* makers, Smartphone brands, Product Designers, and Software developers with a better understanding on how the latest innovations emerging in the industry such as Artificial intelligence/Voice assistants, Digital Wallets, M-shopping are being perceived in Western vs Eastern region.

7.2 Meeting the aim and objectives of thesis

The aim of the study was "to explore the impact of culture towards innovation in smartphone industry of consumers aged 18-34 from UK and Saudi Arabia".

The outcome of our aim was to support the "*Policy makers, Software developers, Smartphone brands and Product designers operating in the smartphone industry to establish a better understanding of the factors which contributes or inhibits adoption of new smartphone features across contrasting cultures*"

In order to measure the fulfilment of the aim and objectives, the researcher revisited our **SAM** constructs, its effect on our study, and analysed the relevance of those effects within **smartphone industry**. Below is the table 7.1 which shows this in tabular format.

Smartphone adoption model (SAM) constructs	Effect	Implications and relevance of SAM within smartphone industry
Perceived usefulness	 Saudi users' perceived usefulness was low towards voice assistants in smartphones, therefore only 36% uses it. In British context this construct was highly relevant because the focal point in their decision making was perceived usefulness (Feature oriented and focused on functional benefits) 	Perceived usefulness remained to be the most significant factor in our model regarding adoption. It was clear that if a feature/service/innovation is viewed highly useful then it will be adopted especially in the context of British culture which is feature oriented and individualistic. The smartphone developers and international marketers when bringing out innovative features should emphasize more in highlighting the benefits on how it will improve one's life which will increase the perceived usefulness especially in the individualistic cultures.
Perceived ease of use	 Overwhelming majority across both cultures viewed new smartphones as easy to use and this contributed towards their intention to use 	One of the prime reasons behind this could be our study focused on aged 18-34, which are technically more literate as per literature. Technology related devices being 'easy to use' is a model and a lesson for other tech related emerging industries such as Virtual reality, Smartwatches, Augmented Reality, Smart glasses, Electric cars to follow because this confirms that if the tech related product is easy to use and not complicated, it is likely to be adopted all over the world, not just developed regions. Our study showed similar perception of smartphones regarding ease of use in both parts of the world (Middle East and West). For smartphone companies, they should keep their new innovation and operating systems less complicated in order to sustain the mass global adoption.
Perceived Risk	 One of the main reasons behind Saudi smartphone users resisting Mobile shopping was perceived risk (financial risk). 	Smartphone corporations in order to increase the adoption and decrease the resistance towards new services should devise trust building campaigns especially in Saudi culture where these services are relatively new, and suspicion is high (High Uncertainty Avoidance cultures). Perceived

		risk is more relevant in high UA cultures because individuals from those cultures prefer to avoid uncertainty and can be intolerant towards unorthodox ideas.
Subjective Norm	 Online reviews play the most influential part when deciding to purchase by British and Saudi users. 	This is an interesting development from global industry perspective that online recommendations across both cultures remains to be more effective than "instore colleagues", "friends/family" recommendations. Our findings suggest smartphone companies to invest heavily on e- commerce side of business instead of stores. Smartphone users across both cultures spend more time on tech experts reviews than instore for their recommendations.
Individualism	 Stronger effect of PU on BI for the Individualistic individuals, while lower effect of PU on BI for the Collectivistic individuals for new smartphone features Negative effects on social fabric according to Saudi users regarding high screen times on their smartphones 	High adoption rate in individualistic culture and the PU had a stronger effect on them, while in collectivistic culture PU was not as relevant. This was the reason behind disparity among adoption of Voice assistants, Digital payment between British and Saudi culture. In addition, Smartphone brands needs to come up with innovative screen lock features which could be applied easily. Saudi smartphone users expressed resentment regarding overusing of their device because it is affecting the " social fabric " of society according to some. The corporations also need to work on their image and strive to be viewed as " proactive " and " serious " when it comes to limiting screen time for their users.
Power Distance	 71% Saudi Smartphone users preferred large screen smartphone due to Social Status and Functional benefits, while British smartphone users preferred large screen smartphones just due to functional benefits. 	This shows that people in high-power- distance culture prefers status goods more than those in low-power-distance contexts. In High PD cultures, the smartphones which will be viewed in the society as "socially desirable" or "premium" will likely have more success because it will serve the "social status" need. The advertisers and brand managers operating in High PD regions should emphasize more on the "social desirability" element of their

		smartphone to increase the revenue/profits.
Uncertainty avoidance (UA)	 79% of British smartphone users admitted embracing M-shopping. 	Cultures with low UA demonstrates more risk taking and are more willing to accept new services. Special attention is needed in cultures which are high in UA such as Saudi where more transparency and better communication by smartphone corporations are required regarding new services in order to increase the global adoption.

Table 7.1: SAM Constructs, Effect, and Relevance to smartphone industry (Author's own)

7.3 Key findings of thesis

The following sections will recapitulate the key findings of the study by revisiting the research questions and present it in British and Saudi context. Below is the table 7.2 which shows our key findings.

Research Questions	British Key findings	Saudi Key findings
1)How different are the motivation of UK and Saudi consumers behind using smartphone?	 British users predominantly use smartphone for communication, followed by entertainment purposes British smartphone users spend 5 hours, 28 minutes on average on their smartphone per day 	 Saudi users use mainly for social media, followed by communication purposes. Saudi smartphone users spend 7 hours, 48 minutes on average on their smartphone per day
2) How do Cultural dimensions (Individualism, Power distance, and Uncertainty avoidance) impact the behavioural intention of smartphone usage.	 57% of British uses voice assistant once a week 64% uses digital payment 79% of British purchased something over last month using smartphone 	 36% of Saudi uses voice assistants once a week 42% uses digital payment 50% of Saudi users purchased something over last month using smartphone
3) How do UK and Saudi consumers perceive innovation within smartphone industry?	 No substantial and meaningful innovation according to British smartphone users in last 5 years Resentment towards smartphone companies launching smartphone every year because lack of trust towards big tech corporations and obsolete technology. 	 No substantial and meaningful innovation according to Saudi smartphone users in last 5 years Resentment towards smartphone companies launching smartphone every year because it devalues the current smartphone and lack of trust towards big tech corporations.
4) Why consumers in UK and Saudi Arabia upgrade to new smartphone?	 Our findings reported that main motivation factor behind upgrading smartphone by British users were 'Faster Processor', British users reported 'Features' as the most influential factor when purchasing new smartphone 	 Our findings reported that main motivation factor behind upgrading smartphone by Saudi users were 'Better Camera'. Saudi users reported 'Branding' as the most influential factor when purchasing new smartphone

5) How do UK and Saudi consumers	Lack of perceived benefit	• Financial risk and Performance
resist innovation within smartphone	(usefulness) plays critical role	risk plays crucial role regarding
industry?	regarding rejecting new	rejecting new smartphone
	smartphone according to British	according to Saudi respondents.
	respondents.	

Table 7.2: Key findings (Author's own)

7.4 Research contribution and novelty

This study presents several contributions on several avenues within and outside the smartphone industry. To the best of author's knowledge, there has been no study which explored cultural impact within smartphone industry by comparing under researched 'Saudi Arabia' and western (UK) culture. Below are the several contributions of our research:

- Our study's novelty stems from the fact that there has been very little or no studies which incorporated innovation in the context of smartphone. By addressing this gap, the outcome is that it should open the doors for future researcher to explore *innovation* in other technological industries which share similar characteristics with smartphone industry such as smart watch, virtual reality, augmented reality, electric cars, smart speakers etc. Our study's contribution goes beyond just smartphone industry and will have spill over effects in other technology driven industries because our study discussed the perception of emerging phenomenon: Artificial intelligence.
- Our study is also quite novel because it developed Smartphone Adoption Model (SAM) which not only just took into account adoption factors (PU, PEOU), but also included resistance factor (PR), and cultural factors (IND, PD, UA). To our knowledge there has been no study which developed a comprehensive model and applied in western vs eastern region.
- Our study indicated that the adoption rate towards new smartphone features such as **voice assistants**, **digital payments**, **m-shopping** is more favourable in UK as compared to Saudi Arabia. This provides an opportunity for smartphone corporation (Apple, Samsung, Huawei), software developers, international marketing managers to better understand on how their innovation is being perceived and why there are disparities in adoption rates

across cultures. Our findings and discussion chapter provided a detailed explanation behind every adoption and resistance, which gives smartphone manufacturers an opportunity to address them.

- Our study also confirmed that TAM constructs (PU, PEOU) are still relevant, even in today's day and age and significant even with latest innovation like Siri, Bixby: Apple pay, Samsung Pay. In addition, our study also confirmed the effect of Perceived risk as one of the top resistance factors. This is crucial for user experience designers when developing new services for consumers around the world.
- Our study confirmed cultural effect (*Testing relevance of Hofstede's work*) and contributed towards the growing body of literature. Our study pinpointed the effect of cultural dimensions within TAM model and therefore assisted in providing a better understanding of the role of culture in current climate in context of smartphone industry. In addition, our study also compared cultures (UK vs Saudi Arabia) which were not just different culturally, but also in terms of language, religion, and geographic region. Our review of literature showed that majority of cross-cultural studies within smartphone industry were comparing cultures which were similar or in same continent. The outcome of this novelty will encourage other researchers to conduct consumer oriented cross-cultural studies which are in contrasting regions such as *African culture vs Asian* culture or *European culture vs Latin culture*.
- One of the most important contribution of our study is that our research produced a qualitative, rich, textual information instead of numbers, which depicted the clear image of the psychology of consumer's mind. To our knowledge there are no present studies which compared underlying motivations of an Arab country vs European country in qualitative exploratory nature. This approach provided layered information about British and Saudi perception on latest smartphone innovation and emphasized Why and How.
- Our study confirmed that upgrading life cycle are increasing across both cultures. The study contributed by providing detailed reasoning on the reasons behind consumers on delaying their upgrade. This provides an opportunity for smartphone corporations to address this as soon as possible.

Our study also provided a new definition of "innovation" which is in context of smartphone industry (See Figure 2.7). The researcher reviewed extensive literature (Table 2.1) which reviewed innovation definitions from 1953-2020. The researcher also developed "innovation spider" (See Figure 2.6) which illustrates the 8 common themes by reviewing definitions from 1953-2020. This innovation spider provides opportunity for other researchers to use this and develop their own definition of innovation based on the context of industry

Below is the Figure 7.1 which illustrates our contributions graphically for our research.

Contributes by Incorporating "innovation" with smartphone and culture, which was missing in the current literature in smartphone related studies

Contributes by developing SAM (Smartphone adoption model) which takes into account cultural, resistance, and adoption factors simultaneously.

To explore the impact of culture towards innovation within smartphone industry

Contributes by testing the relevance of Hofstede's cultural dimension by confirming the effects of Ind, PD, UA on BI and other TAM constructs. Our study confirmed the relevance of culture and constructs of TAM in current climate Contributes towards the lack of crosscultural studies which compares cultures which are different in terms of language, religion, and geographic regions. The study also provided a new definition of innovation in context of smartphone industry which was missing in the literature.

Figure 7.1: Research contributions (Author's own)

7.5 Research implications

As established in the earlier section that our study has several contributions. This study also presents several implications which are in context of theory and practical.

7.5.1 Implications to Theory

Based on the findings from the literature and results of the current study there were emerging factors which were missing in previous cultural frameworks. Our findings confirmed as per previous research that cultural differences exist and affects the consumer behaviour. The 6-dimension model of national culture by Hofstede explains the difference based on various dimensions. Hofstede's framework has been one of the best and widely cited pieces of work in cross cultural studies. Our findings appeared to show that Saudi culture is deeply rooted to its Islamic origin, however there were signs of 'westernization'. Our findings revealed word map of both British and Saudi respondents regarding the word ''innovation''. Our study found that Saudi respondents associated innovation with words such as

"American/western". Furthermore, one of our findings reported that 57% of the Saudi smartphone users share their device with their family. Although this showed the values of collectivism dictating the behaviour, however there was still a sizeable 43% of respondents which did not prefer to share their device due to privacy. This may indicate that the cultural values are shifting or changing. The literature showed that Saudi Society has one of highest social media penetration and sites like Facebook and Instagram are experiencing double digit growth in recent years. Saudi Arabia also has the highest per capita Twitter users around the world and one of the highest video consumptions on YouTube per capita around the world. Our findings raise a question mark on previous cultural frameworks such as: *Hofstede 1980, 2001, 2010; Schwartz 1992; Trompenaars 1994; House et al., 2004.*

How do you measure intangible shift or effect on values by emergence of Social Media?

Hofstede's work and many other scholars regarding culture has been conducted before the emergence of the Social media. There is little known about how it has an effect on one's cultural makeup. Majority of the established cultural frameworks in previous literature such as Hofstede 1980, 2001, 2010; Schwartz 1992; Trompenaars 1994; House et al., 2004, have not taken into the account Social

Media's contribution towards global convergence. More studies and revisions on the cultural frameworks may be needed and more emphasis may be required on measuring the shifts in values. The theoretical frameworks need to focus on below:

• The integration of cultures can result a negotiated culture. A negotiated culture which is multi-layered, multi dimension and multi value oriented.

In addition, our study included sample from participants aged 18-34. If the future study compares the cross-cultural behaviour of British and Saudi sample aged 45+. Will there be different findings as compared to current study? If this happens, then cultural frameworks will also need to also revise and include the effect of age towards its cultural values. It raises the question mark on the cultural theoretical frameworks that:

For example: British individual who is 18 years old, and a British individual who is 45+ years old. Are they both equally individualistic? Or one is more individualistic than another?

Based on the above, the researcher identified **Age** and **Social media** as potential moderators which may affect the cultural dimensions. Below is the figure 7.2 which illustrates on how our theoretical implications have inspired and raised question on the cultural dimensions via **SAM** model. Our **SAM** confirmed the moderating effect of culture on the constructs; however, it raises the question that what factors can affect the moderators.



Figure 7.2: Age and Social media effect on Cultural dimensions (Author's own)

In addition, our study encourages cross cultural scholars to revisit the current cultural frameworks and explore the impact of **Social media** and **Age** on the values of culture. Research by McCoy, Galletta, & King (2005) also supports the notion and argues that shift may have occurred over the last 30 years in cultural values and those assumptions based on Hofstede's work may be questionable. Please see the Appendix T for Author's claim on Hofstede's dimension. To further elaborate on our claim, below is the Figure 7.3 which explains author's view.



Figure 7.3: Author's question on Hofstede's dimensions (Author's own)

7.5.2 Implications to Practice/Managers

Secondly, our research has also presented several practical implications to policy makers in the smartphone industry, international marketing managers, and smartphone corporations.

Smartphone is a billion-dollar industry, and according to Statista the global revenue of smartphone industry in 2020 would amount to \$409.1 billion (Statista, 2020). In addition, according to one of the latest projections, there will be 6 billion devices in circulation by 2020 (Kharpal, 2017). Smartphone industry is huge and brands operating in the industry are facing increased competition. Growth of smartphone market is heavily dependent on replacing existing phones. An average replacement of a smartphone according to Statista (2017) around the world is 28.1 months. Our findings have revealed that across both cultures there has been a resentment towards smartphone companies launching their model every year. There was also a congruence between perceptions when asked regarding how the participants view the level of innovation in smartphone industry within in last 5 years. There was an agreement across both cultures that:

There has not been a substantial and meaningful innovation in last 5 years.

The smartphone users from both cultures agreed that there have been some improvements in areas such as: **5G**, **Design**, **Artificial Intelligence**, **Camera**, **Processor**, and **Battery**. The mutual reason behind resentment was lack of trust towards big tech corporations. Several respondents from both cultures perceived this as money making activity or a marketing tactic for businesses to reap profits.

By looking at our findings it appears that upgrade cycle of smartphone will increase, and consumer will persist to hold on to their current phone due to lack of innovation by smartphone manufacturers or trust towards smartphone them. If this trend persists across the world, it will send shockwaves to the bottom line of the smartphone corporations This can be further explained through an example of one of the biggest corporations operating in smartphone industry: "**Apple**". Below is the figure 7.4 which illustrates the iPhone revenue as a percentage of Apple's total revenue. It can be seen that 60% of the total revenue of Apple comes alone from its smartphone division. Our findings are reporting that the average cycle of replacing the phone will increase, which means less people will buy new phones and more people will hold on to their current smartphones. This can have massive impact not just in the smartphone division, but across the whole business operation of Apple. The biggest question for smartphone companies is:

How can smartphone corporations push or entice smartphone users across the world to keep replacing/upgrading their phones year on year?

The feature-oriented users' needs to be convinced that they need a new smartphone because of a new emerging feature or a service which adds novel value to the end user. The users need to be persuaded that this is the 'next big thing' and there is a tangible breakthrough in the market. Our findings reported that British respondents are 'Feature' oriented and one of the reasons why they are not fully early adopters in the smartphone industry is because they are not perceiving usefulness of the new smartphones. Companies such as Samsung and Apple need to spend more budget on Research and development. Currently, Apple spends \$11.6 Billion, and Samsung spent \$15.3 billion in research and development in 2018. This means Apple is only spending 5.1% of its revenue, while Samsung is spending 6.8% of its revenue on research and development (Dewitt, 2019).

This part of discussion adds to body of the knowledge that the perception of innovation in smartphone industry within last 5 years have been similar in Middle Eastern and Western culture. The smartphone corporations would need to work heavily on research and development and need to have a breakthrough in terms on innovation. In addition, smartphone corporations are in need to work on their perception of "money making activities" in mind of consumers. If these two ideas continue across the world, then there could be a decline in the overall sales revenue of smartphones which could affect the overall degree of innovation in the industry. People will hold on to their smartphones for long before they upgrade to a new one.



Figure 7.4: iPhone revenue as a percentage of Apple's total revenue since 2007 (Kim, 2017)

From a managerial perspective, our insights show that smartphone corporations, advertisers, hardware/software manufacturers should take into account cultural dimensions when incorporating new features in smartphones. Our study showed that interpretation and perception of things such as voice assistants, digital payments, m-shopping varied across the culture. It is quite interesting that more is being spent on innovation by corporations, but less is being spent on understanding what works for what market.

Our findings revealed that Saudi users spend on average 2.3 hours more per day than British respondents. The average screen time of British smartphone user was 328 minutes per day as opposed to 468 minutes by Saudi respondents. The reported screen time was higher than previous research and surveys and one of the reasons could be due to the research being conducted during COVID-19 and people aged 18-34 all around the world has more spare time. In addition, our findings also reported a difference of view regarding overusing of smartphone. The British reported higher rates of admitting and awareness of higher screen times, while Saudi participants reported that they do not view that they are overusing their smartphone.

This adds to the body of knowledge for marketers from smartphone companies such as Apple and Samsung, who should raise awareness on this matter in the Middle

Eastern cultures. More education, communication, and in device easy to use features are required which will assist consumers across the world to limit screen time and be aware of potential hazard of overusing. Reducing the over usage of screen time should be part of ethical responsibility by smartphone companies.

Our results regarding adoption and resistance towards various new features showed interesting trends which disregards and also supports previous literature.

The digital payment adoption rates were significantly higher among British respondents than Saudi respondents. One of the leading reasons behind adopting was COVID-19. This finding shows the benefit of the qualitative data because previous literature does not offer any insight about pandemic impacting the adoption of innovation.

In addition, Saudi respondents reported higher preference towards large screen smartphones than British and one of the reasons emerged was due to Social status. The participants from Saudi placed emphasis on 'Design', 'Making a statement', 'Visually appealing" when talking about large screen smartphones (Phablets). The British respondents who preferred large screen smartphones were mainly due to 'Functional benefits. Saudi Arabia scores High on Power distance with the score of 95, while United Kingdom scores 35. This is in line with previous literature, the study by Kim and Zhang (2014) shown that people in high-power-distance contexts prefer status goods more than those in low-power-distance contexts. In addition, our findings are also aligned with a previous cross cultural study Rau et al. (2015) which concluded that Chinese consumers prefers large screen smartphones due to prestige factor and German respondents prefers large screen phones mainly due to for speed and battery life of large screen smartphone. Chinese culture scores high on power distance (80) dimension like Saudi Arabia (95). German and United Kingdom both scores (35) in Power distance dimension. This concludes that Saudi smartphone users perceive large screen phones socially desirable as opposed to British consumers who solely perceives them as better functionally. These findings expand on the existing knowledge in the context that even though China and Saudi Arabia are different countries in many ways, languages, values, norms etc. They still exhibited the similar behaviour due to Power distance dimension on Hofstede's model. Similarly, UK and Germany also have several differences such as: economic
structure, language, history etc. They still exhibited similar behaviour and preference towards functional benefits. International marketers should adapt their advertising and focus regarding large screen smartphones across the cultures. Based on our findings and previous literature, more feature-oriented advertisement will appeal to British, while lifestyle advertisements will appeal to Saudi smartphone users.

Our findings also suggested that British smartphone use voice assistants on their smartphone more than Saudi users. The low adoption rate was down to the perception of voice assistants as being for older generation by Saudi respondents. The users from British who did not use voice assistant was due to gap in expectation vs actual performance. This shows that smartphone companies need to work towards voice assistant category and on any other feature which incorporates artificial intelligence. It needs to improve the performance level of the technology and its' perceived positioning in the mind of consumers. Some Saudi respondents were not happy with voice assistant not detecting their accent of English and some Saudi respondents viewed this feature only useful for older consumers.

Similarly, about two thirds of the British respondents admitted to purchased something from their smartphone (M-shopping), as compared to 50% of the Saudi respondents. The reasoning for resistance was significantly higher in Saudi as compared to British respondents, and their reasonings were different as well. The major reason behind Saudi respondents showing reluctance were: Poor experience, Lack of touch feel factor, Lack of trust. High UA culture normally perceives higher risk associated with online shopping than Low UA culture (Park and Jun 2003; Park et al. 2004; Mandler et al., 2018; Dai and Palvia, 2008). According to Hofstede (2005) Saudi Arabian culture scores 85 under uncertainty avoidance dimension, while UK scores 35. This concludes the disparity in adoption across both cultures.

The findings and in-depth reasoning layer by layer behind adoption and rejection of technologies were possible in our research due to explorative qualitative nature of study. The traditional cross cultural quantitative study would have been limited in grasping the in-depth reasoning and psychology of consumer's mind set. The marketing managers can focus on the resistance/adoption factors and try to overcome and change the consumer behaviour based on the culture.

Our findings reported that majority British smartphone users expressed concerns and risks attached to innovation in smartphone, while 64% Saudi respondents expressed comfort towards future innovation when asked if participants view any potential risk attached to these latest features and innovation in smartphone industry. This disregards with previous studies by Trepte et al. (2017) which explained that countries with high uncertainty avoidance and collectivism tend to pose greater emphasis on privacy issues and research by Hofstede (2005) which suggested that low uncertainty avoidance culture (UK) demonstrates risk-taking and ease with unknown, while countries who score higher (Saudi Arabia) are hesitant towards new information and unknown. This was interesting to find, and it adds to the body of knowledge that Saud respondents did not view much of risks when talking about innovations theoretically but practically when using new innovations there was resistance (m-shopping). British respondents' main concerns were of Data Privacy and Hacking issues. The respondents mentioned that with the emergence of Artificial intelligence like voice assistant and digital payments, the amount of personal and sensitive information our smartphone has is concerning. The smartphone companies like Apple and Samsung should design a sustained-long term campaign which will address these risks and concerns by consumers especially in western society. For example, Apple has increased its advertising budget by 50 % from 2014 to 2015. Apple spends \$1.8 Billion globally in its advertising alone as per its annual reports (Spanier, 2015). The \$600 million increase, for the year ending Sept. 26, was six times larger than the \$100 million rise seen a year earlier. There has not been any insight on what proportion of that advertising budget is spent on promotion of new smartphone models vs education about transparency issues.

7.6 Research Limitations

As with most studies, this research had number of limitations. Firstly, the current study conducted during the pandemic which pushed face to face semi structured interviews into skype interviews. Another limitation was the qualitative nature of the study which affects the sample size and generalizability. However, our research was explorative and focused on 'why 'rather 'what' and compared two opposing cultures as per Hofstede's model of national culture. Payne and Williams (2005) concluded that qualitative research provides thicker understanding about process, social life, and patterns of behaviour, which could be applied potentially in different settings.

326

Some of the findings can provide inspiration for other researchers and international marketers to start exploring innovation perception across the world. Another limitation is using Hofstede's model to understand the cultural differences. Some may argue that this model has been outdated and instead use the recent cultural frameworks such as Schwartz theory (1992) or GLOBE framework (House et al. 2004). However, after reviewing the technology acceptance literature, it was found that Hofstede's dimension to this date remains the most used model especially when extending any technology acceptance model (See- Table 3.1). Moreover, another limitation was language and form of expression by Saudi participants. This limitation was minimized by researcher to provide translation of semi structured interview beforehand and adapt the communication accordingly due to researcher being multilingual (Fluency in English and Arabic both). In addition, the interviews were one on one via online (Skype), however one of the problems raised when some of the Saudi Female respondents asked their partner (Husband) to accompany them during the interview. This was because, some of the Saudi female respondents felt more comfortable and willing to take part in the research when accompanied by their Husband. The researcher made sure that every effort is made to enhance the level of comfort, because this led to a pro longed discussions and helped really understand the multi-layered, complex issues such as Artificial intelligence, Innovation, Cultural Impact etc.

7.7 Future research recommendations

Based on our findings and discussion, it appears that cross cultural research is a crucial line of enquiry given that the study identified the cultural differences between Saudi and UK smartphone users. The future studies when comparing Eastern and Western cultures can adopt a mixed method approach which will increase the sample size and representation. Although generalizability was not the aim of this research, but the future studies could utilise the findings from this to design a random survey to increase the population sample. In addition, some gender differences were revealed regarding smartphone usage behaviour. It may be important for international marketers and smartphone corporations to explore gender differences in decision making and how they perceive innovation within smartphones. There have been previously studies done which showed female tend

to be more addicted to social media, while male users are more addicted to gaming (Andreassen et al., 2016).

Furthermore, our **SAM** model (Figure 3.1) could be applied in different regions to understand thought process regarding innovation in smartphone industry such as Smartphone users from African region vs Smartphone users from European region, or future researcher can explore rural smartphone users vs urban smartphone users in context of innovation within smartphone industry. In addition, future research could also conduct explorative cross-cultural studies in emerging technologies which share similar characteristic to a smartphone industry such as Smart watches, Voice assistant speakers, Virtual reality, Augmented reality headsets, Electric cars etc. This will be an interesting line of enquiry because it will give an insight on how people across cultures currently perceive new technologies especially which incorporates Artificial intelligence. Moreover, future research could also explore cross cultural attitudes towards innovation with an older age group and examine their perception of innovation. In addition, as identified earlier (Appendix T) our study also encourages cross cultural researchers to revisit the current cultural frameworks (Hofstede, Schwartz, Globe) and explore if the emergence of social media had any effect on the cultural values and examine if there has been any shift in core cultural makeup of society.

References

Aaker, D. A. (1991) *Managing brand equity: Capitalizing on the value of a brand name*. London: Free Press.

Abbas, M., Shahid Nawaz, M., Ahmad, J. and Ashraf, M. (2017) 'The effect of innovation and consumer related factors on consumer resistance to innovation', *Cogent Business & Management*, 4(1). DOI:10.1080/23311975.2017.1312058.

Abbasi, M. S., Tarhini, A., Elyas, T. and Shah, F. (2015) 'Impact of individualism and collectivism over the individual's technology acceptance behaviour: A multi-group analysis between Pakistan and Turkey', *Journal of Enterprise Information Management*, 28(6), pp. 747-768.

Abidin, S.Z. and Mokhtar, S.S. & Yusoff, R.Z. (2013) 'Innovation process from the perspective of measurement', *International Journal of Innovation and Applied Studies*, 3(1), pp. 255-261.

Abo-Jedi, A. (2008) 'Cellphone addiction and its relation to self-closure in a sample of Jordanian university and Amman private university students', *The Jordanian Journal for Educational Sciences*, 4, pp.137–150.

Abernathy, W. J. and Utterback, J. M. (1978) 'Patterns of industrial innovation', *Technology Review*, 80(7), pp. 40–47.

Abrunhosa, A. and Sá, P. M. (2008) 'Are TQM principles supporting innovation in the Portuguese footwear industry'?, *Technovation*, 28, pp. 208-221.

Adams, G. R. and Schvaneveldt, J. D. (1991) *Understanding research methods*. 2nd edn. New York: Longman.

Ace. (2021) *Why People Prefer Digital Payments over Traditional ways of money transfer?* Available from: https://blog.acemoneytransfer.com/why-people-prefer-digital-payment/ [Electronically accessed on 24th July 2021].

Adongo, P., Tabong, P. and Azongo, T. (2014) 'A comparative qualitative study of misconceptions associated with contraceptive use in southern and northern Ghana', *Front Public Health*, 2(137). DOI: https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2014.00137.

Afuah A. (2002) *Innovation Management: Strategies, Implementation, and Profits*. 2nd edn. New York: Oxford University Press.

Agar, J. (2013) *Constant touch: A global history of the mobile phone*. Duxford, Cambridge, UK: Icon Books UK.

Aggelidis, V. P. and Chatzoglou, P. D. (2009) 'Using a modified technology acceptance model in hospitals', *International journal of medical informatics*, 78(2), pp. 115-126.

Aiken, M. and Hage, J. (1971) 'The organic organization and innovation'. *Sociology*, 5(1), pp. 63-82.

Ajzen, I. and Fishbein, M. (1980) *Understanding attitudes and predicting social behavior*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

Ajzen, I. (1991). 'The theory of planned behavior', *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 50(2), pp. 179–211. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/074959789190020T [Electronically Accessed on 23rd July 2020].

Ajzen, I. (2006) Constructing a Theory of Planned Behaviour Questionnaire: Conceptual and Methodological Consideration. Available from: http://www.people.umass.edu/aizen/pdf/tpb.measurement.pdf [Electronically accessed on 12th July 2021].

Akour, I., Alshare, K., Miller, D. and Dwairi, M. (2006) 'An exploratory analysis of culture, perceived ease of use, perceived usefulness, and internet acceptance: The case of Jordan', *Journal of Internet commerce*, 5(3), pp. 83-108.

Akthar, S., Irfan, M., Kanwar, S., Pitafi, H. and Amin, A. (2018) 'Investigating the moderating role of uncertainty avoidance on mobile banking adoption: A cross-cultural study', *Asian Journal of Arts, Humanities and Social Studies*, 1(2), pp. 59-73.

Al, M. and Kumar, R. (2011) 'Investigating Uncertainty Avoidance and Perceived Risk for Impacting Internet Buying: A Study in Three National Cultures', *International Journal of Business and Management*, 6(5). DOI:10.5539/ijbm.v6n5p76.

Al-adwan, A. S., Al-adwan, A. and Berger, H. (2018) 'Solving the mystery of mobile learning adoption in higher education', *International Journal of Mobile Communication*, 16(1), pp. 24. DOI:10.1504/IJMC.2018.088271.

Alalwan, A. A., Baabdullah, A., Rana, N. P, Tamilmani, K. and Dwivedi, Y.K. (2018) 'Examining adoption of mobile internet in Saudi Arabia: Extending TAM with perceived enjoyment, innovativeness and trust', *Technology in Society*, 55, pp. 100-110. DOI: 10.1016/j.techsoc.2018.06.007.

Alam, M. Z., Hu, W. and Barua, Z. (2018) 'Using the UTUAT model to determine factors affecting acceptance and use of mobile health (mhealth) services in Bangladesh', *Journal of Studied in Social Sciences*, 17(2), pp. 137-172.

Alasdair, A. and Philips, J. (2017) *Digital Enhanced Cordless Tele communication or DECT phones*. Available at: http://www.powerwatch.org.uk [Electronically accessed on 14th March 2019].

Aldhaban, F. (2012) 'Exploring the Adoption of Smartphone Technology: Literature Review'. In: *PICMET 12.* Portland, OR, USA, pp. 2758-2770.

Aldraehim, M. (2013) *Cultural impact on e-service in Saudi Arabia.* Available from: https://eprints.qut.edu.au/60899/3/Majid_Saad_Aldraehim_Thesis.pdf [Electronically accessed on 27th April 2019].

Al dossry, M. (2012) Consumer culture in Saudi Arabia. A Qualitative study among heads of households. Available from:

https://ore.exeter.ac.uk/repository/bitstream/handle/10036/4205/AlDossryT.pdf?sequ ence=1 [Electronically accessed on 3rd Jan 2019].

Alfawareh, H. and Jusoh, S. (2017) 'The usage and effect of smartphones in higher education'. *International Journal of Interactive Mobile Technologies*, 11(6), pp.103-111.

Al-Gahtani, S. S., Hubona, G. S., & Wang, J. (2007) 'Information technology (IT) in Saudi Arabia: Culture and the acceptance and use of IT', *Information & Management*, 44 (8), 681-691.

Al-Hujran, O. & Al-dalahmeh, M. (2011) 'The Role of National Culture on Citizen Adoption of eGovernment web sites'. *In ECEG2011-Proceedings of the 11th European Conference on EGovernment: ECEG2011* (p. 17). Academic Conferences Limited.

Ali, M. and Miraz, M. H. (2015) 'The cultural impact of diffusion of IT innovation in world society'. Conference: *International Conference on Recent Advances in Computer Systems (RACS-2015)*. At: Ha'il, Saudi Arabia. DOI: 10.2991/racs-15.2016.19. [Electronically accessed on 16th Jan 2019].

Ali, R. (2021) *iPhone 12 mini vs iPhone 12 Pro Max*. Available from: https://www.uswitch.com/mobiles/features/iphone-12-mini-vs-iphone-12-pro-max/ [Electronically accessed on 24th July 2021].

Al-Jaafreh, B. (2011) 'The relationship between information quality and national cultural in Jordan: Conceptual framework'. *The International Conference on Information Quality*. Australia. P. 548-569.

Alkhunaizan, A. and Love, S. (2012) 'What drives mobile commerce? An empirical evaluation of the revised UTAUT model', *International Journal of Management and Marketing Academy*, 2(1), pp. 82–99.

Allred, B. B. and Swan, K. S. (2004) 'Global versus multidomestic: Culture's consequences on innovation', *Management International Review*, 44, pp. 81-105.

Almahfud, M. (2014) *A cross cultural comparison of smartphone use in the United States and Saudi Arabia.* Available from: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Across-cultural-comparison-of-smartphone-use-in-of-

Almahfud/e74b6b83e6c013425e5738a24bdc6809e4376fc2. [Electronically accessed on 16th June 2018].

Alosaimi, F.D., Alyahya H., Alshahwan, H., Al Mahyijari, N. and Shaik, S.A. (2016) 'Smartphone addiction among university students in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia'. *Saudi Med J*, 37(6), pp. 675-683. DOI:10.15537/Smj.2016.6.14430. Alshare, K., Mesak, H., Grandon, E. and Badri, M. (2011) 'Examining the Moderating Role of National Culture on an Extended Technology Acceptance Model', *Journal of Global Information Technology Management*, 14(3), pp. 27-53.

Alsulami, H. (2018) 'Evaluating the influence of branding on Saudi consumer's decisions'. *International Journal of Sciences: Basic and Applied Research (IJSBAR)*, 37(1), pp 212-225.

Amabile, T.M. (1996) *Creativity and Innovation in organisations*. Boston: Harvard Business School Press 1.

Amar, A. D. (2004) 'Motivating knowledge workers to innovate: A model integrating motivation dynamics and antecedents', *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 7(2), pp. 89-10.

Amber, C. (2011). *We are all Cyborgs.* Available from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=z1KJAXM3xYA [Electronically accessed on 2nd Feb 2019]

Amin, H. (2008) 'Factors affecting the intentions of customers in Malaysia to use mobile phone credit cards', *Management Research News*, 31(7), pp. 493-503.

Anandarajan, M., Igbaria, M. and Anakwe, U. P. (2002) 'IT acceptance in a lessdeveloped country: A motivational factor perspective', *International Journal of Information Management*, 22(1), pp. 47-65. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0268-4012(01)00040-8

Anderson, N. R. and West, M. A. (1998) 'Measuring climate for work group innovation: Development and validation of the team climate inventory'. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, 19(3), 235-258.

Anderson, V. (2009) *Research methods in human resource management*: Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development.

Andreassen, C. S., Billieux, J., Griffiths, M. D., Kuss, D. J., Demetrovics, Z., Mazzoni, E. and Pallesen, S. (2016) 'The relationship between addictive use of social media and video games and symptoms of psychiatric disorders: A large-scale cross-sectional study', *Psychology of Addictive Behaviours*, 30(2), pp. 252–262. Andrew, J.P. and Sirkin, H.L. (2003) 'Innovating for cash'. *Harvard Business Review*, 81(9), pp. 76-83.

Anderson, E. W., Fornell, C. and Lehmann, D. R. (1994) 'Customer satisfaction, market share, and profitability: Findings from Sweden'. *The Journal of Marketing*, 58(3), pp. 53-66.

Andy, C. (2018) *Ultimate smartphone features.* Available from: https://www.mobiles.co.uk/blog/ultimate-smartphone-features/ [Electronically accessed on 2nd March 2019]

Anning-Dorson, T. (2018) 'Innovation and competitive advantage creation; The role of organisational leadership in service firms from emerging markets', *International Marketing Review*. 35(4), pp. 580-600. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/IMR-11-2015-0262

Ansoff, H.I., Kipley, D., Lewis, A.O., Helm-Stevens, R. and Ansoff, R. (2019) *Implanting strategic management*. Springer. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-99599-1

Antioco, M. and Kleijnen, M. (2010) 'Consumer adoption of technological innovations: Effects of psychological and functional barriers in a lack of content versus a presence of content situation'. *European Journal of Marketing*, 44(11/12), pp.1700–1724.

Ao-world. (2019), *UK's first mobile phone slow lane created for distracted workers.* Available from: https://www.ao-world.com/2019/08/27/uks-first-mobile-phone-slowlane-created-for-distracted-walkers/ [Electronically accessed on 7th Jan 2020]

Apaci, I., Cetin, Y. & Turetken, O. (2015) 'A cross cultural analysis of smartphone adoption by Turkish and Canadian organisations'. *Journal of Global Information Technology Management*, 18(3), pp. 214-238. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/1097198X.2015.1080052

Apilo, T. and Taskinen, T. (2006) 'Innovaatioiden Johtaminen'. *Researcher Notes* 2320. Available from:

https://www.vttresearch.com/sites/default/files/pdf/tiedotteet/2006/T2330.pdf. [Electronically accessed on 18th June 2018] Arthur, C. and Butler, S. (2017) *Upgrade downturn: why are people holding on to their old phones?* Available from:

https://www.theguardian.com/money/2017/sep/01/upgrade-downturn-why-arepeople-holding-on-to-their-old-phones [Electronically accessed on 18th December 2017]

Arts, J. W. C., Frambach, R. T. & Bijmolt, T. H. A. (2011) 'Generalizations on consumer innovation adoption: A meta-analysis on the drivers of intention and behaviour'. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, *28*(2), pp. 134-144.

Ary, D., Jacobs, L.C. and Razavieh, A. (1996) *Introduction to Research in Education*. Harcourt Brace College Publishers, Fort Worth.

Ary, D., Jacobs, L. C., Razavieh, A. and Sorensen, C. (2006) *Introduction to research in education*. 7th edn. California: Thomson Wadsworth.

Åstebro, T. and Dahlin, K. (2005) 'Opportunity Knocks', *Research Policy*, 34 (9), pp.1404-1418.

Asplund, M. and Sandin, R. (1999) 'The survival of new products', *Review of Industrial Organization*, 15(3), pp. 219-237.

Assad, S. (2008) 'The rise of consumerism in Saudi Arabia', *International Journal of Commence and Management,* 17(1/2), pp.73-104. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/10569210710774767

Attride-Stirling, J. (2001) 'Thematic networks: An analytical tool for qualitative research'. *Qualitative Research*, 1(3), pp. 385-405.

Avlonitis, G. J., Kouremenos, A. and Tzokas, N. (1994) 'Assessing the innovativeness of organizations and its antecedents: Project Innovstrat', *European Journal of Marketing*, 28, pp. 5-28.

Aylesworth, G.E. (1991) 'Dialogue, Text, Narrative: Confronting Gadamer and Ricoeur', in H. Silverman (Ed.), *Gadamer and Hermeneutics*, pp. 63-81, New York: Routledge.

Aylaz, R., Güneş, G., Günaydın, Y., Kocaer, M. and Pehlivan, E., (2016) 'Problematic internet usage among high school students and the relevant factors', *Turkish Journal of Public Health*, 13 (3), pp. 184-192. DOI: 10.20518/thsd.65874

Ayodele, A. A. & Ifeanyichukwu, C. (2016)' Factors Influencing Smartphone Purchase Behavior Among Young Adults in Nigeria', *International Journal of Recent Scientific Research*, 7(9), pp. 13248-13254. Available from SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3118698. [Electronically accessed on 12th June 2018]

Baber, C. (1993) Interactive speech technology: human factors issue in the application of speech input/output. Taylor and Francis group. 1–18.

Baek, S.I., Paik, S.K. and Yoo, W.S. (2009) 'Understanding Key Attributes in Mobile Service: Kano Model Approach'. In: Salvendy G., Smith M.J. (eds) Human Interface and the Management of Information. Information and Interaction. Human Interface 2009. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, 5618. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-02559-4_39. [Electronically accessed on 7th December 2018]

Baez, B. (2002) 'Confidentiality in qualitative research: Reflections on secrets, power and agency', *Qualitative Research*, 2(1), pp. 35-58.

Bagchi, K., Hart, P. and Peterson, M. (2014) 'National culture and information technology product adoption'. *Journal of Global Information Technology Management*, 7(4), pp. 29-46.

Bagozzi, R. P. and Kyu-Hyun, L. (1999) 'Consumer Resistance to, and Acceptance of, Innovations'. *Advances in Consumer Research*, 26, pp. 218-226.

Bailoun, A. (2019) *Security to boost adoption of contactless payments in Saudi Arabia*. Available from: https://saudigazette.com.sa/article/569147 [Electronically accessed on 23rd December 2019].

Bailey, K. (2008) Methods of social research: Simon and Schuster.

Barutçu, S. (2007) 'Attitudes towards mobile marketing tools: a study of Turkish consumers', *Journal of Targeting, Measurement and Analysis for Marketing*, 16(1), pp. 26-38.

Balasubramanian, S., Peterson, R. A. and Jarvenpaa, S.L. (2002) 'Exploring the implication of m-commerce for markets and marketing', *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 30(4), pp. 348-361.

Baldwin, J. R. and Sabourin, D., (2000) 'Innovative activity in Canadian food processing establishments: the importance of engineering practices', *International Journal of Technology Management*, 20(5/6/7/8), pp. 511-527.

Baldwin, J. R., Faulkner, S. L., Hecht, M. L. and Lindsley, S. L. (2006) *LEA's communication series. Redefining culture: Perspectives across the disciplines.* Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.

Bamasak, O. (2011) 'Exploring consumers acceptance of mobile payments', International Journal of Information Technology, Communications and Convergence 1(2), pp. 173-185. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1504/IJITCC.2011.039284

Baregheh, A., Rowley, J. and Sambrook, S. (2009) 'Towards multi-disciplinary definition of innovation', *Management decisions*, 47(8), pp.1323-1339.

Barkhuus, L., & Polichar, V. E. (2011)' Empowerment through seamfulness: Smart phones in everyday life', *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, 15(6), pp. 629-639.

Barnett H.G. (1953) *Innovation: the Basis of Cultural Change*. New York: McGraw Hill.

Baron, N. S. and Segerstad, Y. H. (2010) 'Cross-cultural patterns in mobile-phone use: public space and reachability in Sweden, the USA and Japan'. *New Media & Society*, 12(1), pp. 13-34. DOI: 10.1177/146144480935511.

Barnett, H.G. (1953) *Innovation: The basis of cultural change*. New York: Mc Graw Hill.

Barney, J. B. (1991) 'Firms resources and sustained competitive advantage'. *Journal of Management*, 17(1), 99-120. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/014920639101700108

Barton, S. (2010) Social and cultural factors that influence the uptake of e-learning: case studies in Malaysia, Indonesia, Turkey, Singapore and Australia. PhD Thesis. Melbourne: School of Business Information Technology, RMIT University

Barutçu, S. (2007) 'Attitudes towards mobile marketing tools: a study of Turkish consumers', *Journal of Targeting, Measurement, and Analysis for Marketing*, 16(1), pp. 26-38. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1057/palgrave.jt.5750061.

Basit, T.N. (2003) 'Manual or Electronic? The Role of Coding in Qualitative Data Analysis', *Educational Research*, 45(2), pp. 143-154.

Bauer, R.A. (1960) 'Consumer Behavior as Risk Taking. In: Hancock, R.S., Ed., Dynamic Marketing for a Changing World', *Proceedings of the 43rd Conference of the American Marketing Association*, 389-398.

Baumgartner, H. and Steenkamp, J.-B.E.M. (1996) 'Exploratory consumer buying behaviour: Conceptualization and measurement'. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 13(2), pp. 121-137. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-8116(95)00037-2

Bayus, B. L., G. Erickson. and R. Jacobson. (2003) 'The financial rewards of new product introductions in the personal computer industry', *Management Science*, 49(2), pp. 197-210.

Bea, S. & Lee, T. (2011) 'Gender Differences in Consumers' Perception of Online Consumer. Reviews'. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 11(2), pp. 201-214.

Beck, B.F. & Moore, L. (1985) *Linking the host culture to organizational variables* [In:] Rost P.J.F et al., Organizational culture, Beverly Hills, Calif.: Sage, pp. 335-54.

Beldad, A. D. and Hegner, S. M. (2018) 'Expanding the technology acceptance model with the inclusion of trust, social influence, and health valuation to determine the predictors of German users' willingness to continue using a fitness app: A structural equation modeling approach', *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 34(9), pp. 882-893.

Belk, R.W. and Tumbat, G. (2005) 'The Cult of Macintosh', *Consumption, Markets, and Cultures*, 8(3), pp. 205-217.

Bell, G. (2003) 'Other homes: Alternate visions of culturally situated technologies for the home', *Paper presented at the Conference on Computer-Human Interaction* (*CHI 2003*). Fort Lauderdale, Florida, USA.

Bellenger, D.N. and Kergaonkar, P.K. (1980) 'Profiling the Recreational Shopper', Journal of Retailing Elsevier Science Publishing Company, 56, pp. 77-91.

Belleman, S. E., Johnson, J., Kobrin S. J. and Lohse, G. L. (2004) 'International Differences in Information Privacy Concerns: A Global Survey of Consumers', *The Information Society*, 20(5), pp. 313-32.

Benbasat, I. and Zmud, R. (1999) 'Empirical research in information systems: the practice of relevance', MIS *quarterly*, 23(1), pp. 3-16. Available from: http://www.jstor.org/stable/249403 [Electronically Accessed on 23rd July 2021].

Berdahl, J. L., Glick, P. and Cooper, M. (2018) *How masculinity contests undermine organisations, and what to do about it.* Available from: https://hbr.org/2018/11/how-masculinity-contests-undermine-organizations-and-what-to-do-about-it [Electronically accessed on 29th March 2019].

Berg, B. (2007) *An Introduction to Content Analysis.* In: Berg, B.L., Ed., Qualitative Research Methods for the Social Sciences, Allyn and Bacon, Boston, 238-267.

Berlyne, D.E. (1963) 'Complexity and Incongruity variables as determinants of explanatory choice and evaluative ratings', *Canadian Journal of Psychology*, 17(3), pp. 274-29

Bernstein, R.J. (1983) *Beyond Objectivism and Relativism: Science, Hermeneutics, and Praxis.* Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Berlyne, D. E. (1960) Conflict, Arousal and Curiosity. New York: McGraw Hill.

Berlyne, D.E. (1963) 'Complexity and Incongruity variables as determinants of explanatory choice and evaluative ratings', *Canadian Journal of Psychology*, 17(3), pp. 274-290.

Berlyne, D.E. (1966) 'Curiosity and Exploration'. Science, 153(3731), pp. 25-33.

Berlyne, D.E. (1967) 'Arousal and Reinforcement', *Nebraska Symposium on Motivation*, 15(1), pp. 1-110.

Berlyne, D.E. (1970) 'Novelty, Complexity, and Hedonic value'. *Perception and Psychophysics*, 8 (5A), pp. 279-286.

Berlyne, D.E. (1971) *Aesthetics and Psychobiology*. Appleton-Century-Crofts, New York.

Berlyne, D. E. (1973) 'The vicissitudes of aplopathematic and thelematoscopic pneumatology (or The hydrography of hedonism)'. In D. E. Berlyne & K. B. Madsen (Eds.), *Pleasure, reward, preference: Their nature, determinants and role in behavior* (pp. 1–33). New York: Academic Press

Berlyne, D.E. (1978) 'Curiosity and learning', *Motivation and Emotion*, 2, pp. 97-175.

Beurer-Zuellig, B. and Meckel, M. (2008) 'Smartphones Enabling Mobile Collaboration', *Proceedings of the 41st Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS 2008)*, pp. 49–49. Available at: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=4438753 [Electronically accessed on 18th June 2019]

Bezeley, P. (2007) Qualitative Data Analysis with NVivo. London: Sage.

Bhagat, R. S. and McQuaid, S. J. (1982) 'Role of Subjective Culture in Organizations: A review and directions for future research', *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 67(5), pp. 653-685.

Bhattacharyya, S. and Rahman, Z. (2004) 'Capturing the customer's voice, the centrepiece of strategy making: A case study in banking', *European Business Review*, 16(2), pp. 128-138.

Bianchi, A. & Phillips, J. (2005) 'Psychological predictors of problem mobile phone use', *CyberPsychology and Behavior*, 8(1), pp. 39–51.

Billieux, J., Linden, M. and Rochat, L. (2008) 'The role of impulsivity in actual and problematic use of the mobile phone', *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 22(9), pp.1195-1210.

Biztoday. (2019) *Apple pay now available to visa cardholders in Saudi Arabia*. Available from: https://www.biztoday.news/2019/02/19/apple-pay-now-available-to-visa-cardholders-in-saudi-arabia/ [Electronically accessed on 29th March 2019]

Blaschko, T. and Burlingame, J. (2002) *Assessment tools for recreational therapy and related fields*. 3rd edn. Ravensdale, WA: Idyll Arbor Inc.

Bluhm, D.J., Harman, W., Lee, T.W. and Mitchell, T.R. (2010) 'Qualitative Research in Management: A Decade of Progress', *Journal of Management Studies*, 48(8), pp.1866–1891

Bogers, T., Al-Basri, A. A. A., Rytlig, C. O., Møller, M. E. B., Rasmussen, M. J., Michelsen, N. K. B. and Jørgensen, S. G. (2019) 'A Study of Usage and Usability of Intelligent Personal Assistants in Denmark'. In N. G. Taylor, C. Christian-Lamb, M. H. Martin, & B. Nardi (Eds.), *Information in Contemporary Society*, 11420, pp. 79-90. DOI: org/10.1007/978-3-030-15742-5_7.

Bogdan, R.C. and Biklen, S.K. (1982) *Qualitative Research for Education: An Introduction to Theory and Methods*. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.

Bojei, J., & Hoo, W. C. (2012) 'Brand equity and current use as the new horizon for repurchase intention of smartphone'. *International Journal of Business and Society*, 13(1), pp. 33-48.

Bond, M. H. (2002) 'Reclaiming the Individual From Hofstede's Ecological Analysis-A 20-Year Odyssey: Comment on Oyserman et al. (2002)', *Psychological Bulletin*, 128(1), pp. 73-77. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.128.1.73.

Boontarig, W., Chutimaskul, W., Chongsuphajaisiddhi, V. and Papasratorn, B. (2012) 'Factors influencing the Thai elderly intention to use smartphone for e-Health services'. *2012 IEEE Symposium on Humanities, Science and Engineering Research*, 479-483.

Bopp, C. (2018) User experience with voice user interfaces – a diary study using Amazon Echo as an example. Available from:

https://serviceplan.blog/en/2018/01/study-voice-user-interfaces-amazon-echo [Electronically accessed on 24th April 2019]. Boren, Z. (2014) *The world is home to 7.2 billion gadgets, and they are multiplying five times faster than we are*. Available from: https://www.independent.co.uk/life-style/gadgets-and-tech/news/there-are-officially-more-mobile-devices-than-people-in-the-world-9780518.html [Electronically accessed on 10 December 2018].

Bouman, H., Carlsson, C., Carlsson, J. and Nikou, S. (2014) 'How Nokia Failed to Nail the Smartphone Market', *Conference*: 25th European Regional Conference of the International Telecommunications Society (ITS). Brussels, Belgium.

Bouwman, H., Carlsson, C., Molina-Castillo, F.J. & Walden, P. (2007) 'Barriers and drivers in the adoption of current and future mobile services in Finland', *Telematics and Informatics*, 24(2), pp. 145-160.

Bowman, J.P. and Okuda, T. (1985) 'Japanese- American communication: mysteries, enigmas and possibilities', *The Bulletin of the Association for Business Communication*, 4, pp. 18-21.

Braun, V. and Clarke, V. (2006) 'Using thematic analysis in psychology', *Qualitative research in psychology*, 3(2), pp. 77-101.

Brewerton, P. and Millward, L. (2001) *Organisational Research Methods*. Great Britain: Sage Publications Ltd.

Bridges, L., Rempel, H. and Griggs, K. (2010). 'Making the case for a fully mobile library web site: from floor maps to the catalog', *Reference Services Review*, 38(2), pp. 309-320. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/00907321011045061

Briggs, V.M. (1972) 'Labour Conditions and Problems: The Mexican -American People: The Nation's Second Largest Minority'. *ILR Review*, 25(2), pp.280-281. DOI: 10.1177/001979397202500221.

Brehm, J. W. (1966) A theory of psychological reactance. Academic Press.

Brehm, S. S., & Brehm, J. W. (1981) *Psychological Reactance: A Theory of Freedom and Control*. New York: Academic Press Brown, I., Cajee, Z., Davies, D. and Stroebel, S. (2003) 'Cell phone banking: predictors of adoption in South Africa—an exploratory study', *International journal of information management*, 23(5), pp. 381-394.

Brown, R.B. (2006) *Doing Your Dissertation in Business and Management: The Reality of Research and Writing*. Sage Publications, p.43

Brown, J. & Duguid, P. (1991) 'Organizational learning and communities-of-practice: toward aunified view of working, learning, and innovation', *Organization Science*, 2(1), pp. 40-57.

Brunborg, G.S, Mentzoni, R.A, Molde, & H. (2011) 'The relationship between media use in the bedroom, sleep habits and symptoms of insomnia', *Journal of Sleep Research*, 20, pp. 569–575.

Bruner, J.S. (1957) *Going beyond the information given*, in: Bruner, J. S., Gruber, H., Terrell, G., and Wertheimer, M. Contemporary approaches to cognition Harvard University Press, Cambridge M.A. 151-156.

Byington, K.W and Schwebe, D.C. (2013) 'Effects of mobile Internet use on college student pedestrian injury risk', *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 51, pp. 78-83. DOI: 10.1016/j.aap.2012.11.001.

Bryman, A. (2006) 'Integrating quantitative and qualitative research: how is it done'?, *Qualitative research*, 6(1), pp. 97-113. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794106058877.

Bryson, J. M. (2018) Strategic planning for public and non-profit organisations; A guide to strengthen and sustaining organizational achievement. John Wiley and Sons.

Bryman, A. (2001) Social Research Methods. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Bryman, A. & Bell, E. (2003) *Business Research Methods*. Oxford University Press, Oxford

Bryman, A. (2004) *Social research methods*. 2nd Edn, Oxford University Press, New York, 592

Bryman, A., & Bell, E. (2007) *Business Research Methods*. 2nd edn. Oxford: Oxford university press

Bryman, A. and Bell, E. (2011) *Business Research Methods*. Cambridge; New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Bryman, A., (2012) *Social Research Methods*. 4th edn. New York: Oxford University Press.

Bucholtz, M. (2000) 'The politics of transcription', *Journal of Pragmatics*, 32, pp.1439–1465.

Bukowski, A. and Rudnicki, S. (2018) 'Not Only Individualism', *The Effects of Long-Term Orientation and Other Cultural Variables on National Innovation Success*, 53(2), pp. 119-162.

Burnett J., (2008) *Core concepts of Marketing*. Jacob foundation, Zurich, Switzerland.

Cainelli, G., Evangelista, R. and Savona, M. (2006) '*Innovation and economic performance in services*: A firm-level analysis'. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 30(3), pp. 435-458.

Calantone, R. J., Griffith, D. A., and Yalcinkaya, G. (2006) 'An empirical examination of a technology adoption model for the context of China', *Journal of International Marketing*, 14(2), pp. 1-27.

Calfee, R. C. & Chambliss, M. (2005) The design of empirical research. In J. Flood, D. Lapp, J. R. Squire, & J. Jensen (Eds.), *Methods of research on teaching the English language arts: The methodology chapters from the handbook of research on teaching the English language arts* (pp. 43-78). Routledge.

Camilleri, M.A. and Falzon, L. (2020) 'Understanding motivations to use online streaming services: integrating the technology acceptance model (TAM) and the uses and gratifications theory (UGT)', *Spanish Journal of Marketing - ESIC*, 25(2), pp. 217-238. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/SJME-04-2020-0074

Cancelli, A. A., Duley, S.M. & Meredith, K.E. (1980) 'Subjective uncertainty as a predictor of specific exploration'. *Journal of Psychology*, 104(1-2), pp 3-9.

Cao, J. & Everard, A. (2008) 'User attitude towards instant messaging: the effect of espoused national cultural values on awareness and privacy', *Journal of Global Information Technology*, 11(2), pp.30-57. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/1097198X.2008.10856466

Carlsson, C., Carlsson, J., Hyvönen, K., Puhakainen, J. & Walden, P. (2006) 'Adoption of Mobile Devices / Services – Searching for Answers with the UTAUT', In: *Proceedings of the 39th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*. Hawaii, USA, pp. 1–10.

Castaño, R., Sujan, M., Kacker, M. & Sujan, H. (2008) 'Managing Consumer Uncertainty in the Adoption of New Products: Temporal Distance and Mental Simulation'. *Journal of Marketing Research* (JMR), 45(3), 320–336

Cbr. (2016) *Smartphone penetration more than 80% in the UK*. Available from: https://www.cbronline.com/uncategorised/smartphone-uk/ [Electronically accessed on 17th June 2018]

CEC. (1995) *Green Paper on Innovation*. COM (95) 688 final. Bullet of European Union Supplement.

Chan, S.C. and LU, M.T (2004) 'Understanding internet banking adoption and use behavior: a Hong Kong perspective', *Journal of Global Information Management*, 12(3), pp. 21-43. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4018/jgim.2004070102.

Chandio, F. (2011) *Studying acceptance of online banking information system: A structural equation model*. Available from: https://bura.brunel.ac.uk/bitstream/2438/6153/1/FulltextThesis.pdf [Electronically

accessed on 23rd June 2021]

Chandrasekaran, D. and Tellis, G. J. (2008) 'Global takeoff of new products: Culture, wealth, or vanishing differences', *Marketing Science*, 27, pp. 844-860.

Chandy, R. K. and Tellis, G. J. (1998) 'The incumbent's curse? Incumbency, size, and radical product innovation', *Journal of Marketing*, 64 (2000), pp. 1-17.

Chang, S. C. and Tung, F. C. (2008) 'An empirical investigation of students' behavioural intentions to use the online learning course websites', *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 39(1), pp. 71-83.

Chang, T.-Z. and Wildt, A.R. (1994) 'Price, Product Information, and Purchase Intention: An Empirical Study', *Academy of Marketing Science Journal*, 22(1), pp. 16–27.

Chang, Y.F., Chen, C.S. and Zhou, H. (2009). 'Smart phone for mobile commerce', *Computer Standards & Interfaces*, 31(4), pp. 740–747.

Chau, P. Y. K. and Hu, P. J. (2002) 'Examining a model of information technology acceptance by individual professionals: An exploratory study', *Journal of management information systems*, 18(4). pp. 191-229. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.2002.11045699

Chazidakis, A. and Lee, M. S. W. (2012) 'Anti-Consumption as the Study of Reasons against', *Journal of Macromarketing*, 33(3), pp. 1–14.

Chen, C (2013) 'Perceived risk, usage frequency of mobile banking services', *Managing Service Quality*, 23(5), pp. 410-436.

Chen, E. and Sloan, M. (2018) *How a Technology-Push Process Led to the Reboot of Google Glass*. Available from:

https://www.wired.com/insights/2015/03/technology-push-process-led-reboot-googleglass/ [Electronically accessed on 14th February 2019]

Chen, J. V., Yen, D. Y. and Chen, K. (2009) 'The acceptance and diffusion of the innovative smart phone use: A case study of a delivery service company in logistics', *Information & Management*, 46(4), pp. 241-24.

Chen, L., Gillenson, M.L. and Sherrell, D.L. (2002) 'Enticing online consumers: an extended technology acceptance perspective', *Information & Management*, 39(8), pp. 705–719.

Chen, Y. (2011) 'Exploring mKids' convenience, identity and privacy in mobile content sharing', *Research presented at a meeting of the EU Kids Online*

conference. London School of Economics and Political Science. University of London, London, UK

Chen, Y., Gibbon, D. and Jana, R. (2009) 'Project GeoTV: a three-screen service', *In Consumer Communications and Networking Conference*, 2009. CCNC 2009. 6th IEEE. Las Vegas, NV, pp. 1–2.

Chen, Y., Fay, S. and Wang, Q. (2011) 'The Role of Marketing in Social Media: How Online Consumer Reviews Evolve', *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 25, pp. 85-94.

Chen, Y. (2013) *How we share: A cross cultural comparison of tablet adoption and usage between United States and Taiwan.* Available from: https://web.uri.edu/iaics/files/Yi-Fan-Chen.pdf [Electronically accessed on 24th December 2017]

Chernev, A. (2004) 'Goal Orientation and Consumer Preference for the Status Quo', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 3, pp. 557-565.

Chiemeke, S. C. and Evwiekpaefe, A. E. (2011) 'A conceptual framework of a modified unified theory of acceptance and use of technology (UTAUT) Model with Nigerian factors in E-commerce adoption', *International Research Journals*, 2(12), pp. 1719-1726

Chigbu, U.E. (2013) *Territorial Development: Suggestions for a New Approach to Rural Development in Nigeria*. Ph.D. Thesis, Technical University of Munich, Munich, Germany.

Chigbu, U. (2019) 'Visually Hypothesising in Scientific Paper Writing: Confirming and Refuting Qualitative Research Hypotheses Using Diagrams', *Publications*, 7(1), p.22.

Cho, H., Rivera-Sánchez, M., Lim, S. (2009) 'A multinational study on online privacy: global concerns and local responses'. *New Media Society*, 11(3), pp. 395-416.

Chong, A.Y.-L., Chan, F.T.S. and Ooi, K.-B. (2012) 'Predicting consumer decisions to adopt mobile commerce: Cross country empirical examination between China and Malaysia', *Decision Support Systems*, 53(1), pp. 34-43.

Chtourou, M.S. and Souiden, N. (2010) 'Rethinking the TAM model: time to consider fun', *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 27(4), pp. 336–344. Available at: http://www.emeraldinsight.com/10.1108/07363761011052378 [Electronically accessed on 20th July 2021]

Choudhury, D. & Dey, A. (2014) 'Online Shopping Attitude among the Youth: A study on University Students', *International Journal of Applied Research*, 2(1), pp. 23–32.

Chong, A. (2012) 'Predicting m-commerce adoption determinants: A neural network approach', *Expert systems with Applications*', *An International Journal*, 40(2), pp. 523-530.

Chow, C., Deng, W. and Ho, F (2000) '*The openness of knowledge sharing within organisations:* A comparative study of United states and China'. *Journal of accounting Management research*, 12, pp. 65-85.

Chow M. M., Chen L. H. & Wong P. W. (2012) 'Conceptual Paper: Factors Affecting the Demand of Smartphone among Young Adult'. *International Journal on Social Science Economics and Art,* 2(2), pp. 44-49.

Christensen, C. M. (1997) *The innovator's dilemma: When new technologies cause great firms to fail*. Boston, Mass: Harvard Business School Press.

Christensen, C. M. (2003) The Innovator's Solution. Harvard Business School Press.

Christens, C. M. (2005) *Ethics and Politics in Qualitative Research*. In N. K.Denzin and Y. Lincoln (Eds.), The Sage Handbook of Qualitative.

Christensen, C. (2011) *The innovator's dilemma*. 1st edn. Boston, Mass.: Harvard Business School Press.

Christensen, C.M., Anthony, S.D. and Roth, E.A. (2004) *Seeing What's Next – Using the Theories of Innovation to Predict Industry Change*. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.

Christensen, C. M. and Hart, S. (2002) The Great Leap: Driving Innovation from the base of the pyramid. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 44(1), pp.51–56.

Christensen, C. M. and Van Bever, D. (2014) 'The capitalist's dilemma', *Harvard Business Review*, 92(6), pp. 60–68.

Christensen, L.B., Burke Johnson, R. and Turner, L.A. (2014) *Research methods, design, and analysis*. 12th edn. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.

Chun, H., Lee, H. and Kim, D. (2012) 'The integrated model of smartphone adoption: Hedonic and utilitarian value perceptions of smartphones among Korean college students', *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 15, pp. 473-479.

Chung, K. C. and Holdsworth, D. K. (2012) 'Culture and Behavioural Intent to Adopt Mobile Commerce Among the Y Generation: Comparative Analyses Between Kazakhstan, Morocco and Singapore', *Young Consumers,* 13(3), pp. 224-241.

Churchill, J., Gilbert A. (1979) 'A paradigm for developing better measures of marketing con-structs', *Journal of Marketing Research*, 16(1), pp. 64-73.

Cimperman, M., Brenčič, M. M. and Trkman, P. (2016) 'Analyzing older users' home telehealth services acceptance behavior—applying an extended UTAUT model', *Int. J. Med. Inform.* 90, pp. 22–31. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.03.002.

Clark, D. L. (1984) 'Effective Schools and School Improvement: A Comparative Analysis of Two Lines of Inquiry', *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 20(3), pp. 41-68.

Clark, S. (2018) *Mobile payments now account for 6 % of all UK card transactions*. Available from: https://www.nfcw.com/2018/11/21/358584/mobile-payments-sixpercent-of-uk-card-transactions/ [Electronically accessed on 22nd December 2019]

Codecomputerlove. (2019) *An unhealthy relationship.* Available from: https://public.flourish.studio/story/28737/?utm_source=showcase&utm_campaign=st ory/28737 [Electronically accessed on 9th July 2019]

Coenen, M., Stamm, T. A., Stucki, G. and Cieza, A. (2012) 'Individual interviews and focus groups in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: A comparison of two qualitative methods', *Quality of Life Research*, 21, pp. 359–70.

Cohen, W. (1995) *Empirical studies of innovative activity. Handbook of the economics of innovation and technological change*. Oxford [u.a]: Blackwell, ISBN 0631197745. - 1995, p. 182-264.

Cohen, L., Manion, L., and Morrison, K. (2007) *Research Methods in Education*. 6th edn. London and New York, NY: Routledge Falmer.

Colby, C. (2019) *iOS 13 vs. Android 10: How Apple and Google compare*. Available from: https://www.cnet.com/tech/mobile/ios-13-vs-android-10-how-apple-and-google-compare/ [Electronically accessed on 24th July 2021].

Collison, Ch. (2005) Knowledge management. Brno: Computer Press.

Condon, J. and LaBrack, B. (2015) Culture, definition of. In J.M. Bennett (Ed.), *The SAGE encyclopedia of intercultural competence*. (pp. 191-195). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Consolvo, S., Smith, I. E., Matthews, T., LaMarca, A., Tabert, J. and Powledge, P. (2005) 'Location disclosure to social relations: Why, when, & what people want to share'. *In Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems*, CHI '05, (pp. 81-90). New York, NY, USA: ACM. DOI: 10.1145/1054972.1054985.

Cooper R.G. (1990) *Winning at New Products, Accelerating the process from idea to launch.* 2nd edn. Perseus, p. 9.

Cosh, A. and Hughes, A. (1996) 'International merger activity and the national regulation of mergers: A UK perspective', *Empirica*, 23, pp. 279–302.

Cox D. and Cox, A. (2002) 'Beyond first impressions: the effects of repeated exposure on consumer liking of visually complex and simple product designs', *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 30(2), pp. 119-13

Cottam, A., Ensor, J., & Band, C. (2001) 'A benchmark study of strategic commitment to innovation', *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 4(2), 88-94.

Cougle, JR., Fitch, KE. & Fincham, FD. (2012) 'Excessive reassurance seeking and anxiety pathology: Tests of incremental associations and directionality', *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 26, pp. 117–125.

Cowan, B.R (2015) 'What can i help you with? Infrequent users 'experiences of intelligent personal assistants', In: 2015 IEEE 10th International Conference on Industrial and Information Systems, ICIIS 2015, Sri Lanka (2015)

Cowan, B. R., Pantidi, N., Coyle, D., Morrissey, K., Clarke, P., Al-Shehri, S., Earley, D. and Bandeira, N. (2017) 'What can I help you with?: Infrequent users' experiences of intelligent personal assistants', In: *Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services* (Mobile HCI '17), Vienna, Austria, 4-7 September 2017. New York, NY: ACM Press. doi: 10.1145/3098279.3098539.

Cravens, W., Piercy, F. & Low, S. (2002) 'The innovation challenges of proactive cannibalisation and discontinuous technology'. *European Business Review*, 14(4), pp. 257-269.

Crespo, A.H., Del Bosque, I.R. (2010) 'The influence of the commercial features of the Internet on the adoption of e-commerce by consumers', *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 9(6), pp. 562-575.

Critoe. (2016) *State of mobile commerce 2016*. Available from: http://www.criteo.com/de/resources/criteo-ecommerce-industryoutlook-2016/ [Electronically accessed on 25th September 2019] Croteau, A. M., & Vieru, D. (2002) 'Telemedicine adoption by different groups of physicians. In System Sciences, 2002.HICSS', *Proceedings of the 35th Annual Hawaii International Conference on* (pp. 1985-1993). IEEE

Crawford, C. M. & Di Benedetto A. (2008) *New products management*. Edition -IX, New York, McGraw-Hill/Irwin.

Creswell, J.W. (1994) *Research design: qualitative & quantitative approaches*. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications. Creswell, J. W. (2003) *Research design qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods Approaches*. 2nd edn. Thousand Oaks: CA: Sage.

Creswell, J. W. (2005) *Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research*. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey: Pearson Education, Inc.

Creswell, J.W. (2007) *Qualitative Inquiry & Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches*, 2nd edn. Thousand Oaks: Sage.

Creswell, J.W., Plano Clark, V.L. (2007) *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publication

Creswell, J. W. (2009) *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method approaches*. 3rd edn. Sage Publications, Inc.

Creswell, J. W. and Clark, V. L. P. (2007) *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*: Thousand Oaks CA: Sage.

Creswell, J. W. and Plano Clark, V. L. (2011) *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*. 2nd edn. Los Angeles: SAGE Publications.

Creswell, J.W. (2013) *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Crossan, M. M., & Apaydin, M. (2010) 'A multi-dimensional framework of organizational innovation: A systematic review of the literature', *Journal of management studies*, 47(6), pp. 1154-119.

Crow, G., Wiles, R., Heath, S. and Charles, V. (2006) 'Research ethics and data quality: The implications of informed consent', *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 9(2), pp.83-95.

Crowther, D., Lancaster, G. (2008) Research Methods. London: Routledge.

Çukurbaşı, B., İşbulan, O. and Kıyıcı, M. (2016) Acceptance of Educational Use of Tablet Computers: A Critical View Of The FATIH Project. *TED EĞİTİM VE BİLİM*, 41(188).

Cusumano, M., Suarez, F. and Kahl, S. (2007) *Product, Process, and Service: A New Industry Lifecycle Model.* Available from:

http://web.mit.edu/sis07/www/cusumano.pdf [Electronically accessed on 24th March 2019]

Cutlack, G. (2016) *10 failed smartphone's innovation.* Available from; https://www.techradar.com/uk/news/10-failed-smartphone-innovations-projectors-3dscreens-gamepads-and-more [Electronically accessed on 28th May 2018]

Dahl, D. W. and Hoeffler, S. (2004) 'Visualizing the Self: Exploring the Potential Benefits and Drawbacks for New Product Evaluation', *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 21(4), 259–267.

Dai, H. & Palvia, P. (2008) 'Factors Affecting Mobile Commerce Adoption: A Cross-Cultural Study in China and the United States', *In: Proceedings of the 2008 Americas Conference on Information Systems* (Paper 204), 1-14.

Damanpour, F., Walker, R. M. and Avellaneda, C. N., (2009) 'Combinative effects of Innovation Types and Organizational Performance: A Longitudinal Study of Service Organizations', *Journal of Management Studies*, 46(4), pp. 650-675.

Darke, P, Shanks, G & Broadbent, M. (1998) 'Successfully Completing Case Study Research: Combining Rigour Relevance and Pragmatism', *Information Systems Journal*, pp. 273-289.

Davidson, R. and Walley, P. (1985) 'Computer Fear and Addiction: Analysis, Prevention and Possible Modification', *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management,* 6, pp.37–51.

Davis, F. D. (1989) 'Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology', *MIS quarterly*, 13(3), pp. 319-339. DOI: 10.2307/249008

Davis, N. (2019) *One in four children have problematic smartphone use.* Available from: https://www.theguardian.com/society/2019/nov/29/one-in-four-children-have-problematic-smartphone-use [Electronically accessed on 4th Jan 2020]

Day, G. S. & Reibstein, D. J. (1999) *A dinâmica da estratégia competitiva*. Rio de Janeiro: Campus.

Del Galdo, E.M, and Nielsen, J. (1996) *International User interfaces*. New York, Wiley.

Deloitte. (2017) *Global mobile consumer survey*. Available from: https://www.deloitte.co.uk/mobileuk2017/assets/img/download/global-mobileconsumer-survey-2017_uk-cut.pdf [Electronically accessed on 15th June 2018]

Deloitte. (2017) *UK people are glued to smartphones as device adoption reaches new heights.* Available from: https://www2.deloitte.com/uk/en/pages/pressreleases/articles/uk-public-glued-to-smartphones.html [Electronically accessed on 19th December 2017]

Deloitte. (2018) *Mobile Consumer Survey.* Available from: https://www2.deloitte.com/uk/en/pages/technology-media-andtelecommunications/articles/mobile-consumer-survey.html [Electronically accessed on 8th February 2019]

Deloitte. (2019) *Mobile consumption in post-growth world*. Available from: https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/xe/Documents/technology-mediatelecommunications/GMCS-whitepaper.pdf [Electronically accessed on 6th Jan 2020]

Deloitte. (2019) *Plateauing at the peak. The state of smartphone.* Available from: https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/uk/Documents/technology-mediatelecommunications/deloitte-uk-plateauing-at-the-peak-the-state-of-thesmartphone.pdf [Electronically accessed on 2nd Jan 2020]

Deloitte. (2019) *The market.* Available from: https://www2.deloitte.com/uk/en/pages/technology-media-andtelecommunications/articles/the-market.html [Electronically accessed on 14th February 2020]

De Mooij, M. (2003) 'Converge and Divergence in Consumer Behavior: Implicants for Global Advertising', *International Journal of Advertising*, 22(2), pp. 183- 202.

De Mooij, M. and Hofstede, G. (2010) 'The Hofstede model: Applications to global branding and advertising strategy and research', *International Journal of Advertising*, 29(1), pp. 85-110.

De Mooij, M. (2013) 'On the misuse and misinterpretation of dimensions of national culture', *International Marketing Review*, 30(3), pp. 153-261.

Denzin, N. K. and Lincoln, Y. S. (2000) *Handbook of qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks: Sage

Denzin, N. K. (1978) Sociological methods: A sourcebook. New York, McGraw-Hill

Department for transport (2019) *Transport Statistic Great Britain*. Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attach ment_data/file/870647/tsgb-2019.pdf [Electronically accessed on 23rd July 2020]

Derks, D. and Bakker, A. B. (2014) 'Smartphone use, work–home interference, and burnout: A diary study on the role of recovery', *Applied Psychology*, 63(3), pp. 411–440.

Derks, D., Duin, D., Tims, M. and Bakker, A. B. (2015) 'Smartphone use and workhome interference: The moderating role of social norms and employee work engagement', *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 88, pp. 155-177.

Devinney, T.M. and Hohberger, J. (2017) 'The Past is Prologue: Moving on from Culture's Consequences'. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 48(1), pp. 48-62.

Dewar, R. & Dutton, J. (1986) 'The Adoption of Radical and Incremental Innovations: An Empirical Analysis', *Management Science*, 32, pp. 1422-1433.

De Witt, P. (2019) *In defense of Apple's \$14 billion Research and development budget.* Available from: https://www.ped30.com/2019/03/10/defense-apples-14-billion-rd-

budget/#:~:text=Apple%20has%20been%20massively%20ramping,R%26D%20budg ets%20in%20the%20world. [Electronically accessed on 8th Nov 2020].

Dibrell, C., Davis, P. S. and Craig, J. (2008) 'Fueling Innovation through Information Technology in SMEs'. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 46(2), pp. 203-218

Dimitrios, X.and Alali, A.S. (2014) 'Investigating the attitude of the average Saudi towards the Social Media', *Conference: WSEAS ACACOS 11 At*. Kuala Lumpur, Volume: ACACOS 11 Applied Computational Science. DOI: 10.13140/2.1.2017.1204

Dinev, T., Goo, J., Hu, Q. and Nam, K. (2009) 'User behaviour towards protective information technologies: the role of national cultural differences', *Information Systems Journal*, 19(4), pp.391-412.

Divan, HA., Khelfets, L. and Obel, C. (2012) 'Cell phone use and behavioural problems in young children'. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health,* 66, pp. 524–539.

Dodds, W.B., Monroe, K.B. and Grewal, D. (1991) 'Effects of Price, Brand and Store Information on Buyers' Product Evaluations', *Journal of Marketing Research*, 28(3), pp. 307-319.

Dodgson, M. (2018) *Technological collaboration in industry; strategy, policy and international in innovation.* Routledge.

Donmozoun, T.S., Sombie, I. and Meda, N. (2014) 'What prevent women for a sustainable use of maternal care in two medical districts of Burkina Faso? A qualitative study', *PanAfrican Med J*, 18(3), pp.1-6. DOI: 10.11604/pamj.2014.18.43.2210.

Dosi, G. (1988) *The Nature of the Innovation Process*. In G. Dosi, C. Freeman, R. Nelson, G. Silverberg, & L. Soete (Eds.), Technical Change and Economic Theory (pp. 221-238). London: Pinter.

Doyle, B. (2016), *5 reasons why Google Glass was miserable failure.* Available from: https://www.business2community.com/tech-gadgets/5-reasons-google-glass-miserable-failure-01462398 [Electronically accessed on 23rd March 2019]

Drogendijk, R. and Slangen, A. (2006) 'Hofstede, Schwartz, or managerial perceptions? The effects of different cultural distance measures on establishment

mode choices by multinational enterprises', *International Business Review*, 15, pp.361–380.

Drosdov, E., Díaz-Sánchez, D., Almenárez, F., Arias-Cabarcos, P. and Marín, A. (2017) 'Seamless human-device interaction in the internet of things', *IEEE Transactions on Consumer Electronics*, 63(4), pp. 490-498. DOI: 10.1109/TCE.2017.015076.

Drucker, P. F. (1985) *Innovation and Entrepreneurship: practice and principles*. Oxford: Heinemann.

Drucker, P. F. (1985) 'The discipline of innovation', *Harvard Business Review*, 63(3), pp. 67-72.

Dunnewijk, T & Hulten, S. (2007) 'A brief history of mobile communication in Europe', *Telematics and Informatics*, 24(3), pp. 164-179. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2007.01.013

Duranti, A. (2007) 'Transcripts, like shadows on a wall', *Mind, Culture and Activity*, 13(4), pp. 301–310.

Durmaz, Y. (2014) 'The influence of cultural factors on consumer buying behaviour and an application in Turkey', *Global Journal of Management and Business Research*: E Marketing, 14(1), pp. 37-44.

Easterby-Smith, M., R., T. and Lowe, A. (2002) *Management research: an introduction*, 2nd edn. Sage.

Eckel, E. (2021) *Apple's Siri: A cheat sheet.* Available from https://www.techrepublic.com/article/apples-siri-the-smart-persons-guide/ [Electronically accessed on 24th July 2021].

Efrat, K. (2014) 'The direct and indirect impact of culture on innovation', *Technovation*, 34(1), pp. 12-20.

Eisenhardt, K. M. and Graebner, M. E. (2007) 'Theory building from cases: Opportunities and challenges', *The Academy of Management Journal*, 50(1), pp. 25-32. Eliaeson, S. (2002) Max Weber's Methodologies. Cambridge: Polity.

Emery, C. and Tian, R. (2002) 'Schoolwork as products, professors as customers: A practical teaching approach in business education', *Journal of Education for Business*, 78(2), pp.97-102.

Emarkater (2019) *UK mobile payment users 2019*. Available from; https://www.emarketer.com/content/uk-mobile-payment-users-2019 [Electronically accessed on 22nd December 2019]

Emery, C. and Tolbert, S. (2003) 'Using the Kano model of customer satisfaction to define and communicate supervisor expectations, Allied Academies International Conference. Academy of Organizational Culture', *Communications and Conflict*. Proceedings, 8(1), pp. 7-12.

Emery, C. (2006) 'An examination of professor expectations based on the Kano model of customer satisfaction', *Academy of Educational Leadership Journal*, 10(1), pp. 11-25.

Engelen, A., Schmidt, S., Strenger, L. and Brettel, M. (2014) 'Top management's transformational leader behaviours and innovation orientation: A cross-cultural perspective in eight countries', *Journal of International Management,* 20(2), pp.124-136.

Elenkov, D. S. and Manev, I. M. (2005) 'Top management leadership and influence on innovation: The role of sociocultural context', *Journal of Management*, 31(3), pp. 381-402.

Erumban, A. A. and De Jong, S. B. (2006) 'Cross-country differences in ITC adoption: A consequence of culture', *Journal of World Business*, 41(4), pp. 302-314.

Escalas, J. and Bettman, J. (2003) 'You Are What They Eat: The Influence of Reference Groups on Consumer Connections to Brands', *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 13(3), pp. 339–48.

Euromonitor. (2019) *Mobile phones in Saudi Arabia. Available from:* https://www.euromonitor.com/mobile-phones-in-saudi-arabia/report [Electronically accessed on 5th February 2020] Evraire, LE. and Dozois, DJ. (2011) 'An integrative model of excessive reassurance seeking and negative feedback seeking in the development and maintenance of depression', *Clinical Psychology Review*, 31(8), pp. 1291–1303.

Falaki, H., Mahajan, R. and Kandula, S. (2010) 'Diversity in smartphone usage', In: *Proceedings of the 8th international conference on mobile systems, applications, and* services. pp. 179–194.

Faulkner S.L., Baldwin, J.R, Lindsley, S.L. and Hecht, M.L. (2006) *Layers of meaning: An analysis of definitions of culture*. In: Baldwin JR, Faulkner SL, Hecht ML, Lindsley SL, editors'. *Redefining Culture. London*: Lawrence Erlbaum; 2006. pp.27-52.

Feeley, M. (2019) *Screen Time survey reveals consumer spends 50 days a year on smartphones*. Available from: https://www.thedrum.com/news/2019/05/02/screen-time-survey-reveals-consumers-spend-50-days-year-smartphones [Electronically accessed on 2nd July 2019]

Fereday, J. and Muir-Cochrane, E. (2006) 'Demonstrating Rigor Using Thematic Analysis: A Hybrid Approach of Inductive and Deductive Coding and Theme Development', *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 5(1), pp. 80-92.

Ferraz, J. C., Kupfer, D. & Haguenauer, L. (1995) *Made in Brazil*: desafios competitivos para indústria. Rio de Janeiro: Campus.

Filieri, R & Lin, Z. (2017) 'The role of aesthetic, cultural, utilitarian and branding factors in young Chinese consumers' repurchase intention of smartphone brands', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 67, pp. 139-150. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.09.057.

Fishbein, M. and Ajzen, I. (1975) *Belief, attitude, intention, and behaviour: an introduction to theory and research*. New York: Addison Wesley

Fiske, S.T. (1982) *Schema-triggered affect: applications to social perception*, in: Clark, Margareth S. and Fiske, Susan T., Affect & Cognition: The 17th Annual Carnegie Symposium Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hillsdale, New-Jersey: 3-36. Fiske, S.T. and Neuberg, S.L. (1990) 'A continuum of impression formation from category-based to individuating processes: influences of information and motivation on attention and interpretation', *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology,* 23, pp. 1-73.

Fiske, S.T. and Pavelchak, M.A. (1986) *Category-based versus piece-meal-based affective responses: development in schema-triggered affect*, in: Sorrentino, Richard M. and Higgins, Tory E., The Handbook of Motivation and Cognition Guilford Press, New-York: 167-203.

Fiske, S.T. and Taylor, S.E. (1991) *Social categories and schemas*, in: Fiske, Susan T. and Taylor, Sheeley E., Social cognition 2nd Edition ed. McGraw Hill, New York: 96-141.

Flick, U. (2002) Qualitative research in psychology: A textbook. London: Sage.

Flyvbjerg, B. (2006) 'Five Misunderstandings About Case-Study Research', *Qualitative Inquiry*, 12(2), pp.219–245.

Forsman, H. & Temel, S., (2011) 'Innovation and Business Performance in Small Enterprises. An Enterprises Level Analysis', *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 15(3), pp. 641-66.

Förster, J., Marguc, J. and Gillebaart, M. (2010) 'Novelty Categorization Theory', *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 4(9), pp. 736–755.

Fox, W. & Bayat, M.S. (2007) *A Guide to Managing Research*. Juta Publications, p.45

Fox, S. (2010) *Ancient ways in current days; Ethno-cultural arts and acculturation*. Available from: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/41336665.pdf [Electronically accessed on 2nd March 2019]

Franko, L. G. (1989) 'Global corporate competition: who's sinning, who's losing, and the R&D factor as one reason why', *Strategic Management Journal*, 10, pp. 449-474.

Freeman, C. (1982) *The Economics of Industrial Innovation*. 2nd edn. Francis Pinter, London.
Fri, W., Pehrsson, T. and Søilen, K. S (2013) 'How Phases of Cluster Development are Associated with Innovation - the Case of China', *International Journal of Innovation Science*, 5(1), pp. 31-44.

Fuller, J. and Matzler, K. (2007) 'Virtual product experience and customer participation - A chance for customer-centered, really new products', *Technovation*, 27(6), pp. 378-387.

Fullwood, C., Quinn, S., Kaye, L. K. and Redding, C. (2017) 'My Virtual friend: A qualitative analysis of the attitudes and experiences of Smartphone users: Implications for Smartphone attachment'. *Computers in Human Behaviour*, 75, pp. 347–355. DOI: 10.1016/j.chb.2017.05.029.

Furrer, O. (2000) 'The relationships between culture and service quality perceptions: Basis for cross-cultural market segmentation and resource allocation'. *Journal of Service Research*: *JSR*, 2(4), pp. 355-371.

Gabor, A. and Grange, C. (1966) 'Price as an Indicator of Quality: Report on an Enquiry', *Economica*, 33(129), pp. 43–70.

Gao, B., Li, X., Liu, S. and Fang, D. (2018) 'How power distance affects online hotel ratings: The positive moderating roles of hotel chain and reviewers' travel experience', *Tourism Management*, 65, pp.176–186.

Gao, S., Chen, Z., Zheng, W. and Zhou, W. (2012) 'An exploratory study on lifestyles and the adoption of mobile services in China', *Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on Advances in Mobile Computing & Multimedia - MoMM* '12, p. 249. Available from: http://dl.acm.org/citation.cfm?doid=2428955.2429002. [Electronically accessed on 7th June 2020].

Garcia, R., Bardhi, F. & Friedrich, C. (2007) 'Overcoming Consumer Resistance to Innovation', *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 48(4), pp. 82-88.

Gardner, D. (2017) *Radical vs incremental innovation; The right approach for the right time*. Available from: https://marumatchbox.com/radical-vs-incremental-innovation-the-right-approach-for-the-right-time/ [Electronically accessed on 12th April 2019].

Garland, E.L., Kiken, L.G., Faurot, K., Palsson, O. and Gaylord, S.A. (2016) 'Upward Spirals of Mindfulness and Reappraisal: Testing the Mindfulness-to-Meaning Theory with Autoregressive Latent Trajectory Modeling', *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 41(3), pp.381–392.

Garrison, J. (1996) 'A Deweyan Theory of Democratic Listening', *Educational Theory*, 46, pp. 429-451.

Garrison, J. (1996) 'Dewey, qualitative thought, and context', *Qualitative studies in Education*, 9(4), pp.391-410.

Gatignon, H. and Robertson, T.S. (1985) 'A propositional inventory for new diffusion research', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 11(4), pp. 849-867.

Gatignon, H. and Robertson, T.S. (1989) 'Technology diffusion: an empirical test of competitive effects', *Journal of Marketing*, 53(1), pp. 35-49.

Gatignon, H. and Robertson, T.S. (1991) *Innovative decision processes,* In Robertson, T.S. & Kassarjian, *H.H.* (Eds), Handbook of Consumer Behavior, Prentice-Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.

Gefen, D., Karahanna, E. and Straub, D. W. (2004) 'Trust and TAM in online shopping: An integrated model'. *MIS Quarterly*, 27(1), pp. 51-90.

Gentner, D. and Holyoak, K.J. (1997) 'Reasoning and Learning by analogy-Introduction', *American Psychologist*, 52(1), pp. 32-34.

Gentner D. and Markman AB. (1997) 'Structure mapping in analogy and similarity'. *Am. Psychol.* 52(1), pp. 45–56.

Gentsch, K., Loderer, K., Soriano, C., Fontaine, J.R.J., Eid, M., Pekrun, R. and Scherer, K.R. (2017) 'Effects of achievement contexts on the meaning structure of emotion words', *Cognition and Emotion*, 32(2), pp.379–388.

Geroski, P. & Machin, S. (1992) 'Do Innovating Firms Outperform Non-innovators?', *Business Strategy Review (*Summer), 3(2), pp. 79-90.

Geser H. (2006) Are girls (even) more addicted? Some gender patterns of cell phone usage. Sociology in Switzerland: Sociology of the Mobile Phone. Available from: https://socio.ch/mobile/t_geser3.pdf [Electronically accessed on 22nd Jan 2019]

Ghosh, A. (2013) *Growth through disruptive innovation.* Available from: https://www.business-standard.com/article/management/growth-through-disruptiveinnovation-110111500028_1.html [Electronically accessed on 27th August, 2019]

Gilmore, B., Vallières, F., McAuliffe, E., Tumwesigye, N. and Muyambi G. (2014) 'The last one heard: the importance of an early-stage participatory evaluation for programme implementation', *Implement Sci*, 9(1), pp.137. DOI: 10.1186/s13012-014-0137-5.

Global innovation. (2017), *Innovation Index.* Available from: https://www.globalinnovationindex.org/analysis-indicator [Electronically accessed on 23rd December 2017]

Goldenberg, J., Lehmann D. R. and Mazursky, D. (2001) 'The idea itself and the circumstances of its emergence as predictors of new product success', *Management Science*, 47(1), pp. 69-84.

Gong, W., Z. Lee., and Stump, R. (2007) 'Global internet and access: Cultural considerations', *Asia Pacific Journal of Marketing*, 19(1), pp. 57–74.

Gorodnichenko, Y. & Roland, G. (2011) 'Which dimensions of culture matter for longrun Growth'?, *Am Econ Rev Papers Proc,* 101(3), pp.492–498.

Gourville, J. T. (2005) *The Curse of Innovation: Why Innovative New Products Fail.* MSI Reports 05-044.

Governors Highway Safety Association. (n.d.) *Distracted Driving*. Available from https://www.ghsa.org/state-laws/issues/Distracted-Driving. [Electronically accessed on 19th December 2019]

Grady, M. P. (1998) *Qualitative and Action Research: A Practitioner Handbook*. Phi Delta Kappa Educational Foundation, Bloomington. Grant, J., Potenza, M. and Weinstein, A. (2010) 'Introduction to behavioural addictions', *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 36(5), pp. 233–241.

Gratton, C. and Jones, I. (2004) *Research methods for sport studies*. London, UK: Routledge Publishing.

Green, J., Franquiz, M. and Dixon, C. (1997) 'The myth of the objective transcript: Transcribing as a situated act', *TESOL Quarterly*, 21(1), pp.172–176.

Gregan-Paxton, J. and John, D., (1997) 'Consumer learning by analogy: a model of internal knowledge transfer', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 24(3), pp. 266-284.

Gregory, A. M. and Parsa, H. (2013) 'Kanos model: An integrative review of theory and applications to the field of hospitality and tourism', *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 22(1), pp. 25–46. DOI:10.1080/19368623.2011.641073.

Griffiths, MD. (1995) 'Technological addictions', *Clinical Psychology Forum*, 76, pp. 14-19.

Greener, S. (2008) Business research methods. Frederiksberg: Ventus Publishing.

Greene, J. C., Caracelli, V. J., and Graham, W. F. (1989) 'Toward a conceptual framework for mixed-method evaluation designs', *Educational evaluation and policy analysis*, 11(3), 255-274. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3102/01623737011003255.

Groß, M (2016) 'Impediments to mobile shopping continued usage intention: A trust-risk-relationship', *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 33, pp.109-111.

Grover, V., Purvis, R.L. and Segars, A.H. (2007) 'Exploring ambidextrous innovation tendencies in the adoption of telecommunications technologies', *IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management*, 54(2), pp. 268-285.

GSMA. (2012) *White Paper: The Mobile Wallet Version 1.0. London: GSMA Association*. Available from: The Mobile Wallet Whitepaper from GSMA » PaymentEye [Electronically accessed on 3rd March 2019]

GSMarena. (2014) *GPS (Global Positioning System) - Mobile terms glossary*. Available from: http://www.gsmarena.com/glossary.php3?term=gps [Electronically accessed: 8th June 2019]

Guest, G., Bunce, A. and Johnson, L. (2006) 'How Many Interviews Are Enough? An Experiment with Data Saturation and Variability', *Field Methods*, 18(1), pp.59-82. DOI:10.1177/1525822X05279903

Gunday, G., Ulusoy, G., Kilic, K. and Alpkan, L., (2011) 'Effects of Innovation Types on Firm Performance', *International Journal of Production Economic*, 133, pp. 662-676.

Gupta, A. and Arora, N. (2017) 'Understanding determinants and barriers of mobile shopping adoption using behavioural reasoning theory', *Journal and Retailing of Consumer Services*, 36, pp.1-7.

Gupta, P. (2007) Firm Specific Measure of Innovation. Chicago.

Hadwick, R. (2011) Should I use GLOBE or Hofstede? Some insights that can assist cross-cultural scholars and others. Choose the right study to support their work. Available from: https://www.anzam.org/wp-content/uploads/pdfmanager/574_ANZAM2011-335.PDF [Electronically accessed on 5th Jan 2019]

Haga, S., Sano, A., Sekine, Y., Sato, H., Yamaguchi, S. and Masuda, K. (2015) 'Effects of using a Smart Phone on Pedestrians' Attention and Walking', *Procedia Manufacturing*, 3, pp. 2574-2580. DOI: 10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.564

Hage, J. T. (1999) 'Organizational innovation and organizational change', *Annual Review of Sociology*, 25, pp. 597-622.

Haggman, S. (2009) 'Functional actors and perceptions of innovation attributes': influence innovation adoption', *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 12(3), pp. 386-407.

Haig, M. (2003) *Brand failures: the truth about the 100 biggest branding mistakes of all time*. London, Kogan Page.

Hakkinen, A. (2017) *The role of innovation in customer experience management*. Available from:

https://aaltodoc.aalto.fi/bitstream/handle/123456789/27772/bachelor_Häkkinen_Anni _2017.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y [Electronically accessed on 17th December 2017]

Hallowell, R. (1996) 'The relationships of customer satisfaction, customer loyalty, and profitability: an empirical study', *International journal of service industry management*, 7(4), 27-42.

Hansen, E. (2014) 'Innovativeness in the face of decline performance implication', *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 18(5) pp. 1450039. DOI: 10.1142/S136391961450039X

Hakoama M. and Hakoyama S. (2011) 'The impact of cell phone use on social networking and development among college students', *The American Association of Behavioral and Social Sciences Journal*, 15, pp.1-20.

Hall, E. (1976) Beyond Culture. Anchor Press: Doubleday Garden City, NY.

Halkos, G. E. and Tzeremes, N. G. (2013) 'Modelling the effects of national culture on countries' innovation performance', *International Review of Applied Economics*, 27, pp. 656-678.

Hamel, G. and Green, B. (2007) *The Future of Management.* Boston: Harvard Business School Press.

Handley, L. (2019) Nearly three quarters of the world will use internet just smartphones to access internet by 2025. Available from:
https://www.cnbc.com/2019/01/24/smartphones-72percent-of-people-will-use-only-mobile-for-internet-by-2025.html [Electronically accessed on 27th July 2019]
Hanson, D., Hitt, M. A., Ireland, R. D. & Hoskisson, R. E. (2016) Strategic management; Competitiveness and globalisation. Cengage, AU.

Handy, C.B. (1985) Understanding organizations. 3rd edn. London: Penguin.

Hardaker, G. (1998) 'An integrated approach towards product innovation in international manufacturing organisations', *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 1(2). pp. 67-73.

Harris, P., Rettie, R. and Cheung, C.K. (2005) 'Adoption and Usage of M-Commerce: A Cross-Cultural Comparison of Hong Kong and the United Kingdom', *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research,* 6 (3), pp. 210- 224.

Hasan, H. and Ditsa, G. (1999) 'The impact of culture on the adoption of IT: An interpretive study', *Journal of Global Information Management*, 7(1), pp. 5-15. DOI:10.4018/JGIM.1999010101

Haverila, M. J. (2011) 'Cell phone feature functions and gender differences among college students', *International Journal of Mobile Communications*, 9(4), pp.401-419.

Hayton, J. C., George, G., & Zahra, S. A. (2002) 'National culture and entrepreneurship: A review of behavioural research', *Entrepreneurship theory and practice*, 26(4), pp. 33-52.

He, D. & Lu, Y. (2007) 'Consumers perceptions and acceptances towards mobile advertising: an empirical study in China', *2007 International Conference on Wireless Communication, Networking and Mobile Computing*. 2007, pp. 3775–3778. Available from: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/xpls/abs_all.jsp?arnumber=4340709 [Electronically Accessed on 2nd August 2021]

Healey, M. and Rawlinson, M. (1994) *Interviewing techniques in business and management research*. Dartmouth Publishing

Heidenreich, S. and Kraemer, T. (2016) 'Innovations - doomed to fail? Investigating strategies to overcome passive innovation resistance', *J. Prod. Innov. Manag*, 33(3), pp. 277-297. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/jpim.12273.

Henard, D. and Szymanski, D. (2001) 'Why Some New Products Are More Successful Than Others', *Journal of Marketing Research*, 38(3), pp. 362-375.

Hendrix, P. (2013) *Survey: Which mobile shopping apps do consumers value most?* Available from: http://immr.org/mobile-shopping-apps-2013.pdf [electronically accessed on 26th November 2019] Heiskanen, E., Hyvönen, K., Niva, M., Pantzar, M., Timonen, P. and Varjonen, J. (2007) 'User involvement in radical innovation: are consumers conservative'? *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 10, pp. 489-509.

Henry, G. T. (1990) Practical sampling. Sage Publications Itd. Newbury Park.

Herbig, P. A. and Hugh Kramer (1994) 'The Effect of Information Overload on the Innovation Choice Process: Innovation Overload', *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 11(2), pp. 45-54.

Herbig, P. and Dunphy, S. (1998) 'Culture and innovation', *Cross Cultural Management: an International Journal*, 5(4), pp. 13-21.

Herrero, A. and San Martín, H. (2012) 'Effects of the risk sources and user involvement on e-commerce adoption: Application to tourist services', *Journal of Risk Research*, 15(7), pp. 841-855.

Hickman, C. R. and Silva, M. A. (2018) *Creating excellence; Managing corporate culture strategy and change in the new age*. Routledge

Hippel, V. E. (1998) 'Economics of Product Development by Users: The Impact of 'Sticky' Local Information', *Management Science*, 44(5), pp. 629-44.

Hippel, V. E. (1988) The Sources of Innovation. New York: Oxford University Press.

Hirschman, A. O. (1970) *Exit, Voice and Loyalty: Responses to Decline in Firms*. Organizations, and States. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press

Hirschman, E.C. (1980) 'Innovativeness, Novelty Seeking, and Consumer Creativity', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 7(3), pp. 283-295.

Hirschheim, R. & Newman, M. (1988) 'Information Systems and User Resistance: Theory and Practice', *The Computer Journal*, 31(5), pp. 398-408.

Hisrich, R. D. and Kearney, C. (2014) *Managing Innovation and Entrepreneurship*. SAGE Publications.

Hoeffler, S. (2003) 'Measuring preferences for really new products', *Journal of Marketing Research*, 40(4), pp. 406-420.

Hofstede, G. (1980) *Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work-Related Values.* Beverly Hills, CA: Sage

Hofstede, G. (1984) *Culture's consequences: International differences in workrelated values*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Hofstede, G. (1984) *Culture's consequences: International differences in workrelated values.* Beverly Hills: Sage.

Hofstede, G. (1991) *Cultures and Organizations: Software of the Mind*. UK, Mac Graw-Hill.

Hofstede, G. (1991) *Cultures and Organizations. Software of the mind. Intercultural Cooperation and its Importance for Survival.* London: Harper Collins Publishers. Hoofdstuk 4. P. 79-108.

Hofstede, G. (1997) *Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind*. London: McGraw-Hill.

Hofstede, G. (2001) *Culture's consequences: Comparing values, behaviours, institutions, and organizations across nations*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Hofstede, G. (2002) 'Dimensions do not exist – A reply to Brendan McSweeney', *Human Relations*, 55(11), pp. 1355–1361. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1177/0018726702055011921.

Hofstede, G. and Hofstede, G. J. (2005) *Cultures and organizations: Software of the Mind*. Intercultural Cooperation and its Importance for Survival. 2nd edn. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Hofstede, G., Hofstede G. J. and Minkov, M. (2010) *Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind*. Revised and Expanded 3rd Edition. New York: McGraw-Hill.

Hofstede, G., Hofstede G. J. & Minkov, M. (2010) *Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind*. Revised and Expanded 3rd Edition. New York: McGraw-Hill. Available from; https://www.hofstede-insights.com/countrycomparison/mexico,russia/ [Electronically accessed on 29th March 2019]

Hofstede, G., Hofstede G. J. and Minkov, M. (2010) *Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind*. Revised and Expanded 3rd Edition. New York: McGraw-Hill. Available from: https://www.hofstede-insights.com/countrycomparison/austria,sweden/ [Electronically accessed on 29th March 2019]

Hofstede, G., Hofstede G. J. and Minkov, M. (2010) *Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind*. Revised and Expanded 3rd Edition. New York: McGraw-Hill. Available from; https://www.hofstede-insights.com/countrycomparison/colombia,pakistan/ [Electronically accessed on 29th March 2019]

Hofstede, G., Hofstede G. J., and Minkov, M. (2010) *Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind*. Revised and Expanded 3rd Edition. New York: McGraw-Hill. Available from; https://www.hofstede-insights.com/countrycomparison/china,germany,iran/ [Electronically accessed on 29th March 2019]

Hofstede, G., Hofstede G. J., and Minkov, M. (2010) *Cultures and organizations: Software of the mind*. Revised and Expanded 3rd Edition. New York: McGraw-Hill. Available from; https://www.hofstede-insights.com/countrycomparison/japan,venezuela/ [Electronically accessed on 29th March 2019]

Holden, N. (2004) 'Why marketers need a new concept of culture for the global knowledge economy', *International Marketing Review*, 21(6), pp. 563–572. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1108/02651330410568015

Holmes, A., Byrne, A. and Rowley, J (2013) 'Mobile shopping behaviour: insight into attitudes, shopping process involvement and location', *International Journal of retail and distribution management,* 42(1), pp. 25-39.

Holyoak, K.J. and Thagard, P. (1997) 'The analogical mind', *American Psychologist,* 52(1), pp.35-44.

Hoque, M. R. and Bao, Y. (2015) 'Cultural influence on adoption and use of e-Health: evidence in Bangladesh', *Telemedicine and e-Health*, 21(10), pp. 845-851.

House, R.J., Hanges, P.J., Javidan, M., Dorfman, P.W and Gupta, V (2004) *Culture, Leadership and Organizations: The GLOBE Study of 62 Societies*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

House, R., Javidan., M., Hanges, P. and Dorfman, P. (2002) 'Understanding cultures and implicit leadership theories across the globe: an introduction to project GLOBE', *Journal of World Business*, 37(1), pp. 3-10.

Hoy, M. B. (2018) 'Alexa, Siri, Cortana, and More: An Introduction to Voice Assistants', *Medical Reference Services Quarterly*, 37(1), pp. 81-88, DOI:10.1080/02763869.2018.1404391

Hsieh, P. J. (2015) 'Physicians' acceptance of electronic medical records exchange: An extension of the decomposed TPB model with institutional trust and perceived risk', *International journal of medical informatics*, 84(1), pp. 1-14.

Hsu, C. L., and Lu, H. P. (2004) 'Why do people play online games? An extended TAM with social influences and flow experience', *Information & Management*, 41(3), 853-868.

Huang, F. and Rice, J. (2012) 'Openness in product and process innovation', *International Journal of innovation Management*, 16(4), pp.1-24.

Hung, S. Y., Ku, Y. C. and Chien, J. C. (2012) 'Understanding physicians' acceptance of the Medline system for practicing evidence-based medicine: A decomposed TPB model', *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 81(2), pp. 130-142.

Hung, M.C., Yang, S.T. and Hsieh, T.C. (2012) 'An examination of the determinants of mobile shopping continuance', *International journal of electronic business management*, 10(1), pp.29-37.

Hussain, N., Salah, A., Madanan, M. (2019) 'Evaluating e-Government Acceptance in Oman Based on Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) and Hofstede's Dimension', *Conference: SITAM 2019*. Hussler, C. (2004) 'Culture and knowledge spill overs in Europe: New perspectives for innovation and convergence policies'?, *Economics of Innovation and New Technology*, 13(6), pp. 523-541.

Hussey, J. & Hussey, R. (1997) *Business Research: A practical guide for undergraduate and post-graduate students*. London: MacMillan Press Ltd.

Hyland, P. & Beckett, R. (2005) 'Engendering an innovative culture and maintaining operational balance', *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 12(3), pp. 336-352.

IFD. (2017) *The making of a modest fashion revolution.* Available from: https://www.ifdcouncil.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/40-42.pdf [Electronically accessed on 23rd August 2018]

Igbaria, M., Iivari, J. and Maragahh, H. (1995) 'Why do individuals use computer technology? A Finnish case study', *Information & Management*, 29(5), pp. 227-238. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-7206(95)00031-0

Igbaria, M., Zinatelli, N., Cragg, P. and Cavaye, A. L. (1997) 'Personal computing acceptance factors in small firms: a structural equation model', *MIS quarterly*, 21(3), pp. 279-305. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2307/249498

Im, I., Kim, Y. and Han, H. (2008) 'The effects of perceived risk and technology type on users' acceptance of technologies', *Information and Management*, 45(1), pp. 1-9. DOI:10.1016/j.im.2007.03.005

Im, I., Hong, S. and Kang, M. S. (2011) 'An International Comparison of Technology Adoption', *Information & Management*, 48(1), pp.1-8. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2010.09.001

Imenda, S. (2014) 'Is there a conceptual difference between theoretical and conceptual frameworks'?, *Journal of Social Sciences*, 38(2), pp.185-195.

Ipsos. (2012), *Our mobile planet: Saudi Arabia.* Available from: http://www.mmaglobal.com/files/Saudi_Arabia_English.pdf [Electronically accessed on 14th December 2017] Iqbal, S., Bhatti, Z.A. (2020) 'A qualitative exploration of teachers' perspective on smartphones usage in higher education in developing countries', *Int J Educ Technol High Educ*, 17(1), pp. 29. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/s41239-020-00203-4.

Jackson, L. A., Zhao, Y., Kolenic, A., Fitsgerald, H. E., Harold, R. and Von Eye, A. (2008) 'Race, gender, and information technology use: The new digital divide', *Cyber Psychology Behavior*, 11(4), pp. 437–442.

Jackson, K. (2018) *A brief history of the smartphone*. Available from: https://sciencenode.org/feature/How%20did%20smartphones%20evolve.php [Electronically accessed on 16th Nov 2019]

Jacoby, J. and Kaplan, B. (1972) 'The components of perceived risk', *In M. Venkatesan* (Ed.), Proceedings, Third Annual Conference, Association for Consumer Research (pp. 382–393). University of Chicago.

Jacob, J. and Olson, J. (1977) 'Consumer Response to Price: An Attitudinal, Information Processing Perspective', *In Moving A head with Attitude Research. Eds. Yoram Wind and Marshall Greenberg*. Chicago: American Marketing Association, 73-86.

Jager, B., Minnie, C., Jager, J. and Welgemoed, M. (2004) 'Enabling continuous improvement: A case study of implementation', *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 15(4), pp. 315-33.

Jalilvanda, M. R., Esfahani, S. S., and Samiei, N. (2011) 'Electronic Word-of-Mouth: Challenges and Opportunities', *Procedia Computer Science*, 3, pp. 42–46.

James, D. and Merchant, R. (2013) *The New Asia.* Available from: https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=LZIIuTjCLbIC&printsec=frontcover#v=onepage &q&f=false [Electronically accessed on 14th August 2019]

James, P. T. J. and Akhbar, S. (2014) 'Consumers' attitude towards online shopping: Factors influencing employees of crazy domains to shop online', *Journal of Management and Marketing Research*, 14(1), pp. 1–11.

Javidan, M. and House, R.J. (2001) *Lessons from project globe*. Organizational Dynamics, 29, 4.

Jenaro, C., Flores, N., Gomez-Vela, M., Gonzalez-Gil, F. and Caballo, C. (2007) 'Problematic Internet and cell-phone use: Psychological, behavioural, and health correlates', *Addiction Research and Theory*, 15(3), pp.309-320.

Jeong, S.H., Kim, H.J. and Yum, J.Y. (2016) 'What type of content are smartphone users addicted to? SNS vs. games', *Computers in Human Behaviour,* 54(2), pp. 10-17.

Jere, N.J. and Maharaj, M.S. (2017) 'Evaluating the influence of information and communications technology on food security', *South African Journal of Information Management*, 19(1). DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.4102/sajim.v19i1.745.

Jeyaraj, A., Rottman, J. W. and Lacity, M. C. (2006) 'A review of the predictors, linkages, and biases in IT innovation adoption research', *Journal of Information Technology*,21(1), pp.1-23.

Jick, T.D. (1979) 'Mixing qualitative and quantitative methods: Triangulation in action', *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 24(4), pp. 602-611.

Joachim, V.and Spieth, P., Heidenreich, S. (2018) 'Active innovation resistance: an empirical study on functional and psychological barriers to innovation adoption in different contexts', *Ind. Mark. Manag*, 71, pp.95-107. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.12.011

Johnson, G., Scholes, K. & Whittington, R., (2008) *Exploring corporate strategy*. 8th edn, Prentice Hall, New Jersey.

Johannessen, A., Olsen, B. & Lumpkin, G. (2001) 'Innovation as newness: What is new, how new, new to whom'?, *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 4(1), pp. 20-31.

Jones, K. & Davis, H. (2000) 'National Culture and Innovation: Implications for Locating Global R&D Operations', *Management International Review*, 40(1), pp. 11-39.

Journal of Health. (2019) *Rapid growth of healthcare app market makes it one to watch in 2019.* Available from: https://thejournalofmhealth.com/rapid-growth-of-

healthcare-app-market-makes-it-one-to-watch-in-2019/ [Electronically accessed on 9th June 2019]

Junco, R. and Cole-Avent, G. A. (2008) 'An introduction to technologies commonly used by college students', *New Directions for Student Services*, 2008(124), pp.3-17.

Junco, R., Merson, D. and Salter, D. W. (2010) 'The effect of Gender, ethnicity, and income on college students' use of communication technologies', *Cyber Psychology Behaviour*, 13(6), pp.619–627.

Jung, C. M., Hur, W. and Kim, Y. (2015) 'A comparison study of smartphone acceptance between korea and the USA', *International Journal of Mobile Communications*, 13(4), pp. 433-453. DOI:10.1504/ IJMC.2015.070064.

Kaasa, A. and Vadi, M. (2010) 'How Does Culture Contribute to Innovation? Evidence from European Countries', *Economics of Innovation and New Technology*, 19(7), pp. 583-604.

Kaasa, A. (2013) Culture as a possible factor of innovation: Evidence from the European Union and neighbouring countries. Search working paper.

Kabra, G., Ramesh, A., Akhtar, P. and Dash, M. K. (2017) 'Understanding behavioural intention to use information technology: insights from humanitarian practitioners', *Telematics Inform.* 34, pp. 1250-1261. DOI: 10.1016/j.tele.2017.05.010.

Kahn, R. L. and Cannell, C. F. (1957) 'The dynamics of interviewing; theory, technique, and cases', *Industrial & Labor Relations Review*, 12(4), pp. 54-55.

Kaiser, K. (2009) 'Protecting respondent confidentiality in qualitative research', *Qualitative Health Research*, 19(11), pp.1632-1641.

Kamboj, S. and Joshi, R. (2021) 'Examining the factors influencing smartphone apps use at tourism destinations: a UTAUT model perspective', *International Journal of Tourism Cities*, 7(1), pp. 135-157. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/IJTC-05-2020-0094

Kang, Y.M., Cho, C. and Lee, S. (2011) 'Analysis of factors affecting the adoption of smartphones', *In: First International Technology Management Conference*, leee, pp. 919–925.

Kano, N., Seraku, N., Takahashi, F. and Tsuji, S. (1984) 'Attractive quality and must be quality', *The Journal of the Japanese Society for Quality Control*, 14, pp. 39-48.

Kantar. (2016) *Double digit smartphone market growth is over*. Available from: https://www.kantarworldpanel.com/global/News/Double-Digit-Smartphone-Market-Growth-is-over [Electronically accessed on 19th March 2020]

Kappeler, F. (2003) *Defining Mental Illness: Collectivist vs Individualist approaches*. Available from:

http://web.sonoma.edu/programs/healthcrisis/pdf/Defining_Mental_Illness_1.pdf [Electronically accessed on 23rd May 2019]

Karahanna, E., Straub, D.W. and Chervany, N.L. (1999) 'Information technology adoption across time: A cross-sectional comparison of Pre-Adoption and Post-Adoption Beliefs', *MIS Quarterly*, 23(2), pp. 183-213.

Karjaluoto, H., Riquelme, H. E., and Rios, R. E. (2010) 'The moderating effect of gender in the adoption of mobile banking', International *Journal of Bank Marketing*, 28(5), pp. 328-341.

Karlson, A. K., Brush, A. J. B. & Schechter, S. (2009) 'Can I borrow your phone? Understanding concerns when sharing mobile phones', *In Proceedings of the 27th international conference on Human factors in computing systems*, CHI '09 (pp. 16471650). New York, NY: ACM. DOI:10.1145/1518701.151895.

Katz, J. E. and Sugiyama, S. (2006) 'Mobile phones as fashion statements: Evidence from student surveys in the US and Japan', *New Media & Society*, 8(2), pp. 321-337. doi: 10.1177/1461444806061950 [Electronically accessed on 22nd August 2019]

Katz, K. and Aakhus, M. (2002) 'Making meaning of mobiles: A theory of apparatgeist', *In James E. Katz & Mark Aakhus* (Eds.), Perpetual contact: Mobile communication, private talk, public performance (pp. 301-318). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Kaushal, S. K. and Kumar, R. (2015) 'Consumers Reaction Towards Smartphones-An Exploratory Study University of Lucknow', *BVIMSR's Journal of Management Research*, 7(2), pp. 143-149. Kavadas, S. and Chao, R.O. (2007) *Resources Allocation and New Product Development Portfolio Management, in Handbook of New Product Development Research*. Oxport: Elsevier/Butterworth.

Kaufmann, Ruediger, H., Panni. and Khan, M. (2019) *Handbook of research on contemporary consumerism.* Available from:

https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=KMexDwAAQBAJ&pg=PA164&lpg=PA164&dq =sheth+1981+model+habit&source=bl&ots=RIvp-

P6qFE&sig=ACfU3U3MRKb1NOj2QT8AhVMOpMFqQywgbg&hl=en&sa=X&ved=2a hUKEwjf062R9OLoAhUGWsAKHZEzBRUQ6AEwCnoECAwQKA#v=onepage&q=sh eth%201981%20model%20habit&f=false [Electronically accessed on 14th Feb 2020]

Keane, M. T. (1996) 'On adaptation in analogy: tests of pragmatic importance and adaptability in analogical problem solving', *The Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 49(4), pp. 1062- 1085.

Keeley, L., Walters, H., Pikkel, R. and Quinn, B. (2013) *Ten types of innovation: The discipline of building breakthroughs*. John Wiley & Sons.

Kelliher, F. (2005) 'Interpretivism and the pursuit of research legitimisation: An integrated approach to single case design', *Electronic Journal on Business Research Methods*, 3(2), pp. 123-132.

Kerlinger F. N. (1956) 'The attitude structure of the individual: a Q-study of the educational attitudes of professors and laymen', *Genetic psychology monographs*, *53*(2), pp. 283–329.

Kim, S. (2009) 'The integrative framework of technology use: an extension and test', *MIS Quarterly*, 33(3), pp. 513-37.

Kiseleva, J., Williams, K., Jiang, J., Awadallah, A. H., Crook, A. C., Zitouni, I. and Anastasakos, T. (2016) 'Understanding user satisfaction with intelligent assistants', *In Proceedings of the 2016 ACM on Conference on Human Information Interaction and Retrieval* (CHIIR '16), Chapel Hill, NC, 13-17 (March 2016, pp.121-130). New York, NY: ACM Press. DOI: 10.1145/2854946.2854961. Kishore, S. (2018) *The power of incremental innovation.* Available from: https://www.wired.com/insights/2013/11/the-power-of-incremental-innovation/ [Electronically accessed on 17th April 2019]

Khalilzadeh, J., Ozturk, A. B., and Bilgihan, A. (2017) 'Security-related factors in extended UTAUT model for NFC based mobile payment in the restaurant industry', *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 70, pp. 460-474. DOI: 10.1016/j.chb.2017.01.001.

Khan M., (2006) *Consumer behaviour and advertising management*. New Age International Publishers.

Khan, M. M. (2016) 'Factors of Consumer Choice of Smart Phones – A Study on Brand Image and Brand Features', *Market Forces*, 11(2), pp. 1-10.

Khan, R. & Cox, P. (2017) 'Country Culture and National Innovation', *Archives of Business Research*, 5(2), pp. 85-101.

Khasawneh K and Hasouneh A. B. I. (2010) 'The effect of familiar brand names on consumer behaviour: A Jordanian Perspective', *International Research Journal of Finance Economics*, 43(1), pp. 34–57.

Kharpal, J. (2017) *Smartphone market to be worth* \$355 *billion, with* 6 *billion devices in circulation by 2020; Report*. Available from: https://www.cnbc.com/2017/01/17/6-billion-smartphones-will-be-in-circulation-in-2020-ihs-report.html [Electronically accessed on 1st March 2020].

Kijsanayotin, B., Pannarunothai, S. and Speedie, S.M. (2009) 'Factors influencing health information technology adoption in Thailand's community health centers: applying the UTAUT model', *International journal of medical informatics*, 78(6), pp. 404–416. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2008.12.005

Kim, E. (207) *This one chart shows why it is so important for Apple to revive iPhone sales*. Available from: https://www.businessinsider.com/apple-iphone-sales-as-percentage-of-total-revenue-chart-2017-1?r=US&IR=T [Electronically accessed on 20th March 2019]

Kim, H. J., Min, J. Y., Kim, H. J. and Min, K. B. (2017) 'Accident risk associated with smartphone addiction: A study on university students in Korea',

Journal of Behavioural Addictions, 6(4), pp. 699-707. DOI: 10.1556/2006.6.2017.070

Kim, J., Seo, M. and David, P. (2015) 'Alleviating depression only to become problematic mobile phone users: Can face-to-face communication be the antidote'?, *Computers in Human Behaviour,* 51(A), pp. 440–447.

Kim, M. K., Wong, S. F., Chang, Y. and Park, J. H. (2016) 'Determinants of customer loyalty in the Korean smartphone market: Moderating effects of usage characteristics', *Telematics and Informatics*, 33(4), pp. 936-949.

Kim, S. & Garrison, G. (2008) 'Investigating mobile wireless technology adoption: An extension of the technology acceptance model'. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 11(3), pp. 323-333.

Kim, S.H. (2008) 'Moderating effects of Job Relevance and Experience on mobile wireless technology acceptance: Adoption of a smartphone by individuals', *Information & Management*.45(6), pp. 387–393. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0378720608000773 [Electronically Accessed on 20th July 2021]

Kim, S.H., Kim, M.S., Holland, S. and Han, H.S. (2018) 'Hospitality employees' citizenship behavior: The moderating role of cultural values', *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 30(2), pp.662-684.

Kim, S.I. (1999) 'Causal bridging inference: A cause of story interestingness', *British Journal of Psychology*, 90(1), pp 57-71.

Kim, Y & Zhang, Y. (2014) 'The impact of power distance belief on consumer's preference for status brands', *Journal of Global marketing*, 27(1), pp. 13-29. DOI: 10.1080/08911762.2013.844290

King, G., Keohane, R.O. and Verba, S. (1994) *Designing social inquiry: Scientific inference in qualitative research*. Sage Publications, Beverly Hills, CA, US.

Kirkman, B. L., Lowe, K. B. & Gibson, C. B. (2006) 'A quarter century of Culture's Consequences: A review of empirical research incorporating Hofstede's cultural values framework', *Journal of International Business Studies*, 37(3), pp. 285–320. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1057/palgrave.jibs.8400202.

Klasus, W. (2004) *Product improvement or innovation: what is the key to success in Tourism?* OECD, P:2.

Kleijnen, M., Lee, N. and Wetzels, M. (2009) 'An exploration of consumer resistance to innovation and its antecedents', *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 30(3), pp. 344-357.

Kleinschmidt, J. and Cooper, G. (1991) 'The impact of product innovativeness on performance', *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 8(4), pp. 240-251.

Klepper, S. (1996) 'Entry, Exit, Growth, and Innovation over the Product Life cycle', *American Economic Review*, 86(3), pp. 562-583.

Kluckhohn, C.and Kroeberg, L. (1952) *Culture: A critical review of concepts and definitions*. New York: Vintage Books.

Kluckhohn, F. & Strodtbeck, F.L. (1961) *Variations in Value Orientations*. Row, Peterson:Evanston, IL.

Knight, R. M. (1987) 'Corporate innovation and entrepreneurship: A Canadian study', *The Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 4(4), pp. 284-298.

Koberg, C. S., Uhlenbruck, N. and Sarason, Y. (1996) 'Facilitators of organizational innovation: The role of life-cycle stage', *Journal of Business Venturing*, 11(2), pp. 133-149.

Kocina, L. (2013) *What percentage of products fail and why?* Available from: https://www.publicity.com/marketsmart-newsletters/percentage-new-products-fail/ [Electronically accessed on 16th May 2018].

Kodó, K., and Hahn, I. (2017) *Mobile payment analysed from the aspects of Kano model*. Available from: https://www.divaportal.org/smash/get/diva2:1079862/FULLTEXT01.pdf [Electronically accessed on 25th June 2019]

Koenig-Lewis, N., Palmer, A. and Moll, A. (2010) 'Predicting young consumers' take up of mobile banking services', *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 28(5), pp. 410-432. Available at: http://www.emeraldinsight.com/10.1108/02652321011064917 [Electronically accessed 20th July 2021]

Kolodner, J. L. (1997) 'Educational implications of analogy', *American Psychologist*, 52(1), pp. 57-66.

Kovacic, Z. (2005) 'The Impact of National Culture on Worldwide eGovernment Readiness. *Informing Science', The International Journal of an Emerging Transdiscipline*, 8, pp.143–158.

Koskinen, I. K. (2007) *Mobile multimedia in action.* New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers.

Kossek, E. E. & Lautsch, B. A. (2012) 'Work–family boundary management styles in organizations: A cross-level model', *Organizational Psychology Review*, 2, pp.152–171. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/2041386611436264 [Electronically accessed on 2nd March 2019].

Kotler, P. & Armstrong, G. (2007) *Principles of Marketing*. 12th edn. Boston: Pearson Education

Kotler P. & Armstrong, G. (2010) *Principles of Marketing*. New Jersey: Pearson Prentice Hall.

Kotler, P. & Armstrong, G. (2014) *Principles of Marketing*: Global edition. 15th edn. Pearson Education Limited.

Krippendorff, K. (1989) 'On the Essential Contexts of Artifacts or on the Proposition that Design Is Making Sense (of Things)', *Design Issues*, 5(2), pp. 9–38.

Kuisma, T., Laukkanen, T. and Hiltunen, M. (2007) 'Mapping the reasons for resistance to Internet banking: a means-end approach', *International Journal of Information Management*, 27(2), pp. 75-85.

Kumar, V. (2014) 'Understanding cultural differences in innovation: A conceptual framework and future research directions', *Journal of International Marketing*, 22(3), pp. 1-29.

Kumar, V. and Pansari, A. (2016) 'National Culture, Economy, and Customer Lifetime Value: Assessing the Relative Impact of the Drivers of Customer Lifetime Value for a Global Retailer', *Journal of International Marketing*, 24(1), pp.1-21. DOI:10.1509/jim.15.0112

Kun, X., Xinyue, X. and Nan, W. (2013) 'Design of vehicle control system based on bluetooth low energy smartphone platform', 2013 International Conference on Electrical Machines and Systems (ICEMS), pp. 1498–1501. Available at: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=6754414. [Electronically accessed on 21st March 2019]

Kwahk, K. Y. and Ge, X. (2012) 'The Effects of Social Media on E-commerce': A Perspective of Social Impact Theory', *45th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, 1814-1823.

Lai, J.Y., Debbarma, S. and Ulhas, K.R. (2012) 'An empirical study of consumer switching behaviour towards mobile shopping: a push-pull-mooring model', *International Journal of Mobile Communications*, 10(4), pp. 386-404.

Laforet, S., Li, X. (2005) 'Consumers' attitudes towards online and mobile banking in China', *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 23(5). pp: 362-380. DOI:10.1108/02652320510629250

Lamarre, A., Galarneau, S. and Boeck, H. (2012) 'Mobile marketing and consumer behaviour current research trend', *International Journal of Latest Trends in Computing*, 3(1), pp. 1-9.

Laperche, B. (2018) 'The Pandora's box of innovation and the emergence of new opportunities', *Journal of Innovation Economics & Management*, 27(3), pp. 3-7. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3917/jie.027.0003.

Lapidat, J. and Lindsey, A. (1999) 'Transcription in research and practice: From standardization of technique to interpretive positionings', *Qualitative Inquiry*, 5, pp. 64-86.

Laukkanen, P., Sinkkonen, S. and Laukkanen, T. (2008) 'Consumer resistance to internet banking: postponers, opponents and rejectors', *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 26, pp. 440-455

Lanaj, K., Johnson, R. E. and Barnes, C. M. (2014) 'Beginning the workday yet already depleted? Consequences of late-night smartphone use and sleep', *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 124(1), pp. 11-23.

Lapointe, L., Lamothe, L. and Fortin, J. (2002) 'The dynamics of IT adoption in a major change process in healthcare delivery, System Sciences, HICSS', *Proceedings of the 35th Annual Hawaii International Conference*. pp. 918-926.

Lashbrook, A. (2019) *It's a Good Thing That Shopping on Your Phone Is the Worst*. Available from: https://onezero.medium.com/its-a-good-thing-that-shopping-on-yourphone-is-the-worst-bfb86cb1bfac [Electronically accessed on 24th July 2021].

Lay-Yee, K.L., Kok-Siew, H., and Yin-Fah, B.J. (2013) 'Factors affecting smartphone purchase decision among Malaysian Generation Y', *International Journal of Asian Social Science*, 3(12), pp. 2426-2440.

Lee, C. and Ging, L. (2007) 'Encouraging innovation in Malaysia: Appropriate sources of finance', *CACCI Journal*, 1, 2007, Nottingham University. Malaysia campus. P:2.

Leedy, P. D. and Ormrod, J. E. (2005) *Practical research: Planning and* design. 8th edn. Pearson Merrill Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ, US.

Lee, H. S., Kim, T. G. and Choi, J. Y. (2012) 'A Study on the Factors Affecting Smart Phone Application Acceptance'. In: *International Conference on e-Education, e-Businee, eManagement and e-Learning*. Singapore, pp. 27–34.

Lee, I., Choi, B., Kim, J. and Hong, S. J. (2007) 'Culture-technology fit: Effects of cultural characteristics on the post-adoption beliefs of mobile internet users', *International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 11(4), pp. 11-51. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2753/JEC1086-4415110401.

Lee, J. (1996), Self-reference criteria was originally coined: Cultural analysis in overseas operations. Harvard Business Review.

Lee, M. C. (2009) 'Factors influencing the adoption of Internet banking: An integration of TAM and TPB with perceived risk and perceived benefit', *Electronic Commerce Research and Applications*, 8(3) pp. 130-141.

Lee, S.-G., Trimi, S. and Kim, C. (2013) 'The impact of cultural differences on technology adoption', *Journal of World Business*, 48(1), pp. 20-29.

Lee, S. Y. (2014) 'Examining the factors that influence early adopters' smartphone adoption: The case of college students', *Telematics and Informatics*, 31, pp. 308-31.

Lei, X., Tu, G. H., Liu, A. X., Li, C. Y., and Xie, T. (2017) *The insecurity of home digital voice assistants – Amazon Alexa as a case study*. Available from: https://arxiv.org/abs/1712.03327 [Electronically accessed on 4th April 2019]

Lehmann, D. (1997) 'A Different Game: Setting the Stage, Presentation given at MSI conference titled, "*A Different Game: Really New Products, Evolving Markets, and Responsive Organizations*". Boston.

Lemon, M. and Sahota, P. S. (2004) 'Organisational culture as a knowledge repository for increased innovative capacity', *Technovation*, 24, pp. 483-498.

Lewis, M. and Moultrie, J. (2005) 'The organizational innovation laboratory', *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 14(1), pp. 73-86.

Lewis, W., Agarwal, R. and Sambamurthy, V. (2003) 'Sources of influence on beliefs about information technology use: An empirical study of knowledge workers', *MIS Quarterly*, 27(4), pp. 657-678.

Leonard, J.K. (2004) 'Critical success factors relation to healthcare's adoption of new technology: A guide to increasing the likelihood of increasing adoption', *Electronic healthcare*, 2(4), pp. 72-81.

Levin, D. M. (1988) *The opening of vision: Nihilism and the postmodern situation*. London: Routledge

Lexico. (2019) *Mobile phone*. Available from: http://www.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/english/mobile-phone [Electronically accessed on 16th Nov 2019]. Leung, L. (2008) *Mediated Interpersonal Communications*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 2008. Leisure boredom, sensation seeking, self-esteem, addiction: Symptoms and patterns of cell phone use; pp. 359–381.

Levin, D. M. (1988) *The opening of vision: Nihilism and the postmodern situation.* London: Routledge.

Liao, Y.J. (2012) *Consumer Behavior on Smartphone*. Master Thesis, Department of Business Administration. Waseda University, pp. 1-45, 2012.

Li, L. and Lin, T.T.C. (2019) 'Over-connected? A qualitative exploration of smartphone addiction among working adults in China', *BMC Psychiatry*, 19(1), pp.186. DOI: 10.1186/s12888-019-2170-z.

Li, D. C. (2011) 'Online Social Network Acceptance: A Social Perspective', *Internet Research*, 21(5), pp. 562-580.

Li, X., Hess, T. J., McNab, A. L. and Yu, Y. (2009) 'Culture and acceptance of global web sites: a cross-country study of the effects of national cultural values on acceptance of a personal web portal', *ACM SIGMIS Database*, 40(4), pp. 49-74.

Liao, A.S. and Cheng C.J.C. (2014) 'Brand equity and the exacerbating factors of product innovation failure evaluations: A communication effect perspective', *Journal of Business Research*, 67, pp. 2919–2925.

Liébana-Cabanillas, F., Muñoz-Leiva, F. and Rejón-Guardia, F. (2013) 'The determinants of satisfaction with e-banking', *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 113(5), pp. 750-767.

Liébana-Cabanillas, F., Muñoz-Leiva, F., Sánchez-Fernández, J. (2018) 'A global approach to the analysis of user behavior in mobile payment systems in the new electronic environment', *Service Business*, 12. pp. 25-64.

Lily, A. & Alhazmi, A. (2018) 'The Theory of Retroactivism: Arab Resistance to Educational and Technological Progress'. *Soc* 55, 540–548 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12115-018-0306-2. [Electronically accessed on 24th Nov 2019] Lim, H. and Sun Park, J. (2013) 'The Effects of National Culture and Cosmopolitanism on Consumers' Adoption of Innovation: A Cross-Cultural Comparison', *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 25, pp. 16-28

Lin, A. C. (1998) 'Bridging Positivist and Interpretivist Approaches to Qualitative Methods', *Policy Studies Journal*, 26, pp. 162-180. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0072.1998.tb01931.x.

Lin, C. W., Lin, Y. S., Liao, C. C. and Chen, C. C. (2021) 'Utilizing Technology Acceptance Model for Influences of Smartphone Addiction on Behavioural Intention', *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, 2021(2), pp.1-7.

Lin, C.Y. and Chen, Y.C. (2007) 'Does innovation lead to performance? An empirical study of SME's in Taiwan', *Management research news*, 30(2), pp.115-132.

Lin, H.-C. (2014) 'An investigation of the effects of cultural differences on physicians' perceptions of information technology acceptance as they relate to knowledge management systems', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 38, pp.368-380. DOI: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.05.001.

Lin, L. (2009) 'Effects of national culture on process management and technological innovation', *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 20(12), pp.12871301.

Lin, S.Y., Juan, P. J. and Lin, S. W. (2020) *A TAM Framework to Evaluate the Effect* of Smartphone Application on Tourism Information Search Behaviour of Foreign *Independent Travelers*. Available from: file:///C:/Users/HP/Downloads/sustainability-12-09366-v2%20(1).pdf [Electronically accessed on 20th June 2021].

Lin, Y.H., Chang, LR. and Lee, YH. (2014) 'Development and validation of the smartphone addiction inventory (SPAI)', *PLoS ONE*, 9(6), e98312. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0098312.

Lindgaard, G., Fernandes, G., Dudek, C. and Brown, J. (2006) 'Attention web designers: You have 50 milliseconds to make a good first impression!', *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 25(2), pp.115-126.

Ling C., Hwang W. and Salvendy G. (2006) 'Diversified users' satisfaction with advanced mobile phone features', *Universal Access in the Information Society*, 5(2), pp. 239-249.

Ling, L. P. & Yazdanifard, R. (2014) 'Does gender play a role in online consumer behaviour?', *Global Journal of Management and Business Research*: E Marketing, 14(7), pp. 61-68.

Linzmayer, O. W. (1999) *Apple Confidential: The Real Story of Apple Computer*. Inc. San Francisco: No Starch Press, c1999.

Liu, S. H., Liao, H. L. and Peng, C. J. (2005) 'Applying the Technology Acceptance Model And Flow Theory to Online E-learning Users' Acceptance Behavior', *Elearning*, 4(H6).

Liu, C. and Liang, H. Y. (2013) 'The Deep Impression of Smartphone Brand on the Customers' Decision Making', *Procedia - Social and Behavioural Sciences*, 109(2014), pp. 338-343.

Liu, C.H., Lin, S.H. and Pan, Y.C. (2016) 'Smartphone gaming and frequent use pattern associated with smartphone addiction', *Medicine*, 95(28): e4068. DOI: 10.1097/MD.0000000000004068.

Liu, G., Eng, T.Y. and Sekhon, Y.K. (2013) 'Managing branding legitimacy: A study of charity retail sector', *Non-profit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*, 43(4), pp. 629-651. DOI:10.1177/0899764012474722.

Liu, I. F., Chen, M. C., Sun, Y. S., Wible, D. and Kuo, C. H. (2010) 'Extending the TAM model to explore the factors that affect Intention to Use an Online Learning Community', *Computers & Education*, 54(2), pp. 600-610. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2009.09.009

Liu, M. (2013) 'A study of mobile sensing using smartphones', *International Journal of Distributed Sensor Networks 2013*. DOI:10.1155/2013/272916.

Liu, N. and Yu, R. (2017) 'Identifying design feature factors critical to acceptance and usage behaviour of smartphones', *Computers in Human Behaviour*, 70, pp. 131-142.

Liu, S., Zhuo, Y., Soman, D. and Zhao, M., (2012) *The Consumer Implications of the Use of Electronic and Mobile Payment Systems*. Rotman School of Management, University of Toronto, Toronto.

Loewenstein, G. (1994) 'The psychology of curiosity: a review and reinterpretation', *Psychological Bulletin*, 116(1), pp. 75-98.

Loken, B. and Ward, J. (1990) 'Alternative approaches to understanding the determinants of typicality', *Journal of Consumer Research,* 17, pp. 111-126.

Lovato, S and Piper, A. M. (2015) 'Siri, is this you?: Understanding young children's interactions with voice input systems', *In Proceedings of IDC 2015: The 14th International Conference on Interaction Design and Children.*, 2771910, Proceedings of IDC 2015: The 14th International Conference on Interaction Design and Children, Association for Computing Machinery, Inc, pp. 335-338, 14th International Conference on Interaction Design and Children, States, 6/21/15. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1145/2771839.2771910

Lovato, S. B and Piper, A. M. (2019) 'Young Children and Voice Search: What We Know From Human-Computer Interaction Research', *Front Psychol*, 10(8). DOI: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00008.

Lu, H. P. and Su, P. Y. J. (2009) 'Factors affecting purchase intention on mobile shopping websites', *Internet Research*, 19(4), pp. 442-458.

Lundvall, B. A. (1992) *National systems of innovation: Towards a theory of innovation and interactive learning*. London, New York: Pinter Publishers.

Lundvall, B., (2007) 'National innovation systems—analytical concept and development tool', *Industry and Innovation*, 14, pp. 95–119.

Lussier, R. N. and Achua, C. F. (2010) *Effective Leadership*, 4th edn. International Edition, South Western, Encage Learning, Australia.

Luarn, P., and Lin, H. H. (2005) 'Toward an understanding of the behavioural intention to use mobile banking', *Computers in Human Behaviour*, 21(6), pp. 873-89.

Lundvall, B. A. (2009) 'Innovation as an interactive process: user producer interaction to the national system of innovation: Research paper'. *African Journal of Science, Technology, Innovation and Development*, 1(1&3), pp. 10-34.

Luger, E. and Sellen, A. (2016) 'Like having a really bad PA: The gulf between user expectation and experience of conversational agents', *In Proceedings of the 2016 Chi conference on human factors in computing systems*. In CHI '16 (pp. 5286–5297). New York, NY, USA: ACM. DOI: 10.1145/2858036.2858288.

Lynn, M., Zinkhan, G. M. & Harris, J. (1993) 'Consumer tipping: a cross-country study'. *Journal of Consumer Research, 20*(3), pp. 478-488.

Maddi, S.R. and Fiske D.W. (1961) *An appraisal of the proposed conceptual framework, in: Fiske, D.W. and Maddi, S.R. Functions of varied experience.* The Dorsey Press Inc. Homewood, III

Maddi, S.R. (1961) *Exploratory behaviour and variation-seeking in man, in: Fiske, D.W. and Maddi, S.R. Functions of varied experience*. The Dorsey Press Inc. Homewood, III.

Mahomed, A. S. B., Mcgrath, M. G.and Yuh, B. Z. (2018) 'The Impact of Hofstede's National Culture on Usage of Emails Among Academician in Malaysian Public Universities', *International Journal of Engineering & Technology*, 7(2.29), pp. 990. DOI:10.14419/ijet.v7i2.29.14295.

Mallat, N., Rossi, M., Tuunainen, V.K. and Öörni, A. (2006) 'An empirical investigation of mobile ticketing service adoption in public transportation'. *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing*, 12(1), pp. 57–65.

Malviya, S., Singh Saluja, M., & Singh Thakur, A. (2013) 'A Study on the Factors Influencing Consumer's Purchase Decision Towards Smartphones in Indore', *International Journal of Advance Research in Computer Science and Management Studies*, 1(6), pp. 1-8.

Mandler, G. (1979) *Emotion.* In: Hearst, E. The first century of experimental psychology. Hillsdale, N.J.: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates

Mandler, G. (1982) *The structure of value: accounting for taste*. Clark, Margareth S. and Fiske, Susan T. Affect & Cognition: The 17th Annual Carnegie Symposium. Hillsdale, New-Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 3-36.

Mandler, T., Seifert, R., Wellbrock, C. M., Knuth, I. and Kunz, R. (2018) 'The impact of national culture on mobile commerce adoption and usage intensity', *In Proceedings of the 51st Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences* (pp. 3627-3636). DOI: https://doi.org/10.24251/hicss.2018.459.

Magnusson, P., Wilson, R., Zhou, J. and Zdravkovic, S. (2008) 'Breaking through the cultural clutter: A comparative assessment of multiple cultural and institutional frameworks', *International Marketing Review*, 25(2), pp.183-201. DOI: 10.1108/02651330810866272.

Maillet, É., Mathieu, L., and Sicotte, C. (2015) 'Modeling factors explaining the acceptance, actual use and satisfaction of nurses using an electronic patient record in acute care settings: an extension of the UTAUT', *Int. J. Med. Inform.* 84, pp. 36-47. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.09.004.

Maital, S. and Seshadri, D. V. R. (2012) *Innovation Management: Strategies, Concepts and Tools for Growth and Profit*. New Delhi, Response Books

Malterud, K. and Hollnagel, H. (1999) 'Encouraging the strengths of women patients', *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 27(4), pp.254–259.

Malterud, K., (2001) 'Qualitative research: standards, challenges, and guidelines', *The Lancet*, 358(9280), pp.483-488.

Mamasioulas, A., Mourtzis, D. and Chryssolouris, G. (2020) 'A manufacturing innovation overview: concepts, models and metrics', *Journal of Computer Integrated Manufacturing*, 33(8), pp. 769-791. DOI: 10.1080/0951192X.2020.1780317

Marino, C., Gini, G., Vieno, A. and Spada, M. M. (2018) 'The associations between problematic Facebook use, psychological distress and well-being among adolescents and young adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis', *J Affect Disord*, 226, pp. 274-281. DOI: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.10.007.

Martins, C., Oliveira, T. and Popovič, A. (2014) 'Understanding the internet banking adoption: a unified theory of acceptance and use of technology and perceived risk application', *Int. J. Inf. Manag*, 34, pp. 1-13. DOI: 10.2196/13117.

Martin, M. (1994) *Managing innovation and entrepreneurship in technology-based firms*. 1st edn. New York: Wiley, p.44.

Martin, T. (2014) *The evolution of the smartphone*. Available from: http://pocketnow.com/2014/07/28/the-evolution-of-the-smartphone.[Electronically accessed on 27th July 2019]

Martins, E. C. and Terblanche, F. (2003) 'Building organisational culture that stimulates creativity and innovation', *European Journal of Innovation Management*, 6(1), pp. 64-67.

Matzler, K., Fuchs, M. and Schubert, A. (2004) 'Employee satisfaction: Does Kano's model apply'?, *Total Quality Management and Business Excellence*, 15(9/10), pp. 1179-1198.

Masimba, F., Appiah, M. and Zuva, T. (2019) 'A Review of Cultural Influence on Technology Acceptance', *2019 International Multidisciplinary Information Technology and Engineering Conference (IMITEC)*, pp. 1-7. DOI:10.1109/IMITEC45504.2019.9015877.

Maudsley, G. (2011) 'Mixing it but not mixed-up: Mixed methods research in medical education (a critical narrative review)', *Medical Teacher*, 33(2), pp.92–104.

Mays, N. and Pope, C. (2000) 'Qualitative research in health care. Assessing quality in qualitative research', *BMJ*, 320(7226), pp.50–2.

May, H. and Hearn, G. (2005) 'The mobile phone as media', *International Journal of Cultural Studies*, 8(2), pp.195-211.

McAlister, L. and Pessemier, E. (1982) 'Variety Seeking Behaviour: An Interdisciplinary Review', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 9(3), pp. 311-322

Mccarty, B. (2014) *The History of the Smartphone*. Available from: http://thenextweb.com/mobile/2011/12/06/the-history-of-the-smartphone/. [Electronically accessed on 27th July 2019] McCaskill, S. (2017) *Tales in tech history; N-gage.* Available from: https://www.silicon.co.uk/mobility/smartphones/nokia-n-gage-222131 [Electronically accessed on 28th May 2018]

McCloseky, D.W. (2006) 'The importance of ease of use, usefulness and trust to online consumers: An examination of the Technology Acceptance Model with older consumers', *Journal of Organizational and End User Computing*, 18(3), pp 48-65.

McCoy, S. (2002) The effect of National Culture Dimensions on the Acceptance of Information Technology: A trait based approach. Doctoraal dissertation edn. University of Pittsburgh.

McCoy, S., Everard, A. and Jones, B. (2005) 'An examination of the technology acceptance model in Uruguay and the U.S.: A focus on culture', *Journal of Global Information Technology*, 8(2), pp. 27–45. DOI: 10.1080/1097198X.2005.10856395

McCoy, S., Galletta, D. F., and King, W. R. (2005) 'Integrating national culture into IS research: The need for current individual level measures', *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*, *15*(1), pp.12–30.

McCoy, S., Galletta, D. F. and King, W. R. (2007) 'Applying TAM across cultures: The need for caution', *European Journal of Information Systems*, 16(1), pp. 81–90. DOI: 10.1057/palgrave.ejis.3000659.

McCrae, N., Gettings, S. and Purssell, E. (2017) 'Social Media and Depressive Symptoms in Childhood and Adolescence: A Systematic Review', *Adolescent Res Rev*, 2, pp. 315–330. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40894-017-0053-4.

McDermott, C. M. and O'Connor, G. C. (2002) 'Managing radical innovation: an overview of emergent strategy issues,' *Journal of Product Innovation Management,* 19(6), pp. 424–438.

Mcdonald, J. (2019) *Almost three quarters of internet users will be mobile only by* 2025. Available from: https://www.warc.com/content/paywall/article/warcdatapoints/almost_three_quarters_of_internet_users_will_be_mobileonly_by_2025/1 24845 [Electronically accessed on 20th Feb 2019] Mc Intosh, I. (1997) *Classical Sociological Theory: A Reader*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press.

Mcit. (2019) *Brief History*. Available from: https://www.mcit.gov.sa/en/brief-history [Electronically accessed on 5th June 2019]

McKenna, K. Y. A. & Bargh, J. A. (2000) 'Plan 9 from Cyberspace: The Implications of the Internet for Personality and Social Psychology', *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 4(1), pp. 57-75.

McSweeney, B. (2002) 'The essentials of scholarship: A reply to Geert Hofstede', *Human Relations*, 55(11), pp. 1363–1372. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1177/00187267025511005.

Meadows, I. S. G. (1980) 'Organic structure and innovation in small work groups', *Human Relations*, 33(6), pp. 369-375

Mehrabian, A. & Russell, J. A. (1974) *An approach to environmental psychology*. Cambridge, MA, The MIT Press.

Merkin, R., Taras, V. and Steel, P. (2014) 'State of the Art Themes in Cross-Cultural Communication Research: A Systematic and Meta-Analytic Review'. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 38(1), pp. 1–23.

Meyers-Levy, J. and Tybout, A. M., (1989) 'Schema congruity as a basis for product evaluation', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 16(1), pp. 39-54.

Michaut, A. M. K. (2004) *Consumer response to innovative products with application to foods.* PhD Thesis, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands.

Milanesi, C. (2016) *Voice assistant anyone? Yes please, but not in public!* Available from: http://creativestrategies.com/voice-assistant-anyoneyes-please-but-not-in-public/ [Electronically accessed on 8th March 2019].

Milberg, S. J., Burke, S. J., Smith, H. J. and Kallman, E. A. (1995) 'Values, Personal Information Privacy, and Regulatory Approaches', *Communication of ACM*, 38(12), pp.65-74.

Milberg, S. J., Smith, H. J. & Burke, S. J. (2000) 'Information Privacy: Corporate Management and National Regulation', *Organization Science*, 11(1), pp.35–57.

Miles, M. B. and Huberman, A. M. (1994) *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook*: Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Miles, M. B. and Huberman, A. M. (1994) *Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook*. 2nd edn. Sage Publications, Inc.

Miller, D. C. (1983) *Handbook of research design and social measurement*. 4th edn, London: Long- man.

Miller-Merrell, J. (2012) *The workplace engagement economy where HR, social, mobile, and tech collide. Employment Relations Today.* Available from: https://www.academia.edu/19491467/The_workplace_engagement_economy_where _HR_social_mobile_and_tech_collide [Electronically accessed on 11th April 2019]

Miltgen C. L. and Guillard D. P. (2014) 'Cultural and generational influences on privacy concerns: a qualitative study in seven European countries', *European Journal of Information Systems*, 23, pp. 103-125.

Miyakawa, M. and Wong, C. (1989) 'Analysis of attractive quality and must-be quality through product expectation factors', *Proceedings of 35th. Technical Conference*. Tokyo. Society for Quality Control, pp. 101-10

Mobasheri, M., King,D., Johnston, M., Gautama, S., Purkayastha, S. and Darzi, A. (2015) 'The ownership and clinical use of smartphones by doctors and nurses in the UK', *BMJ Innovations*, 1(4), pp. 174-181. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjinnov-2015-000062

MobileSQUARED. (2010) Social networking and the rise of the smart machines – 2015AD Innovating services, optimizing delivery. Available from: 2010-Mobile-Socia-Networking-in-2015-Airwide-2010.pdf (ict-industry-reports.com.au) [Electronically accessed on 22nd February 2019]

Mokhtar, M., Yusoff, S., Asmuni, S. and Fauzi, N.A.M. (2020) 'An insight into online shopping behaviour among young adults in Malaysia ', *Journal of Emerging Economies & Islamic Research*, 8(1), pp. 77-88.

Monsell, S. (2003) 'Task switching', *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 7(3), pp.134-140, DOI: 10.1016/S1364-6613(03)00028-7.

Moore, G. and Benbasat, I. (1991) 'Development of an instrument to measure the perceptions of adopting an information technology innovation', *Information Systems Research*, 2(3), pp. 192-222.

Monroe, B. & Krishnan, R. (1985) *The Effect of Price on Subjective Product Evaluations*. In Perceived Quality. Eds. Jacob Jacoby and Jerry Olson. Lexington, MA: Lexington Books, 209-232.

Mohan, A. (2014) *Consumer Behaviour towards Smartphone Industry in Indian Market*. Ph.D. Dissertation, Department of Business Management, Dublin Business School, pp. 1-85.

Mohd, S. N. (2013) 'Students' demand for smartphones: Structural relationships of product features, brand name, product price and social influence', *Campus-Wide Information Systems*, 30(4), pp. 236-248. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/CWIS-03-2013-0013.

Moreau, C.P., Lehman, D and Markman, A.B. (2001) 'What Is It?' Categorization Flexibility and Consumers' Responses to Really New Products', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 27(4), pp.489-498.

Moreau, C., Lehmann, D. and Markman, A. (2001) 'Entrenched knowledge structures and consumer response to new products', *Journal of Marketing Research*, 38(1), pp. 14-29.

Morris, T. and Wood, S. (1991) 'Testing the survey method: continuity and change in British industrial relations', *Work Employment and Society*, 5(2), pp. 259-282.

Moore, S., Pan, D. and Engineer, M. (2017) *A case study on using voice technology to assist the museum visitor*. Available from: https://mw17.mwconf.org/paper/a-casestudy-on-using-voice-technology-to-assist-the-museum-visitor [Electronically accessed on 4th April 2019]

Morgan, D. L. (1998) Planning focus groups. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Morris, L. (2008) *Innovation Metrics: The Innovation Process and How to Measure It*. Innovation Labs LLC.

Morris, M., Leung, K. (2010) 'Creativity East and West: Perspectives and parallels', *Management and Organization Review*, 6(3), pp. 313-327.

Mostafa, M. (2005) 'Factors affecting organisational creativity and innovativeness in Egyptian business organisations: An empirical investigation', *The Journal of Management Development*, 24(1/2), pp. 7-33.

Muckersie, E. (2016) *4 examples of incremental innovation in action.* Available from: https://www.business2community.com/business-innovation/4-examples-incremental-innovation-action-01615593 [Electronically accessed on 12th April 2019]

Mugge, R., Schifferstein, H.N.J. and Schoormans, J.P.L., (2008a) *Product attachment and satisfaction: the effects of pleasure and memories*. In: S. Borghini, M. McGrath, and C. Otnes, eds. European advances in consumer research. 8, Duluth, MN: *Association for Consumer Research*, 325–331.

Mugge, R., Schoormans, J.P.L. and Schifferstein, H.N.J., (2008b) *Product attachment: design strategies to stimulate the emotional bonding to products*.In :P. Hekkert and H.N.J. Schifferstein,eds. Product experience. Amsterdam: Elsevier,425-440.

Muthusamy, S. K., Wheeler, J. V. and Simmons, B. L. (2005) 'Self-managing work teams: Enhancing organizational innovativeness', *Organization Development Journal*, 23(3), pp. 53-67.

Myers, M. D. (2008) *Qualitative Research in Business & Management*. SAGE Publications.

Nachmias, C. F. and Nachmias, D. (2008) *Research methods in the social sciences*. 7th edn. New York: Worth.

Nagle, T. T. and Holden, R. K. (2002) *The Strategy and Tactics of Pricing: A Guide to Profitable Decision Making*. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.
Nakata, C. and Sivakumar, K. (1996) 'National culture and new product development', *Journal of Marketing*, 60(1), pp. 61-72.

Nasar, J. L and Troyer, D. (2013) 'Pedestrian injuries due to mobile phone use in public places', *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 57, pp. 91-95. DOI: 10.1016/j.aap.2013.03.021.

Naumova, O., Bilan, S. and Naumova, M. (2019) 'Luxury consumers' behaviour: A cross cultural aspect', *Innovative marketing*, 15(4), pp. 1-13. DOI:10.21511/im.15(4).2019.01

Nelson, M. R. and McLeod L. E. (2005) 'Adolescents brand consciousness and product placement: Awareness, liking and perceived effects on self and others', *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 25(1), pp. 1-13.

Nielsen. (2014), *Smartphones driving mobile sales in Saudi Arabia.* Available from: http://www.nielsen.com/sa/en/press-room/2014/smartphones-driving-mobile-sales-in-saudi-arabia.html [Electronically accessed on 14th December 2017]

Nielsen. (2016) *Millennials are top smartphone users*. Available from: https://www.nielsen.com/us/en/insights/article/2016/millennials-are-top-smartphoneusers/ [Electronically accessed on 14th February 2020]

Nikolopoulou, K. (2018) 'Mobile learning usage and acceptance: perceptions of secondary school students', *Journal of Computers in Education, 5*(4), pp. 499–519. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40692018-0127-8..

Nisbett, R. E., Peng, K., Choi, I. and Norenzayan, A. (2001) 'Culture and systems of thought: holistic versus analytic cognition', *Psychol Rev*, 108(2), pp. 291- 310.

Neuman, W. L. (1997) *Social research methods: Qualitative and Quantitative approaches*. 3rd edn. Allyn & Bacon, Needham Heights, MA, US.

Newman, K.L. and Nollen, S. D. (1996) 'Culture and Congruence: The Fit Between Management Practices and National Culture', *Journal of International Business Studies*, 27(4), pp. 753-779.

Newzoo. (2019) *Numbers.* Available from: https://newzoo.com/key-numbers/ [Electronically accessed on 13 Sept 2019]. Newzoo. (2019) *Top countries by smartphone users*. Available from: https://newzoo.com/insights/rankings/top-countries-by-smartphone-penetration-andusers/ [Electronically accessed on 13 Sept 2019]

Nie, N. H. and Erbring, L. (2000) 'Debating the societal effects of the internet: Connecting with the world', *Public Perspective* 11, pp. 42–43.

Noke, H. and Radnor, Z. J. (2004) 'Navigating innovation: A diagnostic tool supporting the process', *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 15(2), pp. 172-183.

Norman, D. A. (2004) *Emotional Design: Why we Love (or Hate) Everyday Things*. New York: Basic Books.

Novikov, A.M. and Novikov, D.A. (2013) *Research Methodology: From Philosophy of Science to Research Design*. CRC Press.

Nur, T. and Panggabean, R. R. (2021) 'Factors influencing the adoption of mobile payment method among generation Z: the extended UTUAT approach', *Journal of Accounting Research Organisation and Economics*, 4(1), pp. 14-28. DOI:10.24815/jaroe.v4i1.19644.

Nyiri, K. (2005) A Sense of Place. The Global and the Local in Mobile *Communication*. Vienna, Passagen Verlag. pp. 221-230.

Nystrom, P. C., Ramamurthy, K. and Wilson, A. L. (2002) '*Organizational context, climate and innovativeness*: Adoption of imaging technology', *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 19(3-4), pp. 221- 247.

Nysveen, H., Pedersen, P.E. and Thorbjørnsen, H. (2005) 'Explaining intention to use mobile chat services: moderating effects of gender', *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 22(5), pp. 247–256. Available at: http://www.emeraldinsight.com/10.1108/07363760510611671 [Electronically accessed on 20th July 2021] Nysveen, H., Pedersen, P. and Thorbjørnsen, H. (2005) 'Intentions to use mobile services: Antecedents and cross-service comparisons', *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 33(3), pp. 330-346.

OECD. (2005) Oslo Manual: Guidelines for collecting and interpreting innovation *data*. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. 3rd Edn. Paris: OECD publishing

OCED. (2005) Concepts and definition. Available from:

https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/ramon/nomenclatures/index.cfm?TargetUrl=DSP_GLO SSARY_NOM_DTL_VIEW&StrNom=CODED2&StrLanguageCode=EN&IntKey=165 01035&RdoSearch=BEGIN&TxtSearch=innovation&CboTheme=&IsTer=&IntCurrent Page=1&ter_valid=0 [Electronically accessed on 4th July 2021]

OCED. (2018) Concepts and definition. Available from:

https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/ramon/nomenclatures/index.cfm?TargetUrl=DSP_GLO SSARY_NOM_DTL_VIEW&StrNom=CODED2&StrLanguageCode=EN&IntKey=165 01035&RdoSearch=BEGIN&TxtSearch=innovation&CboTheme=&IsTer=&IntCurrent Page=1&ter_valid=0 [Electronically accessed on 4th July 2021]

Ochs, E. (1979) *Transcription as theory*. In Ochs, E., Schiefflin, B. B (Eds.), Developmental pragmatics (pp. 43–72). New York: Academic.

Ochs, E. (1999) *The discourse reader*. In Jaworski, A., Coupland, N. (Eds.), pp. 158-166. London: Routledge

Ofcom (2010) *History of Cellular Services*. Available from: https://www.ofcom.org.uk/spectrum/information/history-of-cellular-services [Electronically accessed on 23rd May 2019]

Ofcom. (2015) *UK is now a smartphone society*. Available from: https://www.ofcom.org.uk/about-ofcom/latest/media/media-releases/2015/cmr-uk-2015 [Electronically accessed on 17th December 2017]

Ofori-Dankwa G.P.J. (2013) 'The effects of national culture and ethnolinguistic diversity on innovativeness', *Baltic Journal of Management*, 8(3), pp. 349-371.

Okazaki, S. and Mendez, F. (2013) 'Exploring convenience in mobile commerce: Moderating effects of gender', *Computers in Human Behaviour*, 29(3), pp.1234-1242. DOI: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.10.019.

Olds, B. M., Moskal, B. M. and Miller, R. L. (2005) 'Assessment in engineering education: Evolution, approaches and future collaborations', *Journal of Engineering Education*, 94(1), pp. 13-25.

Olshavsky, R.W. and Spreng, R. W. (1996) 'An exploratory study of the innovation evaluation process', *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 13(6), pp. 512-529.

Olushola, T. and Abiola, J. O. (2017) 'The Efficacy of Technology Acceptance Model: A Review of Applicable Theoretical Models in Information Technology Researches', *Journal of Research in Business and Management,* 4(11), pp: 70-83.

Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Leech, N. L. (2005) 'On Becoming a Pragmatic Researcher: The Importance of Combining Quantitative and Qualitative Research Methodologies', *International Journal of Social Research Methodology: Theory & Practice, 8*(5), pp. 375–387. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/13645570500402447.

Orr, L. M. and Hauser, W. J. (2008) 'A re-inquiry of Hofstede's cultural dimensions: A call for the 21st century', *Marketing Management Journal*, 18(2), 1-19.

Osman, M., Sabudin, M., Osman, A. and Shiang-Yena, T. (2011) 'Consumer Behaviours toward Usage of Smartphone in Malaysia', *International Conference on Software and Computer Applications*, 9, pp. 158-164.

Osman, M., Talib, A. Z., Samusi, Z. A., Yen, T. S. and Alwi, A. S. (2012) 'A study of the trend of smartphone and its usage behaviour in Malaysia', *International Journal on New Computer Architectures and Their Application (UNCAA)*, 2(1), pp. 274-285.

Ostlund, L. E. (1974) 'Perceived Innovation Attributes as Predictors of Innovativeness', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 1(2), pp. 23-29. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1086/208587

O'Sullivan, D. and Dooley, L. (2009) *Applying Innovation*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.

Oulasvirta, A., Wahlstrom, M. and Ericsson K. A. (2011) 'What does it mean to be good at using mobile device? An investigation of three levels of experience and skill', *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 69(3), pp. 155-169.

Oumlil, A. B. and Balloun, J. L. (2019) 'Millennials' attitude toward advertising: an international exploratory study', *Young Consumers*, 21(1), pp. 17-34. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/YC-10-2018-0865.

Oyibo, K., Vassileva, J. (2020) 'HOMEX: Persuasive Technology Acceptance Model and the Moderating Effect of Culture', *Frontiers in Computer Science*, 2(10). DOI: https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomp.2020.00010.

Oxford Business Group. (2018), *The Report.* Available from: https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=D1WZDwAAQBAJ&printsec=frontcover#v=one page&q&f=false [Electronically accessed on 4th Jan 2020].

Ozanne, J.L., Brucks, M. and Grewal, D. (1992) 'A study of information search behavior during the categorization of new products', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 18(4), pp. 452-463.

Ozkale, A. and Koc, M. (2020) 'Investigating Academicians' Use of Tablet PC from the Perspectives of Human Computer Interaction and Technology Acceptance Model', *International Journal of Technology in Education and Science*, 4(1), pp.37-52.

Park, Y. and Chen, J. V. (2007) 'Acceptance and adoption of the innovative use of smartphone', *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 107, pp. 1349-1365.

Pakola, J., Pietila, M., Svento, R. and Karjuloto, H. (2010) 'An investigation of consumer behavior in mobile phone markets in Finland', *In Submission to the 32nd EMAC conference*. Track: New Technologies and E-Marketing.

Patton, M. Q. (2002) *Qualitative research and evaluation methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Pace, S. (2013) 'Looking at innovation through CCT glasses: Consumer culture theory and Google glass innovation', *Journal of Innovation Management*, 1(1), pp. 38-54.

Padashetty, S. and Kishore, K. S. (2013) 'An Empirical Study on Consumer Adoption of Mobile Payments in Bangalore City-A Case Study', *Researchers World*, 4(1), pp. 83-94.

Pahwas, A. (2017) *E-Wallet* | *Everything you should know about Prepaid Wallets, Feedough*. Available from: https://www.feedough.com/e-wallet/ [Electronically accessed 12th October 2019]

Palermo, O. A. (2009) *Implications of new Public Management and Modernization Policies within the National probation Service: An Interpretative Approach*. Thesis (Ph.D.), Loughborough University.

Panova, T., Chamarro, A., Puerta-Cortes, D. and Carbonell, X. (2019) 'Specific smartphone uses and how they relate to anxiety and depression in university students: a cross-cultural perspective', *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 39(9), pp. 944-956. DOI: 10.1080/0144929X.2019.1633405.

Pantano, E. and Priporas, C.V. (2016) 'The effect of mobile retailing on consumers purchasing experience: a dynamic perspective', *Computers in human behaviour*, 61(8), pp. 548-555.

Parasuraman, A., Grewal, D. and Krishnan, R. (2004) *Marketing research*. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.

Parahoo, K. (2006) *Nursing Research: Principles, Process and Issues*. Bassingstoke: Palgrave Macmil- Ian.

Park, J. and Zeanah, A. E. (2005) 'An evaluation of voice recognition software for use in interview-based research: A research note', *Qualitative Research*, 5(2), pp. 245-251.

Park, C and Jun, J.-K. (2003) 'A Cross-Cultural Comparison of Internet Buying Behavior', *International Marketing Review*, 20(5), pp. 534-554.

Park, D., Lee, J. and Han, I. (2007) 'The Effect of On-Line Consumer Reviews on Consumer. Purchasing Intention: The Moderating Role of Involvement', *Journal International Journal of Electronic Commerce*, 11(4), pp. 125-148.

Park, J., Lee, D. and Ahn, J. (2004) 'Risk-Focused E-Commerce Adoption Model: a Cross-Country Study', *Journal of Global Information Management*, 7(2), pp. 6-30.

Park, J., Yang, S. and Lehto, X. (2007) 'Adoption of mobile technologies for Chinese consumers', *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, 8(3), pp. 196–206.

Park, N. and Lee, H. (2012) 'Social implications of smartphone use: Korean college students' smartphone use and psychological well-being', *Journal of Behavioural Addictions*, 4(2), pp. 85–92.

Park, Y. and Chen, J. V. (2007) 'Acceptance and adoption of the innovative use of smartphone'. *Industrial Management & Data Systems,* 107(9), pp. 1349-1365. Available at: http://www.emeraldinsight.com/10.1108/02635570710834009 [Electronically accessed on 4th June 2019].

Pathare, S. (2018) *Brand Management; The Psychology behind brands we love*. Available from: https://www.bynder.com/en/blog/psychology-behind-brands/ [Electronically accessed on 22nd Jan 2019]

Patton, M. Q. (1999) 'Enhancing the quality and credibility of qualitative analysis', *Health services research*, *34*(5 Pt 2), pp. 1189–1208.

Patton, M.Q. (2002) *Qualitative research and evaluation methods*. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA, US.

Patton, M.Q. (2002) *Qualitative research and evaluation methods.* 3rd Sage Publications. Thousand Oaks, CA: 2002.

Pavitt, K. (2002) 'Innovating routines in the business firm: What corporate tasks should they be', *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 11(1), pp. 117-133.

Payne, G. and Williams, M. (2005) 'Generalization in Qualitative Research', *Sociology*, 39(2), pp. 295-314.

Pearson, G. J., Pearson, A. W. and Ball, D. F. (1989) 'Innovation in a mature industry: A case study of warp knitting in the U.K', *Technovation*, 9(8), pp. 657-678.

Peng, W., Kanthawala, S., Yuan, S. and Hussain, S. A. (2016) *A qualitative study of user perceptions on mobile health apps.* Available from:

https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/track/pdf/10.1186/s12889-016-3808-0 [Electronically accessed on 22nd Jan 2019].

Peres, R., Muller, E. and Mahajan, V. (2010) 'Innovation diffusion and new product growth models: A critical review and research directions', *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 27(2), pp. 91-106.

Perlow, L. A. (2012) *Sleeping with your smartphone: How to break the 24/7 habit and change the way you work*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Business Press. Available from: https://books.google.co.uk/books?hl=en&lr=&id=SUHUL6o0y74C&oi=fnd&pg=PA1& ots=TF7uQC1gik&sig=FaFUmgD-

_SF99VI5JxhVkmBzXIQ&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false [Electronically accessed on 2rd March 2019]

Pew. (2019) *Mobile connectivity in emerging economies*. Available from: https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2019/03/07/use-of-smartphones-and-socialmedia-is-common-across-most-emerging-economies/ [Electronically accessed on 11th Oct 2019]

Pinner, O. (2014) Produktkriterien einer Mobile Wallet zur Zufriedenheit und Akzeptanz der deutschen Endanwender: Eine Untersuchung auf der Basis des Kano-Modells. Diplomica Verlag.

Plnson, C. and Brosdahl, D. J. C. (2014) 'The Church of Mac: Exploratory examination on the loyalty of Apple customers', *Journal of Management & Marketing Research*, 14(1), pp. 1-15.

Phonearena. (2014) *Samsung Galaxy S5.* Available from: https://www.phonearena.com/phones/Samsung-Galaxy-S5_id8202 [Electronically accessed on 7th June 2019]

Pijpers, G. G. M., Bemelmans, T. M. A., Heemstra, F. J. and Van Montfort, K. A. G.
M. (2001) 'Senior executives use of information technology', *Information and Software Technology*, 43(15), pp. 959–971.

Pitichat, T. (2013) 'Smartphones in the workplace: Changing organizational behavior, transforming the future', *LUX: A Journal of Transdisciplinary Writing and Research from Claremont Graduate University*, 3(1). Available from:

https://scholarship.claremont.edu/lux/vol3/iss1/13 [Electronically accessed on 23rd August 2019].

Pitchayadejanant, K. (2011) 'Intention to use of Smart phone in Bangkok Extended UTAUT Model by Perceived Value'. *In: International Conference on Management*. Istanbul, Turkey, pp. 160–172.

Porter, M. E. and Strategy, C. (1980) *Competitive Strategy: Techniques for Analyzing Industries and Competitors.* Competitive strategy. New York: Free Press, 1980.

Porter, M. E. (1985) *Competitive advantage; Creating and sustaining superior performance.* New York; Free Press, 43, 214.

Porter, M.E. (1990) The competitive advantage of nations. London: Macmillan

Perez-Alvarez (2009) 'How Uncertainty Avoidance Impacts Groupware Appropriation Proceedings', *Academy of Information and Management Sciences*. New Orleans, USA, 13 (1), pp. 43-50.

PhoneBuff. (2021) *Galaxy S21 Ultra vs. iPhone 12 Pro Max Drop Test!* Available from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8KFRwQCnsnM [Electronically accessed on 24th July 2021].

Plant, S. (2000) On the mobile. The effects of mobile telephones on social and *individual life.* Available from:

http://classes.dma.ucla.edu/Winter03/104/docs/splant.pdf [Electronically accessed on March 12th 2018].

Plessis, M. D. (2007) 'The role of knowledge management in innovation', *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 11(4), pp. 20–29.

Polit, D.E. and Beck, C.T. (2006) *Essentials of Nursing Research*. 6th edn, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia.

Pope C. and Mays, N. (1996) *Qualitative Methods in Health and Health Services Research*. Mays N, Pope N, editors. London: BMJ; 1996. Qualitative research in health care.

Posey, C., Lowry, P. B., Roberts, T. L. and Ellis, T. S. (2010) 'Proposing the online community self-disclosure model: the case of working professionals in France and the U.K. who use online communities', *European Journal of Information System*, 19(2), pp.181–195.

Potters, L. (2009) *Innovation Input and Output: Differences among sectors*. Communities No. 10 pp. 38.

Power, D. J. and Philips-Wren, G. (2011) 'Impact of Social Media and Web 2.0 on Decision-Making', *Journal of Decision Systems*, 20(3), pp. 249-26.

Pradhan, A., Mehta, K. and Findlater, L. (2018) 'Accessibility came by accident: Use of voice-controlled intelligent personal assistants by people with disabilities'. *In Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (CHI '18). Montréal, Canada, 21-26 April 2018. New York, NY: ACM Press. DOI: 10.1145/3173574.3174033.

Prahalad, C. K. and Ramaswamy, V. (2003) 'The New Frontier of Experience Innovation', *MIT Sloan Management* Review, 44(4), pp.12-18.

Prajogo, D. I. and Sohal, A. S. (2003) 'The relationship between TQM practices, quality performance, and innovation performance: An empirical examination', *International journal of quality & reliability management*, 20(8), pp. 901-918.

Pukthuanthong, K. and Walker, T. (2007) 'Venture capital in China: a culture shock for Western investors', *Management Decision*, 45(4), pp.708-731.

Punch, K. (2003) *Survey research: The* basics. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

Qingfei, M., Yuping, L. and Shaobo, J. (2009) 'The Effects of Individual-Level Culture on Mobile Commerce Adoption: An Empirical Study. Mobile Business', 2009. *ICMB 2009. Eighth International Conference*. pp. 305-312.

Raddawi, R. (2014) *Intercultural Communication with Arabs*. Studies in Educational, Professional and Societal Contexts, Springer.

Radford, S. K. and Bloch, P. H. (2011) 'Linking Innovation to Design: Consumer Reponses to Visual Product Newness', *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 28(S1), pp. 208-220.

Rafaeli, A. and Vilnai-Yavetz, I. (2004) 'Emotion as a Connection of Physical Artifacts and Organizations', *Organization Science*, 15(6), pp. 671–686.

Rafdinal, W. and Agriqisthi, A. (2020) 'Mobile game adoption model: Integrating technology acceptance model and game features', *Sriwijaya International Journal of Dynamic Economics and Business*, 4(1), pp. 43-56. DOI:10.29259/sijdeb.v4i1.

Rahman M. Mizanur, and Sloan, T. R. (2017) 'User adoption of mobile commerce in Bangladesh: integrating perceived risk, perceived cost and personal awareness with TAM', *International Technology Management Review*, *6*(3), pp. 103-124. DOI: https://doi.org/10.2991/itmr.2017.6.3.4.

Ram, S. (1987) 'A model of innovation resistance', *Advances in Consumer Research*, 14, pp. 208-213

Ram, S. (1989) 'Successful innovation using strategies to reduce consumer resistance An empirical test', *The Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 6, pp. 20-34.

Ram, S. and Sheth, N. J. (1989) 'Consumer resistance to innovation: The marketing problem and its solution', *The Journal of Consumer Marketing.* 6(2), pp. 5-14.

Rangaswamy, N. and Singh, S. (2009) *Personalizing the Shared Mobile Phone*. In: Aykin N. (eds) Internationalization, Design and Global Development. IDGD 2009. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, 5623. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-02767-3_44.

Rasul F. (2003) *The Practice of Innovation–Seven Canadian Firms in Profile*. Industry, Canada.

Rathore, H.S. (2016) 'Adoption of Digital Wallet by Consumers. BVIMSR's', *Journal* of *Management Research*, 8, pp. 69-71

Rau, P.P., Zhang, Y., Biaggi, L., Engels, R., Qian, L. and Ribjerg, H. (2015) 'How Large is Your Phone? A Cross-cultural Study of Smartphone Comfort Perception and

Preference between Germans and Chinese', *Procedia Manufacturing*, 3, pp. 2149-2154.

Read, A. (2000) 'Determinants of successful organisational innovation: A review of current research', *Journal of Management Practice*, 3(1), pp. 95-119.

Recovery ranch. (2015) *5 Ways to Break Your Addiction to Your Mobile* Phone. Available from: https://www.recoveryranch.com/addiction-blog/5-ways-breakaddiction-mobile-phone/ [Electronically accessed on 23rd July 2021].

Reid, M. and Levy, Y. (2008) 'Integrating trust and computer self-efficacy with TAM: An empirical assessment of customers' acceptance of banking information systems (BIS) in Jamaica', *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce*, 12(3), pp. 1-18.

Remeyi, D.W., Money, A. and Swartz, E. (2005) *Doing Research in Business and Management: An Introduction to Process and Method*. London: Sage Publications.

Rhaiem, K. and Amara, N (2019) 'Learning from innovation failures: A systematic review of the literature and research agenda', *Review of Managerial Science*, 15, pp. 189-234. DOI: 10.1007/s11846-019-00339-2.

Richard, A (2001) Internet Addiction. New York: New York University Press.

Riessman, C. K. (2005) Narrative analysis. University of Huddersfield.

Rijsdijk, S. A. and Hultink, E. J. (2003) 'Honey, have you seen our hamster? Consumer evaluations of autonomous domestic products', *Journal of Product Innovation Management, 20*, pp. 204–216.

Rindova, V. P. and Petkova, A. P. (2007) 'When Is a New Thing a Good Thing? Technological Change, Product Form Design, and Perceptions of Value for Product Innovations', *Organization Science*, 18(2), pp. 217–232.

Rinne, T., Steel, G. D. and Fairweather, J. (2012) 'Hofstede and Shane revisited: The role of power distance and individualism in national-level innovation success', *Cross-Cultural Research*, 46, pp. 91-108.

Ritchie, J. and Spencer, L. (1994) 'Increased Personal Control Equals Increased Individual Satisfaction', *Industrial Engineering*, 24(2), pp. 12-14. Roer-Stier, D. and Kurman, J. (2009) 'Combining qualitative and quantitative methods to study perceptions of immigrant youth', *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 40(6), pp. 988-995.

Roberts, J.A., Yaya, L.H. and Manolis, C. (2014) 'The invisible addiction: cell-phone activities and addiction among male and female college students', *J Behav Addict*. 3(4), pp.254-265. DOI:10.1556/JBA.3.2014.015.

Robertson T. S. (1967) 'The Process of Innovation and Diffusion of Innovation', *Journal of Marketing*, 31(1), pp. 14-19.

Robertson, T.S. and Gatignon, H. (1991) 'How innovators thwart new entrants into their market', *Planning Review*, 19(5), pp. 4-11.

Robson, C. (2002) Real World Research. 2nd edn. Oxford: Blackwell

Robson, C. (2002) Real word research. 2nd edn. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing.

Rogers, E. M. (1962) *Diffusion of Innovations*. 1st edn. Glencoe, Illinois, USA: Free Press.

Rogers, E.M. (1995) Diffusion of Innovations. 4th edn. New York: The Free Press.

Rogers, E. M. & Shoemaker, F. F. (1971) *Communication of Innovation*. New York: The Free Press.

Rogers, E. M. (2003) *Diffusion of innovations*. 5th edn. New York, NY: Simon & Schuster.

Rogers, S. (2019) *The role of technology in the evolution of communication.* Available from: https://www.forbes.com/sites/solrogers/2019/10/15/the-role-of-technology-in-the-evolution-of-communication/#7f69e1b3493b [Electronically accessed on 16th Nov 2019]

Rohlfer, Y. and Zhang, Y. (2016) 'Cultural studies in international business: paradigmatic shifts', *European Business Review*, 28(1), pp. 39-62.

Ronen, S. and Shenkar, O. (1985) 'Clustering Countries on Attitudinal Dimensions: A Review and Synthesis', *Academy of Management Review*, 10(3), pp. 435-454. DOI: https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1985.4278955.

Roselius, T. (1971) 'Consumer Rankings of Risk Reduced Methods', *Journal of Marketing*, 35(1), pp. 56-61.

Rosenberg, N. (2004) *Innovation and economic growth.* Available from: https://www.oecd.org/cfe/tourism/34267902.pdf [Electronically accessed on 3rd Feb 2019]

Ross, B.H. and Murphy, G.L. (1999) 'Food for thought: Cross-classification and category organization in a complex real world domain', *Cognitive Psychology*, 38, pp. 495-553.

Ross, D. N. (1999) 'Culture as a context for multinational business: A framework for assessing the strategy-culture 'fit', *Multinational Business Review*, 7(1), pp.13-19.

Roth, M. (1995) 'The Effect of Culture and Socioeconomics on the Performance of Global Brand Image Strategies', *Journal of Marketing Research*, 32(2), pp.163-175.

Rouibah, K. (2015) 'Digital Payment Systems Use and Satisfaction in an Arabic', *Issues in Information Systems*, 16(2), pp. 149-160.

Roy, S. (2020) 'App adoption and switching behaviour: applying the extended Tam in smartphone app usage', *Journal of Information Systems and Technology Management*, 14(2), pp. 239-261. DOI: 10.4301/S1807-17752017000200006s.

Rubera, G. and Griffith, D. A. and Yalcinkaya, G. (2012) 'Technological and design innovations effects in regional new products rollouts: A European illustration', *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 29(6), pp. 1047-1060.

Russell, J. (2012) *Android dominates Southeast Asia's smartphone market.* Available from; http://thenextweb.com/asia/2012/09/04/android-southeast-asiaericsson-report/[Electronically accessed on 20th December 2018].

Ryan, G.W. and Bernard, H. R. (2000) *Data management and analysis methods*. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), Handbook of qualitative research (2nd ed., pp. 769-802). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Sabatier, P.A. (1998) 'The advocacy coalition framework: revisions and relevance for Europe', *Journal of European Public Policy*, 5(1), pp.98–130.

Sahay, A. (2016) *Peeling Saunder's Research Onion*. Available from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/309488459_Peeling_Saunder's_Research_ Onion.[Electronically Accessed 13th November 2019]

Saif, N., Razzaq, N., Amad, M. and Gul, S. (2012) 'Factors Affecting Consumers' Choice of Mobile Phone Selection in Pakistan', *European Journal of Business and Management*, 4(12), pp. 16-26.

Salehan, M. and Negahban, A. (2013) 'Social networking on smartphones: When mobile phones become addictive', *Computers in Human* Behaviour, 29(6), pp. 2632-2639.

Sandelowski, M., Voils, C. I. and Barroso, J. (2006) 'Defining and Designing Mixed Research Synthesis Studies', *Research in the schools: a nationally refereed journal sponsored by the Mid-South Educational Research Association and the University of Alabama*, *13*(1), pp. 29.

Sanakulov, N. and Karjaluoto, H. (2017) 'A cultural comparison study of smartphone adoption in Uzbekistan, South Korea and Turkey', *International Journal of Mobile Communications*, 15(1), pp. 85-103. DOI:10.1504/IJMC.2017.080579.

Sanakulov, N. and Karjaluoto, H. (2018) 'A Cross-Cultural Study of Smartphone Adoption in Uzbekistan and South Korea'. In S. Sarma (Ed.), *Global Observations of the Influence of Culture on Consumer Buying Behaviour*, pp. 171-189. IGI Global. DOI:10.4018/978-1-5225-2727-5.ch011 [Electronically accessed on 23rd February 2019]

Sánchez-Franco, M. J., Martínez-López, F. J. and Martín-Velicia, F. A. (2009) 'Exploring the impact of individualism and uncertainty avoidance in Webbased electronic learning: An empirical analysis in European higher education', *Computers & Education*, 52(3), pp. 588-598.

Santos, J., Rodrigues, J. J. P. C., Casal, J., Saleem, K. and Denisov, V. (2016) 'Intelligent personal assistants based on internet of things approaches', *IEEE Systems Journal*, 12(2), pp. 1-10. DOI: 10.1109/JSYST.2016.2555292. Sata, M. (2013) 'Factors affecting consumer buying behaviour of mobile phone devices', *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 4(12), pp. 103.

Saunders, M., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2007) *Research Methods for Business Students*. 4th edn. Financial Times Prentice Hall, Edinburgh Gate, Harlow.

Saunders, M., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2009) *Research Methods for Business Students*. Pearson, New York.

Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2009) *Research Methods for Business Students*. 5th edn. London: Pearson Education.

Saunders, M. and Thornhill, A. (2012) *Research methods for business students*. Essex: Pearson Education Limited.

Saunders, M., Lewis, P. and Thornhill, A. (2012) *Research Methods for Business Students*. 6th edn. Pearson Education Limited.

SAVAS, O. (2003) *A perspective on the person-product relationship: attachment and detachment*. In Design and Emotion, D. McDonagh, P. Hekkert, J. van Erp, and D. Gyi, Eds. CRC Press, London, UK, 366–371.

Scherer, K. R. (2001) *Appraisal considered as a process of multilevel sequential checking*. In K. R. Scherer, A. Schorr, & T. Johnstone (Eds.), *Appraisal processes in emotion: Theory, methods, research* (pp. 92–120). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Schifferstein, H. N. J. and Pelgrim, E. (2004) *Consumer-Product Attachment: The Construct and Its Measurement*. Unpublished manuscript, Delft University of Technology, the Netherlands.

Schmookler, J. (1962) 'Economic Sources of Inventive Activity', *Journal of Economic History*, 22(1), pp,1-20.

Schmookler, J. (1966) *Invention and Economic Growth*. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Mass.

Schneider, J. and Hall, J. (2011) '*Why Most Product Launches Fail*', *Harvard Business Review*, 89(4), pp. 21-23.

Schroeder, K. (2017) *Why so many new products fail (and it is not the product).* Available from: https://www.bizjournals.com/bizjournals/howto/marketing/2017/03/why-so-many-new-products-fail-and-it-s-not-the.html [Electronically accessed on 24th June 2018]

Schumpeter, J. (1934) *The theory of economic development*. Harvard College, Cambridge

Schumpeter, J. (1947) *Capitalism, socialism and democracy*. New York: Harper & Row

Schvaneveldt, S., Enhawa, T. and Miyakawa, N. (1991) 'Consumer evaluation perspectives of service quality: Evaluation factors and two-way model of quality', *Total Quality Management*, 2(2), pp.149-161.

Schwandt, T. A. (2003) *Three Epistemological Stances for Qualitative Inquiry: Interpretivism, Hermeneutics, and Social Constructionism*, in N.K. Denzin and Y.S, Lincoln, The Landscape of Qualitative Research: Theories and Issues, 2nd ed., Ch. 7, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Schwartz, S. H. (1992) Universals in the content and structure of values: Theoretical advances and empirical tests in 20 countries. San Diego: Academic Press

Schwartz, S. H. (1994) Cultural dimensions of values: towards an understanding of national differences, in U. Kim, H.C. Triandis, C. Kagitcibasi, S.C. Choi and G. Yoon (eds.), Individualism and Collectivism: Theoretical and Methodological Issues, Sage: Thousand Oaks, CA, pp: 85-119.

Schwartz, S. H. (2011) 'Studying values: personal adventure, future directions', *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 42(2), pp. 307-319.

Schwartz, S. (2012) *An overview of the Schwartz theory of basic values*. Available from: https://scholarworks.gvsu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1116&context=orpc [Electronically accessed on 27th Nov 2020]

Schwartz, S. (2014) 'Rethinking the Concept and Measurement of Societal Culture in Light of Empirical Findings'. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology* 45(1), 5-13. DOI: 10.1177/0022022113490830.

Sekaran, U. and Bougie, R. (2010) *Research Methods for Business, A Skill Building Approach*. 5th edn. London: A John Wiley and Sons, Ltd, Publication.

Selwyn, N. (2003) 'Apart from technology: understanding people's non-use of information and communication technologies in everyday life', *Technology in Society*, 25(1), pp. 99-116.

Sethi, R., Smith, D. and Park, W. C. (2001) 'Cross-Functional Product Development Teams, Creativity, and the innovativeness of New Consumer Products', *Journal of Marketing Research*, 38, pp. 73-85.

Seng, L. and Ping, N. (2016) 'The influence of product innovation toward consumer purchase intention', *International Journal of Economics, Commerce and Management*, IV(4).

Shane, S. (1992) 'Why do some societies invent more than others?', *Journal of Business Venturing*, 7, pp. 29-46.

Shane, S. (1993) 'Cultural influences on national rates of innovation', *Journal of Business Venturing*, 8(1), pp. 59-73.

Shane, S., Ventakamaran, S. and MacMillan, I. (1995) 'Cultural differences in innovation championing strategies', *Journal of Management*, 21(5), pp. 931-952.

Shankar, V., Venkatesh, A., Hofacker, C. and Naik, P. (2010) 'Mobile marketing in the retail environment: current insights and future research avenues', *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 24(2), pp.111-120.

Shanthi, D. R. and Kannaiah, D. D. (2015) 'Consumers' Perception on Online Shopping', *Journal of Marketing and Consumer Research*, 13, pp. 14–21.

Shavitt, S., Barnes, J. (2020) 'Culture and the Consumer Journey', *Journal of Retailing*, 96(1), pp. 40-54.

Shaw, M. & Black, D. W. (2008) 'Internet addiction: Definition, assessment, epidemiology and clinical management', *CNS Drugs*, 22, pp. 353-365. DOI: 10.2165/00023210-200822050-00001.

Sheppard, B. H., Hartwick, J., Warshaw, P. R., Journal, T. and Dec, N. (1988) 'The Theory of Reasoned Action: A Meta-Analysis of Past Research with Recommendations for Modifications and Future Research', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 15(3), pp. 325–343.

Sheth, N. J. and Stellner, W. H. (1979) *Psychology of innovation resistance: The less developed concept (LDC) in diffusion research*. Available from; https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/4834512.pdf [Electronically accessed on 6th June 2019]

Sheth, N. J. (1981) 'Psychology of Innovation Resistance: The Less Developed Concept (LDC) in Diffusion Research', *Research in Marketing*, 4. pp. 273-282

Sheth, J. N., Newman, B. and Gross, B. (1991) *Consumption Values and Market Choices*. Cincinnati: South Western.

Shiraishi, Y., Ishikawa, D., Sano, S. and Sakurai, K. (2011) *Smartphone trend and evolution in Japan*. Available from: http://www.mcpc-jp.org/english/pdf/20110128_e.pdf (Electronically accessed on 25th April 2021].

Shi, W. (2009) 'An Empirical Research on Users' Acceptance of Smart Phone Online Application Software', *International Conference on Electronic Commerce and Business Intelligence* (2006), pp. 106–110. Available at: http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/lpdocs/epic03/wrapper.htm?arnumber=5189497 [Electronically Accessed on 19 August 2021].

Shin, D. H. (2007) 'User acceptance of mobile Internet: Implication for convergence technologies', *Interacting with Computers*, 19(4), pp. 472–483.

Shin, D. H. (2009) 'Towards an understanding of the consumer acceptance of mobile wallet', *Computers in Human Behavior*, 25(6), pp. 1343-1354.

Shin, D. (2012) 'Cross-analysis of usability and aesthetic in smart devices: what influences users' preferences?', *Cross Cultural Management: An International Journal*, 19(4), pp.563-587.

Shukla, A. and Sharma, S. K. (2018) 'Evaluating Consumers' Adoption of Mobile Technology for Grocery Shopping: An Application of Technology Acceptance Model', *Vision- The Journal of Business Perspective*, 22(2), pp.185-198. DOI:10.1177/0972262918766136.

Shuter, R. and Chattopadhyay, S. (2010) 'Emerging interpersonal norms of text messaging in India and the United States', *Journal of Intercultural Communication Research*, 39(2), pp. 123-147.

Silverman, D. (2013) *Doing Qualitative Research: A practical handbook*. London: Sage.

Silva, A. B., Gomes, M. M., Costa, C. A. and Righi, R. D. (2019) 'Intelligent personal assistants: A systematic literature review', *Expert Systems with applications*, 147(1), pp.113-193. DOI: 10.1016/j.eswa.2020.113193

Silvia, P. J. (2005) 'Emotional responses to art: From collation and arousal to cognition and emotion', *Review of General Psychology*, 9, pp. 342–357.

Simons, H. (2009) Case study research in practice. London: Sage.

Simons, H. (2010) Case Study Research in Practice. London, Sage Publications.

Simpson, B. (2009) 'Pragmatism, Mead and the practice turn', *Organization Studies*, 30(12), 1329-1347.

Sinclaire, J. K. and Vogus, C. E. (2011) 'Adoption of Social Networking Sites: An Exploratory Adaptive Structuration Perspective for Global Organizations', *Journal of Information Technology and Management*, 12(4), pp. 293–314.

Singh, S. (2006), 'Cultural differences in, and influences on, consumers' propensity to adopt innovations', *International Marketing Review*, 23(2), pp.173-191.

Singleton, R. A. and Straits, B. C. (2005) *Approaches to social research*. Nueva York: Oxford University Press

Sipe, L. and Constable, S. (1999) 'A Chart of Four Contemporary Research Paradigms: Metaphors for the Modes of Inquiry', *Taboo: The Journal of Culture and Education*, 1, pp. 153-163.

Sivadas, E. and Dwyer, F.R. (2000) 'An Examination of Organizational Factors Influencing New Product Success in Internal and Alliance-Based Processes', *Journal of Marketing*, 64(1), pp. 31-49.

Slade, E. L., Dwivedi, Y. K., Piercy, N. C. and Williams, M. D. (2015) 'Modeling consumers' adoption intentions of remote mobile payments in the United Kingdom: Extending UTAUT with innovativeness, risk, and trust', *Psychology & Marketing*, 32(8), pp. 860-873.

Slater, S. and Narver, J. (1999) 'Market-oriented is more than being customer-led' *Strategic Management Journal*, 20(12), pp.1165-1168.

Slembrouck, S. (2007) 'Transcription—The extended directions of data histories: A response to M. Bucholtz's "Variation in transcription', *Discourse Studies*, 9(6), pp. 822–827.

Slowlkowski, S. and Jarratt, D. (2007) 'The impact of culture on the adoption of high technology products', *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*, 15(2), pp. 97-105.

Solomon, M. (2004) Consumer behaviour. 6th edn. Prentice Hall.

Søndergaard, M. (1994). 'Hofstede's consequences: A study of reviews, citations and replications', *Organization Studies*, 15(3), pp. 447-456

Song, Y. and Han, J. (2009) 'Is Enjoyment Important? An Empirical Research on the Impact of Perceive Enjoyment on Adoption of New Technology', In: *International Conference on Information Management, Innovation Management and Industrial Engineering*. leee, pp. 511–514.

Snieder R. and Larner, K. (2009) *The Art of Being a Scientist: A Guide for Graduate Students and their Mentors*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Smallman, G. (2014) *The benefit of apps in healthcare*. Available from: http://www.theguardian.com/healthcare-network/2012/aug/21/apps-healthcaretablets-mobilesmartphones [Electronically accessed on 2nd March 2019]

Smith, B. and Colgate, M. (2007) 'Customer Value Creation: A Practical Framework', *Journal of Marketing Theory & Practice*, 15(1), pp. 7-23.

Smith, B. and McGannon, K. R. (2017) 'Developing rigor in qualitative research: problems and opportunities within sport and exercise psychology', *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 11(1), pp.101–121.

Smith, M. F. and Carsky, M. L. (1996) 'Grocery Shopping Behaviour: A Comparison of Involved and Uninvolved Consumers', *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services*, 3(2), pp. 73-80. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0969-6989(95)00048-8.

Smith, M. (2018) YouGov reveals the extent of Britain's addiction to our phones. Available from: https://yougov.co.uk/topics/technology/articlesreports/2018/10/18/yougov-reveals-extent-britains-addiction-our-phone [Electronically accessed on 24th August 2019].

Sörenson, I. (2017) *Expectations on chatbots among novice users during the onboarding process.* KTH Royal Institute of Technology, School of Computer Science and Communication. Available from:

http://kth.divaportal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A1078272&dswid=6048 [Electronically accessed on 4th April 2019].

Spanier, G. (2015) *Apple ad spends rises 50% to record \$1.8 billion*. Available from: http://www.campaignlive.com/article/apple-ad-spend-rises-50-record-18-billion/1370742 [Electronically accessed on 12th august 2017].

Sreen, N., Sadarangani, P. H. and Giridhar, V. (2019) 'A path from cultural values to mobile travel app use', *Journal of Indian Culture and Business Management*, 18(3), pp. 251-271. DOI: 10.1504/IJICBM.2019.099278.

Srite. (2006) 'Culture as an explanation of technology acceptance differences: An empirical investigation of Chinese and US users', *Australasian Journal of Information Systems*, 14, pp. 5-25.

Srite, M. and Karahanna, E. (2006) 'The Role of Espoused National Cultural Values in Technology Acceptance', *MIS Quarterly*, 30(3), pp.679-704.

Stake, R. E. (2000) *Case Studies*. In N. K. Denzin, & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), Handbook of Qualitative Research (pp. 435-453). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Statista. (2016) *Number of mobile users worldwide*. Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/274774/forecast-of-mobile-phone-usersworldwide/ [Electronically accessed on 15th June 2018]

Statista. (2017) Forecasted number of smartphones users in the United Kingdom. Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/553464/predicted-number-ofsmartphone-users-in-the-united-kingdom-uk/ [Electronically accessed on 16th December 2017]

Statista. (2017) Average lifespan (replacement cycle length) of smartphones worldwide from 2013 to 2020. Available from:

https://www.statista.com/statistics/786876/replacement-cycle-length-of-smartphonesworldwide/ [Electronically accessed on 12th March 2020]

Statista. (2018) *Number of Mobile phone users in the United Kingdom from 2017 to 2019*. Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1031085/number-of-mobile-payment-users-in-the-uk/ [Electronically accessed 22nd December 2019]

Statista. (2021) *Penetration rate of smartphone in selected countries 2020.* Available form: https://www.statista.com/statistics/539395/smartphone-penetration-worldwide-by-country/ [Electronically accessed on 1st July 2021]

Statista. (2019) *Ranking of factors that contribute to the decision making of buying a smartphone in United Kingdom*. Available from:

https://www.statista.com/statistics/683310/buying-a-new-smartphone-importantcharacteristics-in-the-uk/ [Electronically accessed on 11th January 2020]

Statista. (2019) Share of individuals who accessed the internet via a mobile phone in Great Britain in 2019, by age and gender. Available from:

https://www.statista.com/statistics/275985/mobile-internet-penetration-in-greatbritain-by-age-and-gender/ [Electronically accessed on 14th February 2020] Statista. (2019) *Smartphone users in the Saudi Arabia.* Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/494616/smartphone-users-in-saudi-arabia/ [Electronically accessed on 11th Jan 2020]

Statista. (2020) *Activities performed online by individuals in Great Britain*. Available from: [https://www.statista.com/statistics/275805/internet-activities-performed-in-great-britain/ [electronically accessed on 2nd October 2020]

Statista (2020) Average Lifespan (replacement cycle length) of smartphones worldwide from 2013 to 2020. Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/786876/replacement-cycle-length-of-smartphonesworldwide/ [Electronically accessed on 27th July 2021]

Statista. (2020) *Global revenue from smartphone sales from 2013-2020.* Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/237505/global-revenue-from-smartphones-since-2008/ [Electronically accessed on 1st March 2020]

Statista. (2020) *Number of smartphone users worldwide*. Available from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/330695/number-of-smartphone-users-worldwide/ [Electronically accessed on 10th March 2020]

Stayman, D. M., Alden, D. L. and Smith, H. K. (1992) 'Some effects of schematic processing on consumer expectations and disconfirmation judgments', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 19, pp. 240-255.

Steenkamp, J. B. E. M. and Baumgartner, H. (1995) 'Development and cross-cultural validation of a short form of CSI as a measure of optimum', *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 12(2), pp. 97-104.

Steenkamp, J.B. E. M., Baumgartner, H. and Van der Vulp, E. (1996) 'The relationships among arousal potential, arousal and stimulus evaluation, and the moderating role of need for stimulation', *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 13, pp. 319-329.

Steenkamp, J. B. E. M., Hofstede, T. F. and Wedel, M. (1999) 'A cross-national investigation into the individual and national cultural antecedents of consumer innovativeness', *Journal of Marketing*, 63(2), pp. 55-69.

Steenkamp, J. B. E. M. (2001) 'The role of national culture in international marketing research', *International Marketing Review*, 18(1), pp. 30-44.

Steenkamp, J. B. E. and Geyskens. I. (2006) 'How Country Characteristics Affect the Perceived Value of Web Sites', *Journal of Marketing*, 70(3), pp.136-150.

Steenson, M. W. and Donner, J. (2009) *Beyond the personal and private: Modes of mobile phone sharing in urban India*. In Rich Ling & Scott W. Campbell (Eds.), The reconstruction of space and time: Mobile communication practices (pp. 231-250). New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publisher.

Steers, R., Meyer, A. and Runde, C. (2008) 'National culture and adoption of new technologies', *Journal of World Business*, 43, pp. 255-260.

Steger, M.F., Owens, G.P. and Park, C.L. (2014) 'Violations of War: Testing the Meaning-Making Model Among Vietnam Veterans', *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 71(1), pp.105–116.

Stevens G.A. and Burkey, J. (1997) '3000 raw ideas equal 1 commercial success!', *Research Technology Management*, 40(3), pp.16-27.

Strang, D. and Soule, S. A. (1998) 'Diffusion in Organizations and Social Movements: From Hybrid Corn to Poison Pills', *Annual Review of Sociology*, 24, pp.265–90.

Straub, D. W. (1994) 'The Effect of Culture on IT Diffusion: E-Mail and FAX in Japan and the US', *Information Systems Research*, 5(1), pp. 23-47. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.5.1.23.

Straub, D., Keil, M. and Brenner, W. (1997) 'Testing the technology acceptance model across cultures: A three country study. Information & management', 33(1), pp. 1-11. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-7206(97)00026-8.

Straub, D., Loch, K., Evaristo, R., Karahanna, E. and Srite, M. (2002) 'Towards a theory-based measurement of culture', *Journal of Global Information Management*, 10(1), pp. 13-23.

Strauss, A. and Corbin, J. (1990) *Basics of qualitative research: Grounded theory procedures and techniques*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage

Strauss, A.L. and Corbin, J.M. (1998) *Basics of qualitative research*: Techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory. 2nd edn. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, CA, US

Subramanian, S. M., Rajendran, S. D. and Geeta, S.D.T. (2019) 'Consumer activity on select digital wallets', *International Journal of Scientific and Technology Research*, 8(12), pp. 3551-3556.

Sujan, M. (1985) 'Consumer knowledge: Effects of evaluation strategies Mediating Consumer Judgments', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 12(1), pp. 31-46.

Sujan, M. and Dekleva, C. (1987) 'Product categorization and inference making: some implications for comparative advertising', *Journal of Consumer Research*, 14(3), pp. 372-378.

Suki, N. M. and Suki, N. M. (2013) 'Dependency on Smartphones: An Analysis of Structural Equation Modelling', *Journal of Technology*, 62(1), pp. 49-55.

Sullivan, G. M. and Sargeant, J. (2011) 'Qualities of Qualitative Research: Part I', *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 3(4), pp.449–452.

Sun, P., Johnson, C.A., Palmer, P., Arpawong, T.E., Unger, J.B., Xie, B., Rohrbach, L.A., Spruijt-Metz, D. and Sussman, S. (2012) 'Concurrent and Predictive Relationships Between Compulsive Internet Use and Substance Use: Findings from Vocational High School Students in China and the USA', *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*, 9(3), pp. 660-673. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph9030660

Sun, S., Lee, P. and Law, R. (2019) 'Impact of cultural values on technology acceptance and technology readiness', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 77, pp. 89-96. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.06.017.

Sundaram, R. and Yermack, D. (2007) 'Pay Me Later: Inside Debt and Its Role in Managerial Compensation', *The Journal of Finance*, 62(4), pp.1551-1588.

Suyuti, A., Muslimin, Z., Kitta, I. and Mayasari, F. (2013) 'Smart Electrical Installation for Apartment', *International Journal of Engineering and Innovative Technology (IJEIT)*, 3(5), pp. 274–276.

Sveiby, K-E, Segercrantz, BU, Gripenberg, P, Eriksson, A and Aminoff, A (2009) 'Unintended and Undesirable consequences of Innovation', in *Conference proceedings of the XX ISPIM conference: The Future of Innovation Vienna 21-24.6 2009.* Vienna, Unknown host publication, Austria, 01.01.1800. Available from: http://www.sveiby.com/articles/UnintendedconsequencesISPIMfinal.pdf> [

Swan, M. (2012) 'Sensor mania! the internet of things, wearable computing, objective metrics, and the quantified self-2.0', *Journal of Sensor and Actuator Networks*, 1(3), pp. 217-253.

Syed, H. and Malik, A. N. (2014) 'Comparative study of culture on technology adoption in Pakistan and USA', *The Business and Management Review*, 5(1), pp. 42-51.

Szirmai, A., Naudé, W. and Goedhuys, M. (2011) *Entrepreneurship, innovation, and economic development*. Oxford University Press

Tajeddini, K. and Trueman, M. (2012) 'Managing Swiss hospitality: How cultural antecedents of innovation and customer-oriented value systems can influence performance in the hotel industry', *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 31(4), pp.1119-1129.

Tahamtan, I., Pajouhanfar, S., Sedghi, S., Azadi, M. and Roudbari, M. (2017) 'Factors affecting smartphone adoption for accessing information in medical settings', *Health Information & Libraries Journal*, 34(2), pp. 134–145. DOI: 10.1111/hir.12174.

Takada, H. and Jain, D. (1991) 'Cross-National Analysis of Diffusion of Consumer Durable Goods in Pacific Rim Countries', *Journal of Marketing*, 55(2), pp. 48-54. DOI:10.1177/002224299105500206. Tan, B.C.Y., Watson, R.T. and Wee, K.L. (1995) 'National Culture and Group Support Systems: Filtering Communication to Dampen Power Differentials', *European Journal of Information Systems*, 4(2), pp. 82-92.

Tan, B. C. Y., Wei, K. K., Watson, R. T., Clapper, D. L. and McLean, E. R. (1998) 'Computer-mediated communication and majority influence: Assessing the impact in an individualistic and a collectivistic culture', *Management Science*, 44(9), pp.1263-1278.

Tan, B. C. Y., Wei, K. K., Watson, R. T. and Walczuch, R. M. (1998) 'Reducing status effects with computer-mediated communication: Evidence from two distinct national cultures', *Journal of Management Information Systems*, 15(1), pp. 119-142. DOI:10.1080/07421222.1998.11518199

Tang, H. K. (1999) 'An inventory of organizational innovativeness', *Technovation*, 19(1), pp. 41-52.

Tansuhaj, P., Gentry, J. W., John, J., Lee Manzer, L. and Jin Cho, B. (1991) 'A Cross-national Examination of Innovation Resistance', *International Marketing Review*, 8(3), pp. 7-20. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/02651339110000135.

Tarhini, A. (2013) *The Effects of Individual-level Culture and Demographic Characteristics on E-learning Acceptance in Lebanon and England: A Structural Equation Modeling Approach*. PHD thesis. University of Brunel. Available from: https://bura.brunel.ac.uk/bitstream/2438/11247/1/FulltextThesis.pdf [Electronically accessed on 2nd June 2021]

Tarhini, A., Hone, K., Liu, X. and Tarhini, T. (2017) 'Examining the moderating effect of individual-level cultural values on users' acceptance of E- learning in developing countries: a structural equation modeling of an extended technology acceptance model', *Interactive Learning Environments*, 25(3), pp. 306–328. DOI: 10.1080/10494820.2015.1122635.

Tashakkori, A and Teddlie, C (2003) *Handbook of Mixed Methods in Social and Behavioural Research*. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

Tashakkori, A., and Teddlie, C. (2008) *Quality of inferences in mixed methods research*: Calling for an integrative framework. Advances in mixed methods research, Sage, Thousand Oaks, CA, pp. 101-119

Taylor, A. S. and Harper, R. (2003) 'The gift of the gab? A design oriented sociology of young people's use of mobiles', *Computer Supported Cooperative Work* (CSCW), 12(3), pp. 267-296. DOI: 10.1023/A:1025091532662.

Taylor, M. Z. and Wilson, S. (2012) 'Does culture still matter? The effects of individualism on national innovation rates', *Journal of Business Venturing*, 27, pp. 234-247.

Taylor, S. and Todd, P. (1995a) 'Decomposition and crossover effects in the theory of planned behavior: A study of consumer adoption intentions', *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 12(2), pp. 137–155.

Tellis, G. J., Stremersch, S. and Yin, E. (2003) 'The international take off of new products: The role of economics, culture, and culture innovativeness', *Marketing Science*, 22, pp. 188-208.

Terzis, v., Moridis, C., Economides, A. A. and Mendez, G.R. (2013) 'Computer Based Assessment Acceptance: A Cross-cultural Study in Greece and Mexico', *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 16(3), pp. 411-424.

Tidd, J., Pavitt, K. and Bessant, J. (2001) *Managing innovation*. Chichester: Wiley.

Tidd, J. and Bessant, J. (2014) *Managing innovation: integrating technological, market and organizational change*. 5th edn. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons.

Tilley, S. A. (2003) 'Challenging' Research Practices: Turning a Critical Lens on the Work of Transcription', *Qualitative Inquiry*, 9(5), pp. 750-773.

Tilley, S. A. and Powick, K. D. (2002) 'Distanced data: Transcribing other people's research tapes', *Canadian Journal of Education*, 27(2/3), pp. 291–310.

Thamhain, H. J. (1990) 'Managing technologically innovative team efforts toward new product success', *The Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 7(1), pp. 5-19.

Thomas, S. (2015) *What is 3G? Explained in simple terms.* Available from https://3g.co.uk/guides/3g-what-is-3g-explained-in-simple-terms [Electronically accessed on 5th June 2019]

Thomas, T., Singh, L. and Renville, D. (2020) 'The Utility of the UTAUT: An Application to Mobile Learning Adoption in the Caribbean', *International Journal of Education and Development using Information and Communication Technology (IJEDICT)*, 16(2), pp. 122-143.

Thomée, S., Härenstam, A. and Hagberg, M (2011) *Mobile phone use and stress, sleep disturbances, and symptoms of depression among young adults*: A prospective cohort study. BMC Public Health 11(66). DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-66

Tontini, G. (2007) 'Integrating the Kano model and QFD for designing new products', *Total Quality Management*, 18(6), pp. 599-612

Tontini, G., Solberg Søilen, K. and Silveira, A. (2013) 'How do the interactions of service attributes affect customer satisfaction? A study of Kano Model's attributes', *In 24th Annual Pom Conference*. Denver, Colorado, Usa, May 3–6, 2013. University of South Carolina.

Torrecillas, L (2007) 'Mobile phone addiction in teenagers may cause severe psychological disorder', *Medical Studies* 14(3), pp. 11–13.

Trenholm, R. (2014) *Britain's first mobile phone call was made 30 years ago.* Available from: https://www.cnet.com/news/britains-first-mobile-phone-call-wasmade-30-years-ago/ [Electronically accessed on 4th June 2019].

Trepte, S., Reinecke, L., Ellison, N. B., Quiring, O., Yao, M.Z. and Ziegele, M. A. (2017) 'Cross-Cultural Perspective on the Privacy Calculus', *Social Media* + *Society*, 3(1). DOI:10.1177/2056305116688035.

Trivedi, V., Chauhan, A. and Trivedi, A. (2021) 'Analysing consumers' smartphone adoption decisions using qualitative dimensions: a multi-criteria decision approach', *International Journal of Technology Marketing*, 15(1), pp.48-65. DOI: 10.1504/IJTMKT.2021.116893.

Trochim, W. M. K. (2006) *The Qualitative Debate. Research Methods Knowledge Base*. Available from: http://www.socialresearchmethods.net/kb/qualmeth.php. [Electronically accessed on 16th January 2019].

Trompenaars, F. (1993) *Riding the Waves of Culture: Understanding Diversity in Global Business*. Irwin: Chicago, IL

Trompenaars, F. (1994) *Riding the waves of culture: Understanding diversity in global business*. Chicago: Irwin.

Trompenaars, F. and Hampden-Turner, C. (1997) *Riding the Waves of Culture*: *Understanding Cultural Diversity in Business*. 2nd edn. London & Santa Rosa, Nicholas Brealey Publishing Limited.

Trope, Y. and Liberman, N. (2003) 'Temporal construal', *Psychological Review*, 110(3), pp. 403-421.

Turan, M. and Kara, A. (2007) 'An exploratory study of characteristics and attributes of Turkish entrepreneurs: A cross-country comparison to Irish entrepreneurs', *Journal of International Entrepreneurship, 5*, pp. 25-46.

Turkle, S. (2007) 'Authenticity in the age of digital companions', *Interaction Studies*, 8(3), pp. 501-517. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1075/is.8.3.11tur.

Turner, J. C. (1991) *Social Influence.* In Brooks/Cole Mapping Social Psychology Series. Maidenhead: Open University Press.

Twiss, B. and Goodridge, M. (1989) *Managing Technology For Competitive Advantage: Integrating Technological and Organisational Development: From Strategy To Action*. Trans-Atlantic Publication.

UK finance research. (2019) *UK payments market summary 2019*. Available from: https://www.ukfinance.org.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/pdf/UK-Finance-UK-Payment-Markets-Report-2019-SUMMARY.pdf [Electronically accessed on 22nd December 2019]

Ulichny, P. (1991) 'The Role of Hypothesis Testing in Qualitative Research. A Researcher Comments', *TESOL Quarterly*, 25(1), pp.200-202.

Urabe, K. (1988) *Innovation and Management: International Comparison*. Berlin, New York: Walter De Gruyter.

Vandermerwe, S. (1987) 'Diffusing new ideas in-house', *The Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 4(4), pp. 256-268.

Van Deursen, A. J., Bolle, C. L. and Hegner, S. M. (2015) 'Modelling habitual and addictive smartphone behaviour: The role of smartphone usage types, emotional intelligence, social stress, self-regulation, age, and gender', *Computers in Human Behaviour*, 45, pp. 411–420.

Van Everdingen, Y. M. and Waarts, E. (2003) 'The effect of national culture on adoption of innovations', *Marketing Letters*, 14, pp. 217-232.

Vanhamme, J. and Snelders, D. (2003) 'What If You Surprise Your Customers ... Will They Be More Satisfied? Findings from a Pilot Experiment', *Advances in Consumer Research*, 30(1), pp. 48-56.

Vannoni, M. (2014) 'What are case studies good for? Nesting comparative case study research into the Lakatosian research program', *Cross-Cultural Research*, 49(4), pp. 331-357.

Van Raaij, E. M. and Schepers, J. J. L. (2008) 'The acceptance and use of a virtual learning environment in China', *Computers & Education*, 50(3), pp. 838-852. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2006.09.001.

Van Slyke, C., Belanger, F. and Sridhar, V. (2005) 'A comparison of American and Indian consumers' perceptions of electronic commerce', *Information Resources Management Journal (IRMJ)*, 18(2), pp. 24-40. DOI: https://doi.org/10.4018/irmj.2005040102

Vecchi, A. and Brennan, L. (2009) 'A cultural perspective on innovation in international marketing', *Research in International Business and Finance*, 23(2), pp.181-192.

Veiga, J. F., Floyd, S. and Dechant, K. (2001) 'Towards modelling the effects of national culture on IT implementation and acceptance', *Journal of Information Technology*, 16, pp.145-158. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1080/02683960110063654

Venkatesh, V. and Bala, H. (2008) 'Technology Acceptance Model 3 and a Research Agenda on Interventions', *Decision Sciences*, 39(2), pp. 273-315. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5915.2008.00192.x.

Venkatesh, V., Morris, M.G. and Ackerman, P.L. (2000) A Longitudinal Field Investigation of Gender Differences in Individual Technology Adoption Decision-Making Processes. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 83(1), pp.33–60.

Venkatesh, V. and Davis, F. D. (2000) 'A theoretical extension of the technology acceptance model: Four longitudinal field studies', *Management Science*, 46, pp. 186-204. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.46.2.186.11926.

Venkatesh, V. and Morris, M. G. (2000) 'Why don't men ever stop to ask for directions? Gender, social influence, and their role in technology acceptance and usage behavior', *MIS quarterly*, 24(1), pp. 115-139.

Venkatesh, V., Morris, M., Davis, G. and Davis, F. (2003) 'User Acceptance of Information Technology: Toward a Unified View', *MIS Quarterly*, 27(3), pp. 425-478.

Venkatesh, V., Thong, J. Y. L. and Xu, X. (2012) 'Consumer Acceptance and Use of Information Technology: Extending the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology', *MIS Quarterly* 36(1), pp. 157–178.

Ventä, L., Isomursu, M., Ahtinen, A. and Ramiah, S. (2008) 'My phone is a part of my soul'- How people bond with their mobile phones', *In 2008 The Second International Conference on Mobile Ubiquitous Computing, Systems, Services and Technologies, UBICOMM '08* (pp. 311-317). Washington, DC: IEEE. DOI: 10.1109/UBICOMM.2008.48 [Electronically accessed on 19th June 2019]

Verganti, R. (2008) 'Design, Meanings, and Radical Innovation: A Metamodel and a Research Agenda', *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 25(5), pp. 436–456.

Verkasalo, H., López-Nicolás, C., Molina-Castillo, F.J. and Bouwman, H. (2010). 'Analysis of users and non-users of smartphone applications', *Telematics and Informatics*, 27(3), pp. 242–255. Available at: http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0736585309000793 [Electronically accessed on 4th June 2019]

Verschuren, P. J. M. and Doorewaard, H. (1999) *Designing A Research Project*. Utrecht Holland: Lemma.

Verschuren, P.J. M. (2003) 'Case Study as a Research Strategy: Some Ambiguities and Opportunities', *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 6(2), pp. 121-139.

Verhees, J. H. M. and Meulenberg, M. T. G. (2004) 'Market Orientation, Innovativeness, Product Innovation, and Performance in Small Firms', *Journal of Small Business Management*, 42(2), pp. 134-154.

Verkasalo, H. (2010) 'Analysis of Smartphone User Behavior', In: 2010 *Ninth International Conference on Mobile Business and 2010 Ninth Global Mobility Roundtable* (ICMB-GMR). leee, pp. 258–263.

Veryzer, R. W. (1998) 'Discontinuous innovation and the new product development process', *Journal of Product Innovation Management.* 15(4), pp. 304-321

Veryzer, R. W. (1998b) 'Key factors affecting customer evaluation of discontinuous new products', *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 15(2), pp. 136-150.

Vincent, J. and Harper, R. (2003) *The Social Shaping of UMTS: Educating the 3G Customer*. UMTS Forum Report, no. 26.

Vincent, J. & Haddon, L. (2004a) *Informing Suppliers about User Behaviours to better prepare them for their 3G/UMTS Customers*. UMTS Forum Report, no. 34.

Vincent, J (2005) *Are people affected by their attachment to their mobile phone?* Nyiri, K., (ed). Communications in the 21st century mobile a sense of place passage verlag pp 221-230.

Vladova, G., Ullrich, A., Bender, B. and Gronau, N. (2021) 'Students' Acceptance of Technology-Mediated Teaching – How It Was Influenced During the COVID-19 Pandemic in 2020: A Study From Germany', *Frontiers in Psychology*, 12. DOI:10.3389/fpsyg.2021.636086 Vock, P. (2001) *An anatomy of Swiss construction cluster.* Available from: https://www.swir.ch/images/stories/archiv/CEST_2001_Swiss_Construction_Cluster. pdf [Electronically accessed on 24th March 2019].

Vollmer, C., Michel, U. and Randler, C. (2012) 'Outdoor light at night (LAN) is correlated with eveningness in adolescents', *Chronobiology Internationa*l, 29(4), pp. 502–508.

Waarts, E. and Van Everdingen, Y. (2005) 'The influence of national culture on the adoption status of innovations: An empirical study of firms across Europe', *European Management Journal*, 23(6), pp. 601-610.

Wainwright, K. (1994) Principles of Marketing. Blackwell Business.

Walker, R. M. (2006) 'Innovation type and diffusion: An empirical analysis of local government', *Public Administration*, 84(2), pp. 311-335.

Walrace, M., Waeterloos, C. and Ponnent, K. (2021) 'Ready or Not for Contact Tracing? Investigating the Adoption Intention of COVID-19 Contact-Tracing Technology Using an Extended Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology Model', *Cyberpsychology, Behaviour, and Social Networking*, 24(6), pp. 377-383. DOI: http://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2020.0483.

Walsh, M. (2003) 'Teaching Qualitative analysis Using QSR NVivo', *The Qualitative Report*, 8(2), pp. 251-256.

Walsh, SP., White, KM. and Stephen, C. (2011) 'Keeping in constant touch: The predictors of young Australians' mobile phone involvement', *Computers in Human* Behaviour, 27(1), pp. 333–342.

Walsh, S.P., White, K.M. and Young RM (2008) 'Over-connected'? A qualitative exploration of the relationship between Australian youth and their mobile phones', *Journal of Adolescence*, 31(1), pp. 77-92. DOI: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2007.04.004.

Walsham, G, (1995) 'Interpretive Case Studies in IS Research: Nature and Method', *European Journal of Information Systems*, 4(2), pp. 74–81.

Wan, W. K., Kit, H., Chan, P., Buhari, N. and Muzaini, A. (2012) 'Acceptance of smartphone in enhancing patient-caregivers relationship', *Journal of Technology*

Management & Innovation, 7(3), pp. 71–79. DOI:10.4067/S0718-27242012000300007

Wang, C. and Kafouros M. (2009) 'What factors determine innovation performance in emerging economies? Evidence from China. International business review', 18(6), pp. 606–616.

Wang, S. M. and Lin, J. C. (2011) 'The Effect of Social Influence on Bloggers' Usage Intention', *Online Information Review*, 35(1), pp. 50-65.

Wang, T. and Ji, P. (2010) 'Understanding customer needs through quantitative analysis of Kano's model. International', *Journal of Quality and Reliability Management*, 27(2), pp. 173-184.

Wang, R. J., Malthouse, E. C. and Krishnamurthi, L. (2015) 'On the go: how mobile shopping affects customer purchase behaviour', *Journal of Retailing*, 91(2), pp.217-234.

Wang, Z., Hu, Y., Zheng, H., Yuan, K., Du, X. and Dong, G. (2019) 'Females are more vulnerable to Internet gaming disorder than males: Evidence from cortical thickness abnormalities', *Psychiatry Research: Neuroimaging*, 283, pp. 145-153. DOI: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2018.11.001.

Ward, R. (2013) 'The application of technology acceptance and diffusion of innovation models in healthcare informatics', *Health Policy and Technology*, 2(4), pp. 222-228. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hlpt.2013.07.002.

Webster, F. E. JR. (1969) 'New Product Adoption in Industrial Markets: A Framework for Analysis', *Journal of Marketing*, 33(3), pp. 35-39.

Weerwardena, J., Sullivan Mort, G., Salunke, S., Knight, G. and Liesch, P.W. (2015) 'The Role of the Market Sub-system and the Socio-technical Sub-system in Innovation and Firm Performance: Dynamic Capabilities Approach', *Journal of the Academic Market Science*, 43, p. 221-239.

Wei, R. and Lo, V. H. (2006) 'Staying connected while on the move: Cell phone use and social connectedness', *New Media Society*, 8(1), pp.53–72.
Weilenmann, A. and Larsson, C. (2001) Local Use and Sharing of Mobile Phones. InB. Brown, N. Green & R. Harper (Eds.), Wireless World: Social and InteractionalAspects of the Mobile Age. London, UK: Springer Verla.

Wengraf, T. (2001) *Qualitative research interviewing*: *Biographic and Narrative and Semi-structured methods*. London: Sage.

Wessels, L. and Drennan, J. (2010) 'An investigation of consumer acceptance of Mbanking', *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 28(7), pp. 547-568.

West, A. (2002) *Estrategia de innovación*. Madrid Fundación Cotec, Para La Innovación Tecnológica.

Westbrook, R.A. and Black, W.C. (1985) 'A Motivation-Based Shopper Typology'. *Journal of Retailing*, 61(1): 78-103.

Westwood, R. and Low, D. R. (2003) 'The multicultural muse. Culture, creativity, and innovation', *International Journal of Cross-Cultural Management*, 3(2), pp. 235-259.

Wickliffe, V. and Pysarchik, D. (2001) 'A Look at Product Attributes and Enhancers of Group Integration Among U.S. and Korean Consumers', *International Journal of Retail and Distribution Management*, 29(2), pp.99-108.

Whatmobile. (2019), *UK screen times revealed*. Available from: https://www.whatmobile.net/Opinion/article/uks-screen-time-stats-revealed [Electronically accessed on 9th July 2019].

Whelan, J. (2013) *Healthcare apps that doctor use.* Available from: https://www.wsj.com/articles/healthcare-apps-that-doctors-use-1384544649?tesla=y [Electronically accessed on 2nd June 2019].

Whitley, R. (1984) 'The Scientific Status of Management Research as a Practically Oriented Social Science', *Journal of Management Studies*, 21(4), pp. 369-390. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6486.1984.tb00234.x.

Williams, A. (2009) *Mind your BlackBerry or mind your manners*. The New York Times. Available from: https://www.nytimes.com/2009/06/22/us/22smartphones.html [Electronically accessed from 18th July 2019]. Williams, K. and McGuire, J. (2010) 'Economic creativity and innovation implementation: the entrepreneurial drivers of growth? Evidence from 63 countries', *Small Business Economics*, 34, pp. 391–412.

Williams, M. D., Rana, N. P., Dwivedi, Y. K. and Lal, B. (2011) 'Is UTAUT really used or just cited for the sake of it? a systematic review of citations of UTAUT's originating article', In: *Proceedings of the 19th European Conference on Information Systems*. Helsinki.

Winthrop, R. H. (1991) *Dictionary of concepts in cultural anthropology*. New York: Greenwood press.

Wismantoro, Y., Himawan, H. and Widiyatmko, K. (2020) 'Measuring the Interest of Smartphone Usage by Using Technology Acceptance Model Approach'. *Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business*, 7(9), pp. 613–620.

Wood, C. (2017) Barriers to innovation diffusion for social robotics start-ups and *methods of crossing the chasm*. Available from; https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1109835/FULLTEXT01.pdf [Electronically accessed on 19th May 2019]

Woodruff, R. B. (1997) 'Customer value: The next source for competitive advantage', *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 25, pp.139-153.

World Bank. (2019). *Research and Development expenditure (% of GDP).* Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/GB.XPD.RSDV.GD.ZS?locations=GB-SA&most_recent_year_desc=false [Electronically accessed on 3rd Feb 2019]

Wong, C. H., Lee, H. S., Lim, Y. H., Chua, B. H. and Tan, G. W. H. (2012) 'Predicting the consumers' intention to adopt mobile shopping: An emerging market perspective', *International Journal of Network and Mobile Technologies*, 3(3), pp.24-39, 2012.

Wong, L. P. (2008) 'Data analysis in qualitative research: A brief guide to using nvivo', *Malays Fam Physician*, 3(1), pp. 14–20.

Wu, J. H., Shen, W. S., Lin, L. M., Greenes, R. A., and Bates, D. W. (2008) 'Testing the technology acceptance model for evaluating healthcare professionals' intention

to use an adverse event reporting system', *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 20(2), pp. 123- 129.

Wu, J. H. and Wang, S. C. (2005) 'What drives mobile commerce?', *Information & Management*, 42(5), pp. 719-729.

Wu, M. (2006) *Hofstede's cultural dimensions 30 years later; A study of Taiwan and United States.* Available from: https://web.uri.edu/iaics/files/04-Ming-Yi-Wu.pdf [Electronically accessed on 28th December 2018]

Wulf, L., Garschall M., Himmelsbach, J. and Tscheligi, M. (2014) 'Hands Free -Carefree: Elderly People Taking Advantage of Speech-only Interaction'. *In Proceedings of the 8th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction: Fun, Fast, Foundational* (NordiCHI '14), 203–206. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1145/2639189.2639251

Xu, C. and Yan, M. (2014) 'Radical or Incremental Innovations: R&D Investment Around CEO Retirement', *Journal of Accounting, Auditing & Finance*, 29(4), pp.547-576.

Xu, Q., Mao, Z. M., Arbor, A., Erman, J., Park, F., Gerber, A. and Venkataraman, S. (2011) *Identifying diverse usage behaviours of smartphone apps*. In IMC'11 (pp. 329–344). Berlin, Germany.

Yalcinkaya, G. (2008) 'A culture-based approach to understanding the adoption and diffusion on new products across countries', *International Marketing Review*, 25(2), pp. 202-214.

Yang, A. S. (2009) 'Exploring adoption difficulties in mobile banking services', *Canadian Journal of Administrative Sciences*, 26(2), pp.136-149.

Yang, K. (2010) 'Determinants of US consumer mobile shopping services adoption: implications for designing mobile shopping services', *Journal of Consumer Marketing*, 27(3), pp. 262-270.

Yang, K. C. C. (2005) 'Exploring factors affecting the adoption of mobile commerce in Singapore', *Telematics and Informatics*, 22(3), pp. 257-277.

Yang, J., Guo, Y., Du, X., Jiang, Y., Wang, W., Xiao, D. and Guo, L. (2018) 'Association between problematic internet use and sleep disturbance among adolescents: The role of the child's sex', *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(12). DOI: 10.3390/ijerph15122682.

Yang, C. C., Cheng, L.Y., Sung, D. and Withiam, G. (2009) 'Strategic-pricing policy based on analysis of service attributes', *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 50(4), pp. 498-509.

Yang, K. and Kim, H. (2012) 'Mobile shopping motivation: an application of multiple discriminant analysis', *International Journal of Retail and Distribution*, 40(10), pp.779-789.

Yang, Z., Asbury, K. and Griffiths, D. (2018) 'Do Chinese and British university students use smartphones differently? A Cross cultural mixed method study', *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 17(3), pp. 644-657.

Yee, V. (2018) *Saudi society is changing*. Available from: https://www.nytimes.com/2020/01/15/world/middleeast/saudi-women-coffeeshops.html [Electronically accessed on 22nd January 2019]

Yeh C.H., Wang Y.S. and Yieh, K. (2016) 'Predicting smartphone brand loyalty: Consumer value and consumer-brand identification perspectives', *International Journal of Information Management*, 36(3), pp. 245-257.

Yeniyurt, S. and Townsend, J. D. (2003) 'Does culture explain acceptance of new products in a country? An empirical investigation', *International Marketing Review, 20*(4), pp. 377–396.

Yin, R. K. (1994) *Case Study Research: Design and Methods*. 2nd edn. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publishing.

Yin, R. K. (2003) *Case study research: Design and methods*. 3rd edn. London, SAGE Publications.

Yin, R. K. (2009) *Case study research: Design and methods*. 4th edn. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Yin, X., Wang, H., Xia, Q. and Gu, Q. (2019) 'How Social Interaction Affects Purchase Intention in Social Commerce: A Cultural Perspective', *Sustainability*, 11(8), pp. 2423. DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/su11082423.

Yiu Chi, S., Grant, K. and Edgar, D. (2007) 'Factors affecting the adoption of Internet Banking in Hong Kong-implications for the banking sector', *International Journal of Information Management*, 27(5), pp. 336-33.

Young, K. S. (2007) 'Cognitive behaviour therapy with Internet addicts: Treatment outcomes and implications', *Cyberpsychology and Behaviour*, 10(5), pp. 671–679.

Yusuf, Z. Ö. and Abdullah, K. (2003) 'Research Note: A Need or a Status Symbol? Use of Cellular Telephones in Turkey', *European Journal of Communication*, 18(2), pp. 241-254.

Zahid, W. and Dastane, O. (2016) 'Factors Affecting Purchase Intention of South East Asian (SEA) Young Adults towards Global Smartphone Brands', *ASEAN MARKETING JOURNAL*, VIII(1), pp. 66-84.

Zakour, A. B. (2004) 'Cultural differences and information technology acceptance', *Proceedings of the 7th Annual Conference of the Southern Association for Information Systems*. pp. 156-161.

Zaltman, G., Duncan, R. and Holbek, J. (1973) *Innovations and organizations*. London: Wiley.

Zayyad, M.A. and Toycan, M. (2018) 'Factors affecting sustainable adoption of ehealth technology in developing countries': an exploratory survey of Nigerian hospitals from the perspective of healthcare professionals. *PeerJ*, 6, e4436. DOI: 10.7717/peerj.4436.

Zhang, C., Cavusgil, T. and Roath, S. (2003) 'Manufacturer governance of foreign distributor relationships', *Journal of International Business Studies*, 334(6), pp. 550-556.

Zhang, L., Zhu, J. and Liu, Q. (2012) 'A Meta-Analysis of Mobile Commerce Adoption and the Moderating Effect of Culture', *Computers in Human Behaviour*, 28(5), pp.1902-1911. Zhou, T. (2008) 'Exploring Mobile User Acceptance Based on UTAUT and Contextual Offering', *Proceedings of the 2008 International Symposium on Electronic Commerce and Security*, pp. 241-245. DOI:10.1109/ISECS.2008.10.

Zhou, T., Lu, Y. and Wang, B. (2010) 'Integrating TTF and UTAUT to explain mobile banking user adoption', *Computers in Human Behaviour*, 26(4), pp. 760-767.

Appendix A: Problem Statement

Problem statement

The average replacement cycle length of smartphone is increasing. In 2013, the consumers around on average took 25.6 months to replace their smartphone, however by 2020 it has increased to 33.6 months.

down approach

Theoretical problem

Previous literature confirms link of culture and uptake of technology. However, there are lack of technological acceptance models which takes culture into account

Proposition

To develop and test a conceptual framework which explains impact of culture on adoption behaviour towards innovation within smartphone industry

Appendix B: Gap in research

Authors	Study outline	Deficiency of previous studies
Al Mahfud (2014)	Conducted cross cultural study between Saudi and USA regarding usage of smartphone in learning between undergraduate students	The study was quantitative in nature and the researcher of this study directed future researchers to include interviews to better understand the perceptions of USA and Saudi smartphone users.
Akthar et al. (2018)	Investigating the moderating role of uncertainty avoidance on mobile banking adoption	The study was quantitative in nature and conducted a cross cultural (Pakistan vs China) on mobile banking adoption. The research lacked a "how "and "why" on the factors contributing towards adoption. In addition, the study was limited to one particular service and did not take smartphone as a whole into account.
Alfawareh and Jusoh (2017)	Investigated the use and effect of smartphone at Najran university in Saudi Arabia	The study was quantitative in nature and lacked in-depth insight of Saudi behaviour towards smartphone. The research did not answer "how" and "why" of Saudi smartphone users. The study also did not discussed innovation within smartphone industry in Saudi Arabia.
Apaci et al. (2015)	Conducted cross cultural analysis of smartphone adoption by organisations of Turkey and Canada	The study focused on examining the behaviour on private sector rather than consumer behaviour and study was limited to middle-upper management level and also organisational culture was taken into consideration.
Chen (2013)	Examined United States and Taiwan's tablet adoption attitude. The study was focused on comparing family behaviours regarding how they share their tablets by using ethnographic method.	The study did not explore the "innovation" element of tablets between cultures and offered no insight on how American and Taiwanese consumers perceive new features in Tablets, or what is their decision-making process when purchasing new Tablet.
Fullwood et al. (2017)	Conducted a qualitative analysis of smartphone users in UK by using focus groups comprising of 18 participants.	The study explored the degree of attachment UK smartphone users have with their smartphones. The study was limited within one setting and the researcher encouraged future studies to explore this phenomenon in a different setting such as in different culture.

lqbal and Bhatti (2020)	Explored teacher's perspective on using smartphone in higher education for developing countries	The study recruited 22 participants for semi structured interviews. The study concluded that smartphone is useful for learning purposes, however, can be a source of distraction for students. The researcher directed future studies to explore this perception of faculty members in cross cultural setting and compare the findings.
Li and Lin (2019)	Conducted qualitative explorative study on Chinese consumers regarding smartphone addiction	The study was not cross cultural and had little insight on how Chinese consumers perceive innovation in their smartphones.
Peng et al. (2016)	Conducted qualitative study to explore the perception towards "mobile health apps". The study used focus groups and interviews to determine the design elements of the mobile apps in the eyes of users in Midwest region of US	The study did not had insight on the overall usage of smartphones among US users and not all participants recruited in study had a health app installed on their smartphone.
Steers et al. (2008)	Analysed the relationship between South Korea and Brazil regarding adopting new technologies	The research lacked being specific because it focused on technologies as overall rather than any particular industry of technology such as smartphones, gaming, tablets etc.
Walsh et al. (2008)	Explored problematic usage of mobile phone among Australian youth using focus groups with 32 participants	The study was focused on the psychological addiction aspect of mobile phones and had little insight on the overall behavioural usage of mobile phone. In addition, the study had no insight on innovation element within smartphones and decision-making process during purchase.
Yang et al. (2018)	Explored on the differences between British and Chinese students' smartphone usage.	The study was limited to undergraduate students and focused on problematic smartphone usage between British and Chinese students. In addition, different qualitative methods were applied which may have caused inconsistencies in data collection; Chinese students were interviewed, while British students were provided with questionnaire.

Appendix C: Thesis outline



Appendix D: Summary of Theories which underpins our research

Theories	Relevance to our study	Explanation
Hofstede's Cultural Dimensions Theory	 Below constructs used in our conceptual framework SAM: Individualism Power Distance Uncertainty Avoidance 	This theory was used in our research as a foundation for cultural understanding and therefore assisted in development of our conceptual framework (SAM)
TAM (1989)	 Below constructs were used in our conceptual framework SAM and are derived from TAM: PU PEOU BI 	This theory was used as a baseline for technology acceptance. The reasons to use this was due to its' reliability, simplicity, and widescale applicability. In addition, it has been successfully applied in smartphone related studies (See table 2.3) Furthermore, this theory also assisted researcher in developing questions for Semi Structured Interview guide. Below is the example of one of the questions which is related to PU : How useful do you find features such as Apple Pay, Samsung Pay, Google pay or any other phone wallet mode? How often you use them? Probe further, why do you use them or not use?
Sheth Model (1981)	The PR construct is derived from Sheth model (1981) for our SAM conceptual Framework.	The PR construct was added to incorporate the resistance element in our adoption model. In addition, this theory also helped developed our questions which were related with resistance for our semi structured interview guide
RAM Model (1987)	This theory assisted researcher to understand consumer resistance in more detail and also assisted in developing questions	Below is the example of one of the questions which was inspired by this theory for our Semi Structured interview guide:

		Do you see any risks attached to these innovation features in your smartphone?
TRA (1975)	The SN construct was derived from TRA for our SAM Model. Moreover, it also helped developed questions for our Semi Structured interview guide.	The SN construct was added to incorporate the environmental impact in our adoption model. Also, it assisted the researcher to develop questions for our Semi Structured interview. Below is the example of one of our questions from semi structured interview: Where do you look for recommendations when you buy new smartphone (Online reviews, Friends and Family, Instore salesperson, Brand website, Social Media) Why?
TBP (1975)	This model is the extension of TRA and was reviewed in our literature to understand and confirm the role of intention on actual behaviour.	This theory assisted researcher in confirming that behaviour of individuals is determined by intention.
Berlyne Theory (1960)	This theory is used predominantly for researcher's own understanding of newness and the cognitive psychology behind it.	This theory inspired the researcher to deep dive into the psychology of human behaviour and developed questions which were linked to the psychology of consumer brain Below is the example of one of the questions which was inspired by this theory: <i>First few words come into your mind when you hear the word</i> <i>"innovation". Probe further, Why and How these words came into your mind?</i>
DOI (2003)	This theory used for development of questions for Semi Structured interview guide	The researcher used this theory, specifically for the concept of early adoption and late majority. Below is the example of one of our questions from Semi Structured interview guide

		Do you wait for other people to get smartphone first and then purchase or you prefer to buy as early as possible? Discuss views about early adopting?
UTUAT Model (2003)	This theory was used by researcher to compare with it with TAM and decide which is more suitable for our study	Table 2.4 presented literature which used UTUAT model in smartphone related studies and Table 2.3 presented literature which used TAM model in smartphone related studies. This helped researcher to better understand different technology adoption models and chose which is the right fit for the context of study.
Kano Model (1984)	This theory used by researcher for developing questions which were related to features.	Kano model emphasises on what features are classified as attractive, must be, reverse attributes Below is the example of one of the questions which was inspired by this theory for our Semi Structured interview guide: What is your main motivation behind upgrading your smartphone from following options? (Faster processor, Better camera, Improved Battery life, More Memory, New design/colour, Bored of current phone, Faster charging, it is just cool to upgrade, 5G etc). Probe further why?

Appendix E: Qualitative research hypothesis formulation



Appendix F: Research Onion



Appendix G: Semi Structured Interview Guide

Warm-up questions

- What do you do (e.g., Banker, Salesperson, Teacher, Student, Trainer...)?
- When was the last time you purchased a smartphone for yourself?
- What is your daily average smartphone usage in hours?
- Which electronic devices are most important to you? (Laptop, Smartphone, Gaming Console, Tablet, Personal Computer, Kindle, etc)? Why?

Motivation behind using smartphones

- What are you 3 most used apps in your smartphone? For what purpose do you use your smartphone the most? Why? (Social Media, Emails, Texting, Gaming, Photography, Music).
- How often do you shop online using your smartphone? Why?
- What is the duration of videos on average when you watch on your smartphone? On which platform do you watch your videos most? (Social Media, YouTube, Netflix, or any other streaming services or platforms)
- How often you share/post pictures and videos on social media? Which social networking site do you use the most?
- How important is your smartphone to you? Probe further (Do you use smartphone while walking? Do you check your smartphone while watching television/ while at bed before going to sleep at night?)
- In your opinion, to what extent you are dependent to your smartphone? Do you think are you overusing your smartphone?
- Did smartphone impact your life in a positive way, negative way, or both? Probe further, why do you feel that way? Explore the positive things and negative things.

Attitudes and perception towards innovation

• First few words come into your mind when you hear the word "**innovation**". Probe further, Why and How these words came into your mind?

- Based on your own experience, when you see a new smartphone what emotion and feeling you get (e.g., *Excited, Boring, Curious, Confused, Happy, Sad*). Why?
- In your opinion, what do you think of the latest feature such as voice assistants: Siri, Bixby, Google Assistant? Are you aware of these features and to what degree you find them useful?
- How useful Do you find features such as Apple Pay, Samsung Pay, Google pay or any other phone wallet mode? How often you use them? Probe further, why do you use them or not use?
- Do you see any risks attached to these innovation features in your smartphone?
- What do you think about smartphone companies upgrading their smartphone models every year? Discuss further the opinion on the pricing of these new smartphones?

Purchasing new smartphone decision making process

- What is your main motivation behind upgrading your smartphone? (Faster processor, Better camera, Improved Battery life, More Memory, New design/colour, bored of current phone, Faster charging, it is just cool to upgrade, 5G etc).
- How often you change your smartphone? Why?
- Where do you look for recommendations when you buy new smartphone (Online reviews, Friends and Family, Instore salesperson, Brand website, Social Media) Why?
- Which is your most favourite smartphone brand? Why? Which of the following has the most influence when you purchase new smartphone? (Price, Brand, Social influence, Features) Why this has the most influence?
- Do you share your smartphone with your family? Why yes or Why not? Do you consult with your family when you buy new smartphone?
- Do you prefer to buy branded smartphone? Why?
- Do you prefer to buy large screen smartphones?

Resistance to innovation

- In your opinion, do you think new smartphones are complicated to use? Do you get used to new smartphones easily?
- Do you wait for other people to get smartphone first and then purchase or you prefer to buy as early as possible? Discuss views about early adopting?
- Do you think these new smartphones are much different or an improvement from previous smartphones features wise such as iPhone 6 vs iPhone11 or Samsung S6 vs Samsung S10? Probe further, Why?
- Which of the following statement below is the strongest reason for rejecting a new smartphone? Discuss, Why?

1) I do not want to pay lot of money and I am not even sure if it is any good

2) I will wait for other people to get it first and then buy

3) The latest phone is no different and happy with current

4) The new phone might be complicated

Demographics

- Age?
- Male/ Female?
- What is the highest degree you obtained?
- When was the last time you purchased a new smartphone?
- Live in UK or Saudi Arabia?

Appendix H: British Respondent (B1) transcript

- Age? 34
- Male/ Female? M
- What is the highest degree you obtained? Undergraduate
- When was the last time you purchased a new smartphone? 2018
- Live in UK or Saudi Arabia? UK
- What do you do (e.g., Banker, Salesperson, Teacher, Student, Trainer...)?

Salesperson

• What is your daily average smartphone usage in hours?

I spend about 4 hours per day

 Which electronical devices are most important to you? (Laptop, Smartphone, Gaming Console, Tablet, Personal Computer, Kindle, etc)? Why?

Smartphone takes most of my time because it has everything/accessible and Gaming console is the least time I spend on; it is probably down to not being interested in a gaming console that much anymore. The second most important device is PC because I am used to old habits sometimes.

 What are you 3 most used apps in your smartphone? For what purpose do you use your smartphone the most? Why? (Social Networking, Emails, Texting, Gaming, Photography, Music).

I mainly listen audible books, podcasts, keeping an eye on financial trading and communication. The 3 most used apps; Audible books/ financial trading app/ WhatsApp. I use mainly for knowledge/information/communication. I am not a fan of social media. I do not use Facebook, Instagram, or any other social media apps. • How often do you shop online using your smartphone? Why?

I do shop online using smartphone every month, obviously it depends on how quickly I need an item. If it is not that urgent, then I might use my computer for online shopping or even go instore. I would say I do shop online through smartphone once a month.

 What is the duration of videos on average when you watch on your smartphone? On which platform do you watch your videos most? (Social Media, YouTube, Netflix, or any other streaming services or platforms)

Depends on the content of the video, it if is informative which will enhance my knowledge then it can go over 25+ minutes, however on average if you ask me it is 1:30 minutes- quick and short videos. YouTube is the one where I watch my most of videos.

• How often you share/post pictures and videos on social media? Which social media site do you use the most?

I do not t use social media; it is a waste of time.

 How important is your smartphone to you? Probe further (Do you use smartphone while walking? Do you check your smartphone while watching television/ while at bed before going to sleep at night?

This is an interesting question because it is no black and white answer. I would say yes to all the things regarding walking while using smartphone/watching television and using smartphone/ before going to bed at night and using smartphone. It is routine now. Overall, I would say smartphone is "important", however I can live without it.

• In your opinion, to what extent you are dependent to your smartphone? Do you think are you overusing your smartphone?

Yes, I am overusing my smartphone. This mainly happens when I am trying to get distracted from something. I do end up playing some random games on my smartphone. In terms of being dependent, it is a key tool for communication and during travelling. If I am out all day, I will need my smartphone with me, but If I am going out for a short period, then I do not necessarily need smartphone with me

• Did smartphone impact your life in a positive way, negative way, or both? Probe further, why do you feel that way? Explore the positive things and negative things.

Although there are negative things about smartphone such as distraction, but for me since I do not use social media, I would say I get to avoid unnecessary screen time. I believe the best thing for smartphone has been communication/ keeping in touch. I always believe people should have discipline on using their smartphones. Although, I for example do use smartphone while at bed before night, but I use for few minutes and then go to sleep straight away. It is not like I will fight against my sleep. I do not wakeup and check my notification first thing in the morning.

• First few words come into your mind when you hear the word **"innovation"**. Probe further, Why and How these words came into your mind?

Someone trying to sell me something/ Marketing/ nowadays this word has lost its meaning, or shall I say it has been diluted. Innovation strictly is something brand new, but these days I do not see that.

• Based on your own experience, when you see a new smartphone what emotion and feeling you get (e.g., *Excited, Boring, Curious, Confused, Happy, Sad*). Why?

Annoyed. The reason being from experience businesses are now using this word for making more money. If you look at smartphones, there is not much difference between a smartphone in 2015 as compared to smartphone launched in 2020.

 In your opinion, what do you think of the latest feature such as voice assistants: Siri, Bixby, Google Assistant? Are you aware of these features and to what degree you find them useful? When these features came out, I was extremely excited but now I have realised it does not offer advantage over traditional methods such as typing. It now looks as "Gimmicky" it does not do what it is supposed, you must repeat several times for Bixby to understand what I am saying. This makes me frustrated and I end up typing.

• How useful do you find features such as **Apple Pay, Samsung Pay, Google pay** or any other phone wallet mode? How often you use them? Probe further, why do you use them or not use?

I do not use this feature because I always have a wallet, I do not see a point. Why do I need a digital payment method when there is already a fully functioning system of bank cards there?

• Do you see any risks attached to these innovation features in your smartphone?

Yes, I do see ulterior motives sometimes behind these innovations. Corporations trying to solve problems which does not exist. I am also not too sure how secure is paying through your smartphone.

 What do you think about smartphone companies upgrading their smartphone models every year? Discuss further the opinion on the pricing of these new smartphones?
 Pricing is overpriced. Smartphone upgrading models every year is hypocritical because there is not much innovation within smartphones and all these companies

tends to push " free carbon emission", if they are serious then they should probably not make smartphone every year

What is your main motivation behind upgrading your smartphone? (Faster processor, Better camera, Improved Battery life, More Memory, New design/colour, Bored of current phone, Faster charging, it is just cool to upgrade, 5G etc).

I would change my smartphone purely because of "being bored of it". Features are almost same and there has not been a radical change. I can do the same thing with a 5-year-old smartphone, as compared to a smartphone of today. In terms of feature memory is something which I look into before making decision

• How often you change your smartphone? Why?

Before I was used to change every 2 years, but now it has been over 2 years and My upgrade is due, still have not upgraded because lack of exciting features/design.

Where do you look for recommendations when you buy new smartphone (Online reviews, Friends and Family, Instore salesperson, Brand website, Social Media)
 Why?

Online reviews will be the first go to. Then probably Friends and Family. I will not look at brand websites or in store salesperson. In general, I do not prefer going to instore anyway.

 Which is your most favourite smartphone brand? Why? Which of the following has the most influence when you purchase new smartphone? (Price, Brand, Social influence, Features) Why this has the most influence?

Features will impact me the most. At the end of the day, they make the product functioning. Social influence will be least impactful, if my whole family buy apple smartphone, I will still not switch from Samsung.

• Do you share your smartphone with your family? Why yes or Why not? Do you consult with your family when you buy new smartphone?

No, I do not. Privacy. My work messages are continuous on my smartphone. I do not consult with my family either, why would I?

• Do you prefer to buy branded smartphone? Why?

Samsung, been with them for 6-7 years. Software is easy to use, customizable. You can do more with their operating system as opposed to Apple IOS.

• Do you prefer to buy large screen smartphones such as Note+ or iPhone max?

I do prefer to buy large screen smartphone such as Samsung Note – reason is ease of use, its more practical when I am browsing financial trading apps.

• In your opinion, do you think new smartphones are complicated to use? Do you get used to new smartphones easily?

Easy to use they are, and I will get used to them easily.

• Do you wait for other people to get smartphone first and then purchase or you prefer to buy as early as possible? Discuss views about early adopting?

I would say 10 years ago, I would say I was an early adopter when it comes to smartphone. I always wanted to be the first one to buy. From past few years there has not been much improvement or innovation in smartphones, so I have been holding off my purchase of new smartphone. The moment I found something interesting, the design I like, I will buy it, I will not wait for other people to get it

 Do you think these new smartphones are much different or an improvement from previous smartphones features wise such as iPhone 6 vs iPhone11 or Samsung S6 vs Samsung S10? Probe further, Why?

There is not much of an innovation in smartphones. Nothing new

• Which of the following statement below is the strongest reason for rejecting a new smartphone? Discuss, Why?

Option3

1) I do not want to pay lot of money and I am not even sure if it is any good
 2) I will wait for other people to get it first and then buy
 3)The latest phone is no different and happy with current
 4)The new phone might be complicated

Extra comments by respondent B1 during the interview:

Not just in smartphones, but business corporations are producing lots and lots of products which gives more choice to the people, but not sure if so, many choices are any good for the consumers. This is focus on quantity rather quality is not only diminishing level of innovation in industry, but also customer satisfaction People are always left dissatisfied and confused when they are buying products, especially technology. When you buy Smartphone A, you think about the things you missed out on Smartphone B and so on and so forth

The end

Appendix I: Saudi Respondent (S1) transcript

- Age? 32
- Male/ Female? M
- What is the highest degree you obtained? Undergraduate
- When was the last time you purchased a new smartphone? 2020
- Live in UK or Saudi Arabia? Saudi Arabia
- What do you do (e.g., Banker, Salesperson, Teacher, Student, Trainer...)?

Banking

• What is your daily average smartphone usage in hours?

7 hours per day based on screen time.

• Which electronical devices are most important to you? (Laptop, Smartphone, Gaming Console, Tablet, Personal Computer, Kindle, etc)? Why?

I spent 8-9 hours on Desktop Pc 5 days a week (religiously for work).7 hours on smartphone base digital well feature on my phone. Even though I use Pc a bit more, smartphone is still most important and especially during COVID-19.

 What are you 3 most used apps in your smartphone? For what purpose do you use your smartphone the most? Why? (Social Media, Emails, Texting, Gaming, Photography, Music).

WhatsApp, Instagram/Facebook. Lots of texting / work group / not phone calls / everyone loves texting from what I have seen. I think communication is the main reason. All my life is linked to this small device now. Working from home makes smartphone even more important and helps connect with work and leisure easily.

• How often do you shop online using your smartphone? Why?

I am not the biggest supporter of e commerce. I had horrible experiences in past such as late delivery or product not as shown on the web. I am a bit old school especially when it comes to clothing. I would like to see the fit first clothing and then buy it. These days brand 'A' will have different fit as compared to brand 'B' which makes it harder. In food also, I tried ordering online and food delivered was cold. Overall, people are lazy, but I like the idea of going out on shopping.

 What is the duration of videos on average when you watch on your smartphone? On which of following platform do you watch your videos most? (Social Network, YouTube, Netflix, or any other streaming services or platforms)

The video needs to be with interesting caption or headline which will attract my attention. I would say generally attention between 3-8 minutes. If its 30sec – 1 minutes, then it must be a joke or funny video which drops my attention. YouTube is the primary source for watching videos.

 How often you share/post pictures and videos on social media? Which social networking site do you use the most?

Instagram. Every other day. Inspired motivation fitness videos I share. I like to share my life with the community/followers I have.

• How important is your smartphone to you? Probe further (Do you use smartphone while walking? Do you check your smartphone while watching television/ while at bed before going to sleep at night?

Extremely important. Yes, I do use smartphone while walking if there is no traffic otherwise, I will not use because there have been few hits and run cases. Yes, while watching television. Yes, I use smartphone every night a before going to sleep while on bed, It serves a purpose of lullaby for me on bed over 80 -90 minutes.

• In your opinion, to what extent you are dependent to your smartphone? Do you think are you overusing your smartphone?

Yes and no. My average usage is divided into work and leisure. Browsing memes during work and compilation videos is negative but It is a necessity to relax from work. I see people talk about we use a lot but then there is always resistance about new technology. I am fine with it. I do not think I am overusing smartphone. I am connected to it. I am connected to my work and family through this. It is predominantly a communication medium. I hold my smartphone more than my kids and dumbbell

• Did smartphone impact your life in a positive way, negative way, or both? Probe further, why do you feel that way? Explore the positive things and negative things.

Way more Positive. Negatives – are negligible. Way more positive. In my age scale – more pros than cons. Yes, I get concerned for my kids' screen time but not for mine.

• First few words come into your mind when you hear the word **"innovation"**. Probe further, Why and How these words came into your mind?

Smartphones is all I can think with the word innovation. The best example will be 5G currently, because there have been huge billboards of 5g all over the Riyadh city. The moment you say innovation, it also reminds me of technology, tool or a device which basically cuts down original process into shorter time. I also think of computers when someone says innovation. When I was growing up computers were the next big thing

• Based on your own experience, when you see a new smartphone what emotion and feeling you get (e.g., *Excited, Boring, Curious, Confused, Happy, Sad*). Why?

Everyday there is new smartphone. I will not react until or unless I see something which is different. It will not make me excited but more curious

 In your opinion, what do you think of the latest feature such as voice assistants: Siri, Bixby, Google Assistant? Are you aware of these features and to what degree you find them useful? Artificial intelligence has lots of benefits. I am not against using. People especially who have disability, is doing wonders for them. For me and my personal lifestyle, I do not like this lazy stuff of doing things. I do not mind typing. I think we are not there yet. Voice assistant is luxury but not a need. Having a fast car 250 mph is a good but would you be driving on a road every day.

• How useful do you find features such as **Apple Pay, Samsung Pay, Google pay** or any other phone wallet mode? How often you use them? Probe further, why do you use them or not use?

Three important things which I never forget: wallet, smartphone, and keys. I do not need technology to make it complicated.

• Do you see any risks attached to these innovation features in your smartphone?

Yes, you are putting in compact device. We jump from one mobile to another. There are hazard and data leakages. However, for new things there are always threats if you plane or crossing road.

For me mitigating risk is important than eradicating them because that is impossible

• What do you think about smartphone companies upgrading their smartphone models every year? Discuss further the opinion on the pricing of these new smartphones?

I personally feel smartphone companies hold on the release of technologies. For example, if they have 20-megapixel resolution technology available in 2010 for smartphone cameras, they will deliberately release only 10 megapixels at that time. They will divide the innovation over the period of years which makes more money for companies over long period of time". They keep making small screen differences and pricing is ridiculous. Although I agree inflation is everywhere in terms of industries. I will still buy high-end smartphone because the number of things it can do for me. Price is inelastic for smartphone. What is your main motivation behind upgrading your smartphone from following options? (Faster processor, Better camera, Improved Battery life, More Memory, New design/colour, Bored of current phone, Faster charging, it is just cool to upgrade, 5G etc).

It would be better camera and faster processor.

• How often you change your smartphone? Why?

2 years. Even smartphone companies say your phone is good for 3 years at least. That is what I heard.

Where do you look for recommendations when you buy new smartphone (Online reviews, Friends and Family, Instore salesperson, Brand website, Social Media)
 Why?

Salesperson is off the charts now. Everything is available online. I find user reviews on Tech blogging and gadgets related websites (Gsm arena) which allows me to quickly compare and see what gadget gurus think of it'. Secondly, I do ask my wife for her opinion – influence to some extent. Community plays huge – if everyone buying three camera phone – then you end up being accustomed to it. Online reviews, Friends and Family, and then Social Influence.

 Which is your most favourite smartphone brand? Why? Which of the following has the most influence when you purchase new smartphone? (Price, Brand, Social influence, Features) Why this has the most influence?

I do not have a favourite. But holding a good brand like Samsung is a good choice here in Saudi Arabia. Price is suitable and have up to date features. Samsung fits my lifestyle and price. Price plays crucial part and then brand play the most important factor.

• Do you share your smartphone with your family? Why yes or Why not? Do you consult with your family when you buy new smartphone?

Yes, I do share my smartphone with my wife and kids. When you go out to be entertained and if they in car alone. I have 3 kids and it can be hard to handle them when we are outside or in a car. It keeps them distracted.

• Do you prefer to buy branded smartphone? Why?

Yes. Samsung is easily repairable. After sales service. Easy to get repaired.

• Do you prefer to buy large screen smartphones such as Note + or iPhone max?

Yes, big phones are better (S2O+). You get something bigger for small premium to pay. Lots of people have asked me in office when I bought my new phone. It makes a statement.

• In your opinion, do you think new smartphones are complicated to use? Do you get used to new smartphones easily?

Convenient. if I stick with Samsung. However, my parents switch from J to S series. There is difference. It can become complicated to certain age group, because my parents struggled when they switched from J to S series within Samsung. It depends on age group. For me it is easiest thing to use.

• Do you wait for other people to get smartphone first and then purchase or you prefer to buy as early as possible? Discuss views about early adopting?

I wait and see the reviews. Price is added benefit if it drops.

 Do you think these new smartphones are much different or an improvement from previous smartphones features wise such as iPhone 6 vs iPhone11 or Samsung S6 vs Samsung S10? Probe further, Why?

From 2015- 2020. There has been not a major innovation. how I describe is as moving on straight line. Need a new Steve Jobs or Bill Gates which can spike innovation exponentially in smartphone sector. Going forward there might one camera and all does it. they are holding. Software updates. They not investing in older software – S10 will not have software update. They want people to buy new phone

• Which of the following statement below is the strongest reason for rejecting a new smartphone? Why?

Option 1: Money. ---- retailers decrease price. I do not want to pay premium.

1) I do not want to pay lot of money and I am not even sure if it is any good
 2) I will wait for other people to get it first and then buy
 3)The latest phone is no different and happy with current
 4)The new phone might be complicated

The end

Appendix J: Semi structured interview guide- Arabic translation

مقابله أسظة الإحماء ماذا تقعل؟ متى كانت آخر مرة اشتريت قيها هاتقاً ذكياً لنفسك؟ ا ما هو متوسط استخدامك اليومي للهاتف الذكي في ساعات العمل؟ ما هي الأجهزة الإلكترونية الأكثر أهمية بالنسبة لك ولماذا؟ الإسكله؟ ما هي أكثر التطبيقات استخداماً في هاتقك الذكي 3؟ لأي غرض تستخدم هاتقك الذكي أكثر من غيرها؟لم؟ وسائل الاعلام الاجتماعية رسائل البريد الإلكتروتي، الرسائل التصية، الألعاب، التصوير القوتو غراقى، الموسيقى كم مرة يمكنك التسوق عبر الإنترنت باستخدام هاتقك الذكى؟ لم؟

ما هي مدة مقاطع القيديو في المتوسط عقد المشاهدة على هاتقك (Social Media, YouTube, Netflix, or any other streaming services or platforms) كم مرة تقوم بمشاركة/ تشر الصور ومقاطع القيديو على وسائل التواصل الاجتماعي؟ما هو موقع الشيكات الاجتماعية الذي تستخدمه أكثر من غيرها؟ هل تستخدم الهاتف الذكي أثناء المشي؟ هل تحقق من هاتقك الذكي أثناء مشاهدة التلفزيون /أثناء التوم قبل التوم في الليل؟ إلى أي مدى تعتمد على هاتفك الذكي؟ هل تعتقد أنك تبالغ في استخدام هل أثر الهاتف الذكي على حياتك يطريقة إيجابية أو مليبة أو كليهما؟ الكلمات القليلة الأولى تأتي في عقلك عندما تسمع كلمة الكلمات القليلة الأولى تأتي في عقلك عندما تسمع كلمة "innovation": إلايتكار -""

عندما ترى الهاتف الذكى الجديد ما العاطفة والشعور الذي تحصل

علية؟

466

ما رأيك في أحدث ميرة مثل المساعد الصوتى؟ Siri/Bixby/Google assistant? Apple Pay/Samsung Pay, كيف تجدون ميزات مفيدة مثل Google Pay? هل ترى أى مخاطر مرتبطة بميرّات الايتكار هذه في هاتقك الذكى؟ ما رأيك في شركات الهواتف الذكية التي تقوم يتحديث طرازات الهواتف الذكية الخاصة يها كل عام والسعر؟ ما هو السبب الرئيسي لتغيير هاتقك الذكي؟ كم مرة قمت يتغيير هاتقك الذكى؟ لم؟ أين تبحث عن توصيات عند شراء الهاتف الذكى الجديد ؟ ما هي العلامة التجارية الأكثر المقضلة لديك الهاتف الذكي؟ لم؟ أي من التالي له أكبر تأثير عند شراء هاتف ذكي جديد؟ (السعر، العلامة التجارية، التأثير الاجتماعي، الميزات) هل تشارك هاتقك الذكى مع عائلتك؟ هل تتشاور مع عائلتك عند شراء الهاتف الذكى الجديد؟ هل تقضل شراء الهاتف الذكي وصقت؟ لم؟ هل تقضل شراء الهواتف الذكية الشاشة الكبيرة؟

Appendix K: Consent form for participating in interview

Title of Study: The impact of cultural differences towards product innovation in smartphone industry: A cross cultural study on consumers from Saudi Arabia and United Kingdom.

Aim of study: The aim of study is to explore on how consumers from UK and Saudi Arabia use their smartphones. It is to examine also how consumers from different cultures view innovation in smartphone industry.

Name of researcher: Tajwar Malik (Doctor of Business Studies).

Thank you for participating in this research and information you provide will be kept confidential and used for research purposes only.

I agree to participate in a research project above. The purpose of this document is to specify the terms of my participation in the project through being interviewed.

1. I have been given sufficient information about this research project. The purpose of my participation as an interviewee in this project has been explained to me and is clear.

2. My participation as an interviewee in this project is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving reason

3. Participation involves being interviewed by **Tajwar Malik**. The interview will last approximately 20- 60 minutes.

4. I allow the researcher to take written notes during the interview.

5. I understand that the notes taken from this will only be used for analysis and that the extracts from the interview including direct quotations, from which I will not be personally identified, may be used in any conference presentation, report, or journal article developed as a result of this research. I understand no other use will be made of the notes/transcripts without my written permission.

5. I have the right not to answer any of the questions. If I feel uncomfortable in any way during the interview session, I have the right to withdraw from the interview without any negative consequences.

6. I have read and understood the points and statements of this form. I have had all my questions answered to my satisfaction

7. I have been given a copy of this consent form co-signed by the interviewer.

8. I agree to take part in this interview
By singing this I agree to the above.

Interviewee Name

Interviewee Signature

-

Date

_

Appendix L: Email Invitation letter



Dear XXXX,

I am a doctoral student studying at University of Wales Trinity Saint David in the United Kingdom.

I am currently working towards my research: **Impact of cultural differences towards product innovation in smartphone industry**.

I am very much interested in exploring how innovation is viewed by consumers who fall in between the age group of 18-34, purchased smartphone in last 3 years, and live in either UK or Saudi Arabia.

If the above topic and criteria fits you, I would like to have an interview with you which will last maximum up to 1 hour. I am more than happy to send you beforehand the interview guide to familiarize you with the types of question and points of discussion.

Please note the participation is voluntary and you are free to withdraw from the interview at any time. The data will be kept confidential and used for research purposes only.

If this is something which interests you, please reply back and then we can arrange a skype interview at your convenient time.

Regards, Mohammad Tajwar Malik 1603140

Appendix M: SAM (H1)

86% of the British and 93% of the Saudi respondents listed smartphone as the most important electronical device



H1 supported



Appendix N: SAM (H2)

The respondents across both cultures aged 18-34 overwhelmingly considered operating new smartphones as not complicated and H2 supported **British case** Saudi case Ease of use and not complicated software contributing towards software contributing towards high adoption of smartphones high adoption of smartphones **Supported** H2: PEOU will have a direct positive influence on the behavioural intention to use new smartphones

Appendix O: SAM (H3)

An overwhelming majority across both cultures expressed online reviews as the main source of recommendation



H3 Not supported



Appendix P: SAM (H4)



Appendix Q: SAM (H5)

57% of the British and 36% of the Saudi users uses voice assistants at least once a week





H5 supported

British case

Reasons for high adoption

- Useful in responding to calls/texts during driving
- Playing music, checking weather

Saudi case

Reasons for low adoption

- Low perceived value/perceived performance are low
- Views technology for older generation

64% of the British and 42% of the Saudi smartphone users used digital payment methods at least once a month



H5 supported



Appendix R.1: SAM (H6a)

Saudi users (71%) preferred large screen smartphones due to Social Status and Functional Benefits, while British users (43%) preferred large screen due to Functional Benefits



H6a Supported



Appendix R.2: SAM (H6b)





H6b Supported

<section-header> British case Features play more integral part in British consumers when purchasing new smartphones Low PD (British) culture relies on their own judgement instead of relying on other factors. High PD(Saudi) culture tends to have strong preference towards status brands than low PD cultures.

H6b: The relationship between PU and BI to use smartphone is moderated by PD value.

Appendix S: SAM (H7)

British smartphone users aged 18-34 are significantly ahead when it comes to M-Shopping (79%) as compared to Saudi smartphone users. Our study found that UK (Low UA) adopted M-Shopping because they displayed little or no perceived risk and used it due to the usefulness





H7 Supported





Appendix T: Author's claim on Hofstede's Dimensions